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MATURITY SCHEDULE

$2,992,540,000 Series 2010L Bonds

Maturity Date
(May 1) Principal Amount Interest Rate Yield CUSIP Number®
2011 $ 73,800,000 2.50% 0.380% 13066YPM5
2012 43,055,000 2.00 0.920 13066YPN3
2012 167,725,000 5.00 0.920 13066 YQKS
2014 21,385,000 3.00 1.950 13066 YPPS
2014 26,305,000 4.00 1.950 13066YPY9
2014 212,985,000 5.00 1.950 13066YQJ1
2015 38,410,000 2.50 2.340 13066YPQ6
2015 43,975,000 4.00 2.340 13066YPZ6
2015 230,070,000 5.00 2.340 13066YQL6
2016 15,615,000 2.75 2.800 13066YPR4
2016 161,710,000 5.00 2.800 13066YQAO
2017 21,840,000 3.00 3.090 13066YPS2
2017 13,610,000 4.00 3.090 13066YQBS
2017 370,530,000 5.00 3.090 13066 YQH5
2018 14,150,000 3.25 3.280 13066YPTO
2018 181,785,000 5.00 3.280 13066YQC6
2019 7,785,000 3.50 3.460 13066YPU7
2019 4,025,000 4.00 3.460 13066YQD4
2019 549,195,000 5.00 3.460 13066YQM4
2020 15,170,000 3.50 3.610 13066YPV5
2020 10,125,000 4.00 3.610 13066YQE2
2020 295,845,000 5.00 3.610 13066 YQN2
2021 5,595,000 4.00 3.720° 13066YPW3
2021 204,450,000 5.00 3.720° 13066 YQF9
2022 10,725,000 4.00 3.800° 13066YPX1
2022 252,675,000 5.00 3.800° 13066YQG7

Copyright 2010, American Bankers Association. CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein
is provided by the CUSIP Service Bureau, operated by Standard & Poor’s, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. This data is not
intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Services Bureau. CUSIP numbers have been
assigned by an independent company not affiliated with DWR and are included solely for the convenience of the registered owners of the
applicable Bonds. Neither DWR nor the Underwriters are responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers, and no representation
is made as to their correctness on the applicable Bonds or as included herein. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being
changed after the issuance of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part
or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to all
or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds.

Priced to the first optional redemption date of May 1, 2020, at par.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

For an index of certain defined terms used in this Official Statement, see APPENDIX G — “INDEX OF
PRINCIPAL DEFINITIONS.” Capitalized terms used, but not defined in this Official Statement have the meanings
given in the Indenture. For definitions of certain terms used in the Indenture, see APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE.”

Descriptions and summaries of CPUC orders, the Rate Agreement, the Indenture, the Series 2010L Bonds,
DWR’s Servicing Arrangements, DWR’s power purchase contracts (including the Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts), Division 27 (commencing with Section 80000) of the California Water Code, as amended from time to
time (the “Act”), and other documents, regulations and laws referred to in this Official Statement do not purport to
be complete and reference is made to each of them for a complete statement of their provisions. A copy of the Rate
Agreement is attached as Appendix D to this Official Statement. Copies of DWR’s power purchase contracts are
posted on DWR’s Internet site at www.cers.water.ca.gov. Copies of other DWR documents may be obtained by
request to DWR at cersforum@water.ca.gov or 2033 Howe Avenue, Suite 220, Sacramento, California 95825,
Attention: Chief, Financial Management Office, Power Supply Program; upon payment of a reproduction fee.

So far as any statements made in this Official Statement involve matters of opinion, assumptions,
projections, anticipated events or estimates, whether or not expressly stated, they are set forth as such and not as
representations of fact, and actual results may differ substantially from those set forth herein. Neither this Official
Statement nor any statement which may have been made verbally or in writing in connection with the issuance of
the Series 2010L Bonds is to be construed as a contract with the owners of the Series 2010L Bonds.

No person has been authorized to give information or to make any representations in connection with the
issuance of the Series 2010L Bonds other than the information and representations contained in this Official
Statement; and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by DWR or the State. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an
offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Series 2010L Bonds offered hereby by any person in any jurisdiction
in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. This Official Statement speaks only
as of its date and any information, estimates and/or expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without
notice; and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no material change in the affairs of DWR or the CPUC
since the date hereof.

The information set forth herein has been obtained from sources that are believed to be reliable, but it is not
guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness. The presentation of information is intended to show recent historic
information and is not intended to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial position or other affairs of
DWR or the CPUC. No representation is made that past experience, as it might be shown by such financial and other
information, will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future.

This Official Statement includes forward-looking statements that are based on DWR’s current expectations
and projections about future events. These forward looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties,
including risks and uncertainties outside the control of DWR. Such statements generally are identifiable by the
terminology used, such as “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “budget,” “believes,” “projects” or other similar words.
Such forward-looking statements include but are not limited to certain statements contained under the captions
“SUMMARY,” “PLAN OF REFUNDING,” “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS,” “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY
PROGRAM,” “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES,”
“LITIGATION AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS,” “RISK FACTORS,” and “TAX MATTERS” in this
Official Statement. The achievement of certain results or other expectations contained in such forward-looking
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results,
performance or achievements described to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. DWR does not plan to issue any updates or
revisions to these forward-looking statements if or when expectations or events, conditions or circumstances on
which such statements are based occur or fail to occur.
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A wide variety of other information, including financial information, concerning DWR and the State is
available from DWR, the State Treasurer, the State and publications and websites of DWR, the State Treasurer, the
State and various State agencies and officials, including the CPUC. Except as expressly provided otherwise herein,
no such information is a part of or incorporated into this Official Statement.

The CPUC makes no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement, including
any forward looking statements or projections contained in this Official Statement and any description in this
Official Statement of litigation involving or affecting the CPUC. Any statements regarding such litigation do not
necessarily represent the CPUC’s view of such litigation or any position in such litigation. In addition, while CPUC
staff may have assisted in the preparation of certain sections of this Official Statement, the CPUC can only take
positions through formal action and has not taken any such action or approved this Official Statement. The CPUC is
an independent five member body that must act by an affirmative vote of a majority of its members and, as a result,
the CPUC can only indicate its views in formal decisions or other formal actions. In addition, the CPUC is an
independent body not subject to the control of DWR and may take positions in the future different from DWR in
litigation or other matters described in this Official Statement. As a result, statements in this Official Statement
regarding electricity markets and regulation, and DWR’s views of the CPUC’s role or DWR’s role in such markets
and regulation, do not necessarily represent the views, opinions or beliefs of the CPUC and should not be construed
as such by any recipient of this Official Statement.

Information in this Official Statement about the major investor-owned utilities in California, Pacific Gas &
Electric Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company and Southern California Edison (collectively, the “IOUs”)
has been obtained from publicly available documents. Each of the IOUs and the parent companies of each of the
I0Us named under “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Customer Base” file annual, quarterly and certain
other reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such reports are available on the SEC’s
website (www.sec.gov) and upon request from the Office of Public Reference of the SEC, 450 5th Street, NW,
Room 1300, Washington, D.C. 20549-0102 (phone: (202) 942-8090; fax: (202) 628-9001; e-mail:
publicinfo@sec.gov). No such report is a part of or incorporated into this Official Statement. Filings by each of the
IOUs with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) may be found on FERC’s website
(www.ferc.gov). No such report on the SEC’s website or report on the FERC website is a part of or incorporated
into this Official Statement. The information referred to in this paragraph has not been independently verified and
DWR and the Underwriters do not warrant that this information is accurate or complete.

In connection with this offering the Underwriters may over-allot or effect transactions that stabilize or
maintain the market prices of the Series 2010L Bonds offered hereby at levels above that which might otherwise
prevail in the open market. Such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement: The
Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, their
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.



OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$2,992,540,000
State of California Department of Water Resources
Power Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2010L

SUMMARY

This summary is a brief description of the Series 2010L Bonds and this Official Statement. A full review should be
made of the entire Official Statement, including the Appendices. The Index of Principal Definitions in Appendix G lists the
pages on which the definitions of principal terms used in this Official Statement appear.

General This Official Statement describes the State of California (the
“State”) Department of Water Resources (“DWR”) Power Supply
Program, DWR’s Power Supply Revenue Bonds (the “Bonds”),
including the Power Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2010L (the
“Series 2010L Bonds™) offered hereby in the principal amount of
$2,992,540,000. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and
“DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2010L BONDS.”

Outstanding Bonds; Plan of Refunding................ In 2002, DWR issued Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
$11,263,500,000 (the “Series 2002 Bonds”) for the purpose of
financing and refinancing costs of the Power Supply Program. In
2005, DWR issued Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
$2,594,000,000 (the “Series 2005 Bonds™) and in 2008 DWR issued
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $1,765,760,000 (the
“Series 2008 Bonds”) the proceeds of each such issue were used to
refund Bonds. DWR is issuing the Series 2010L Bonds to, together
with other available funds, refund an additional $3,109,385,000
principal amount of Bonds, to pay termination payments to certain
interest rate swap providers in connection with such refunding and to
pay certain costs of issuance of the Series 2010L Bonds. On the date
of issuance of the Series 2010L Bonds, $429,985,000 aggregate par
amount of Series 2002A Bonds will no longer be Outstanding (as
defined in Appendix C). DWR also intends to use proceeds of the
Series 2010L Bonds to redeem certain Bonds bearing interest at
variable rates in an aggregate par amount of $2,679,400,000 on May
13, 2010. The purposes of this refunding are to reduce DWR’s
exposure to the market uncertainties and expense associated with
Bonds bearing interest at variable rates and to obtain debt service
savings. As of May 13, 2010, approximately $8.4 billion aggregate
principal amount of Bonds will remain Outstanding. See “PLAN OF
REFUNDING.”

The Series 2002 Bonds, Series 2005 Bonds, Series 2008 Bonds,
Series 2010L Bonds and any additional Bonds that are Outstanding
from time to time under the Indenture will be secured by and payable
from the Trust Estate on a parity basis. See “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS.”

Bond Authorization The Series 2010L Bonds are being issued under Division 27
(commencing with Section 80000) of the California Water Code, as
amended from time to time (the “Act”) and a Trust Indenture, as
amended and supplemented (the “Indenture”), including, with
respect to the Series 2010L Bonds, as supplemented and amended by
a Ninth Supplemental Trust Indenture (the “Ninth Supplemental
Indenture”) among DWR, the Treasurer of the State, as Trustee, and
U.S. Bank National Association, as Co-Trustee (collectively, the
“Trustees™).
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The Series 2010L Bonds

Department of Water Resources

Power Supply Program

The Series 2010L Bonds will be dated the date of their delivery, will
mature on the dates and in the amounts, and will bear interest at the
rates shown on the inside cover of this Official Statement. Interest
on the Series 2010L Bonds is payable on May 1 and November 1 of
each year, commencing November 1, 2010. Series 2010L Bonds
may be purchased in book-entry form only, in principal amounts of
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Series 2010L Bonds
will be subject to optional redemption prior to their respective
maturity dates as described herein. See “THE SERIES 2010L
BONDS — Redemption.”

DWR was established in 1956 under California law as a department
of the State. The Director and Chief Deputy Director of DWR are
appointed by the Governor and, as a part of the Executive Branch,
report to the Governor through the Secretary of the Resources
Agency. DWR has been operating the Power Supply Program since
early 2001. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM.”
Under the Power Supply Program, DWR has been purchasing power
for sale to end use customers in the service areas of the three major
investor-owned electric utilities in the State, Pacific Gas and Electric
Company (“PG&E”), Southern California Edison (“SCE”), and San
Diego Gas & Electric Company (“SDG&E”) (collectively, the
“IOUs™).

DWR established the Power Supply Program in 2001, when
Governor Gray Davis determined that the IOUs could not supply
electric power sufficient to prevent widespread and prolonged
disruption of electric service in California.  Governor Davis
proclaimed a state of emergency, and directed DWR to procure
electric power for retail customers of the IOUs. During 2001 and
2002, DWR entered into both short-term and long-term contracts to
purchase power from wholesale suppliers, and supplied the portion
of the retail load that the IOUs could not provide (the “net short™).
DWR continues to purchase wholesale power to satisfy the net short,
but only through long-term wholesale power contracts that DWR
entered into prior to December 31, 2002. On that date, DWR’s
statutory authority to enter into new power purchase arrangements
expired, and DWR has not made any spot market purchases and has
not entered into any new power contracts since that date. As DWR’s
existing power contracts expire, the IOUs are required to replace that
power as needed. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM.”

DWR recovers the costs of the Power Supply Program through
“Bond Charges” and “Power Charges,” which are imposed by the
CPUC on the approximately 11.3 million bundled customers and
certain direct access, departing load and Community Choice
Aggregation customers. A “bundled customer” is a retail customer
that purchases electrical energy and transmission and distribution
services from an IOU. A “direct access” customer is a retail
customer who purchases electrical energy from an electric service
provider but purchases transmission and distribution services from
an IOU. An “electric service provider” is a privately-owned retail
seller of electrical energy, other than an IOU that is regulated by the
CPUC, as defined with more particularity in the Rate Agreement
attached as Appendix D. A “departing load” customer is a retail
customer who commences customer generation (sometimes called
“self-generation”) or whose load was or was projected to be served
by the IOU, but who is now receiving electrical energy and
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California Public Utilities Commission

Rate Covenants and Bond

Charges

transmission and distribution services from a publicly owned utility.
A “Community Choice Aggregation” customer is a retail customer
that receives electrical energy from a Community Choice Aggregator
pursuant to California Public Utilities Code Section 366.2.

Bond Charges are the primary source of money to pay debt service
on the Bonds, and must be imposed by the CPUC whether or not
DWR continues to purchase or sell electricity under the Power
Supply Program. Power Charges are the primary source of money to
procure wholesale power and pay other operating costs of the Power
Supply Program. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Rate
Covenants” and “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND
CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES — Rate Agreement.”

Under California law and the Rate Agreement (described below), the
CPUC sets Bond Charges and Power Charges to recover DWR’s
statutorily defined revenue requirements and allocates such charges
among service areas and electric customers. The CPUC has also
approved a number of decisions that implement other aspects of the
Power Supply Program. See “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION
OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES.”

The CPUC was established in 1911 under the California Constitution
and the California Public Utilities Act enacted in 1912. The CPUC
is an independent regulatory agency and is not controlled by DWR.
The CPUC regulates the IOUs and other California entities, mostly
investor-owned electric, telecommunications, natural gas, water,
railroad and  passenger transportation  companies.  See
“CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION.”

The CPUC makes no representation as to the accuracy or
completeness of this Official Statement, including any forward-
looking statements or projections contained in this Official
Statement and any description in this Official Statement of litigation
involving or affecting the CPUC. Any statements regarding such
litigation do not necessarily represent the CPUC’s view of such
litigation or any position in such litigation. In addition, while CPUC
staff may have assisted in the preparation of certain sections of this
Official Statement, the CPUC can only take positions through formal
action and has not taken any such action or approved this Official
Statement. The CPUC is an independent five member body that
must act by an affirmative vote of a majority of its members and, as
a result, the CPUC can only indicate its views in formal decisions or
other formal actions. In addition, the CPUC is an independent body
not subject to the control of DWR and may take positions in the
future different from DWR in litigation, or other matters described in
this Official Statement. As a result, statements in this Official
Statement regarding electricity markets and regulation, and DWR’s
views of the CPUC’s role or DWR’s role in such markets and
regulation, do not necessarily represent the views, opinions or beliefs
of the CPUC and should not be construed as such by any recipient of
this Official Statement.

The Bonds are payable primarily from charges (“Bond Charges”) to
be imposed by the CPUC upon the approximately 11.3 million
bundled customers and certain direct access, departing load and
Community Choice Aggregation customers in the service areas of
the I0Us. In the Rate Agreement with DWR (the “Rate
Agreement”), the CPUC has covenanted to calculate, revise and



Bond Related Costs

impose from time to time, Bond Charges sufficient to provide
moneys so that amounts available for deposit in the Bond Charge
Payment Account under the Indenture from time to time, together
with amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account, are
at all times sufficient to pay or provide for the payment of debt
service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs (as defined in the
Rate Agreement) when due in accordance with the Indenture and
other financing documents. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS —
Rate Covenants” and “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF
BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES — Rate Agreement.”

Under the Act and the Rate Agreement, DWR is responsible for
notifying the CPUC of the amounts required to pay Bond Related
Costs that are to be recovered from Bond Charges. See
“CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES
AND POWER CHARGES — Rate Agreement.” Under the Rate
Agreement, DWR is also responsible for notifying the CPUC of
DWR’s “Retail Revenue Requirements” (defined in the Rate
Agreement as the amounts required to pay DWR costs that are to be
recovered from Power Charges imposed by the CPUC from time to
time). Retail Revenue Requirements do not include Bond Related
Costs recovered from Bond Charges.

In the Indenture, DWR has covenanted to cause to be established,
fixed and revised from time to time, charges sufficient, together with
any other available moneys and securities on deposit in DWR’s
Electric Power Fund, to satisfy all of DWR’s revenue requirements
at the times and in the amounts needed. The term “revenue
requirements” means the amounts needed from time to time by
DWR to satisfy its obligations under the Act and under
proclamations and orders issued pursuant to the California
Emergency Services Act that are identified in the Indenture. These
obligations include, but are not limited to, making deposits to the
Bond Charge Payment Account and Debt Service Reserve Account
in the amounts and at the times required by the Indenture. See
“CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES
AND POWER CHARGES — DWR Actions to Establish Revenue
Requirements.”

Bond Related Costs that are payable from Bond Charges imposed by
the CPUC under the Rate Agreement include, among other costs,
debt service on the Bonds and payments required to be made: (i)
under agreements with issuers of credit and liquidity facilities,
including letters of credit, bond insurance, guarantees, debt service
reserve fund surety bonds, lines of credit, reimbursement
agreements, and standby bond purchase agreements, (ii) under
agreements relating to other financial instruments entered into in
connection with the Bonds, including but not limited to investment
agreements, hedges, interest rate swaps, caps, options and forward
purchase agreements, and (iii) under agreements relating to the
remarketing of Bonds, including but not limited to remarketing
agreements, dealer agreements and auction agent agreements. Such
payments may cover fees, expenses, indemnification, or other
obligations due the providers of any such facilities or parties to such
agreements, and such agreements may be entered into at any time
concurrently with or after the issuance of Bonds. See “SECURITY
FOR THE BONDS — Bond Related Costs.”



Security for the Bonds;
Bond Charge Revenues

In connection with Bonds bearing interest at variable rates, DWR
has entered into and expects to enter into agreements, such as
agreements with issuers of credit and liquidity facilities and
agreements with interest rate swap providers, requiring the payment
of certain Bond Related Costs on a parity with payment of debt
service on the Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Bond
Related Costs.”

The primary source of moneys for the payment of debt service on the
Bonds and other Bond Related Costs will be Bond Charge Revenues,
which constitute part of the Trust Estate securing the Bonds, as
described below.

The “Trust Estate” is assigned and pledged to the Trustees under the
Indenture for the benefit of the Bonds and Parity Obligations, subject
to the use of the Trust Estate in accordance with the Indenture. The
“Trust Estate” is defined in the Indenture to include, among other
things, “Revenues.” The term “Revenues” includes “Bond Charge
Revenues,” “Power Charge Revenues” and “Direct Access Power
Charge Revenues.” The term “Revenues” also includes (1) revenues
from a surcharge (referred to herein as the “Cost Responsibility
Surcharge”) on direct access customers, various types of “departing
load” and from other possible future sources as described under
“THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Direct Access,
Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation” and
“CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES
AND POWER CHARGES,” and (2) moneys actually received by
DWR which have been recovered as compensation or damages from
providers of power purchased by DWR under the Power Supply
Program.

. “Bond Charge Revenues” are Revenues received by DWR
arising from Bond Charges imposed by the CPUC upon
customers in the service areas of the IOUs as described under
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Rate Covenants” and
“CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES
AND POWER CHARGES.”

*+  “Power Charge Revenues” are Revenues received by DWR
arising from Power Charges imposed by the CPUC upon
customers for electric power deemed sold to customers by
DWR as described under “CALCULATION AND
IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER
CHARGES.”

*  “Direct Access Power Charge Revenues” are Revenues
received by DWR from Direct Access Power Charges imposed
by the CPUC upon any person receiving power from an
“Electric Service Provider” (as that term is defined in the Rate
Agreement, attached as Appendix D).

The use of amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection
Account (including Bond Charge Revenues) for the payment of debt
service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs when due is
subject to the possible prior use of such amounts to pay amounts due
under Priority Long-Term Power Contracts (“Priority Contract
Costs”). To date, no amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge



Sources of Payment of Operating Expenses;
Priority Long-Term Power Contracts ..................

Accounts and Flow of Funds under the
Indenture

Bond Charge Accounts

Collection Account have been needed or used to pay Priority
Contract Costs and Priority Contract Costs are projected to decline
significantly through 2013. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS;,”
“THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase
Contracts — Power Supply Program Operating Expenses” and “RISK
FACTORS - Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges;
Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account to
Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

Power Supply Program operating expenses, including Priority
Contract Costs, are expected to be paid from Power Charge
Revenues, Direct Access Power Charge Revenues and other
Revenues (other than Bond Charge Revenues). Each Priority Long-
Term Power Contract (see “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS -
Priority Long-Term Power Contracts”) contains a provision
requiring that payments by DWR under the contract are to be paid or
payable prior to payment of Bond Related Costs. Substantially all of
the power to be purchased by DWR will be purchased under Priority
Long-Term Power Contracts. The CPUC has covenanted to
calculate, revise and impose Power Charges sufficient to satisfy the
Retail Revenue Requirements, including Priority Contract Costs, as
specified by DWR. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Rate
Covenants.” See also “RISK FACTORS — Determination of Power
Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond
Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

In 2003, the first year in which DWR’s Power Supply Program
operating expenses no longer included procurement of the net short,
Power Supply Program operating expenses paid by DWR totaled
approximately $4.8 billion. In the following year, Power Supply
Program operating expenses paid by DWR totaled approximately
$5.3 billion. In subsequent years, Power Supply Program operating
expenses have been declining and are projected to total
approximately $2.9 billion in 2010, $320 million in 2012 and $22
million in 2015. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM —
Power Purchase Contracts — Power Supply Program Operating
Expenses.”

The Indenture establishes within the Electric Power Fund two sets of
accounts for Revenues. One set of accounts, the “Bond Charge
Accounts,” is primarily for the deposit of Bond Charge Revenues
and the payment of Bond Related Costs. Another set of accounts,
the “Power Charge Accounts,” is primarily for the deposit of Power
Charge Revenues and the payment of Operating Expenses (including
Priority Contract Costs and other costs of the Power Supply
Program). Bond Charge Accounts include the Bond Charge
Collection Account, the Bond Charge Payment Account, and the
Debt Service Reserve Account. Power Charge Accounts include the
Operating Account, the Priority Contract Account and the Operating
Reserve Account. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts
and Flow of Funds under the Indenture.”

The Indenture requires the following deposits and transfers of Bond
Charge Revenues:

. All Bond Charge Revenues are required to be deposited in the
Bond Charge Collection Account. DWR is also required to



Power Charge Accounts

deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account any payments
received from any counterparty to a “Qualified Swap” (as
defined in the Summary of Certain Provisions of the Indenture
attached hereto as Appendix C) relating to Bonds.

On or before the last Business Day of each month, DWR is
required to transfer from the Bond Charge Collection Account
to the Bond Charge Payment Account such amount as is
necessary to make the amount in the Bond Charge Payment
Account sufficient to pay Bond Related Costs (including Debt
Service on the Bonds) estimated to accrue or be payable during
the next succeeding three calendar months. Each such transfer
is subject to the prior transfer of amounts in the Bond Charge
Collection Account to the Priority Contract Account if and to
the extent amounts in the Priority Contract Account, the
Operating Account and the Operating Reserve Account are
insufficient to pay Priority Contract Costs. To date, no such
transfer of amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection
Account has occurred. See “RISK FACTORS — Determination
of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts
in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority
Contract Costs.”

Deficiencies in the Bond Charge Payment Account are required
to be made up first, from the Operating Account and second,
from the Debt Service Reserve Account (except for the
payment of Fiduciary costs).

The Debt Service Reserve Account is required by the Indenture
to have a balance in the amount of the maximum aggregate
annual Debt Service on all outstanding Bonds, calculated in
accordance with the Indenture (the “Debt Service Reserve
Requirement”). Each month after the Bond Charge Payment
Account is funded as described above, Revenues are to be
transferred to the Debt Service Reserve Account and to any
reserve established for Parity Obligations to the extent
necessary to meet the respective requirements (including
replenishment requirements) for such reserves. Amounts in the
Debt Service Reserve Account may be used for the payment of
Bond Related Costs (including debt service on the Bonds)
except Fiduciary costs, but only if amounts in the Bond Charge
Payment Account and Operating Account are insufficient for
that purpose. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts
and Flow of Funds under the Indenture” and “— Debt Service
Reserve Account.”

The Indenture requires the following deposits and transfers of all
Revenues other than those required to be deposited in the Bond
Charge Collection Account:

All Revenues (including but not limited to Power Charge
Revenues), other than Bond Charge Revenues and payments to
DWR under Qualified Swaps relating to Bonds, are required to
be deposited in the Operating Account.

On or before the fifth Business Day of each month, DWR is
required to transfer from the Operating Account to the Priority
Contract Account such amount as is necessary to make the



Collection of Revenues;

Servicing Arrangements

amount in the Priority Contract Account sufficient to pay
Priority Contract Costs estimated to be due during the balance
of such month and through the first five Business Days of the
next succeeding calendar month. Amounts in the Priority
Contract Account may be used solely to pay Priority Contract
Costs. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts and
Flow of Funds under the Indenture.”

Amounts in the Operating Account after the monthly transfer to
the Priority Contract Account are to be used for the following
purposes in the following order of priority: (i) for transfer to
the Priority Contract Account if the estimated amount
transferred to that account (as described in the preceding
paragraph) is insufficient to pay actual Priority Contract Costs
then payable; (ii) for the payment of other Operating Expenses;
(iii) to reimburse the Bond Charge Collection Account for
amounts previously transferred from the Bond Charge
Collection Account to the Priority Contract Account to pay
Priority Contract Costs; (iv) to pay debt service on the Bonds
and other Bond Related Costs (if amounts in the Bond Charge
Payment Account are not sufficient for those purposes) and, in
addition, prior to the time Bond Charge Revenues are received
in amounts sufficient to make the transfers described in the
second bullet point under “Bond Charge Accounts” above, to
make those transfers as required; (v) for transfer to the Debt
Service Reserve Account to the extent required by the
Indenture as a result of the use of Bond Charge Revenues to
pay Priority Contract Costs or a change in value of investments
in such Account; (vi) to replenish the Operating Reserve
Account to its requirement as provided by the Indenture; (vii)
to pay any subordinated indebtedness and subordinated
obligations and certain other amounts relating thereto; and
(viii) for any other lawful purpose of the Power Supply
Program. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts
and Flow of Funds under the Indenture,” “— Debt Service
Reserve Account” and “ — Operating Reserve Account.”

The Operating Reserve Account is required by the Indenture to
be funded in an amount equal to the Operating Reserve
Account Requirement. Amounts in the Operating Reserve
Account are to be transferred to the Operating Account if and
to the extent that the amount in the Operating Account is
insufficient for any of the purposes listed in clauses (i) through
(v) of the preceding paragraph, unless the amount in the
Operating Reserve Account is equal to or less than the “Priority
Contract Contingency Reserve Amount” (an amount equal to
the maximum amount projected by DWR to be payable under
Priority Long-Term Power Contracts in any calendar month
during the then-current revenue requirement period), in which
event amounts in the Operating Reserve Account may only be
used to make up any deficiency in the Priority Contract
Account. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts
and Flow of Funds under the Indenture” and “ — Operating
Reserve Account.”

Pursuant to the Act, the CPUC has issued orders approving servicing
agreements or orders for the IOUs to provide transmission and
distribution services, bill and collect Bond Charges and Power
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The IOUs

Litigation and Administrative
Proceedings

Certain Risk Factors

Charges, and perform other services on behalf of DWR in
connection with the Power Supply Program (collectively, the
“Servicing Arrangements”). Under such Servicing Arrangements,
the IOUs collect DWR’s Bond Charges and Power Charges solely as
the agents of DWR. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY
PROGRAM - Collection of Revenues.”

The three major investor-owned electric utilities in California are
PG&E, SCE and SDG&E. Their combined service areas cover
approximately three-quarters of California’s land area and their
combined approximately 11.3 million bundled customer accounts
represent approximately three-quarters of all retail connections in
California. DWR sells power to the same bundled customers who
are served by the three IOUs. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY
PROGRAM - Customer Base.”

Litigation and administrative proceedings involving DWR or
affecting DWR’s Power Supply Program are summarized under
“LITIGATION AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS.”

Investment in the Series 2010L Bonds is subject to certain risks,
including the events and circumstances identified under “RISK
FACTORS.” Cross-references below are to subsections of “RISK
FACTORS.”

The occurrence of one or more of such events or circumstances as
described in “RISK FACTORS” and summarized below could
materially and adversely affect the ability of DWR to pay debt
service on the Bonds.

. Failure of DWR’s assumptions and projections in calculating
its revenue requirements and a delay or failure in
appropriations required for certain of DWR’s administrative
expenses (see “Certain Risks Associated with DWR’s Power
Supply Program”);

. The insufficiency of Power Charge Revenues to pay amounts
due under DWR’s Priority Long-Term Power Contracts
(including any termination payments), resulting in the use of
Bond Charge Revenues for such purpose (see “Certain Risks
Associated with DWR’s Power Supply Program”);

*  Administrative or legal challenges to DWR’s proceedings for
establishing its revenue requirements or the CPUC’s
proceedings for calculating, revising and imposing Bond
Charges and Power Charges, including particularly challenges
to the inclusion of Priority Contract Costs in revenue
requirement determinations (see ‘Determination of Power
Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the
Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract
Costs”);

. A court declining to give effect to the Rate Agreement in
accordance with its literal terms, including the CPUC’s Bond
Charge Rate Covenant, if the effect of so doing would permit
the recovery by DWR of power or bond costs that had been
determined previously (in a legal challenge against DWR) not
to be “just and reasonable” (see “Determination of Power
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Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the
Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract
Costs”);

The failure or refusal of one or more IOUs to perform under the
Servicing Arrangements, including action or inaction by a
bankrupt IOU (see “Collection of Bond Charges and Power
Charges” and “Bankruptcy Risks”);

Uncertainties concerning changes in the electric industry and
markets in the western states region (see “Uncertainties
Relating to Electric Industry and Markets”);

Uncertainties concerning the ability of the IOUs to collect the
Cost Responsibility Surcharge from all municipal departing
load customers who are billed, particularly those customers
who have no prior contractual relationship with the IOU. (see
“Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation”);

Uncertainties concerning possible legislative, regulatory or
other action affecting the Power Supply Program (see
“Uncertainties Relating to Government Action”);

Actual results materially differing from the projections and
assumptions contained in this Official Statement or contained
in DWR’s revenue requirements (see “Uncertainty of
Projections and Assumptions”); and

Uncertainties, disruptions or volatility in the financial markets,
including but not limited to, credit or liquidity provider credit
rating downgrades, availability of credit and/or liquidity
facilities at an appropriate price, swap provider credit rating
downgrades, defaults under swap agreements, substantial fund
flows into or out of the market for variable rate bonds, and
other factors might affect market rates for variable rate bonds
and the rates on DWR's variable rate bonds (see “Uncertainties
of Financial Markets™).
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THE SERIES 2010L BONDS
General

The Series 2010L Bonds will be dated their date of delivery, will mature on the dates and in the amounts, and will
bear interest at the rates per annum shown on the inside cover of this Official Statement. Series 2010L Bonds may be
purchased in book-entry form only, in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Interest on the Series
2010L Bonds will be payable on May 1 and November 1 of each year, commencing November 1, 2010, to the owners of
record at the close of business on the 15th day of the preceding calendar month (i) by check mailed by the Paying Agent to
the registered Owner at such Owner’s address as it appears on the books of registry required to be kept by the Registrar
pursuant to the Indenture or (ii) by wire transfer to the account specified by the Owner of at least $1,000,000 in aggregate
principal amount of Series 2010L Bonds in a written direction received by the Paying Agent at its office designated for such
purpose on or prior to a Record Date (as defined in the Indenture); provided, however, that upon redemption of any Series
2010L Bond on a date other than an Interest Payment Date, the accrued interest payable upon redemption shall be payable at
the office of the Paying Agent designated for such purpose, upon presentation and surrender of such Bond. If the
Redemption Date is an Interest Payment Date, the interest on such Bond so redeemed shall be paid by the Paying Agent as
described above. Any such direction or request shall remain in effect until revoked or revised by such Owner by an
instrument in writing delivered to the Paying Agent. See APPENDIX B — “BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM.”

The Treasurer of the State is the Trustee and U.S. Bank National Association is the Co-Trustee under the Indenture.
The Treasurer of the State is also the Registrar and Paying Agent for the Series 2010L Bonds.

So long as any Series 2010L. Bond is registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository
Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), procedures with respect to the transfer of ownership, redemption
and the payment of principal, Redemption Price, premium, if any, and interest on such Bond shall be in accordance
with arrangements among DWR, the Trustee, the Co-Trustee, the Paying Agent and DTC. See APPENDIX B —
“BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM.”

Redemption
Optional Redemption

The Series 2010L Bonds maturing on or after May 1, 2021, are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated
maturity dates, in whole or in part, at the option of DWR and from such maturities as may be designated by DWR, on any
date on and after May 1, 2020 at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the date
fixed for redemption.

Selection of Bonds for Redemption

If less than an entire maturity of Series 2010L Bonds bearing a particular interest rate is to be redeemed, the
Registrar shall select the particular bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed in such manner in its discretion as it shall deem
appropriate and fair.

Notice of Redemption

The Registrar is to give notice of redemption by mailing copies of such notice (only to The Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”) rather than the beneficial owners of the Series 2010L Bonds so long as DTC is the securities depository
for the Series 2010L Bonds) not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. Notices of
redemption given as described above are effective whether the notice is actually received, and whether any DTC procedures
for giving notice are complied with. See APPENDIX B — “BOOK ENTRY SYSTEM.”

Any notice of optional redemption may be made conditional upon the availability of moneys sufficient to pay the
redemption price or the satisfaction of any other condition, including the receipt by the Paying Agent of moneys sufficient to
pay the redemption price, and it may be rescinded at any time before the payment of the redemption price if any such
condition is not satisfied or if any other specified event occurs. Notice of rescission of any conditional redemption will be
given in the same manner as the notice of redemption, as promptly as practicable upon the failure of such condition or the
occurrence of such event.
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Effect of Redemption

If, on the redemption date, moneys for the redemption of all Series 2010L Bonds to be redeemed, together with
interest to the redemption date, shall be held by the Paying Agent and available therefor, and if notice of redemption shall
have been mailed as described above, then, from and after the redemption date, interest on the Series 2010L Bonds called for
redemption shall cease to accrue. If such moneys shall not be so available on the redemption date, unless, in the case of any
conditional notice, the conditions thereof are not satisfied or such notice is rescinded, the Series 2010L Bonds shall continue
to bear interest until paid at the same rate as they would have borne had they not been called for redemption.

PLAN OF REFUNDING
Refunding of Prior Bonds

Refunding of Certain Bonds. A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2010L Bonds will be applied to redeem
Outstanding Bonds bearing interest at variable rates in the aggregate principal amount of $2,679,400,000 as identified in the
following table (the “Variable Rate Refunded Bonds™) and Outstanding Series 2002A Bonds bearing interest at a fixed rate in
the aggregate principal amount of $429,985,000 as identified in the following table (the “Fixed Rate Refunded Bonds” and
together with the Variable Rate Refunded Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds™) (the “Refunding Proceeds”). See “THE DWR
POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Financing of the Power Supply Program — Prior Sources of Financing.” DWR intends to
redeem the Variable Rate Refunded Bonds on May 13, 2010, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof,
plus accrued interest thereon. DWR intends to redeem the Fixed Rate Refunded Bonds on May 1, 2012, at a redemption
price equal to one-hundred and one percent of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon.

Refunded Bonds
Series Maturity CUSIP’ Redemption
Designation Date Suffix 13066Y Par Amount Interest Rate

2002 Series A 5/01/2014 CD9 $ 90,025,000 6.00%
2002 Series A 5/01/2015 CF4 14,960,000 5.25

2002 Series A 5/01/2015 DX4 325,000,000 5.50

2002 Series B-1 5/01/2022 AA7 295,000,000 Variable
2002 Series B-2 5/01/2022 ABS 300,000,000 Variable
2002 Series B-3 5/01/2022 AC3 100,000,000 Variable
2002 Series B-4 5/01/2022 AD1 100,000,000 Variable
2002 Series B-5 5/01/2022 AE9 100,000,000 Variable
2002 Series B-6 5/01/2022 AF6 75,000,000 Variable
2002 Series C-4 5/01/2022 AKS5S 153,100,000 Variable
2002 Series C-7 5/01/2022 AN9 103,200,000 Variable
2002 Series C-8 5/01/2022 AP4 26,200,000 Variable
2002 Series C-9 5/01/2022 AQ2 127,600,000 Variable
2002 Series C-10 5/01/2022 ARO 209,600,000 Variable
2002 Series C-12 5/01/2022 AT6 50,000,000 Variable
2002 Series C-13 5/01/2022 AU3 50,000,000 Variable
2002 Series C-14 5/01/2022 AV1 12,900,000 Variable
2002 Series C-15 5/01/2022 AW9 43,200,000 Variable
2002 Series C-16 5/01/2022 AX7 25,000,000 Variable
2002 Series C-18 5/01/2022 AZ2 25,000,000 Variable
2005 Series F-1 5/01/2019 LAS 59,400,000 Variable

-- table continues on next page --

*

CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with DWR and are included solely for the
convenience of the registered owners of the applicable Refunded Bonds. Neither DWR nor the Underwriters are responsible
for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers, and no representation is made as to their correctness on the Refunded
Bonds or as included herein.
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--continued table from previous page --

Series Maturity CUSIP’ Redemption
Designation Date Suffix 13066Y Par Amount Interest Rate
2005 Series F-2 5/1/2020 LB3 200,000,000 Variable
2005 Series F-4 5/1/2022 LD9 150,000,000 Variable
2005 Series G-6 5/1/2017 LF4 137,700,000 Variable
2005 Series G-7 5/1/2017 LG2 75,000,000 Variable
2008 Series I-1 5/1/2022 MZ9 50,000,000 Variable
2008 Series I-2 5/1/2022 NA3 100,000,000 Variable
2008 Series J-1 5/1/2018 NB1 104,500,000 Variable
2008 Series J-2 5/1/2018 NC9 7,000,000 Variable

DWR will use the Refunding Proceeds, together with other available moneys, to pay the redemption price of the
Refunded Bonds and any swap termination payments related to such refunding. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES
OF FUNDS,” “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Financing of the Power Supply Program — Prior Sources of
Financing” and “— Interest Rate Hedges.”

DWR caused a notice of redemption to be delivered with respect to the Variable Rate Refunded Bonds on April 27,
2010 and amended such notice pursuant to a notice of partial rescission and amendment DWR caused to be delivered on May
6, 2010. DWR intends to cause a notice of redemption to be delivered with respect to the Fixed Rate Refunded Bonds as
prescribed in the Indenture. The notice for the Variable Rate Refunded Bonds, as amended, is conditional in that it is subject
to the receipt by the Co-Trustee, as Paying Agent, with respect to the Variable Rate Refunded Bonds, of moneys sufficient to
pay the redemption price of the Variable Rate Refunded Bonds on or prior to the redemption date for such Refunded Bonds,
all as set forth in such notice as amended. A portion of the Refunding Proceeds will be deposited with the Trustee
concurrently with the issuance of the Series 2010L Bonds and together with other available moneys held by the Trustee will
be transferred to the Co-Trustee on May 13, 2010, such deposit is expected to satisfy such condition to redemption of the
Variable Rate Refunded Bonds. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.”

A portion of the Refunding Proceeds, together with other available moneys, will be used to purchase Defeasance
Securities (as defined in Appendix C, except that the securities described in clauses (iii) and (v) of the definition of
Authorized Investments and in clause (iv) of the definition of Defeasance Security will not be purchased) that will be
deposited, together with certain uninvested cash, in an irrevocable trust fund (the “Escrow Fund”) held by the Trustee, as
escrow agent, as security solely for the Fixed Rate Refunded Bonds. The Defeasance Securities in the Escrow Fund will be
scheduled to mature at such times and in such amounts, and will bear interest payable at such times and in such amounts, that
together with the uninvested cash on deposit in the Escrow Fund, such securities will provide sufficient moneys to pay, when
due, interest on and the redemption price of the Fixed Rate Refunded Bonds. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES
OF FUNDS” and “VERIFICATION.”

As of May 13, 2010, approximately $8.4 billion of aggregate principal amount of Bonds will remain Outstanding, of
which approximately $2.0 billion will bear interest at variable rates.

The redemption of the Refunded Bonds is intended to reduce DWR’s portfolio of Bonds bearing interest at variable
rates due to the uncertainty and expense associated with such bonds and to obtain debt service savings.

The risk of interest rate volatility with respect to certain of the Bonds that bear interest at variable rates has been
hedged through the execution by DWR of certain interest rate swap agreements. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY
PROGRAM - Financing of the Power Supply Program — Interest Rate Hedges.”

*

CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with DWR and are included solely for the
convenience of the registered owners of the applicable Refunded Bonds. Neither DWR nor the Underwriters are responsible
for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers, and no representation is made as to their correctness on the Refunded
Bonds or as included herein.
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Possible Issuance of Additional Bonds in 2010. Bonds bearing interest at variable rates in the aggregate principal
amount of approximately $3.7 billion are secured by credit and liquidity facilities expiring in November and December of
2010. A portion of these Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $2,679,400,000 are part of the Refunded Bonds.
Subsequent to the redemption of the Refunded Bonds and in connection with restructuring these expiring agreements, DWR
may issue one or more series of additional Bonds in 2010 to refund additional Bonds bearing interest at variable rates that
remain Outstanding.

Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds

The estimated sources and uses of the proceeds of the Series 2010L Bonds at the time of issuance of the Series
2010L Bonds are as follows:

Estimated Sources of
Funds

$2,992,540,000.00
17,708,732.15

Principal Amount of Bonds
Release from Debt Service Reserve Account

Release from Bond Charge Payment

Account 41,625,000.00
Net Original Issue Premium 307,598,268.75
Total Sources of Funds $3,359,472,000.90

Estimated Uses of Funds

Deposit in Escrow Fund for Fixed Rate

Refunded Bonds

Deposit in Bond Charge Payment Account
for Variable Rate Refunded Bonds

Costs of Issuance
Swap Termination Payments

Underwriters’ Discount

$ 475,539,750.23

2,679,400,000.00
1,512,079.59
188,220,000.00
14,800,171.08

Total Uses of Funds $3,359,472,000.90

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
Introduction

The primary source of moneys for the payment of the Bonds and Bond Related Costs is Bond Charge Revenues,
which constitutes part of the Trust Estate securing the Bonds, as described below. Bond Charges are imposed by the CPUC
pursuant to the Rate Agreement and the Act upon customers in the service areas of the three IOUs.

The “Trust Estate” is assigned and pledged to the Trustees under the Indenture for the benefit of the Bonds and
Parity Obligations, subject to the use of the Trust Estate in accordance with the Indenture. The “Trust Estate” is defined in
the Indenture to include, among other things, “Revenues.” “Revenues” includes both “Bond Charge Revenues” and “Power
Charge Revenues.” “Revenues” also includes revenues received by DWR from charges on customers of electric service
providers, as described in “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Direct Access, Departing Load and Community
Choice Aggregation.” For a further description of the terms “Trust Estate” and “Revenues,” see APPENDIX C -
“SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE — Definitions.”

e  “Bond Charge Revenues” are Revenues received by DWR arising from Bond Charges imposed by the CPUC

upon customers in the service areas of the IOUs, including a Bond Charge component of the Cost
Responsibility Surcharge imposed upon certain direct access customers and certain departing and Community

16



Choice Aggregation load, as described in “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Direct Access,
Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation.”

e  “Power Charge Revenues” are Revenues received by DWR arising from Power Charges imposed by the CPUC
upon customers in the service areas of the IOUs, including a Power Charge component of the Cost
Responsibility Surcharge imposed upon certain direct access customers and certain departing and Community
Choice Aggregation load, as described in “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Direct Access,
Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation.”

The use of amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account (including Bond Charge Revenues) for the
payment of debt service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs when due is subject to the possible prior use of such
amounts to pay “Priority Contract Costs” (defined to include costs and expenses under the Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts described under “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Priority Long-Term Power Contracts”) and under certain
circumstances, expenses of the Trustees (see APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
INDENTURE — Events of Default and Remedies™). To date, no amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account
have been used to pay Priority Contract Costs or expenses of the Trustee. See also “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS -
Accounts and Flow of Funds Under the Indenture,” “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts,” and “RISK FACTORS — Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the
Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

The accounts created under the Indenture and the flow of funds under the Indenture provide for the allocation of
Revenues among different uses and are discussed below. See APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE INDENTURE?” for a detailed discussion of security provisions for the Bonds.

THE BONDS SHALL NOT BE OR BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE A DEBT OR LIABILITY OF THE STATE
OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF OR A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE STATE
OR OF ANY SUCH POLITICAL SUBDIVISION, OTHER THAN DWR TO THE EXTENT PROVIDED IN THE
INDENTURE. THE BONDS SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE FUNDS PLEDGED THEREFOR
PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE. THE BONDS SHALL NOT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OR CONTINGENTLY
OBLIGATE THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF TO LEVY OR TO PLEDGE ANY FORM OF
TAXATION WHATEVER THEREFOR OR TO MAKE ANY APPROPRIATION FOR THEIR PAYMENT.

Accounts and Flow of Funds under the Indenture

Revenues are held in and accounted for in the Electric Power Fund established under the Act for DWR. The
Indenture establishes two sets of accounts for Revenues within the Electric Power Fund. On the following page is a
simplified schematic representation of the flow of funds within the two sets of accounts (excluding the Administrative Cost
Account).

One set of accounts is primarily for the deposit of Bond Charge Revenues and the payment of Bond Related Costs
(collectively, the “Bond Charge Accounts™):

e  the Bond Charge Collection Account,
e  the Bond Charge Payment Account, and

° the Debt Service Reserve Account.

The other set of accounts is primarily for the deposit of Power Charge Revenues and the payment of Operating
Expenses (including payments of Priority Contract Costs and other power purchase costs and other costs of the Power Supply
Program) (collectively, the “Power Charge Accounts”):

e the Operating Account,
e the Priority Contract Account, and

e  the Operating Reserve Account.

In addition, an Administrative Cost Account facilitates accounting for certain DWR administrative costs that are
subject to appropriation, but this account has no effect on the use of Revenues.
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Flow of Revenues under the Indenture*
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* Simplified for graphic presentation purposes.

18



The Indenture requires all Bond Charge Revenues and any payments received from any counterparty to a Qualified
Swap relating to Bonds to be deposited in the Bond Charge Collection Account, and all Power Charge Revenues and all other
Revenues to be deposited in the Operating Account.

The Indenture requires the following transfers of Revenues to and from the Bond Charge Accounts:

e On or before the last Business Day of each month, DWR is required to transfer from the Bond Charge Collection
Account to the Bond Charge Payment Account such amount as is necessary to make the amount in the Bond
Charge Payment Account sufficient to pay Bond Related Costs (including “Debt Service” on the Bonds)
estimated to accrue or be payable during the next succeeding three calendar months. For the definition of Debt
Service, see APPENDIX C - “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE -
Definitions.” Each such transfer is subject to the prior transfer of amounts in the Bond Charge Collection
Account to the Priority Contract Account if and to the extent amounts in the Priority Contract Account, the
Operating Account and the Operating Reserve Account are insufficient to pay Priority Contract Costs then due
under Priority Long-Term Power Contracts. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts.” Amounts in the Bond Charge Payment Account may be used solely to pay debt service on the Bonds
and other Bond Related Costs.

e  Deficiencies in the Bond Charge Payment Account are required to be made up first, from the Operating Account
and second, from the Debt Service Reserve Account (except for Fiduciary costs).

e  Each month after the Bond Charge Payment Account is funded as described above, Revenues are required to be
transferred to the Debt Service Reserve Account, on a parity with payments for any reserve established for Parity
Obligations, to the extent necessary to meet the respective requirements for such reserves. In the case of the Debt
Service Reserve Account: (i) to the extent such transfer is required as a result of the use of Bond Charge
Revenues for the payment of Priority Contract Costs or change in investment value, such transfers shall be made
first, from the Operating Account and second, to the extent necessary, from the Bond Charge Collection
Account, and (ii) if any other transfer is required, it shall be made from the Bond Charge Collection Account.
Deficiencies in the Debt Service Reserve Account may be cured by monthly deposits during the period
commencing no later than seven months following the determination of the deficiency, such that the deficiency
is cured by no later than 12 months following the determination of the deficiency.

The Indenture requires the following transfers of Revenues to and from the Power Charge Accounts:

e On or before the fifth Business Day of each month, DWR is required to transfer from the Operating Account to
the Priority Contract Account such amount as is necessary to make the amount in the Priority Contract Account
sufficient to pay Priority Contract Costs estimated to be due during the balance of such month and through the
first five Business Days of the next succeeding calendar month. Amounts in the Priority Contract Account may
be used solely to pay Priority Contract Costs.

e Amounts in the Operating Account after the above transfer to the Priority Contract Account are to be used for the
following purposes in the following order of priority:

6] for transfer to the Priority Contract Account if the amount therein is insufficient to pay Priority
Contract Costs then due (that is, if the estimated amount previously transferred to that account turns
out to be insufficient to pay actual Priority Contract Costs);

(i1) for the payment of other Operating Expenses;

(iii) to reimburse the Bond Charge Collection Account for any amounts previously transferred from the
Bond Charge Collection Account to the Priority Contract Account to pay Priority Contract Costs;

(iv) to pay debt service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs (if amounts in the Bond Charge
Payment Account are not sufficient for those purposes) and, in addition, prior to the time Bond
Charge Revenues are received in amounts sufficient to make the required transfers described above
from the Bond Charge Collection Account to the Bond Charge Payment Account with respect to
Bond Related Costs, amounts to make those transfers as required;
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) for transfer to the Debt Service Reserve Account to the extent required by the Indenture as a result
of the use of Bond Charge Revenues to pay Priority Contract Costs or a change in value of
investments in the Debt Service Reserve Account;

(vi) to replenish the Operating Reserve Account to its requirement as provided by the Indenture;

(vii) to pay Subordinated Indebtedness and Subordinated Obligations and certain other amounts relating
thereto; and

(viii) for any other lawful purpose of the Power Supply Program.

e  The Operating Reserve Account may be drawn upon to make up any deficiency in the Operating Account for
any of the purposes listed in clauses (i) through (v) of the preceding list, provided, however, that if and to the
extent that the amount in the Operating Reserve Account is or would be less than or equal to the Priority
Contract Contingency Reserve Amount, amounts in the Operating Reserve Account may be used only to make
up any deficiency in the Priority Contract Account. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Operating Reserve
Account.”

The Indenture prescribes an application of Revenues that may be different than as described above in the event of a
default thereunder. See APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE - Events of
Defaults and Remedies.”

Debt Service Reserve Account

The “Debt Service Reserve Requirement” is an amount equal to maximum aggregate annual Debt Service on all
outstanding Bonds, determined in accordance with the Indenture. The Debt Service Reserve Account was initially funded with
proceeds of Bonds issued in 2002 and is required to be maintained in the amount of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement.
Giving effect to the issuance of the Series 2010L Bonds, the Debt Service Reserve Account Requirement will be $932,909,510.
The Debt Service Reserve Account is required to be replenished, if necessary, from Power Charge Revenues or Bond Charge
Revenues in the manner and at the times (to commence no later than seven months following the determination of the
deficiency and curing such deficiency by no later than 12 months following the determination of the deficiency) described
under APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE — Application and Flow of Funds
— Debt Service Reserve Account.”

For an explanation of assumptions to be used in calculating the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for variable rate
and hedged bonds and under other circumstances, see the definitions of Debt Service and Debt Service Reserve Account in
APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE — Definitions.”

Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposits may be made to the Debt Service Reserve Account in lieu of cash
and/or securities. Such Deposits may consist of irrevocable surety bonds, insurance policies, letters of credit or similar
obligations.

Whenever the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Account exceeds the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, after
giving effect to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit, the excess shall, at least annually, be transferred to the
Bond Charge Collection Account.

Amounts in the Debt Service Reserve Account may be used for the payment of Bond Related Costs (including debt
service on the Bonds, payments under Enhancement Facilities and scheduled and termination payments under Qualified
Swaps) except Fiduciary costs, and in each case only if amounts in the Bond Charge Payment Account and Operating Account
are insufficient for that purpose. See APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE —
Application and Flow of Funds — Debt Service Reserve Account.”

Operating Account
DWR has covenanted in the Indenture to include in its revenue requirements amounts estimated to be sufficient,

among other things, to cause the amount on deposit in the Operating Account (excluding any reserves established for any
Subordinated Indebtedness or Subordinated Obligations), at all times during any calendar month, to equal the Minimum
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Operating Expense Available Balance. “Minimum Operating Expense Available Balance” means, at the time revenue
requirements are submitted to the CPUC, the maximum amount projected by DWR by which Operating Expenses exceed
Power Charge Revenues during any one calendar month during that revenue requirement period, based on such assumptions as
DWR deems to be appropriate after consultation with the CPUC and taking into account a range of possible future outcomes.

Operating Reserve Account

The Operating Reserve Account has been established in case the amount in the Operating Account is insufficient to
pay certain expenses, including any Priority Long-Term Power Contract termination payments, any other Priority Contract
Costs and any of the other expenses listed in clauses (i) through (v) of the list of monthly Operating Account transfers set forth
above under “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Accounts and Flow of Funds under the Indenture.” If the amount in the
Operating Account is insufficient to pay Priority Contract Costs of any kind, the Operating Reserve Account is required to be
exhausted before the Bond Charge Collection Account is utilized for such purpose. If the amount in the Operating Reserve
Account is less than or equal to the Priority Contract Contingency Reserve Amount, amounts in the Operating Reserve
Account may only be used to make up any deficiency in the Priority Contract Account. The “Priority Contract Contingency
Reserve Amount” is to be calculated at the beginning of each revenue requirement period and is the maximum monthly amount
of Priority Contract Costs projected by DWR to be payable under Priority Long-Term Power Contracts during that revenue
requirement period, based on such assumptions as DWR deems to be appropriate, taking into account a range of possible future
outcomes.

The “Operating Reserve Account Requirement” is an amount, during each revenue requirement period, equal to the
greater of (1) the largest aggregate amount, as projected by DWR, by which Operating Expenses exceed Power Charge
Revenues during any seven calendar month period commencing in that revenue requirement period, (2) 12 percent of DWR’s
projected annual Operating Expenses and (3) the Priority Contract Contingency Reserve Amount; provided, however, that
solely for purposes of (2) above, the projected amount shall not be less than the applicable percentage of DWR’s Operating
Expenses for the most recent 12 calendar month period for which DWR determines that reasonably full and complete operating
expense information is available, adjusted for reductions in DWR financial responsibility for power purchase contracts.
Projections may be based on such assumptions as DWR deems to be appropriate and, in the case of clause (1) above, may take
into account a range of possible future outcomes. Whenever the Indenture requires DWR to consult with the CPUC with
respect to assumptions made by DWR, DWR is required to involve the CPUC in the development of those assumptions by
conferring regularly in a manner consistent with DWR’s obligations under Article 4 of the Rate Agreement. The Operating
Reserve Account is required to be replenished, if necessary, from Power Charge Revenues in the manner and at the times
(which may extend over a period of one year commencing seven months following the determination of the deficiency)
described in APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE — Application and Flow of
Funds — Operating Reserve Account.”

Whenever the Operating Reserve Account Requirement is reduced pursuant to the Indenture, any excess amounts in
the Operating Reserve Account (“Excess Amounts”) will be used at such time to satisfy any deficiencies existing at such time
in the transfers, applications and withdrawals described in clauses (i) through (v) of the list under “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS — Accounts and Flow of Funds under the Indenture” above. Unless otherwise agreed by both DWR and the CPUC,
each acting in its own discretion, any Excess Amounts remaining after application to the uses described in the preceding
sentence shall be used, at the direction of the CPUC after consultation with DWR, to (i) adjust DWR charges or (ii) with the
agreement of DWR, to reduce debt outstanding under the Indenture, in all instances upon consideration of the interests of the
customers of the IOUs and of DWR and, if applicable, electric service provider retail customers. If and when DWR no longer
is responsible for the payment of costs under any power purchase contract, the balance, if any, in the Operating Reserve
Account is required to be applied as described in the preceding two sentences.

Bond Related Costs
Bond Related Costs that are payable from Bond Charges imposed by the CPUC under the Rate Agreement consist of
payments or deposits or other provision to be made by DWR under the Indenture or other financing documents or the Act, for
the following components of DWR’s revenue requirements under the Act:
(1) principal of, premium, if any, and interest on Bonds and any additional amount required under the

Indenture or other financing documents to be deposited into the Bond Charge Collection Account to
provide debt service coverage of the Bonds;
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(i1) payments required to be made (A) under agreements with issuers of credit and liquidity facilities
and their participants, including letters of credit, bond insurance, guarantees, debt service reserve
fund surety bonds, lines of credit, reimbursement agreements, and standby bond purchase
agreements, (B) under agreements relating to other financial instruments entered into in connection
with the Bonds, including but not limited to investment agreements, hedges, interest rate swaps,
caps, options and forward purchase agreements, and (C) under agreements relating to the
remarketing of Bonds, including but not limited to remarketing agreements, dealer agreements and
auction agent agreements;

(iii) deposits to the Debt Service Reserve Account established under the Indenture to the extent
necessary to provide therein an amount equal to the requirement for such account under the
Indenture and other financing documents if not otherwise replenished from Power Charges;

(iv) the costs of the Trustees and the Registrars and Paying Agents associated with the issuance and
administration of the Bonds; and

(v) when and if DWR no longer sells Power under the Act and Bonds remain outstanding, DWR’s Bond
Charge servicing costs, costs of preparing and providing the information and reports required under
the Indenture and other financing documents, the Rate Agreement and the Act, related audit, legal
and consulting costs, related administrative costs, and costs of complying with arbitrage restrictions
and rebate requirements.

The amount payable under Parity Obligations is not limited by the Indenture or the Rate Agreement. However, not all
costs that constitute Bond Related Costs under the Rate Agreement are payable on a parity with the Bonds. “Parity Obligation”
is defined in the Indenture to include only “Reimbursement Obligations” and the amounts payable under Qualified Swaps. The
criteria for determining whether an agreement is a Reimbursement Obligation or a Qualified Swap are explained in
APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE — Special Provisions Relating to
Enhancement Facilities, Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and Interim Financing Notes.”

In connection with Bonds bearing interest at variable rates, DWR has entered into and expects to enter into
agreements, such as agreements with issuers of credit and liquidity facilities and agreements with interest rate swap providers,
which constitute Parity Obligations. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Financing of the Power Supply
Program.”

Rate Covenants

The CPUC has irrevocably covenanted in the Rate Agreement, for the benefit of Bondholders (and all other persons to
whom DWR is obligated to pay Bond Related Costs), to calculate, revise and impose from time to time, Bond Charges
sufficient to provide moneys so that amounts available for deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account under the Indenture
from time to time, together with amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account, are at all times sufficient to pay or
provide for the payment of debt service on the Bonds and all other Bond Related Costs (as defined in the Rate Agreement)
when due in accordance with the Indenture and other financing documents. See “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF
BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES — Rate Agreement.” The Rate Agreement provides that this covenant shall
have the force and effect of a “financing order” under the California Public Utilities Code and shall be irrevocable and
enforceable in accordance with its terms, including, without limitation, in circumstances in which DWR has breached its
obligations under the Rate Agreement or in respect of the Financing Documents. Under the California Public Utilities Code, a
“financing order” is binding upon the CPUC as it may be constituted from time to time, and the CPUC shall have no authority
to rescind, alter or amend its obligations thereunder. Under the Act, the rights, powers and duties of the CPUC may not be
diminished or impaired in a manner that would adversely affect the interests or rights of Bondholders. See “SECURITY FOR
THE BONDS — Bond Related Costs.” See also, however, “RISK FACTORS — Determination of Power Charges and Bond
Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

DWR has covenanted in the Indenture to cause to be established, fixed and revised from time to time, charges
sufficient, together with any other available moneys and securities on deposit in DWR’s Electric Power Fund, to satisfy all of
DWR’s revenue requirements at the times and in the amounts needed. The term “revenue requirements” means the amounts
needed from time to time by DWR to satisfy its obligations under the Act and under proclamations and orders issued pursuant
to the California Emergency Services Act. These obligations include, but are not limited to, making deposits to the Bond
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Charge Payment Account and Debt Service Reserve Account in the amounts and at the times required by the Indenture. See
APPENDIX C - “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE.”

Priority Long-Term Power Contracts
General

The Priority Long-Term Power Contracts each provide, in effect, that payments by DWR under the contracts are to be
paid or are payable prior to bonds, notes, or other indebtedness of DWR secured by a pledge or assignment of the revenues of
DWR under the Act and other amounts in the Electric Power Fund established by the Act. Substantially all of the power
purchased by DWR under the Act will be purchased under Priority Long-Term Power Contracts. See also “THE DWR
POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Power Purchase Contracts.”

Under the Rate Agreement, the term “Priority Long-Term Power Contracts” is defined as (i) those long-term electric
power contracts identified in the appendix to the Rate Agreement and not including any electric power contracts entered into
after August 14, 2001, provided, however, that such term includes any priority long-term electric power contract entered into
after such date as an amendment or novation of any Priority Long-Term Power Contract, and (ii) any contracts entered into for
the purpose of securing fuel for use at generating facilities being operated pursuant to such Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts, if that fuel supply contract contains a provision to the general effect that payments by DWR under the contract are to
be paid or payable prior to bonds, notes or other indebtedness of DWR secured by a pledge or assignment of the revenues of
DWR under the Act and other amounts in the Electric Power Fund. The Indenture incorporates by reference the Rate
Agreement’s definition of that term. The Priority Long-Term Power Contracts obligate DWR to purchase power from various
suppliers. The Priority Long-Term Power Contracts currently have varying terms as shown in the table titled “Projected
Annual Energy (MWh) From DWR Power Contracts.” See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase
Contracts — Description of DWR’s Power Contracts.”

If a counterparty under a Priority Long-Term Power Contract fails to deliver power to DWR, whether such
counterparty is contractually permitted to do so, financially unable to perform its obligations thereunder or unable to deliver
power for any other reason, one or more IOUs would have to purchase replacement power because DWR is no longer
authorized to enter into new power purchase contracts. If the failed deliveries occur under a contract providing for power at a
cost lower than DWR’s cumulative average cost (and sufficient mark-to-market termination payments are not owed, are not
paid or are delayed for any reason), DWR could experience significant cash flow deterioration during the period required for
DWR to submit a revised revenue requirement and for the CPUC to raise Power Charges to meet that revised revenue
requirement.

Payment Priority

The use of amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account (including Bond Charge Revenues) for the
payment of debt service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs when due is subject to the possible prior use of such
amounts to pay Priority Contract Costs. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Accounts and Flow of Funds Under the
Indenture.” To date, it has not been necessary to use Bond Charge Revenues to pay Priority Contract Costs because Power
Charge Revenues have been adequate to pay all Priority Contract Costs as and when due. Although no assurances can be
given, DWR expects the calculation, imposition and collection of Power Charge Revenues to continue to be adequate to pay all
Priority Contract Costs as and when due and does not expect to use Bond Charge Revenues to pay Priority Contract Costs.
The obligation of DWR to pay Priority Contract Costs is expected to end in 2013 upon expiration of the final Priority Long-
Term Power Contract and such costs are projected to decline significantly through 2013. See “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS — Recovery of Amounts Used to Pay Priority Contract Costs.” See also the table titled “Projected Annual Energy
(MWh) From DWR Power Contracts” under the caption “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase
Contracts — Description of DWR’s Power Contracts” and “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase
Contracts — Power Supply Program Operating Expenses.” See also “RISK FACTORS — Determination of Power Charges and
Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

If Bond Charge Revenues and other amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account are used to pay
Priority Contract Costs, the Rate Agreement provides that DWR shall take such actions as are required under the Rate
Agreement so that the amounts applied from the Bond Charge Collection Account for such purpose shall be replenished from
Power Charges. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Recovery of Amounts Used to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”
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In the absence of material change in the net per unit cost of energy derived from Priority Long-Term Power Contracts
and provided to DWR’s retail customers and in the absence of material termination payments on Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts, Power Charge Revenues are expected to increase and decrease approximately in proportion to increases and
decreases in Priority Contract Costs. Furthermore, the timing of monthly payments of Priority Contract Costs (an average lag
of about 35 days from provision of energy) is comparable to the timing of receipt by DWR of Power Charge Revenues (an
average lag of about 45 days from consumption of energy).

However, a number of factors affect the variability of net per unit Priority Contract Costs from time to time, and, as a
result, the sufficiency of the monthly amount of Power Charge Revenues in relation to the monthly amount of Priority Contract
Costs. These factors include, but are not limited to, the cost from time to time of natural gas and the amount of power
dispatched from time to time under contracts with fixed capacity payments or with adjustment rights on block quantities. In
the course of preparing its revenue requirement determinations, DWR evaluates several cash flow scenarios that make varying
assumptions concerning these factors. See “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER
CHARGES - Substantive Considerations in Establishing Revenue Requirements.”

Termination Payments

In addition, most of the Priority Long-Term Power Contracts provide for the payment of termination liquidated
damages by DWR upon the occurrence of an event of default by DWR and termination of the Priority Long-Term Power
Contract by the seller. The principal risk of termination is the failure of DWR to pay for purchased power, a Priority Contract
Cost which is payable in the short term from the Operating Account, the Operating Reserve Account and, if necessary, the
Bond Charge Collection Account, and payable in the longer term from increased Power Charges. See “CALCULATION AND
IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES.”

The termination liquidated damages are generally equal to the net present value of the difference between the price for
power pursuant to the Priority Long-Term Power Contract and the then-current market price for power, for the entire remaining
term of the Priority Long-Term Power Contract (referred to herein as the “mark-to-market value”). A portion of DWR’s
Priority Long-Term Power Contracts currently have a positive mark-to-market value, while others have a negative mark-to-
market value. The mark-to-market values of the Priority Long-Term Power Contracts change daily with wholesale power
prices, and no assurance can be given that DWR will not have substantial contingent mark-to-market liabilities with respect to
its Priority Long-Term Power Contracts in the future. Upon a DWR default under one or more Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts with a negative mark-to-market value, DWR could incur termination payment liabilities in the hundreds of millions
of dollars or greater. Under most of the Priority Long-Term Power Contracts, termination payments are due within 180 days of
any termination and would constitute Priority Contract Costs recoverable from Power Charges. DWR revenue requirements
and projected Power Charge Account balances are not established to specifically address contract terminations. If a
termination were to occur, DWR might need to submit a revised revenue requirement to address the change in expected costs
and energy deliveries, and the CPUC would need to act to set Power Charges that reflect the revised revenue requirement. See
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER
CHARGES.”

Operating Reserve Account

The Indenture requires the Operating Reserve Account to be established and maintained by DWR at an amount equal
to the Operating Reserve Account Requirement, which may be based on such assumptions as DWR deems to be appropriate,
after consultation with the CPUC, and taking into account a range of possible future outcomes. See “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS — Operating Reserve Account.” When establishing the Operating Reserve Requirement from time to time, DWR
intends to utilize assumptions and take into account possible future outcomes that include a range of variation in the
circumstances that affect the factors described in the foregoing paragraph.

Certain Litigation

Litigation is pending between DWR and one of its long-term power suppliers. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY
PROGRAM - Power Purchase Contracts — Dispute with Power Supplier.”
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Recovery of Amounts Used to Pay Priority Contract Costs

The Indenture and the Rate Agreement permit Bond Charge Revenues to be used to pay Priority Contract Costs if
other funds under the Indenture, such as Power Charge Revenues, are insufficient. The flow of funds required by the Indenture
provides that Priority Contract Costs are to be paid each month from Power Charge Revenues before any payment or funding
of any other Department Costs. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts and Flow of Funds under the Indenture.”
The CPUC has covenanted in the Rate Agreement to calculate, revise and impose, from time to time, Power Charges sufficient
to provide moneys in the amounts and at the times necessary to satisfy the Retail Revenue Requirements submitted by DWR to
the CPUC in accordance with the Rate Agreement. The Rate Agreement provides that in the event Priority Contract Costs are
funded out of the Bond Charge Collection Account, DWR shall take such actions as are required under the Rate Agreement so
that the amounts applied from the Bond Charge Collection Account for such purpose shall be replenished from Power Charges.
See “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES — Rate Agreement” and “RISK
FACTORS - Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection
Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES

DWR is a department within the Resources Agency of the Executive Branch of the State. DWR was established in
1956 under California law for the purpose of planning and guiding the development of California’s water resources. In
addition to responsibility for the Power Supply Program, DWR is separately responsible for the planning, construction,
operation and maintenance of the State Water Project, a statewide system of dams, reservoirs, pumping plants, power plants
and aqueducts. DWR is the largest purchaser of power for its own use within California because of the power requirements of
the State Water Project, and DWR was designated by Governor Davis to undertake the Power Supply Program because of
DWR’s experience in purchasing and selling power. The Power Supply Program is not part of the State Water Project, the
revenues of the State Water Project are not available for the payment of the Bonds, and the Trust Estate pledged for the
payment of the Bonds is not available for the payment of indebtedness incurred for the State Water Project.

The Director of Water Resources oversees DWR’s activities, with the assistance of a Chief Deputy Director and four
Deputy Directors. The Director and Chief Deputy Director are appointed by the Governor and report to the Governor through
the Secretary of the Resources Agency. Biographical information for the DWR management officials currently responsible for
the Power Supply Program is as follows.

Mark W. Cowin has served as Director of DWR since February 2010. He has worked for DWR for over 29 years.
Prior to his appointment as Director, Mr. Cowin served as Deputy Director of Integrated Water Management for DWR. In
previous assignments with DWR Mr. Cowin served for five years as Chief of DWR's Division of Planning and Local
Assistance and as an Assistant Director for the CALFED Bay-Delta Program.

Cathy Crothers, will be the Acting Chief Counsel of DWR effective May 1, 2010. She will oversee a staff of 27
attorneys working on DWR’s varied and complex legal issues. She joined DWR in 1990 and has served as the Assistant Chief
Counsel responsible for water rights, environmental compliance, energy planning, and local project financing since 2007.

Perla Netto-Brown is the Chief Financial Officer of DWR. Prior to joining DWR, Ms. Netto-Brown was employed
by the California Auditor General. She joined DWR in 1986, has served in various capacities in the Division of Fiscal Services
and was named Chief of the Division of Fiscal Services in 2000.

John Pacheco is the Acting Deputy Director of DWR responsible for the Power Supply Program. He began his career
with DWR in 1978. In February 2001, he began working on the Power Supply Program and played a prominent role in
growing this program that helped stabilize the Western power markets. Prior to working on the Power Supply Program his
work at DWR involved managing water supply contracts with the local agency water buyers DWR serves and attending to
energy issues and water rights related to DWR’s water supply program.

Jim Spence is the Acting Chief of the Negotiations and Contract Management Office. He joined DWR in 1977 and has
worked in the Divisions of Design and Construction, Flood Management, and Operations and Maintenance. Prior to assuming
his current position and his related work on the Power Supply Program, he was Chief of Operation Planning for the State Water
Project. Current duties include developing, recommending and implementing energy policy.
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Russell Mills has served as the Chief, Financial Management Office, Power Supply Program since December 2008.
He served as a consultant to DWR during the energy crisis of 2001/2002 securing power supplies. He has led financial
operations and risk management of the Power Supply Program since 2003. Prior to joining DWR, he was employed by the
California Power Exchange developing forward energy markets. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst candidate and a member
of the CFA Society of Sacramento.

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

The CPUC is the principal ratemaking authority for the IOUs’ retail rates. Under the Rate Agreement, the CPUC has
agreed to impose Bond Charges sufficient to provide moneys sufficient to pay all Bond Related Costs when due, and to impose
Power Charges sufficient to satisfy DWR’s “Retail Revenue Requirements” (defined in the Rate Agreement attached as
Appendix D) as specified by DWR. Pursuant to the Act, the CPUC also issues orders approving servicing arrangements or
otherwise directing the IOUs to provide operational, transmission, distribution, billing, collection and other services to DWR in
connection with the Power Supply Program.

The CPUC consists of five members appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Senate. Members serve for six-
year, staggered terms. The Governor appoints one of the five to serve as President. The CPUC is an independent regulatory
agency. It regulates the IOUs and other California entities, mostly investor-owned electric, telecommunications, natural gas,
water, railroad and passenger transportation companies. Some of the entities regulated by the CPUC are not investor-owned.
The CPUC’s headquarters are in San Francisco.

Since January 1, 2001, the CPUC has approved a number of decisions that relate to DWR’s Power Supply Program.
Additional CPUC decisions relating to the Power Supply Program and the Bonds are expected by DWR.  See “THE DWR
POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Collection of Revenues” and “ — Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice
Aggregation” and “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES.”

The CPUC makes no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement, including any
forward-looking statements or projections contained in this Official Statement and any description in this Official Statement of
litigation involving or affecting the CPUC. Any statements regarding such litigation do not necessarily represent the CPUC’s
view of such litigation or any position in such litigation. In addition, while CPUC staff may have assisted in the preparation of
certain sections of this Official Statement, the CPUC can only take positions through formal action and has not taken any such
action or approved this Official Statement. The CPUC is an independent five member body that must act by an affirmative
vote of a majority of its members and, as a result, the CPUC can only indicate its views in formal decisions or other formal
actions. In addition, the CPUC is an independent body not subject to the control of DWR and may take positions in the future
different from DWR in litigation, or other matters described in this Official Statement. As a result, statements in this Official
Statement regarding electricity markets and regulation, and DWR’s views of the CPUC’s role or DWR’s role in such markets
and regulation, do not necessarily represent the views, opinions or beliefs of the CPUC and should not be construed as such by
any recipient of this Official Statement.

THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM

Background and History

Summary of the Power Supply Program

Under the Power Supply Program, DWR purchases power from wholesale suppliers under long-term contracts, and
sells electricity to retail customers that are also served by the IOUs. DWR electricity is delivered to retail customers through
the transmission and distribution systems of the IOUs. DWR’s costs are recovered through Bond Charges and Power Charges
imposed on retail customers. Payments from customers are collected by the IOUs pursuant to Servicing Arrangements
approved or ordered by the CPUC.

Electricity Service in California

Prior to the inception of the DWR Power Supply Program, Californians generally received their electricity service
from one of three types of providers: IOUs, local publicly owned electric utilities, and electric service providers.
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I0Us have a defined geographic service area and are required by law to serve customers in that area. The CPUC
regulates the IOUs’ rates and how electricity service is provided to their customers.

Publicly owned electric utilities are public entities that provide electric service to residents and businesses in their
local area. Unlike IOUs, they are not regulated by the CPUC. Major publicly owned electric utilities include the Los Angeles
Department of Water and Power, the Sacramento Municipal Utility District, and the Imperial Irrigation District.

The electric service providers provide retail electricity service to customers who have chosen not to receive electricity
service from the utility that serves their area. Instead, these customers have entered into “direct access” contracts with electric
service providers for their electricity. This electricity is delivered to these electric service provider customers through the
transmission and distribution system of their local utility. There are currently sixteen registered electric service providers
operating in the State, generally serving large industrial and commercial businesses. The electric service providers also
provide electricity to certain State and local government entities, such as the California State University system, several
University of California campuses, some community college districts, and some local school districts.

Since the inception of the Power Supply Program, IOU customers have purchased a portion of their electricity from
the IOUs and the remainder from DWR. In calendar year 2007 (the most recent calendar year for which this data is provided),
the IOUs and DWR provided approximately 69 percent of the electricity in the State; publicly owned electric utilities provided
26 percent; and electric service providers and others provided 5 percent.'

Deregulation and Direct Access

California began the process of restructuring electricity service in the early 1990s by introducing competition into the
generation of electricity, with the ultimate goal being lower prices for IOU customers. The deregulation legislation ultimately
enacted in 1996 (“AB 1890”) included a “transition” period during which the IOUs were to sell off their fossil fuel power
plants to independent generators while retaining their hydroelectric and nuclear power plants. Eventually, however, electricity
purchases and customer rates were to be determined in a competitive market. In such a market, customers could choose to
have the I0Us purchase the electricity on their behalf, or they could purchase electric power directly from electric service
providers through direct access. During the transition period, however, the retail rates of the IOUs were to be frozen until
certain conditions had been satisfied, including the recovery by the IOUs of certain “stranded” costs of uneconomic generating
facilities that would not be otherwise recoverable in a competitive market. The deregulation process was suspended in
response to the energy crisis that arose in 2000 and early 2001.

The California Energy Crisis

By the summer of 2000, wholesale power sellers were not making sufficient power supplies available in the wholesale
spot market, and spot market prices began to rise, swiftly and dramatically. At the same time, PG&E and SCE remained in the
AB 1890 transition period, with frozen retail rates. The cost of procuring power in the spot market quickly surpassed the
frozen retail rates. By December 2000, PG&E and SCE had incurred several billion dollars of losses, adversely affecting their
creditworthiness and ultimately causing defaults in payments for power purchases in the spot markets and from other suppliers.
PG&E’s and SCE’s credit deterioration had a spiraling effect, deterring power suppliers from bidding supplies into the
California market, exacerbating the shortage of electric power, and causing wholesale prices to escalate further. In the SDG&E
service area, retail rates had been unfrozen by the time wholesale spot market prices began escalating in 2000. SDG&E’s retail
rates escalated sharply with wholesale prices, causing the State Legislature to enact a statutory cap on retail rates in the San
Diego area.

The State’s Response to the Energy Crisis: the DWR Power Supply Program, Transfer of Power Purchase Contracts
and CPUC Direct Access Proceedings

Recognizing an immediate need for a creditworthy party to assume the obligation of purchasing electricity for
customers of the IOUs, Governor Gray Davis proclaimed a state of emergency on January 17, 2001 and authorized DWR to
begin purchasing the electricity that the IOUs could not provide (such portion being referred to herein as the “net short”).
Thereafter, the State Legislature passed, and Governor Davis signed, Assembly Bill 1 (“AB 1X”). AB 1X authorized DWR to
undertake a program of purchasing the net short for customers of the IOUs, incurring debt to finance such purchases,
implementing a mechanism to recover the costs thereof from the ratepayers of the IOUs, and related actions, including, but not

" Source: California Energy Commission’s California Energy Consumption Database as of April 1, 2010.
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limited to, prohibiting the CPUC from increasing electricity rates in effect on February 1, 2001, charged to residential
customers for electricity usage up to 130 percent of baseline quantities. Such program is referred to herein as the “Power
Supply Program.”

At the height of the emergency in 2001, DWR began purchasing substantial amounts of power in daily and even
hourly transactions on the spot market, and under other short-term contracts. In addition, DWR solicited proposals for,
negotiated and entered into long-term power purchase contracts, which had the effect of reducing the amount of power DWR
purchased on the spot market. From January 2001 through December 2002, DWR procured the entire net short for the three
I0Us from power delivered under its long-term power purchase contracts and from wholesale spot market and other short-term
transactions. The Act does not authorize DWR to enter into new power purchase contracts after December 31, 2002. As a
result, DWR ceased procuring the portion of the net short not provided by the long-term power purchase contracts in effect as
of such date (such portion being referred to herein as the “residual net short”), and each of the IOUs resumed procuring the
residual net short for its respective bundled customers. As DWR’s existing long-term contracts expire or are otherwise
terminated, the IOUs are responsible for procuring replacement power until such time as the entire load of bundled customers
is provided by the IOUs. While these developments have reduced DWR’s Retail Revenue Requirements, it had no direct effect
on Bond Charges. Irrespective of whether DWR continues to purchase or sell electricity under the Power Supply Program, the
Rate Agreement obligates the CPUC to continue to impose Bond Charges in an amount sufficient to pay Bond Related Costs
when due. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Rate Covenants.”

Also effective January 1, 2003, each of the IOUs assumed operational (but not financial) responsibility for a portion of
DWR’s portfolio of long-term power contracts. Accordingly, each IOU is now responsible for scheduling the electricity
produced or delivered under the contracts allocated to it by the CPUC. Although the IOUs have assumed operational
responsibility, DWR remains financially responsible for the payment obligations under such contracts. The costs of these
contracts are recovered through Revenues that are deposited in the Operating Account; and the portion to be paid by the retail
customers in each IOU’s service area is determined by a cost allocation methodology ordered by the CPUC.

In response to the energy crisis, the State also halted several aspects of deregulation. Among these, the State
prevented the IOUs from continuing to sell their power plants and suspended the ability for bundled customers to enter into
new direct access contracts. This suspension was to continue until DWR no longer supplied power under the long-term power
purchase contracts (the scope of this suspension was subsequently modified by SB 695 as described below). The expiration
dates of DWR long-term power purchase contracts are listed in the table titled “Projected Annual Energy (MWh) From DWR
Power Contracts” under the caption “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase Contracts — Description of
DWR’s Power Contracts.” For additional information regarding direct access, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM
— Power Purchase Contracts — CPUC Direct Access Proceedings — Transfer of Power Purchase Contracts”, and “THE DWR
POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation — Direct Access.”

The CPUC initiated a proceeding to consider whether, when or how the ability of bundled customers to enter into new
direct access contracts should be restored and on February 28, 2008, the CPUC approved a decision concluding that the
suspension of direct access could not be lifted while DWR is still supplying power under the Act. However, the decision
continued the proceeding to consider possible approaches to expediting DWR’s exit from its role of supplying power under the
Act. On November 21, 2008, the CPUC approved Decision 08-11-056 which adopted a plan with the goal of the early exit of
DWR from its role as supplier of power to retail electric customers. Under this plan, DWR’s power purchase contracts would
be replaced by agreements between the IOUs and DWR's power supplier counterparties that are not detrimental to ratepayers,
through novation and/or negotiation. Decision 08-11-056 set a goal for the execution of replacement agreements for all of
DWR'’s power purchase contracts by January 1, 2010. As of May 1, 2010, no DWR power purchase contracts have been
replaced. Following passage of SB 695 on October 11, 2009, described in the following paragraph, the assigned CPUC
commissioner in the proceeding under which Decision 08-11-056 was issued stayed the schedules for progress reports of the
working group established in the decision to develop protocols and strategies for negotiating replacement contracts.

On October 11, 2009, Senate Bill (SB) 695 was signed into law as an urgency statute. SB 695 allows individual retail
nonresidential end-use customers to acquire electric service from other providers in each IOU service area, up to a maximum
allowable limit. Except for this express authorization for increased direct access transactions under SB 695, the previously
enacted suspension of direct access remains in effect. On March 15, 2010, the CPUC issued Decision 10-03-022 which
authorizes increases in the maximum direct access load for each IOU service area, as specified in SB 695.

See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice
Aggregation — Direct Access.”
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SB 695 also authorizes the CPUC, until January 1, 2019, to increase electricity rates charged to residential customers
for electricity usage up to 130 percent of baseline quantities by an annual percentage change in the Consumer Price Index from
the prior year plus one percent but not less than three percent and not more than five percent per year. The expected result of
this authorization is that the allocation of any cost increases in DWR’s and the IOUs' revenue requirements by the CPUC are
spread over a larger customer base.

Bond Charges are the primary source of money to pay debt service on the Bonds, and must be imposed by the CPUC
whether or not DWR continues to purchase or sell electricity under the Power Supply Program. See “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS — Bond-Related Costs” and “— Rate Covenants.”

Statutory Authority

AB 1X was codified as Division 27 of the California Water Code (commencing with Section 80000), and is also
referred to herein as the “Act.” The Act established a framework under which DWR would purchase the net short and would
recover the costs of the Power Supply Program. The Act authorized DWR to contract for power under such terms and
conditions as it deemed appropriate, taking into account a number of factors, including a desire to secure as much low-cost
power as possible under contract. Although the Act only authorized DWR to enter into new power purchase contracts until
December 31, 2002, the Act permits DWR to continue administering its contract portfolio after that date. Under the Act,
power acquired by DWR is sold directly to customers in the service areas of the IOUs, and payment for such power is a direct
obligation of the customers. The Act provides that DWR is entitled to recover its costs, including power purchase costs and
debt service on the Bonds (referred to herein as DWR’s “revenue requirements”), in the amounts and at the times necessary to
satisfy its contractual obligations, and is to advise the CPUC of its revenue requirements so that its revenue requirements can
be recovered through charges imposed upon customers by the CPUC. The Act also authorized the CPUC and DWR to enter
into agreements with respect to such charges. The Act authorizes DWR to contract with the IOUs for the transmission and
distribution of its power, and for billing, collection and related services, all as agents of DWR. The Act also directs the CPUC,
at the request of DWR, to order the IOUs to provide such services. The Act provides for the suspension, subject to the
additional direct access load allowance authorized by SB 695, of the right of customers to purchase their power from energy
providers other than the IOUs and DWR, so long as DWR continues to provide power. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY
PROGRAM - Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation .”

The Act also authorized DWR to issue up to $13,423,000,000 principal amount of Bonds to provide permanent
financing for costs incurred in connection with the Power Supply Program (excluding bond anticipation notes). The Series
2002 Bonds were issued pursuant to this authorization in the aggregate principal amount of $11,263,500,000. Pursuant to the
Act, the original principal amount of the Series 2005 Bonds and the Series 2008 Bonds is not charged against the
aforementioned principal amount of Bonds authorized under the Act. In addition, the principal amount of Bonds the proceeds
of which are used to refund Bonds (1) to obtain a lower interest rate, (2) bearing interest at a variable rate or (3) secured by a
bond insurance policy, or a credit or liquidity facility, which secured Bonds are subject to a withdrawal or reduction in the
credit rating assigned to such Bonds, will not be charged against this cap on the principal amount of Bonds authorized by the
Act. Accordingly, to the extent all or a portion of the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2010L Bonds is allocated to the
uses described in the preceding sentence such amount will not be charged against the cap on the principal amount of Bonds
authorized by the Act.

No action or approval by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) or any other federal agency is
required for the issuance of the Bonds or the calculation, revision, imposition or collection of Bond Charges or Power Charges.

Effective September 30, 2008, Section 80110 of the Act was amended to provide a required process prior to DWR’s
execution of a material modification of a contract for the purchase of power pursuant to the Act. DWR is required to notify the
public of its intent to modify a contract and the opportunity to comment on the proposed modifications. At least 21 days after
providing public notice, DWR is required to make a determination as to whether the proposed modifications are just and
reasonable. No later than 70 days before the execution of the contract modification, DWR is required to provide a written
report to the CPUC setting forth the justification for the determination that the proposed modification is just and reasonable.
Within 60 days of the date of receipt of DWR’s written report, the CPUC is required to review the report and make public its
comments. If the CPUC in its comments recommends against the proposed modification, DWR is not permitted to execute the
proposed contract modification.
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Power Purchase Contracts
General

Since December 31, 2002, DWR’s power purchase activities under the Power Supply Program have been limited to
purchasing power from wholesale suppliers under the 32 long-term power purchase contracts then in effect. As a result, the
current operating expenses of the Power Supply Program are primarily power purchase costs under such long-term contracts,
including associated fuel procurement costs. As described in “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Background and
History,” responsibility for managing the remaining power purchase contracts has been largely transferred to the IOUs,
although DWR continues to perform certain administrative activities with respect to the contracts, and remains financially
responsible for payments under the contracts. In addition, DWR has a continuing role in the procurement and risk management
of fuel requirements for the contracts. The IOUs also advise on fuel procurement, but DWR maintains financial and ultimate
operational responsibility for this function.

DWR has renegotiated 17 of the original contracts that were entered into in 2001 and that will remain in effect in 2010
or beyond. DWR has terminated five additional contracts for cause. DWR continues to monitor its contracts and determine if
there are opportunities for bilateral renegotiation, which could lead to more favorable power supply terms and costs. See “THE
DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Statutory Authority.” DWR has the right to terminate one or more of its remaining
contracts, but the contracts each provide that if the contract is terminated for reasons other than breach or default by the power-
supplying counterparty to the contract, DWR would be obligated to pay generally the mark-to-market value of the contract,
typically within 180 days of termination. Any such termination other than for an uncured default or breach by the seller would
likely increase the revenue requirement due to timing of termination payments to the counterparty. In addition, energy no
longer supplied by DWR would need to be replaced by the IOUs in either the short-term market or under new long-term power
contracts from other suppliers.

For a discussion of additional credit implications of DWR’s power purchase contracts, see “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS — Priority Long-Term Power Contracts” and “RISK FACTORS — Determination of Power Charges and Bond
Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

Priority Long-Term Power Contracts

Priority Long-Term Power Contracts are power purchase contracts that provide, in effect, that payments by DWR
under the contracts are to be paid or are payable prior to bonds, notes, or other indebtedness of DWR secured by a pledge or
assignment of the revenues of DWR under the Act and other amounts in the Electric Power Fund. Substantially all of DWR’s
power purchases, both in terms of energy and cost, have been and will be made under the Priority Long-Term Power Contracts.

Certain of DWR’s contracts for the supply of natural gas have similar payment priority provisions, and are considered
“Priority Long-Term Power Contracts,” as described below under the caption “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM -
Natural Gas Supply.” The long-term power contracts in effect as of May 1, 2010 are summarized in the table below.

Description of DWR’s Power Purchase Contracts

The following table sets forth the name of the counterparty under each of DWR’s power purchase contracts, the
product type, the origin of the power, whether it provides for fuel tolling, whether it is a Priority Long-Term Power Contract,
the IOU to which it is allocated for operational and rate-setting purposes, and the projected annual amount of energy to be
derived under such contract for calendar years 2010 through 2015 inclusive, as applicable. Subject to any actions taken
pursuant to the CPUC’s Decision 08-11-056, DWR expects the last of DWR’s power purchase contracts to expire in 2015. See
“THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation — Direct
Access.” The projected annual energy deliveries are estimates only and are based on production simulation analyses performed
by or on behalf of DWR for purposes of planning future revenue requirements. The projected annual energy delivery
estimates, particularly for dispatchable contracts, may vary significantly from actual future deliveries, depending on future
events including, but not limited to, the amount and cost of IOU-contracted or —provided power available, and the bundled load
requirement of each IOU, in a specific period.
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Projected Annual Energy (MWh) From DWR Power Contracts '

Counterparty, Product Type® and Fuel 10U
Origin of Power® Tolling 4 Priority s Allocation 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Calpeak; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes PG&E/SDG&E 92,839 62,026 — — — —
Calpine 2; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes PG&E 2,828 2,349 1,166 - - -
Calpine 3; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes PG&E 14,627 8,044 - - - -
Colton; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes SCE - - - - - -
Coral; Must-take; Market Yes Yes PG&E 3,259,536 2,649,696 1,249,712 - — —
GWF; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes PG&E 51,805 61,933 11,969 - - -
High Desert; Dispatchable;
Generator-specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes SCE 4,696,382 435,148 - - - -
Iberdrola Renewables; Dispatchable;
Market Yes Yes PG&E 994,800 329,400 - - — -
JP Morgan Energy BC; Must-take;
Market No Yes SDG&E 1,622,400 - - - - -
JP Morgan D; Dispatchable;

Generator-specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes SCE 525,683 - - - - -
KRCD; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes No PG&E 58,091 75,118 102,231 91,910 110,978 189,816
Mountain View; As Available;

Generator-specific; Wind No Yes SCE 176,390 147,276 - - - -
Power Receivables; Must-take;

Market No Yes SCE 7,008,000 7,008,000 - - - -
Sempra; Must-take; Combination of

Market and Generator-Specific Yes Yes SCE 12,515,200 9,360,000 - - - -
Shell Wind (Cabazon); As Available;

Generator-specific; Wind No Yes SDG&E 113,885 113,885 113,885 113,885 — —
Shell Wind (Whitewater Hill); wind;

As Available; Generator-specific;

Wind No Yes SDG&E 172,152 172,152 172,153 172,152 - -
Sunrise; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes SDG&E 3,754,287 3,775,691 1,948,539 - — —
Wellhead; Dispatchable; Generator-

specific; Gas-fired Yes Yes PG&E 247 375 - - - -
Total 35,059,153 24,201,193 3,599,655 377,948 110,978 189,816

Projections are from the 2010 Revised Revenue Requirement.

Product types are described as “must-take,” “dispatchable” and “as available.”

operating on behalf of DWR — requests, up to full generation under the available capacity of the contract.

energy generated from a specific project, as available.

“Must-take” refers to the contract requirement that all energy generation associated
with the contract is required to be purchased by DWR. “Dispatchable” refers to the contractual right to purchase only that amount of energy that DWR — or the IOUs

“As available” means DWR is required to purchase any

Origin of power is described as “generator-specific” or “market.” “Generator-specific” means the contract power is derived from a specific generator. For such
contracts, the type of generation facility is also indicated. “Market” means the power is derived from market purchases.

“Fuel Tolling” means a contract provision tying the contract price to natural gas prices. Under a contract with such a provision, fuel is provided by DWR or by the

seller.

“Priority” means the contract is a Priority Long-Term Power Contract. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase Contracts — Priority Long-

Term Power Contracts.”
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Power Supply Program Operating Expenses

As shown in the following table, the amount of Power Supply Program operating expenses paid by DWR each
calendar year under the power purchase contracts, of which the majority are attributable to Priority Long-Term Power
Contracts that expire no later than December 2013, has been declining and such expenses are projected to total approximately
$22 million in 2015.

Total Total
Calendar Delivered Operating Calendar Delivered Operating
Year Energy 4 Expenses Year Energy Expenses
(MWh) $) (MWh) ®)
2003 ' 45,341,441 4,776,417,703 2010% 34,101,928  2,878,103,336
2004 54,030,647 5,273,326,148 20117 23,542,067 2,037,686,032
2005 49,108,589 4,909,904,806 20127 3,520,041 319,073,360
2006 50,297,615 4,948,400,881 2013 * 370,037 44,779,967
2007 52,254,651  4,584,720,670 2014 107,924 21,238,729
2008 42,171,521 4,363,132,564 2015 > 184,592 22,125,063

2009 42,839,006 3,265,004,787

Calendar year 2003 is the first year in which the Power Supply Program operating expenses did not include procurement of
the net short.

The projections of the amounts of delivered energy and related power costs are based on the 2010 Revised Revenue
Requirement. The amounts of delivered energy reflect estimated energy losses of approximately 1.9% to 3.0% from the
generator to the California Independent System Operator (“CAISO”) delivery point, such losses are not accounted for in the
amounts of projected annual delivery of energy reflected in the table titled “Projected Annual Energy (MWh) From DWR
Power Contracts.”

Due to the scheduled expiration of the final Priority Long-Term Power Contract in 2013 the amount of Power Supply Program
operating expenses projected do not include any Priority Contract Costs. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “RISK
FACTORS — Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection
Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

Dispute with Power Supplier

In May 2002, DWR notified Sempra Energy Resources, now known as Sempra Generation (“Sempra”), in writing
that Sempra had failed to perform its obligations under the long-term power contract (the “Agreement”) between the parties,
including the obligation to build new power plants to help meet the State’s long term energy needs. In Sempra Energy
Resources v. Department of Water Resources, filed in May 2002 in San Diego County Superior Court (Case No. 789291),
Sempra sought declaratory relief as to its and DWR’s respective rights and duties under the Agreement. In July 2002, DWR
cross complained, alleging that Sempra induced DWR to enter into the Agreement through intentional and negligent
misrepresentations and, in the alternative, that Sempra had breached its obligation under the Agreement to construct the
simple-cycle phase of the Elk Hills project and had anticipatorily breached its obligations under the Agreement to construct
and deliver power to DWR from additional new power projects. DWR sought damages and either a declaration that the
Agreement is not binding on DWR or that, if the Agreement is binding on DWR, a declaration that Sempra must perform its
obligations and an injunction prohibiting Sempra from freely substituting market energy for energy from new sources of
generating capacity.

On a separate matter relating to the Agreement, DWR filed a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration
Association in September 2008, and filed an amended demand in September 2009, asserting that Sempra had breached the
Agreement, the covenant of good faith and fair dealing and the April 18, 2006 opinion and award in a prior arbitration. DWR
sought damages and termination of the Agreement. In the same matter, Sempra filed a counter-claim in December 2008, and
filed an amended counter-claim in September 2009 asserting that DWR had breached the Agreement and the covenant of
good faith and fair dealing. Sempra sought damages in an unspecified amount and declaratory relief.

On April 28, 2010, the CPUC issued a press release to the effect that an agreement in principle had been reached to
settle not only the above-described disputes and related claims, but also various other litigation involving Sempra and relating
to the California energy crisis of 2000 and 2001. Under the terms of the proposed settlement (the “proposed settlement”), in
exchange for a cash payment by Sempra of approximately $400 million and certain other consideration, Sempra and certain
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of its affiliates will exchange mutual releases with DWR, the CPUC, the State Attorney General, SCE and PG&E
(collectively with DWR, the “Settling Parties”), except for a limited number of enumerated exceptions, the mutual releases
will cover all claims related to the Agreement, and all claims related to the short-term energy or ancillary services
transactions in the western energy markets during 2000 and 2001. The $400 million cash settlement amount will be allocated
as determined by the Settling Parties.

Under the terms of the proposed settlement DWR and Sempra will continue to perform their respective obligations
under the Agreement, and the Agreement costs will continue to be included in DWR’s revenue requirement.

Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax Assessment

In April, 2010, DWR received from the State of Arizona Department of Revenue and Taxation (“Arizona”) a Notice
of Proposed Assessment of transactional privilege taxes in the amount of approximately $177 million (including interest and
penalties) for the period January 1, 2004 through February 28, 2010. The proposed assessment related to the delivery of
DWR natural gas to Sempra’s power plant in Arizona pursuant to the fuel tolling provisions of the Agreement. On May 4,
2010, DWR received from Arizona a letter rescinding the proposed assessments, stating that there is no liability on the part of
DWR for the periods covered by the proposed assessments, but also stating that the rescission does not imply any Arizona
policy with respect to the taxability or nontaxability of DWR’s activities. DWR believes that the proposed assessment was
not in accordance with Arizona and federal law, and that costs, if any, resulting from any such assessment should be the
responsibility of Sempra pursuant to the Agreement. Any cost to DWR resulting from the assessment or from the application
of any transaction privilege tax would be payable from the Operating Account and would be recoverable under DWR’s
Power Charge revenue requirement. The proposed settlement with Sempra described above includes an agreement by
Sempra to defend and indemnify DWR for any Arizona tax liability arising out of the Agreement.

Natural Gas Supply
General

A major component of the cost of procuring power is the cost of procuring and transporting natural gas, the fuel
used to produce most of that power. During the 2010 revenue requirement period, natural gas costs are projected to account
for approximately 40 percent of total contract costs. During that period, gas-fired generation is projected to account for
approximately 74 percent of total contract generation and of that percentage approximately 61 percent is from must take
contracts. “Tolling” provisions in some of DWR’s power purchase contracts give DWR the right, but not the obligation, to
provide all or part of the natural gas required to generate electricity pursuant to the contract. Where tolling is an option,
DWR has elected to provide fuel on recommendation of the IOUs that manage the procurement of fuel for and dispatch of
energy from specific contracts. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase Contracts,” above, for a
listing of agreements that provide for fuel tolling.

With the assistance of its consultants, DWR forecasts its natural gas costs using production simulation analyses to
project contract fuel requirement volumes and natural gas prices that are fixed either through physical hedges (i.e. fixed price
gas contracts) or through financial hedges or, for those volumes not covered by such hedges, using a combination of near-
term natural gas price future market quotes, computer modeling and certain discretionary adjustments (as described in
“CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES — Substantive Considerations in
Establishing Revenue Requirements — Natural Gas Price and Cost Projections) in determining its annual Retail Revenue
Requirement. If DWR’s actual natural gas costs are not within the forecast during the revenue requirement period, an
adjustment to Power Charges could be required during the course of the revenue requirement period. DWR submitted
Supplemental Revenue Requirement Determinations for 2003 and 2004 and a Revised Revenue Requirement Determination
for 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 based, in part, on revised natural gas cost projections. Any necessary revisions,
to date, in Power Charges resulting from Supplemental or Revised Revenue Requirements have been implemented by the
CPUC within the time frame required by the Rate Agreement and have not, to date, resulted in a revenue shortfall that would
cause the Operating Account to fall below the Minimum Operating Expense Available Balance. See “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS — Operating Account.” DWR with input from IOUs, which provide much of the operational oversight of fuel
tolling, has hedged natural gas costs for a substantial portion of DWR’s ongoing natural gas needs through 2012, see Current
Fuel Hedging below. Such hedging is taken into consideration when formulating DWR’s Retail Revenue Requirements. See
“CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES.” A portion of the gas supply,
after physical or financial hedging, remains subject to future price variation. DWR estimates the reasonable potential range
of that price variation and establishes its revenue requirements to maintain projected Operating Account and Operating
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Reserve Account balances to provide amounts sufficient to accommodate that range of potential price variance. If necessary
to maintain the necessary or appropriate account balances, DWR would revise or supplement its revenue requirement and
submit it to the CPUC for processing and for changes in Power Charges to the customers of the IOUs to reflect any
associated changes in the DWR revenue requirement.

Principal Natural Gas Contracts

DWR’s principal natural gas contract is the Williams Energy Trading Company fuel contract. The Williams
contract provides 18 million MMBtu of natural gas via firm price deliveries each year through 2010. It is a “Priority Long-
Term Power Contract” and provides, in effect, that payments by DWR under the contract are to be paid or are payable prior
to bonds, notes, or other indebtedness of DWR secured by a pledge or assignment of the revenues of DWR under the Act and
other amounts in the Electric Power Fund.

Physical and Financial Management of Natural Gas

CPUC-approved operating agreements (in the case of PG&E and SDG&E) and a CPUC order (in the case of SCE)
(collectively, the “Operating Arrangements”) define the respective responsibilities of DWR and each IOU as they relate to
the administration of the allocated DWR power purchase agreements, including but not limited to managing the tolling
provisions of such agreements. In particular, the IOUs, as agent for DWR, (1) assume operational responsibilities for
scheduling energy with CAISO based on economic considerations including natural gas prices, spot energy prices and heat
rate efficiency of generating units associated with the tolling agreements, (2) manage daily physical gas purchases for
delivery to tolling agreements including: scheduling, transporting, imbalance management, storing and selling gas, as the
case may be, and (3) manage natural gas price risk and volatility by physically and financially hedging natural gas needs.
DWR supports and monitors the IOUs as they manage and settle the physical fuel requirements and price risk hedging for
any tolling agreements while remaining legally and financially responsible for the fuel obligations under each of DWR’s
power purchase contracts. To the extent the IOUs do not procure gas or fail to manage gas price risk by hedging, DWR
retains the right and responsibility to assure that gas is supplied to meet the performance requirements of the contracts.

Current Fuel Hedging

Based on information from and in coordination with the IOUs, DWR hedges a portion of the price risk associated
with projected gas purchases that will be made to operate DWR's power purchase contracts. The primary purpose of such
hedging is to reduce the gas price volatility under conditions in which the natural gas price rises, perhaps significantly, above
the baseline projected market gas price identified in a specific revenue requirement determination. For the 2010 revenue
requirements period, DWR estimates that the IOUs have collectively secured, or have reasonably firm plans to secure, on
behalf of DWR hedges for over 150 million MMBtu at or near the baseline projected gas price identified in the 2010 Revised
Revenue Requirement determination using a mix of option and fixed price instruments that provide price certainty for
substantially all of total projected fuel requirements in 2010.

For the remainder of the Power Supply Program, years 2011 through 2015, DWR estimates that the IOUs have
collectively secured, or have reasonably firm plans to secure, on behalf of DWR hedges for over 104 million MMBtu at or
near the baseline projected gas price identified in the 2010 Revised Revenue Requirement determination using a mix of
option and fixed price instruments which provides price certainty for approximately 60 percent of total projected remaining
fuel requirements through 2015.

DWR hedges a portion of its natural gas portfolio with transactions entered into through bilateral International Swap
and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Agreements. DWR has open hedge positions with eleven different counterparties.
DWR estimates that the total “fair value” to DWR of these existing hedges ranged between $2,022,910 and a negative
$56,774,505 in the first calendar quarter of 2010. All counterparties have credit ratings of at least A-/A2. The agreements
generally provide that upon early termination, the “fair value” of the transaction is payable from one party to the other.

Customer Base
DWR supplies power to bundled customers in the same service areas served by the three IOUs, comprising

approximately 11.3 million residential, commercial and industrial accounts representing approximately three-quarters of all
Californians.
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PG&E is a wholly owned subsidiary of PG&E Corporation and is headquartered in San Francisco, California.
PG&E is the largest investor-owned utility in the nation, providing natural gas and electric service to approximately
5.1 million accounts. Its service area covers approximately 70,000 square miles in northern and central California.

SCE is a wholly owned subsidiary of Edison International and is headquartered in Rosemead, California. SCE
provides electric service to approximately 4.8 million accounts. Its service area is approximately 50,000 square miles in
central and southern California.

SDG&E is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sempra Energy and is headquartered in San Diego, California. SDG&E
provides natural gas and electric service to approximately 1.4 million accounts. Its service area covers approximately
4,100 square miles in southern California, including San Diego County and southern Orange County.

From January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009, DWR supplied approximately 43,000 GWh of energy to
customers in the IOU service areas and received approximately $3.562 billion in Power Charge Revenues and approximately
$861 million in Bond Charge Revenues. The table below sets forth certain statistics relating to power supplied by DWR and
Bond Charges collected from the service areas of the IOUs from January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009.

IOU Service Area

Service Area Statistics (Calendar Year 2009) PG&E SCE SDG&E DWR Total
DWR Power Supplied (% of IOU Load) 17% 28% 30% 23%
DWR Power Supplied, Max Month Oct. Dec. Dec. Oct.
(% of IOU Load) (20%) (32%) (35%) (26%)
DWR Power Supplied, Max Month Aug. Aug. Dec. Aug.
(GWh) (1,420) (2,344) (531) (4,265)
Bond Charges
($ millions) $385 $388 $88 $861
Bond Charges
(%) 45% 45% 10% 100%

Collection of Revenues
General

Because DWR does not have the personnel, equipment or customer information necessary to provide its own
metering, billing and collection services, servicing arrangements obligating the IOUs to provide such services on behalf of
DWR are necessary for the timely collection of Bond Charges and Power Charges. Under the Act, the CPUC is required,
upon request of DWR, to order the IOUs to provide such services on terms and conditions that reasonably compensate the
IOUs for such services. The CPUC has adopted orders and approved agreements with respect to each IOU providing for the
terms and conditions upon which such services are to be provided (each such order or agreement, a “Servicing
Arrangement”). On March 15, 2007, the CPUC adopted the currently effective servicing orders applicable to each IOU.
These servicing orders amended and restated the then existing servicing orders adopted on December 19, 2002, which, in
turn, amended and restated the servicing agreements that were applicable to SCE and SDG&E and the servicing order that
was applicable to PG&E. For a discussion of amendments and clarifications of the Servicing Agreements related to
implementation of MRTU, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Collection of Revenues — Market Redesign and
Technology Upgrade.”

DWR has covenanted in the Indenture that it will maintain servicing arrangements in effect at all times while Bonds
are outstanding. In addition, DWR has covenanted in the Indenture not to voluntarily consent to or permit any amendment of
any servicing arrangement unless DWR determines that the amendment will not have a material adverse affect on the ability
of DWR to comply with the provisions of the Indenture. See APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE INDENTURE - Servicing Arrangements; Collection of Revenues” and “RISK FACTORS — Collection of Bond
Charges and Power Charges.”
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Summary of Servicing Arrangements

Each IOU is bound by its Servicing Arrangement to transmit (or provide for the transmission of) and distribute over
the I0U’s system power supplied by DWR in accordance with the Servicing Arrangement, the Act, other applicable laws,
CPUC rules and regulations and agreements between the IOU and DWR. The Servicing Arrangements do not obligate the
IOUs to construct high voltage transmission improvements.

Each of the IOUs is to provide metering services, meter reading services, billing services, and collection services for
DWR, except to the extent that these services are performed by a third-party as authorized in the Servicing Arrangements.
Each 10U is to follow its customary standards, policies and procedures in performing these services, which are regulated by
the CPUC. DWR charges are included in the IOUs’ regular billing statements. The IOUs will not permit customers to direct
how partial payments of balances due on consolidated bills will be applied. Each 10U will generally allocate partial
payments from customers proportionally between DWR and the IOU, all as more specifically set forth in the Servicing
Arrangements. Each IOU will collect DWR’s charges and its own charges from customers using its own collection practices
and will carry out disconnection policies (all of which practices and policies are subject to CPUC regulation). See “THE
DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Collection of Revenues — Collection Experience.”

The IOUs remit amounts collected for Bond Charges and Power Charges to DWR on a daily basis accompanied by
reports to support the remittances. Currently, SCE and SDG&E remit on an actual collection basis. PG&E continues to
remit revenues to DWR for each day on an estimated basis, and reconciles the remittances and the actual billed amounts, all
based on a 180-day collection curve. For each of the IOUs, reconciliations may result in refunds to the IOUs of overpaid
amounts or in additional remittances to DWR in the event of under-remittances.

Under the Servicing Arrangements, the IOUs are entitled to recover the reasonable costs of providing billing and
related services. DWR pays each IOU for specified costs of these services, as provided in the Servicing Arrangements. All
of the foregoing costs are included by DWR in its revenue requirement submissions to the CPUC and recovery is sought from
customers through DWR charges. Delinquent payments by DWR bear interest at a variable interest rate equal to three
percent plus the prime lending rate of a commercial bank named in each Servicing Arrangement.

Each Servicing Arrangement provides that all amounts required to be remitted to DWR by the IOU shall be held by
the IOU in trust for DWR and shall be remitted to DWR, subject to periodic adjustment.

Each Servicing Arrangement permits DWR to assign or pledge its rights to receive payments from the IOU to the
Trustees under the Indenture to secure DWR’s obligations thereunder. DWR has assigned its rights to customer payments
under each Servicing Arrangement under the Indenture. Under each Servicing Arrangement DWR’s rights and obligations
will be automatically transferred if the California Legislature creates an entity to assume the rights and obligations of DWR
under the Act.

The stated termination date of each IOU’s Servicing Arrangement is the later of (i) 180 days after the last date that
DWR Charges are imposed on customers or (ii) 180 days after the last date that the IOU sells surplus energy on behalf of
DWR.

Each Servicing Arrangement lists “Events of Default” by the IOU that include any failure to remit funds to DWR
that continues unremedied for three business days and certain failures to observe or perform under the Servicing
Arrangement. Upon any Event of Default by the IOU, DWR may, in addition to exercising its remedies under the Servicing
Arrangement or under applicable law, apply to the CPUC for appropriate relief, including but not limited to the termination
of the Servicing Arrangement, in whole or in part, and apply to the CPUC (and, if necessary, a court) for sequestration and
payment to DWR or the Trustees of amounts due DWR under the Servicing Arrangement.

Each Servicing Arrangement also states that DWR will be in default under the Servicing Arrangement if DWR fails
to perform any of a number of duties listed in the Servicing Arrangement, including the failure to pay certain moneys to the
IOU. Upon any default by DWR, the IOU may not terminate the Servicing Arrangement in whole or in part or any obligation
thereunder, but the IOU may exercise any other remedies available under the Servicing Arrangement, the Act, and other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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Each Servicing Arrangement includes a force majeure clause that provides that neither DWR nor the IOU is liable
for any delay or failure in performance of any part of the Servicing Arrangement (including the obligation to remit money at
the times therein specified) from any cause beyond its reasonable control, including but not limited to: unusually severe
weather; flood; fire; lightning; epidemic; quarantine restriction; war; sabotage; act of a public enemy; earthquake;
insurrection; riot; civil disturbance; strike; restraint by court order or government authority; or any combination of these
causes, which by the exercise of due diligence and foresight DWR or the IOU could not reasonably have been expected to
avoid and which by the exercise of due diligence is unable to overcome. Notwithstanding these provisions, each party’s
obligation to pay money under the Servicing Arrangement continues to the extent such party is able to make such payment
and any amounts required to be remitted to DWR by the IOU shall be held by the IOU in trust for DWR and remitted to
DWR as soon as reasonably practicable. Amounts paid to or by DWR pursuant to the force majeure clause shall not bear
interest.

DWR has the right under each Servicing Arrangement to request an audit, conducted by DWR, of each IOU’s
records and procedures.

The Servicing Arrangements include remittance procedures related to Cost Responsibility Surcharge revenues from
certain direct access, departing load and Community Choice Aggregation customers. For a discussion of direct access,
departing load, Community Choice Aggregation and the Cost Responsibility Surcharge, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY
PROGRAM - Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation.”

Market Redesign and Technology Upgrade

The CAISO has completed an initiative called Market Redesign and Technology Upgrade (“MRTU”) implementing
a new day-ahead wholesale electricity market and designed to improve electricity grid management reliability, operational
efficiencies and related technology infrastructure. MRTU was implemented on March 31, 2009. The redesigned CAISO
energy markets under MRTU do not affect the projection and collection of Bond Charges.

MRTU added significant market complexity. Since it is based on a nodal, as opposed to zonal, delivery point and
pricing structure, it changed the way in which energy is scheduled and settled. DWR’s power purchase contracts, as well as
the Operating Arrangements and the Servicing Arrangements, were entered into prior to MRTU implementation and
contained terms and conditions that did not anticipate MRTU. As a result, DWR needed to clarify provisions of its power
purchase contracts, including such provisions related to market sales revenues, with various counterparties. DWR also
needed to clarify the basis for determining remittance and market sale of energy quantities dispatched from DWR’s power
purchase contracts. Financial responsibility with respect to certain CAISO costs associated with the delivery of DWR
contract energy to retail customers also needed to be addressed with the IOUs.

DWR began discussions with the IOUs to identify the affected provisions of the power purchase contracts, as well as
the Servicing Arrangements and Operating Arrangements, to align dispatch assumptions that assure the power charge
revenue stream. DWR entered a Memorandum of Understanding dated February 4, 2009 (the “MOU”) with the IOUs that
sets forth the guiding principles and certain agreements related to operation and remittance principles and procedures based
on their understanding of MRTU implementation at that time. DWR agreed with the IOUs to eliminate the sharing of surplus
energy sales revenues. Since certain energy bids submitted into the CAISO’s energy markets will continue to result in
market sales revenues, the MOU also addresses specific instances when DWR will be entitled to receive such market
revenues. The IOUs also agreed to continue their financial responsibility for load-related CAISO costs, such as congestion
costs, in the MOU. The MOU was approved by a CPUC Assigned Commissioner Ruling on March 13, 2009.

The MOU was intended to be an interim step to allow DWR to achieve sufficient certainty regarding MRTU
operations with power purchase contract counterparties. DWR believes that sufficient certainty has been reached in
discussions with counterparties to be able to finalize the specific revisions to the currently effective Servicing Arrangements
and the Operating Arrangements needed to reflect the MRTU. In addition, based on actual operating experience of DWR
with the power purchase contracts after MRTU implementation, DWR and the IOUs have agreed to additional clarifications
to the remittance procedures from the proposal included in the MOU. In the near future, DWR expects to provide revisions
to the currently effective Servicing Arrangements and the Operating Arrangements to the CPUC for approval. At this time,
DWR cannot predict the timeline for approval of the revised Servicing Arrangements and the Operating Arrangements by the
CPUC. For further discussion of the MRTU, see “RISK FACTORS — Uncertainties Relating to Electric Industry Markets.”
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To the extent that DWR has not sufficiently identified or implemented new or modified procedures necessary for its
internal procedures, including the administration of DWR’s power purchase contracts under MRTU, to achieve operating
results consistent with current assumptions set forth in the applicable revenue requirement, it could adversely affect the costs
related to and associated with the dispatch and operation of DWR’s power purchase contracts and DWR’s recovery of Power
Charges and market sales revenues. See “RISK FACTORS — Certain Risks Associated with DWR’s Power Supply Program
— Failure of Assumptions in Calculating Revenue Requirements.”

Additional Information

Other important provisions are contained in the Servicing Arrangements, which are available as described under
“GENERAL INFORMATION.” For a description of the IOUs, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Customer
Base.”

Collection Experience

According to information provided by the IOUs to DWR, over the last five years each of the IOUs had uncollectible
amounts that averaged approximately 0.3% of its operating revenues. No IOU had uncollectible amounts that exceeded 0.4%
of operating revenues in any one year. Accordingly, DWR does not consider nonpayment by customers to be a material risk
to Bondholders. DWR considers such levels of uncollectible amounts in the calculation of DWR’s revenue requirements.
Under the Servicing Arrangements, risk of noncollection is to be borne proportionately by DWR and the IOUs.

Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation
General

“Direct access” customers consist of retail electricity customers in the service areas of the IOUs who stopped
purchasing electricity from the IOUs and obtain their electricity from alternative providers of electric service providers.
“Departing load” consists of retail electricity customers who commence customer generation or whose load was projected to
be served by the IOU, but who are now receiving electrical energy and, transmission and distribution services, from a
publicly owned utility. “Community Choice Aggregation” refers to the ability of local governments within the service area
of the IOUs to aggregate the power needs of their community and purchase electricity on their behalf from providers of
electric service other than the IOUs pursuant to California Public Utilities Code Section 366.2. Regulatory actions, including
the imposition of a Cost Responsibility Surcharge on certain direct access, departing load and future Community Choice
Aggregation customers, have mitigated the risk that direct access, departing load and Community Choice Aggregation will
create revenue shortfalls and necessitate revised revenue requirement submissions by DWR, as described below.

Direct Access

The CPUC has granted existing direct access accounts a limited degree of flexibility with respect to the direct access
suspension. On February 11, 2004, the CPUC approved Decision 04-02-024 which allows current direct access customers to
increase load at one or more locations, provided that the net load of the same customer does not increase within a utility’s
service area. This provision is intended to maintain the “standstill principle” approved in Decision 02-03-055, while
accounting for “normal changes in business operations.” In Decision 04-07-025, the CPUC clarified rules governing load
growth for existing direct access accounts. In addition, existing direct access customers may take bundled service from the
applicable IOU for up to 45 days while switching between electric service providers.

In addition, the CPUC initiated a proceeding to consider whether, when or how the ability of bundled customers to
enter into new direct access contracts should be restored and on February 28, 2008, the CPUC approved a decision
concluding that the suspension of direct access could not be lifted while DWR is still supplying power under the Act.
However, the decision continued the proceeding to consider possible approaches to expediting DWR’s exit from its role of
supplying power under the Act. On November 21, 2008, the CPUC approved Decision 08-11-056. Rehearing of Decision
08-11-056 was denied in Decision 09-08-031, and there has been no subsequent court challenge.

The following three paragraphs describe some of the major provisions of Decision 08-11-056.
The decision adopts a plan with the goal of the early exit of DWR from its role as supplier of power to retail electric

customers, through negotiations, where necessary or advisable, to replace DWR’s power purchase contracts with agreements
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between the IOUs and DWR's power supplier counterparties. The decision set a goal of the execution of replacement
agreements for all of DWR’s power purchase contracts by January 1, 2010. However, the decision also recognized that it may
become necessary to adjust that goal, depending upon the progress of negotiations for acceptable replacement contracts. The
CPUC would make findings as to whether proposed replacement contracts are “just and reasonable” but would not make any
such findings concerning existing DWR power purchase contracts. As of May 1, 2010, none of DWR’s power purchase
contracts have been replaced. Following passage of SB 695 on October 11, 2009, described below, the assigned CPUC
commissioner in the proceeding under which Decision 08-11-056 was issued, stayed the schedules for progress reports of the
working group established in the decision to develop protocols and strategies for negotiating replacement contracts.

Provisions in the majority of the remaining DWR power purchase contracts would, if certain conditions are satisfied
(including a minimum credit rating requirement for the IOU in some contracts), allow for DWR to novate the contract to a
qualifying IOU. DWR's interest in and obligations under such a contract would be terminated upon such a novation. Four
contracts currently lack such a provision, thus requiring negotiations with those counterparties before DWR's interest in and
obligations under those contracts could be terminated prior to their scheduled termination. No assurance can be given that
agreement could be reached with any of the counterparties to those four contracts or as to the timing of any such agreement.
The decision also notes that pursuant to the settlement of PG&E’s bankruptcy proceeding, the CPUC cannot require PG&E to
assume responsibility for any DWR power purchase contract if after PG&E assumed responsibility for such contract it would
have a credit rating lower than A/A2. Accordingly, based on PG&E’s current credit rating, PG&E would have to voluntarily
assume responsibility for any DWR power purchase contracts.

If DWR were to terminate its interests in its remaining power purchase contracts, then DWR would no longer be
supplying power under AB1X and as a result, the CPUC would be able to consider lifting the suspension of direct access.
Although Decision 08-11-056 set a goal of January 1, 2010 for the removal of DWR from all of its power purchase contracts,
that was not the target date for reopening direct access to additional customers.

On October 11, 2009, Senate Bill (SB) 695 was signed into law as an urgency statute. SB 695 allows individual
retail nonresidential end-use customers to acquire electric service from other providers in each IOU service area, up to a
maximum allowable limit. Except for this express authorization for increased direct access transactions under SB 695, the
previously enacted suspension of direct access remains in effect. On March 15, 2010, the CPUC issued Decision 10-03-022
which authorizes increases in the maximum direct access load for each IOU service area, as specified in SB 695. The
maximum load of allowable direct access volumes is established for each IOU as the maximum total kWh supplied by all
other providers to distribution customers of that IOU during any sequential 12-month period between April 1, 1998 and the
effective date of the section of the Public Utilities Code modified by SB 695 (October 11, 2009), which increase in maximum
load for each IOU service area is described in the following table:

IOU Service area

PG&E SCE SDG&E
(GWh per (GWh per (GWh per
Calendar Year) Calendar Year) Calendar Year)

Direct Access Maximum Load

Permitted Pursuant to SB 695 9,520 11,710 3,562

Less Existing Direct Access

Load 5,574 7,764 3,100
Direct Access Additional Load

Allowance Pursuant to SB 695 3,946 3,946 462

The direct access maximum load authorized by the CPUC in Decision 10-03-022 would allow increases in the
direct access maximum load in PG&E’s service area of up to approximately 71%, in SCE’s service area of up to
approximately 51% and in SDG&E’s service area of up to approximately 15%. The direct access maximum load authorized
by Decision 10-03-022, if reached in all three service areas, would increase the percentage of each IOU’s retail load
attributable to direct access customers to approximately 11.1% for PG&E, 12.9% for SCE and 16.2% for SDG&E, which
would increase the total percentage of IOU retail load attributable to direct access customers from 9.3% to approximately
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14.1%." Decision 10-03-022 phases in the additional load allowance shown in the preceding table over a four-year period
beginning on April 11, 2010. The amount of the additional load allowance to be phased in during 2010 represents the sum of
35% of each IOUs total additional load allowance. At this time, PG&E, SCE and SDG&E have each received sufficient
notices of intent to acquire electric service from other providers to meet their respective 2010 limits on additional load
allowance. The annual phase-in of the limits combined with the concurrent expiration of several long-term contracts should
result in limited impacts to the Power Charges attributable to the increased limits. Regardless of the level of direct access
participation within the IOU service areas, direct access customers will still be assessed Bond Charges and DWR’s revenue
requirement will be recovered in the same manner as has been successfully implemented over the duration of the Power
Supply Program.

Departing Load

Departing load includes “municipal departing load” and “customer generation.” Municipal departing load refers to
load that is located on land that was or is within an IOU’s service area but is or is to be serviced by a publicly owned utility
(e.g., municipal utilities or irrigation districts). Customer generation refers to the generation of electricity by a retail
customer for its own use.

In 2010, DWR expects the total load from municipal departing load and customer generation to be in an amount
equal to less than three percent’ of total retail sales. Unlike direct access, the growth of municipal departing load and
customer generation is not expressly limited by statute. However, to prevent cost shifting, the CPUC has imposed a Cost
Responsibility Surcharge on certain classes of municipal departing load and customer generation customers similar to the
Cost Responsibility Surcharge imposed upon certain direct access customers.

Since the IOUs do not serve departed municipal load customers, actual usage data is unknown and attempts to bill
and collect the Cost Responsibility Surcharge by PG&E and SCE require additional procedures not used for bundled
customers. As a result, in some instances, the IOUs have experienced significant non-payment and collection expenses in
attempting to bill and collect from these customers. PG&E and SCE take the position that the CPUC authorized them to
negotiate and enter into settlement agreements for the past and future Cost Responsibility Surcharge with publicly-owned
utilities (“POUs”) that currently serve some of these municipal departing load customers. This position has not been
confirmed by the CPUC. The CPUC has expressly allowed the IOUs to enter bilateral agreements with POUs or POUs’
customers as an alternative to the municipal departing load tariff procedures applicable to the billing and collection of the
Cost Responsibility Surcharge and other non-bypassable charges.

As of April 19, 2010, DWR received $3,878,036 of Bond Charges and $70,806 in Power Charges under settlement
agreements reached by SCE with four POUs. DWR also received $864,893 of Bond Charges under a settlement agreement
reached by PG&E with a POU. Several of the settlement agreements provide for installment payments over a period of time,
and there are additional pending settlement agreements under which additional Bond Charges and Power Charges would be
remitted to DWR. Unless expressly provided in the settlement agreements, after the payment of these amounts, no additional
Cost Responsibility Surcharge will be paid by the departed municipal load customers currently served by these settling
POUs. DWR is working with PG&E to obtain information about a new settlement agreement between PG&E and a POU.

The CPUC has not reviewed or approved these settlement agreements. An application seeking approval of a
settlement agreement between PG&E, Modesto Irrigation District and Merced Irrigation District that would establish a
nonbypassable charge agreement is currently pending before the CPUC. The proposed settlement agreement would discount
the amount to be paid by the POUs due to the difficulty of PG&E collecting nonbypassable charges from the POUSs’
customers.

If and when the currently pending settlement agreements are finalized, unless additional settlements are reached in
the future, DWR expects that PG&E will continue to have non-settling municipal departing load customers. In 2009, DWR
received $2,518,680 from PG&E as aggregate Cost Responsibility Surcharge from municipal departing load customers,
excluding any amounts paid under an existing settlement agreement. All of that amount consisted of Bond Charges
attributable to municipal departing load and represented 0.294% of the total Bond Charges collected in 2009. All of the Cost
Responsibility Surcharge attributable to current municipal departing load within SCE’s servicing area will be paid under

" Derived from estimates of total retail load and direct access load for calendar year 2010 provided to DWR by the IOUs in
April 2009.
T Based on information provided by IOUs to DWR during the 2010 Revenue Requirement process.
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SCE’s settlement agreements. Currently, SDG&E does not have any municipal departing load customers. Since the IOUs do
not serve departed municipal load customers, there is a continuing risk that the IOUs will not be able to collect the Cost
Responsibility Surcharge from municipal departing load customers who are billed. Under the Servicing Arrangements, risk
of partial collection is to be borne proportionately by DWR and the IOUs. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM
— Collection of Revenues — Collection Experience.”

In its proceeding to establish the procedures for the IOUs to bill and collect the Cost Responsibility Surcharge from
customer generation departing load customers, the CPUC has granted a limited exemption from the Cost Responsibility
Surcharge to clean distributed generation. The exemption is available to clean distributed generation not exceeding one
megawatt and was extended to include the first megawatt of clean distributed generation from facilities with up to five
megawatts of capacity. In 2009, the aggregate Cost Responsibility Surcharge from customer generation departing load
collected by PG&E was $4,466,701, by SCE was $3,368,949 and by SDG&E was $763,119. Of those amounts, the portion
of the Bond Charges attributable to customer generation departing load represented 0.974% of total Bond Charges collected
in 2009.

Any amount of DWR’s revenue requirements not paid through the Cost Responsibility Surcharge by exempt
customer generation departing load or exempt or settling municipal departing load will be paid by other customers who are
responsible for Bond Charges or Power Charges. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Direct Access,
Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation —Cost Responsibility Surcharge,” below.

Community Choice Aggregation

Community Choice Aggregation, authorized by legislation enacted in 2002 (“AB 117”), refers to the ability of a city
or county to aggregate all the electrical demand of the residents, businesses and municipal users under its jurisdiction and to
meet this demand from an electricity provider other than an IOU, such as an independent electrical service provider. In the
decision implementing AB 117, the CPUC has determined that future Community Choice Aggregation customers shall pay
charges (including DWR charges) intended to prevent cost shifting to the bundled customers of the IOUs. For a description of
the Cost Responsibility Surcharge, including the definition thereof, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Direct
Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation - Cost Responsibility Surcharge,” below.

Significant volumes of Community Choice Aggregation load could lead to changes in DWR rates to accommodate
reduced IOU retail deliveries of DWR power. Pursuant to AB 117, three entities have filed Community Choice Aggregation
Implementation Plans with the CPUC. The San Joaquin Valley Power Authority (“SJVPA”) filed an Implementation Plan
with the CPUC in January 2007, the Marin Energy Authority (“MEA”) filed an Implementation Plan with the CPUC in
January 2010 and the City and County of San Francisco (“CCSF”) filed an Implementation Plan with the CPUC in March
2010. The SJVPA Implementation Plan was certified by the CPUC in May 2007, however, Community Choice Aggregation
implementation was suspended by SIVPA in June 2009. To date, the CCSF Implementation Plan has not yet been certified
by the CPUC.

The MEA Implementation Plan was certified by the CPUC in February 2010 and MEA is currently in the process of
enrolling Community Choice Aggregation customers. MEA Member (municipal) accounts and a subset of residential,
commercial and/or industrial accounts, comprising approximately 20 percent of MEA’s total customer load, are scheduled to
begin service on May 7, 2010. All remaining MEA accounts are currently expected to begin service within 24 months of May
7,2010. MEA is expected to serve 98 GWh of load in 2010, 167 GWh in 2011 and 809 GWh in 2012. This MEA load will
reduce the bundled load in PG&E’s service area.

Other communities have indicated a willingness to pursue Community Choice Aggregation, including, several cities
located to the east of San Francisco Bay, and the City of Victorville. However, none of these communities has yet filed an
Implementation Plan with the CPUC. It is possible that Community Choice Aggregation could lead to substantial reductions
in bundled sales volumes. In the CPUC proceeding implementing AB 117 concerning Community Choice Aggregation, the
CPUC established that the Cost Responsibility Surcharge would be paid by Community Choice Aggregation customers and
that the method for calculating the Cost Responsibility Surcharge adopted for direct access and municipal departing load
customers, as modified by CPUC Decision 06-07-030 would also apply to Community Choice Aggregation customers.

Pursuant to Assembly Bill 80 (Public Utilities Code Section 366.1) and CPUC Decision 05-01-009, the City of

Cerritos (“Cerritos”), as owner of the Magnolia Power Project, was granted authority to act as a community aggregator within
the service area of SCE. Consistent with an agreement between Cerritos and SCE, the Cost Responsibility Surcharge paid by
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Cerritos’ customers to SCE is the Cost Responsibility Surcharge applicable to Community Choice Aggregation customers.
The methodology for calculating Cerritos’ Cost Responsibility Surcharge was subsequently revised in CPUC Decision 07-04-
007 to reflect the revisions approved in Decision 06-07-030. In 2009, the total Bond Charges paid by Cerritos were $249,437.

Cost Responsibility Surcharge

In a series of decisions, the CPUC ordered certain classes of direct access, municipal and customer generation
departing load, and Community Choice Aggregation customers to pay the Cost Responsibility Surcharge related to historical
stranded costs and ongoing costs. Included in the Cost Responsibility Surcharge is a DWR Bond Charge component, which
is assessed to pay debt service associated with DWR’s bond issuances and a DWR Power Charge component, which pays a
portion of the above-market costs of the DWR power portfolio. The Bond Charge and the Power Charge components are
rates imposed on total electricity usage by these direct access, departing load and Community Choice Aggregation customers
by the CPUC in concert with the establishment of Power Charges and Bond Charges on bundled customers. Cost
Responsibility Surcharge revenues reduce the amount of Bond Charges and Power Charges that must be imposed on bundled
customers to recover Bond Related Costs and Department Costs. In the aggregate, the payments by direct access load,
departing load, and Community Choice Aggregation load and from bundled customer load for the Bond Charges and the
Power Charges flow to DWR to recover the Bond Related Costs and Department Costs. See “RISK FACTORS — Departing
Load and Community Choice Aggregation.”

Financing of the Power Supply Program
Prior Sources of Financing

The original sources of funding to initiate the Power Supply Program in 2001 included advances from the State’s
General Fund totaling approximately $6.1 billion (the “State Loan”), a loan from a consortium of commercial and investment
banks totaling $4.3 billion (the “Bank Loan”), and revenues from electricity sales. In 2002, DWR issued the Series 2002
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $11.263 billion to repay the State Loan and the Bank Loan, establish certain debt
service reserves and operating reserves, pay costs of obtaining credit enhancement and pay costs of issuance. In 2005, DWR
issued the Series 2005 Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $2.594 billion to refund $2.353 billion of outstanding
Series 2002 Bonds. In 2008, DWR issued the Series 2008 Bonds to refund certain Series 2002 Bonds and Series 2005 Bonds
bearing interest at variable rates. The Bonds issued in 2002, 2005 and 2008, as of May 3, 2010, are described in the
following table. See “PLAN OF REFUNDING.”
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Power Supply Program Debt Portfolio

Outstanding Current Interest
Series Initial Principal Amount Principal Amount ° Rate Mode
Series 2002A $ 6,313,500,000 ' $2,020,180,000 Fixed Rate
Series 2002B 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 Daily Rate/Weekly Rate >
Series 2002C 2,750,000,000 * 2,172,000,000 Weekly Rate
Series 2002D 500,000,000 * -- N/A
Series 2002E (Taxable) 700,000,000 -- N/A
Total Project Issuance $11,263,500,000 $ 5,192,180,000
Series 2005F $ 759,400,000 $ 757,530,000 Daily Rate/Fixed Rate *
Series 2005G 1,834,600,000 * 796,000,000 Weekly Rate/Fixed Rate °
Series 2008H 1,006,510,000 1,006,510,000 Fixed Rate
Series 20081 150,000,000 150,000,000 Daily Rate
Series 2008J-1 130,000,000 130,000,000 Daily Rate
Series 2008J-2 200,000,000 200,000,000 Weekly Rate
Series 2008K 279,250,000 279,250,000 Fixed Rate
Total Refunding Issuance $ 4,359,760,000 $3,319,290,000

Total Bonds Outstanding $ 8,511,470,000

' $2,352,210,000 of the Series 2002A Bonds were refunded with proceeds of the Series 2005 Bonds.

2 $100,000,000 of the Series 2002B-6 Bonds are in Weekly Rate Mode.

3 $250,000,000 of the Series 2002C Bonds, $300,000,000 of the Series 2005G Bonds and all of the Series 2002D Bonds were refunded
with proceeds of the Series 2008H Bonds. An additional $150,000,000 of the Series 2002C Bonds were refunded with proceeds of
the Series 20081 Bonds. An additional $330,000,000 of the Series 2005G Bonds were refunded with proceeds of the Series 2008]J
Bonds. An additional $295,000,000 of the Series 2005G Bonds were refunded with proceeds of the Series 2008K Bonds.

4 $150,000,000 of the Series 2005F-3 Bonds and $200,000,000 of the Series 2005F-5 Bonds have been converted to Fixed Rate Mode.

> $98,000,000 of the Series 2005G-4 Bonds and $75,000,000 of the Series 2005G-11 Bonds have been converted to Fixed Rate Mode.

6 $429,985,000 of the Series 2002A Bonds are to be defeased with proceeds of the Series 2010L Bonds. $970,000,000 of the Series
2002B Bonds, $825,800,000 of the Series 2002C Bonds, $409,400,000 of the Series 2005F Bonds, $212,700,000 of the Series
2005G Bonds, $150,000,000 of the Series 20081 Bonds and $111,500,000 of the Series 2008) Bonds are to be refunded with
proceeds of the Series 2010L Bonds on May 13, 2010. See “PLAN OF REFUNDING.”

Interest Rate Hedges

DWR has entered into floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreements with several different counterparties in an
aggregate initial notional amount of $4,023,900,000 to reduce the risk of interest rate volatility with respect to its variable
rate Bonds. These interest rate swaps include nine floating to fixed interest rate swap transactions in an aggregate initial
notional amount of $1,429,900,000 executed in connection with the issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds, and six floating to
fixed interest rate swap transactions in an aggregate initial notional amount of $2,594,000,000 executed in connection with
the issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds. As of May 1, 2010 the aggregate outstanding notional amount of these interest rate
swaps was $3,732,300,000. In connection with the refunding of the Variable Rate Refunded Bonds on May 13, 2010, and as
described in the following table, at the election of DWR certain of the interest rate swap agreements will be terminated. The
aggregate outstanding notional amount of the remaining interest rate swaps will be $1,052,900,000.

Under the Indenture, required payments under Qualified Swaps are Bond Related Costs and are paid from the Bond
Charge Payment Account on parity with debt service on the Bonds. In order for an interest rate swap agreement to qualify as
a Qualified Swap, the Indenture generally requires, among other things, that (i) the swap provider have ratings not lower than
the third highest rating category from each rating agency then maintaining a rating for the provider, and in no event lower
than the rating category designated by any such rating agency for the Bonds subject to the interest rate swap, or (ii) the
interest rate swap will not result in a reduction or withdrawal of any ratings on the Bonds subject to such interest rate swap.
See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and the definitions of “Qualified Swap” and “Qualified Swap Provider” in
APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE.” All of DWR’s interest rate swap
agreements are Qualified Swaps. The providers of DWR’s outstanding swaps, other than Depfa Bank and Bayerische
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Landesbank, have current long-term ratings of at least A2 by Moody’s, A by S&P and A by Fitch Inc. Depfa Bank has
current long-term ratings of A3 by Moody’s, BBB by S&P and A- by Fitch Inc. Bayerische Landesbank has current
grandfathered long-term ratings with regards to DWR’s swaps of Aaa by Moody’s and AAA by Fitch, Inc. At the request of
Bayerische Landesbank its long-term rating by S&P was withdrawn on October 19, 2009. Under DWR’s interest rate risk
management policy currently in effect, as a general approach, DWR will limit long term hedging contracts to counterparties
with long-term ratings of double-A or better at the time such agreement is entered into, and in no case will enter into interest
rate swap agreements with counterparties with a long-term rating lower than single-A.

Payments owed by DWR to each swap provider and payments owed by such swap provider to DWR are netted
against each other within each interest rate swap transaction, but generally not among transactions. Any net swap receipts are
deposited in the Bond Charge Collection Account. Any net swap payments by DWR are Bond Related Costs, payable from
the Bond Charge Payment Account. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts and Flow of Funds under the
Indenture.”

DWR’s interest rate swap agreements generally provide that upon early termination, the “fair value” of the interest
rate swap transaction is payable from one party to the other. The Indenture provides that the total amount of any termination
payment by DWR under an interest rate swap agreement shall not be required to be paid by DWR faster than on a level
amortization basis with quarterly payments over a period ending no sooner than three years following the date of termination,
with the first installment commencing no earlier than six months after the date of termination; provided, however, that if
DWR elects to terminate any interest rate swap at its option, any termination payment shall be made as provided in the
related interest rate swap agreement and may be funded with proceeds of Bonds. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND
USES OF FUNDS” and the footnotes to the following table. For a further discussion of DWR’s interest rate swap portfolio
and its contingent mark-to-market liability, see Note 5 of the audited financial statements in Appendix A hereof.

The table below sets forth for each interest rate swap related to Outstanding Bonds the outstanding notional amount,
the fixed interest rate to be paid by DWR, the variable rate to be received by DWR, the expiration date and the name of the
counterparty.

Interest Rate Swaps

Outstanding Fixed Rate Variable Rate Expiration
Notional Amount Paid by DWR Received by Date
(as of May 1, 2010) (% per annum)’ DWR (May 1) Counterparty
$ 93,600,000 2 2914 67% LIBOR 2011 Bayerische Landesbank
233,700,000 2 3.024 67% LIBOR 2012 Bayerische Landesbank
92,089,000 3.405 100% BMA 2013 JPMorgan Chase Bank
46,044,000 3.405 100% BMA 2013 Morgan Stanley Capital Services
13,767,000 3.405 100% BMA 2013 Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc.
194,400,000 2 3.204 67% LIBOR 2014 Bank of America N.A.
174,200,000 3.280 67% LIBOR 2015 Bayerische Landesbank
202,300,000 > 3.342 67% LIBOR 2016 BNP Paribas
201,800,000 3.389 67% LIBOR 2017 Morgan Stanley Capital Services
241,500,000 3.184 66.5% LIBOR 2015 Depfa Bank
485,300,000 3.228 66.5% LIBOR 2016 BNP Paribas
480,000,000 2 3.282 66.5% LIBOR 2017 Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
514,200,000 3.331 66.5% LIBOR 2018 Deutsche Bank
306,200,000 3.256 64% LIBOR 2020 Deutsche Bank
453,200,000 2 3.325 64% LIBOR 2022 Royal Bank of Canada

$3,732,300,000

! Percentages rounded to the nearest one one-thousandth.

2 DWR has elected to terminate this interest rate swap agreement effective May 13, 2010, in connection with the refunding of the
Variable Rate Refunded Bonds. See “PLAN OF REFUNDING” and “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM -
Financing of the Power Supply Program — Prior Sources of Financing.”
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Investments
Funds on deposit in the Electric Power Fund are currently invested in a combination of cash and cash equivalents,
unsecured investment agreements and a forward purchase agreement collateralized with U.S. Treasury securities. The

following table details the Electric Power Fund investments by account, as of March 31, 2010.

Electric Power Fund Investments as of March 31, 2010

Administration, Bond Charge
Operating and Operating Collection and Bond
Priority Contract Reserve Charge Payment Debt Service
Investment Accounts Account Accounts Reserve Account Totals
Cash and Cash
Equivalents ' $1,297,633,285 $549,068,402 $1,148,340,707 $658,599,389 $3,653,641,783
Investment
Agreements 2 - - - 200,000,000 200,000,000
Fwd. Purchase
Agreement * — - - 100,000,000 100,000,000
Totals $1,297,633,285 $549,068,402 $1,148,340,707 $958,599,389 $3,953,641,783

Cash and Cash Equivalents includes approximately $3.637 billion in SMIF (described below), approximately $3.5 million held by a
fiscal agent and $12.7 million held in the State Treasury.

Investment agreement providers are Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. and Royal Bank of Canada, New York Branch.

The forward purchase agreement provider is Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc.

Of the approximately $3.954 billion in the Electric Power Fund as of March 31, 2010, approximately $3.637 billion
or 92.0% was invested in the Surplus Money Investment Fund (“SMIF”). SMIF is comprised of moneys on deposit in the
State’s Centralized Treasury System for investment by the State Treasurer in the Pooled Money Investment Account (the
“PMIA”). As of March 31, 2010, the PMIA held approximately $45.8 billion of State moneys and $23.3 billion of moneys
invested for about 2,791 local governmental entities through the Local Agency Investment Fund (the “LAIF”). The assets of
the PMIA as of March 31, 2010 are shown in the following table:

Analysis of the Pooled Money Investment Account Portfolio

(as of March 31, 2010)

Amount Percent of
Type of Security (in thousands) Total '
U.S. Treasury Bills and Notes.........c.cccecververrerrenens $30,569,220 44.2%
Commercial Paper..........ccccoeevevenieneerieeeeieeeene, 4,821,126 7.0
Certificates of Deposit .......ccceeveveeeeeenieeniieieneenenn 7,550,048 10.9
Corporate Bonds .........cccoovevieiiniiienieeeecceee 125,185 0.2
Federal Agency Securities ..........cceoeeveeneeeeneennen. 10,401,585 15.1
Loans per Government Code ..........ccocceevverveennennen. 11,286,775 16.3
Time DepositS.....ccceereiereeeiieerieeiie e eiee e 4,052,640 59
Other (International Bank for Reconstruction and 300,000 0.4
Development Bonds) .........cccoeveevieciieienienneenenen.
Total $69,106,579 100.0%

' May not add due to rounding.
Source: State of California, Office of the State Treasurer.
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The State’s treasury operations are managed in compliance with the California Government Code and according to a
statement of investment policy which sets forth permitted investment vehicles, liquidity parameters and maximum maturity
of investments. The PMIA operates with the oversight of the Pooled Money Investment Board (consisting of the State
Treasurer, the State Controller and the Director of Finance). The LAIF portion of the PMIA operates with the oversight of
the Local Agency Investment Advisory Board (consisting of the State Treasurer and four other appointed members).

The PMIA is not invested in, nor has it ever been invested in, Structured Investment Vehicles or Collateralized Debt
Obligations. The PMIA’s holdings are displayed quarterly on the State Treasurer’s website and may be accessed under
PMIB Quarterly Reports. The PMIA is not currently invested in auction rate securities.

The State Treasurer does not invest in leveraged products or inverse floating rate securities. The investment policy
permits the use of reverse repurchase agreements subject to limits of no more than 10 percent of the PMIA. All reverse
purchase agreements are cash matched either to maturity of the reinvestment or an adequately positive cash flow date which
is approximate to the maturity of the reinvestment.

The average life of the investment portfolio of the PMIA as of March 31, 2010 was 213 days.
Annual Debt Service on the Bonds

The following table sets forth the annual debt service requirements on the Bonds, including the Series 2010L Bonds.

Annual Bond Debt Service

2002A, 2005F-3 and

F-5, G-4 and G-11, 2002B/C,
Year Ending 2008H and 2008K 2005F/G and 2008J
December 31 (fixed rate)' (variable rate) 2010L Totals’
2010 $ 635,038,900 $189,501,401 $ 66,932,182 $ 891,472,484
2011 469,504,258 225,235,054 215,456,213 910,195,524
2012 463,814,708 99,735,464 346,890,038 910,440,209
2013 674,535,820 126,887,328 131,486,363 932,909,510
2014 426,521,716 98,397,530 385,989,863 910,909,108
2015 106,259,320 381,242,738 424,486,988 911,989,046
2016 198,427,622 437,158,322 277,988,156 913,574,101
2017 364,678,195 57,033,091 492,522,650 914,233,936
2018 488,627,827 158,090,805 267,840,038 914,558,670
2019 53,097,950 248,109,874 614,188,863 915,396,686
2020 98,574,965 465,888,407 352,513,150 916,976,522
2021 435,609,087 254,392,812 228,330,900 918,332,799
2022 648,763,059 -- 269,931,375 918,694,434
Totals® $5,063,453,426 $2,741,672,827 $4,074,556,776 $11,879,683,030

Excludes debt service on the Refunded Bonds. Interest on Bonds bearing interest at a variable rate and net interest rate swap
payments are calculated based on the higher of (a) 4.00% interest rate per annum or (b) the highest average monthly variable rate
or swap index rate within the last 12 calendar months plus 8.6 basis points basis differential with respect to Bonds that are

allocated to an interest rate swap agreement.

2 Totals may not add due to rounding.

Summary of Operating Results

The following table provides a summary of historical and projected revenues, expenditures and fund balances of the
Power Supply Program for the calendar years 2008 through 2011 (in millions). The projected changes in Net Revenues —
Power Charge Accounts and Net Revenue — Bond Charge Accounts in calendar years 2010 and 2011 are due to planned
reductions in such account balances based on a projected excess in the amounts therein over DWR’s projected cash needs and
account balance requirements. The actual changes in Net Revenues — Power Charge Accounts and Net Revenue — Bond
Charge Accounts for calendar years 2008 and 2009 resulted from planned changes in account balances and to variances in
either revenue collections or power and bond costs. See “Recent Revenue Requirements.”
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Historical Projected

Power Charge Accounts 2008 2009 2010 2011
Balance in Power Charge Accounts at January 1
Operating, Priority Contract and Administrative Accounts $1,223 $ 804 $1,320 $ 764
Operating Reserve Account 612 548 543 549
Total Beginning Balance in Power Charge Accounts 1,836 1,352 1,863 1,313
Power Charge Accounts Operating Revenues
Power Charge Revenues 3,313 3,562 2,315 1,420
Surplus Power and Gas Sales Revenues 445 166 - -
Energy Litigation Settlements 43 11 - -
Interest Earnings 67 24 13 9
Total Power Charge Accounts Operating Revenues 3,868 3,764 2,328 1,428
Power Charge Accounts Operating Expenses
Power Costs 4,331 3,236 2,851 2,011
Administrative and General 22 16 27 27
Total Power Charge Accounts Operating Expenses ) 4,352 3,253 2,878 2,038
Net Revenues - Power Charge Accounts (484) 511 (550) (610)
Balance in Power Charge Accounts at December 31" $1,352 $1,863 $1,313 $ 703
Bond Charge Accounts 2008 2009 2010 2011
Balance in Bond Charge Accounts at January 1
Bond Charge Collection Account $ 273 $ 265 $ 387 $ 292
Bond Charge Payment Account 560 645 574 652
Debt Service Reserve Account 930 921 950 959
Total Beginning Balance in Bond Charge Accounts* 1,764 1,831 1,911 1,903
Bond Charge Accounts Revenues
Bond Charge Revenues 876 861 891 905
Interest Earnings 68 51 27 27
Total Bond Charge Account Revenues 944 912 918 932
Bond Charge Accounts Expenses
Debt Service on Bonds 877 832 927 918
Total Bond Charge Account Expenses 877 832 927 918
Net Revenues - Bond Charge Accounts 67 80 ©) 13
Balance in Bond Charge Accounts at December 31" $1,831 $1,911 $1,903 $1,916

" Totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: Results for calendar years 2008 and 2009 are derived from DWR’s operational reports. Projected results for calendar year 2010 and
2011 as currently updated are consistent with the assumptions in DWR's Revised 2010 Determination of Revenue Requirements for the
period January 1, 2010-December 31, 2010, which is available at DWR’s website at http://wwwecers.water.ca.gov. The projections should be
evaluated based on those assumptions. All projections are the responsibility of DWR. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), independent
auditors for DWR, has not examined, compiled nor performed any procedures with respect to such projections and, accordingly, PwC does
not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto. The PwC report included in Appendix A relates to historical
financial information of the Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund. The PwC report does not extend to the projections set
forth above and should not be read to do so. These projections were not prepared with a view toward compliance with the guidelines
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for preparation and presentation of prospective financial information.
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CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES
General

The primary revenues used for the payment of the Bonds and Bond Related Costs are Bond Charge Revenues, which
constitute part of the Trust Estate securing the Bonds. The Rate Agreement requires the CPUC to impose Bond Charges
sufficient to ensure that amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account are adequate to pay all Bond Related Costs
as they come due. Bond Related Costs include Bond debt service, Qualified Swap payments, credit enhancement and
liquidity facilities charges, and costs relating to other financial instruments and servicing arrangements related to the Bonds.
Bond Charges are required to be imposed on all electric power sold to each bundled customer, whether that power is
provided by DWR or by the IOUs.

The Rate Agreement also requires the CPUC to impose Power Charges on customers who buy power from DWR
(generally, the customers who buy power from the IOUs) for the purpose of paying “Department Costs,” including the costs
that DWR incurs to procure and deliver power. The Rate Agreement requires the CPUC to impose Power Charges that are
sufficient to provide moneys in the amounts and at the times necessary to satisfy the Retail Revenue Requirements as
described below.

Additionally, in a series of decisions, the CPUC ordered certain classes of direct access, municipal and customer
generation departing load, and Community Choice Aggregation customers to pay the Cost Responsibility Surcharge related
to historical stranded costs and ongoing costs. Included in the Cost Responsibility Surcharge is a DWR Bond Charge
component, which is assessed to pay debt service associated with DWR’s bond issuances, and a DWR Power Charge
component, which pays a portion of the above-market costs related to the DWR power portfolio. The Bond Charge and the
Power Charge components are rates imposed on total electricity usage by these direct access, departing load and Community
Choice Aggregation customers by the CPUC in concert with the establishment of Power Charges and Bond Charges on
bundled customers. Cost Responsibility Surcharge revenues reduce the amount of Bond Charges and Power Charges that
must be imposed on bundled customers to recover Bond Related Costs and Department Costs. In aggregate, the payments by
direct access load, departing load, and Community Choice Aggregation load and from bundled customer load for the DWR
Bond Charge and the DWR Power Charge flow to DWR to recover the DWR Bond Related Costs and Department Costs.
See “RISK FACTORS — Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation.”

From January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009, DWR supplied approximately 43,000 GWh of energy to
customers in the IOU service areas and received approximately $3.562 billion in Power Charge Revenues and approximately
$861 million in Bond Charge Revenues.

Rate Agreement

The CPUC and DWR have entered into the Rate Agreement pursuant to the Act to facilitate the issuance of Bonds
and for the benefit of Bondholders and all other persons to whom DWR is obligated to pay Bond Related Costs (other than
the providers of servicing and administrative services to DWR after the termination of DWR’s long-term power contracts).
The obligation of the CPUC to calculate, revise and impose Bond Charges is irrevocable and cannot be amended. Other
provisions of the Rate Agreement may be amended only by an amendment approved by DWR and the CPUC. Under the
Indenture, DWR has covenanted not to amend the Rate Agreement unless DWR has determined that the amendment will not
have a material adverse effect on the ability of DWR to comply with the provisions of the Indenture.

In the Rate Agreement, the CPUC has covenanted and agreed to calculate, revise and impose from time to time,
Bond Charges sufficient to provide moneys so that the amounts available for deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account
from time to time, together with amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account, are at all times sufficient to pay
or provide for the payment of all Bond Related Costs when due in accordance with the “Financing Documents™ (defined in
the Rate Agreement attached as Appendix D). The Rate Agreement provides that this covenant shall have the force and
effect of a “financing order” under the California Public Ultilities Code and shall be irrevocable and enforceable in
accordance with its terms, including, without limitation, in circumstances in which DWR has breached its obligations under
the Rate Agreement or in respect of the Financing Documents. Under the California Public Utilities Code, a “financing
order” is binding upon the CPUC as it may be constituted from time to time, and the CPUC has no authority to rescind, alter
or amend its obligations thereunder. Under the Act, the rights, powers and duties of the CPUC may not be diminished or
impaired in a manner that would adversely affect the interests or rights of Bondholders. See, however, “RISK FACTORS —
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Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay
Priority Contract Costs — Application and Enforcement of CPUC’s Bond Charge Rate Covenant.”

In the Rate Agreement, the CPUC has also covenanted and agreed to calculate, revise and impose, from time to
time, Power Charges sufficient to provide moneys in the amounts and at the times necessary to satisfy DWR’s “Retail
Revenue Requirements” (defined in the Rate Agreement attached as Appendix D) as specified by DWR.

In the event of a failure of the CPUC to calculate and impose Bond Charges in accordance with the Rate Agreement,
the Rate Agreement is enforceable against the CPUC by the Co-Trustee under the Indenture 30 days after DWR has defaulted
under its obligations contained in the Financing Documents (as defined in the Rate Agreement) and failed to enforce the Rate
Agreement. The Rate Agreement imposes certain conditions to the exercise by the Co-Trustee of DWR’s rights under the
Rate Agreement.

The Rate Agreement specifies the actions to be taken by DWR and the timetable that the CPUC will use to calculate,
revise and impose Bond Charges and Power Charges. See “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES
AND POWER CHARGES — CPUC Actions to Calculate, Revise and Impose Bond Charges and Power Charges.”

To enable the CPUC to set and adjust Bond Charges and Power Charges, the Rate Agreement requires DWR to
periodically determine and submit cost information and projections to the CPUC and to provide reports to the CPUC
concerning fund balances under the Indenture. See “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND
POWER CHARGES — DWR Actions to Establish Revenue Requirements.” The Rate Agreement specifies information that
DWR will include with its Retail Revenue Requirements.

Subject to certain conditions in the Rate Agreement, if DWR projects that within the next 120 days there will be
insufficient amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account to make timely payment of Bond Related Costs, the
Rate Agreement requires DWR to submit to the CPUC a request that the CPUC increase Bond Charges, and the CPUC is
required to calculate and impose revised Bond Charges to pay such Bond Related Costs no later than 120 days from the date
following DWR’s request. The Rate Agreement further provides that, even if DWR does not submit such a request, the
CPUC is bound by its covenant to calculate, revise and impose Bond Charges, as described above.

A decision approving the Rate Agreement was approved by the CPUC on February 21, 2002, and the Rate
Agreement was executed by the CPUC and DWR as of March 8, 2002. The decision approving the Rate Agreement is final
and unappealable under California law. A copy of the Rate Agreement is attached as Appendix D to this Official Statement.

Under the Indenture, DWR may not issue Bonds unless DWR and the CPUC have entered into a rate agreement
with respect to such Bonds. The Series 2010L Bonds and all other Bonds currently Outstanding are entitled to the benefits of
the Rate Agreement attached as Appendix D.

Counsel to the CPUC and Bond Counsel will each deliver an opinion, in connection with the issuance of the Series
2010L Bonds, concerning the Rate Agreement, among other matters. See APPENDIX F — “PROPOSED FORM OF
OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL,” for a copy of the form of proposed opinion of Bond Counsel. Such opinions represent
expressions of professional judgment and not guarantees of result.

Substantive Considerations in Establishing Revenue Requirements

DWR’s revenue requirements generally consist of Bond Related Costs and Department Costs, which are to be
satisfied primarily by Bond Charge Revenues and Power Charge Revenues, respectively.
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Bond Related Costs and Bond Charge Revenues

Bond Related Costs include (a) debt service on the Bonds, (b) payments required to be made: (i) under agreements
with issuers of credit and liquidity facilities, including letters of credit, bond insurance, guarantees, debt service reserve fund
surety bonds, lines of credit, reimbursement agreements, and standby bond purchase agreements, (ii) under agreements
relating to other financial instruments entered into in connection with the Bonds, including but not limited to investment
agreements, hedges, interest rate swaps, caps, options and forward purchase agreements, and (iii) under agreements relating
to the remarketing of Bonds, including but not limited to remarketing agreements, dealer agreements and auction agent
agreements, (c) deposits to the Debt Service Reserve Account, and (d) other costs as specified in the Rate Agreement,
attached as Appendix D. Bond Charge Revenues include (y) revenues from Bond Charges (including a Bond Charge
component of Cost Responsibility Surcharge revenues from certain direct access, departing load and Community Choice
Aggregation customers, as described in “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Direct Access, Departing Load and
Community Choice Aggregation”) and (z) interest earned on Bond Charge Account balances.

Department Costs and Power Charge Revenues

Department Costs generally include (1) costs associated with power supply (including natural gas supply) to be
delivered under DWR’s power contracts, including Priority Long-Term Power Contracts; (2) gas collateral and/or hedging
costs; (3) administrative and general expenses; and (4) amounts required to maintain necessary Power Charge Account
balances, including any amounts required to maintain operating reserves as determined by DWR (see “SECURITY FOR
THE BONDS — Operating Account” and “— Operating Reserve Account”). Revenues to be used to pay Department Costs
include all Revenues other than Bond Charge Revenues and payments to DWR under Qualified Swaps relating to Bonds.
Such Revenues to be used to pay Department Costs include (a) Revenues from Power Charges (including Power Charge
Revenues and Cost Responsibility Surcharge revenues from certain direct access and departing load customers, as described
in “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM — Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation™); (b)
revenues from other power sales; and (c) investment earnings on Power Charge Accounts.

DWR Projections

In order to project Bond Related Costs for the applicable revenue requirement period, DWR determines the
aggregate amount of scheduled Bond principal and interest on fixed-rate Bonds becoming due during such period (generally
the calendar year), makes assumptions regarding variable interest rates (subject to certain minimum assumptions required by
the Indenture) and other Bond Related Costs and determines the amounts required to be available to be transferred to the
Bond Charge Payment Account at the times required by, and otherwise in accordance with, the Indenture. See APPENDIX C
— “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE.”

In order to project Bond Charge Revenues, Department Costs, Power Charge Revenues and other Revenues, and in
order to assist the CPUC and the IOUs in determining the appropriate charges to produce such revenues, DWR makes
projections regarding IOU retail customer load, direct access, departing load, power supply, surplus energy sales, natural gas
prices, administrative and general expenses and other factors affecting DWR’s revenues and expenses.

The following is a description of certain of the principal considerations taken into account by DWR in determining
its revenue requirements. While the considerations described below are generally representative of DWR’s current practices
in calculating its revenue requirements, this description does not purport to be exhaustive. DWR currently engages
consultants to assist in the development and monitoring of DWR’s revenue requirements.

Bond Charge Collection Account and Bond Charge Payment Account

Under the Indenture, DWR is required to include in its revenue requirements amounts estimated to be sufficient to
cause the amount on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account, on the first Business Day of each month, to be at least
equal to the amounts projected to be required to be paid out of the Bond Charge Payment Account that month. All Bond
Charge Revenues are to be deposited in the Bond Charge Collection Account. Subject to the prior claim on revenues in the
Bond Charge Collection Account for the payment of Priority Contract Costs, on or before the last Business Day of each
month, DWR is required to transfer from the Bond Charge Collection Account to the Bond Charge Payment Account such
amount as is necessary to make the amount in the Bond Charge Payment Account sufficient to pay all Bond Related Costs
estimated to accrue or be due and payable during the next succeeding three calendar months. Interest accruing on unhedged
Variable Rate Bonds during any future period is required by the Indenture to be, and currently is, assumed to accrue at a rate
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equal to the greater of (a) 130 percent of the highest average interest rate on such Variable Rate Bonds in any calendar month
during the twelve (12) calendar months ending with the month preceding the date of calculation, or such shorter period that
such Variable Rate Bonds shall have been outstanding, or (b) 4.0 percent.

Debt Service Reserve Account

In determining its revenue requirements, DWR includes any amounts necessary to maintain in the Debt Service
Reserve Account an amount equal to the “Debt Service Reserve Requirement.” The Debt Service Reserve Requirement is an
amount equal to maximum aggregate annual debt service on all outstanding Bonds, determined in accordance with the
Indenture. For purposes of calculating the amount of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement from time to time, interest
accruing on unhedged Variable Rate Bonds during any future period is assumed to accrue at a rate equal to the greater of (a)
130 percent of the highest average interest rate on such Variable Rate Bonds in any calendar month during the twelve (12)
calendar months ending with the month preceding the date of calculation, or such shorter period that such Variable Rate
Bonds shall have been outstanding, or (b) 4.0 percent.

Retail Load Projections

DWR “shapes” the annual load forecasts provided by each IOU by using hourly load factor estimates that were
developed by DWR in conjunction with, and reviewed by, each IOU to account for hourly variations in retail customer
demand. These hourly estimates are needed in order for DWR to match hourly loads with DWR and IOU resource
availability in the production simulation analyses that are performed to estimate DWR contract dispatch and cost in
determining revenue requirements, as described in more detail below.

Direct Access and Departing Load Projections

DWR generally bases its estimates of direct access and departing load within each IOU’s service area on the
applicable IOU’s data and forecasts.

Power Supply Projections

The hourly load profile described above is utilized in DWR’s electric market simulation to derive hourly energy
dispatches required to serve retail customer load, including dispatches of power from DWR’s power contracts. DWR
projects hourly energy dispatches from its power purchase contracts, IOU generation, other IOU resources and other
generation resources required to serve IOU customer load. Estimates of IOU-supplied resources are generally based on IOU
forecasts of utility owned generation, qualifying facility contract generation, and bilateral contract generation. DWR
regularly updates its projections concerning qualifying facility contract terms and expiration dates, outage schedules, and net
dependable resource capacity, among others, to reflect current details related to each IOU’s resource portfolio. To project
IOU hydroelectric resources, normal hydrologic conditions are generally projected for both California and the Pacific
Northwest where meaningful hydrologic forecasts are not available.

Estimates of the amount of energy from DWR’s power purchase contracts to be delivered to IOU retail customers
and the amount available to surplus energy buyers are determined using a market simulation model which produces a
projection of contract-specific, hourly energy dispatches to meet the projected energy requirements of each I0U’s retail
customers and other wholesale market participants. The terms and conditions incorporated in DWR’s market simulation
include, among other details, must-take energy volumes and dispatchable contract capacities, contract heat rates and unit
outage rates as well as scheduling limitations. In order to be consistent with CPUC orders governing administration,
operation and dispatch of DWR’s contracts by the IOUs, energy dispatches from DWR’s dispatchable long-term power
contracts are assumed to be based on the objective of achieving the lowest possible total cost of power to IOU customers. In
general, each incremental generating unit is dispatched only if the incremental cost of generating an additional MWh from
that unit is less than projected market clearing prices for replacement power for that hour. Natural gas costs represent a
significant component of DWR’s total power supply costs under certain contracts and are discussed below. A listing of all of
DWR’s power purchase contracts and certain of their characteristics, including whether DWR bears the risk of market
changes in natural gas prices, appears under “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase Contracts.” For
a description of the MRTU, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Collection of Revenues — Market Redesign
and Technology Upgrade.”
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Surplus Energy Sales Projections

As with any retail providers of energy, due to contract obligations and daily and monthly variations in the IOUs’
retail customer loads, DWR and the IOUs together, from time to time, purchase more energy than is needed to serve their
retail customers. In 2002, the CPUC issued a decision allocating each of the thirty-two DWR power purchase contracts in
effect in 2002 to a specific IOU, and determining (with DWR’s consent) that income from the forward market sale of DWR
and IOU excess energy would be shared on a pro-rata basis between DWR and the IOUs

In 2009, after consideration of the April 1, 2009 implementation of the MRTU, DWR and the IOUs jointly
submitted the MOU to the CPUC that clarified the process that the IOUs will use to remit Power Charges to DWR. This
clarification became necessary due to changes in the manner in which energy is scheduled and settled in the MRTU market.
For a description of the MRTU and the MOU, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Collection of Revenues —
Market Redesign and Technology Upgrade.”

With respect to surplus sales, the IOUs and DWR focused on simplifying the remittance processes where possible.
Specifically, the IOUs and DWR have agreed in the MOU to eliminate the sharing of surplus sales. Revenues from pro rata
sharing of surplus sales are no longer used to offset DWR’s revenue requirement, but rather DWR will receive Power Charge
remittances on substantially all energy dispatched in the CAISO Day-Ahead Market from DWR contracts in each 10U
service area. Customers will remit Power Charges in amounts that will enable the recovery of ongoing operating costs of
DWR’s power supply program.

To the extent that the actual quantity of energy dispatched is significantly different than as projected in the Revenue
Requirement, the amount of Power Charges remitted to DWR would be impacted. See “RISK FACTORS — Certain Risks
Associated with the Power Supply Program — Failure of Assumptions in Calculating Revenue Requirements.”

Natural Gas Price and Cost Projections

Power costs under many of DWR’s power purchase contracts is dependent on the price of natural gas. DWR utilizes
a combination of near-term forward gas price indices and a natural gas forecast prepared by Navigant Consulting Inc.
(“NCTI”). The forecast for the 2010 Revised Revenue Requirement was prepared based upon the GPCM natural gas forecast
model and yields long term monthly gas prices assumptions underlying the gas forecast. The forecast includes all significant
supply and demand factors affecting the North American natural gas market such as the timing of major gas pipeline capacity
changes, resource base additions and subtractions, gas demand, the price of crude oil, the timing and magnitude of certain
liquefied natural gas capacities, imports and exports.

NCI compares the initial model results with the NYMEX forward price at Henry Hub and may adjust the forecasted
prices so that they are generally in line with short-term market conditions as reflected on the NYMEX. DWR gas price
modeling is performed twice annually or more often as required to reflect revised market conditions and assumptions.

In estimating natural gas costs for its revenue requirements and the potential variability in such costs during any
given revenue requirement period, DWR also takes into account then existing or expected hedging of the price risk associated
with projected gas purchases. The IOUs (as the entities with operational responsibility for DWR’s power purchase contracts)
have the responsibility to arrange hedges on behalf of DWR. DWR has entered into both financial hedges and physical
hedges for the 2010 revenue requirement period. Financial hedges include a mix of options and fixed-price instruments.
Physical hedges consist of fixed price gas purchase contracts. These hedges do not impact the gas price forecast provided by
NCI, but they do impact the estimation of total DWR contract fuel costs since costs for the volumes associated with the
hedges are estimated by applying the effective hedged price to the corresponding hedged volumes. The cost of unhedged fuel
requirements is estimated by applying the NCI gas price forecast to the corresponding unhedged volumes.

Administrative Cost Projections

DWR’s general and administrative cost projections include estimates for consulting services for development and
monitoring of the revenue requirements, litigation support, and financial advisory services.
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Certain of DWR’s general and administrative costs are subject to State budget appropriations, although they are paid
by DWR and are part of the Retail Revenue Requirements. These costs include labor and benefits, professional services
costs and pro rata charges for services provided to the Power Supply Program by other State agencies. Costs subject to
budget appropriations are subject to the State budget process, which can involve delays.

Extraordinary Considerations

DWR takes into account settlement amounts and other benefits under settlement agreements with various litigants
either only when received or when placed into escrow with only ministerial conditions to be met prior to receipt by DWR.
See “LITIGATION AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS.”

Operating Account Balances

The Indenture requires DWR to include in its revenue requirements amounts estimated to be sufficient to cause the
amount on deposit in the Operating Account at all times during any calendar month to equal the Minimum Operating
Expense Available Balance. The Minimum Operating Expense Available Balance is determined by DWR at the time of each
revenue requirement determination and is to be an amount equal to the largest projected difference between DWR’s projected
Operating Expenses and DWR’s projected Power Charge revenues during any one month period during the revenue
requirement period, taking into account a range of possible future outcomes. The Indenture covenant concerns the minimum
amount required to be projected to be on deposit, and leaves to DWR the determination as to what total reserves are
appropriate or required in the fulfillment of its duties under the Act. DWR has taken into account not only the Indenture-
required minimums, but also potential natural gas price volatility and escalation, year-over-year revenue requirement
volatility, and other factors. Each year, actual and projected year-end Power Charge Account balances, including the impact
of net operating results, are taken into account in the establishment of revenue requirements for the subsequent year.

DWR Actions to Establish Revenue Requirements
Overview of the Rate Agreement

To enable the CPUC to set Bond Charges and Power Charges, the Rate Agreement requires DWR to periodically
determine and submit to the CPUC the amount of DWR’s Retail Revenue Requirements and information concerning Bond
Related Costs. The Rate Agreement defines “Retail Revenue Requirements” as the amount of Department Costs that are to
be recovered from Power Charges imposed by the CPUC from time to time. “Department Costs” means all amounts that
DWR is entitled under the Act to recover (other than Bond Related Costs recovered from Bond Charges).

The Rate Agreement requires DWR, at least annually, and more frequently as deemed reasonably necessary or
appropriate by DWR or the CPUC, to review, determine and revise its Retail Revenue Requirements and promptly to notify
the CPUC following any determination or revision of DWR’s Retail Revenue Requirements. The Rate Agreement also
requires DWR to revise and communicate to the CPUC its Retail Revenue Requirements within 20 days of DWR projecting
that within 120 days: (i) there will be insufficient funds in the Priority Contract Account to pay Priority Contract Costs; or (ii)
there will be less than the Operating Reserve Account Requirement in the Operating Reserve Account; or (iii) shortfalls in
the Priority Contract Account, Operating Account and the Operating Reserve Account will require moneys in the Bond
Charge Collection Account to be used to pay Priority Contract Costs; or (iv) moneys in the Debt Service Reserve Account
will be used to pay Bond Related Costs. DWR is also required by the Rate Agreement to revise and communicate to the
CPUC within three business days its Retail Revenue Requirements in the event of a withdrawal from the Bond Charge
Collection Account to pay Department Costs or in the event of a withdrawal from the Operating Reserve Account or the Debt
Service Reserve Account such that the amount in either such account is less than the amount required by the Indenture or any
other financing document.

The Rate Agreement also requires DWR to provide monthly reports to the CPUC concerning DWR’s receipts and
costs in a form that permits comparison to Retail Revenue Requirement projections. The Rate Agreement permits the CPUC
to increase Power Charges to prevent any shortfall on an interim basis if it determines that existing Power Charges are not
sufficient to pay Department Costs (which for this purpose includes funding or replenishment of the Bond Charge Collection
Account, Bond Charge Payment Account or Debt Service Reserve Account at the levels and at the times required by the
Indenture or other financing documents) even if DWR does not provide a revised Retail Revenue Requirement to the CPUC
in a timely manner. The CPUC may also require DWR to submit revised Retail Revenue Requirements. If DWR has
complied with its obligations under the Rate Agreement, the CPUC is required to impose revised Bond Charges and Power
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Charges, as appropriate and necessary, no later than 120 days following the filing with the CPUC of DWR’s request that the
CPUC take such action.

DWR has covenanted in the Rate Agreement that, upon the request of the CPUC, DWR will participate in any
CPUC proceedings, including providing witnesses, attending public hearings and providing any other materials necessary to
facilitate the CPUC’s completion of its proceedings in connection with the establishment of Power Charges or Bond Charges
by the CPUC.

Just and Reasonable Requirement

DWR has agreed in the Rate Agreement that prior to including any cost in the Retail Revenue Requirements
communicated to the CPUC, DWR will conduct whatever procedures are required by law to determine that such cost is “just
and reasonable” within the meaning of Section 451 of the California Public Utilities Code. In a lawsuit filed by PG&E in
2001, protesting certain aspects of DWR’s determination of its 2002 revenue requirements, a California Court of Appeal
decided that while DWR is required by the Act to determine that its costs are just and reasonable, it is not required to treat
each revenue requirement as a regulation under the California Administrative Procedures Act, or otherwise follow any
specific Administrative Procedures Act process in determining its revenue requirements. Neither party appealed that
decision.

In June 2002, DWR adopted regulations establishing a procedure for public participation in the determination of its
revenue requirements and establishing a standard for determining that costs included in its revenue requirements are just and
reasonable. See Title 23, Division 2, Chapter 4, Sections 510-517 of the California Code of Regulations (the “Revenue
Requirement Regulations”). The Revenue Requirement Regulations require DWR to provide to interested parties an
opportunity to submit comments on each proposed determination made by DWR. Under the Revenue Requirement
Regulations, the time for comment by interested parties on a proposed revenue requirement determination and the bases
therefor will normally be at least 21 calendar days, but may be shorter in circumstances in which a shorter period is deemed
reasonably necessary by DWR, including those circumstances in which the Rate Agreement requires revised revenue
requirements to be communicated to the CPUC within a shorter period. If DWR adds significant additional material as the
basis for its determination of its revenue requirements, the Revenue Requirement Regulations require DWR to allow a
reasonable period of time for public comment on the additional material.

The Revenue Requirement Regulations state that to protect ratepayer interests, the record of the determination must
demonstrate by substantial evidence that the revenue requirement is just and reasonable, considering the circumstances
existing or projected to exist at the respective times of DWR’s decisions concerning whether to incur the costs comprising
such revenue requirement, and the factors which under the Act are relevant to such determination and such decisions,
including but not limited to the following express provisions of the Act:

e  The development and operation of the Power Supply Program as provided in the Act is in all respects for the
welfare and the benefit of the people of the State, to protect the public peace, health, and safety, and constitutes
an essential governmental purpose;

e DWR must do those things necessary and authorized under the Act to make power available directly or
indirectly to electric consumers in California (provided that except as otherwise stated, nothing in the Act
authorizes DWR to take ownership of the transmission, generation, or distribution assets of any electrical
corporation in the State of California);

e  Upon those terms, limitations, and conditions as it prescribes, DWR may contract with any person, local
publicly owned electric utility, or other entity for the purchase of power on such terms and for such periods as
DWR determines and at such prices DWR deems appropriate taking into account all of the factors listed in
section 80100 of the Act;

e  DWR may sell any power acquired by DWR pursuant to the Act to retail end use customers, and to local
publicly owned electric utilities, at not more that DWR’s acquisition costs, including transmission, scheduling,
and other related costs, plus other costs as provided in section 80200 of the Act;
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e  DWR must, at least annually, and more frequently as required, establish and revise revenue requirements
sufficient, together with any moneys on deposit in the Electric Power Fund, to provide for all of the costs listed
in section 80134(a) of the Act (including but not limited to the amounts necessary to pay debt service on bonds
(including the Bonds), the amounts necessary to pay for power purchased by DWR, reserves in such amount as
may be determined by DWR to be necessary or desirable and DWR’s administrative costs); and

e  Obligations of DWR authorized by the Act shall be payable solely from the Electric Power Fund.

In a lawsuit filed by PG&E in 2002, protesting DWR’s determination of its 2003 revenue requirements, the Superior
Court determined that although DWR was not required by statute to adopt regulations concerning the revenue requirement
process, having adopted such regulations, DWR is required to follow them. In that case, the court decided that DWR had not
allowed adequate time for review and comment on significant additional material added by DWR to the record of the
proceedings. Neither party appealed that decision. DWR reopened its revenue requirement proceedings in order to allow
additional time for review and comment by interested parties.

Actions taken by DWR under the Revenue Requirement Regulations are subject to judicial review in State court.
Any such court proceedings could delay consideration of DWR’s revenue requirements or result in a judicial determination
that less than all of DWR’s costs are just and reasonable. See “RISK FACTORS — Determination of Power Charges and
Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

Proceedings under Revenue Requirement Regulations

DWR has followed the procedures set forth in the Revenue Requirements Regulations with respect to each of its
revenue requirement determinations since the redetermination of its 2003 revenue requirements as described above, and has
determined that each such revenue requirement was just and reasonable. The 2010 Revised Revenue Requirement
determination is available on DWR’s website or upon request to DWR.

DWR determined that its 2010 revenue requirements are just and reasonable because they comport with DWR’s
statutory responsibilities, accurately reflect lawfully incurred costs, do not over-collect, and contain costs that are reasonable
given the circumstances under which they were incurred. DWR believes, for those and other reasons, that DWR would
prevail in legal proceedings, if any, that may be brought to force a judicial review of DWR’s determination. DWR also
believes that with the availability of the substantial reserves described under “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS,” the pendency
of any such proceedings will not disrupt the cash flow for the Power Supply Program to an extent that would prevent DWR
from paying scheduled debt service on the Bonds. However, if such proceedings resulted in the recovery by DWR of less
than all of DWR’s actual costs, the ability of DWR to pay debt service on the Bonds could be adversely affected. See “RISK
FACTORS — Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection
Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

Consultant to DWR

Navigant Consulting, Inc. (“NCI”) provides consulting services to DWR to assist it in operating the Power Supply
Program. These services include, but are not limited to, evaluation of the net short electric requirements provided to DWR
by the IOUs, support in the evaluation and negotiation of power purchase contracts, compilation and periodic updating of
power supply quantities and costs from contracted power supply sources, estimation of fuel supply costs and requirements for
contracted power supplies, estimation of future power purchase costs in the short-term market, evaluation of electric
transmission constraints and associated impact on power supply deliveries, review of actions by other power suppliers and
state governmental agencies for effect on the availability and cost of power supplies to meet the customers’ net short electric
requirements, support in the development of future DWR revenue requirements, revisions to current revenue requirement
determinations and support to DWR in filings with the CPUC on revenue recovery and related issues. It is anticipated that
NCI will continue to provide services to DWR related to the Power Supply Program subsequent to the issuance of the Series
2010L Bonds. In addition, NCI provided the Consultant’s Report for the Series 2002 Bonds. This Official Statement does
not include or constitute an update to the Consultant’s Report provided for the Series 2002 Bonds.
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CPUC Actions to Calculate, Revise and Impose Bond Charges and Power Charges

The CPUC has authority under the Rate Agreement to set charges to recover DWR’s costs. The CPUC also has the
authority to establish the procedures that it will use to set electric charges, and to allocate charges among service areas and
electric customers.

Applications for rehearing of any CPUC order can be sought by interested parties. Under California law,
applications for rehearing of any CPUC order or decision construing, applying, or implementing the provisions of the Act
that (1) relates to the determination or implementation of DWR’s revenue requirements, or the establishment or
implementation of Bond Charges or Power Charges, or (2) in the sole determination of DWR, the expedited review of the
CPUC order or decision is necessary or desirable for the maintenance of any credit ratings on any Bonds or for DWR to meet
its obligations with respect to the Bonds, must be filed within 10 days after the date of mailing of the order or decision. The
CPUC is required to issue its decision and order on rehearing within 20 days after the filing of the application for rehearing.

A court challenge to a CPUC decision on rehearing subject to the expedited procedures described in the preceding
paragraph is made by filing a petition for writ of review with the California Supreme Court. The petition for writ of review is
time-barred unless it is filed within 30 days after the CPUC mails an order denying rehearing, or, if the CPUC grants
rehearing, within 30 days after the CPUC mails its decision on rehearing. The challenge is limited to issues specifically
raised in an application for rehearing. The Court may either summarily deny the petition for writ of review or it may grant
the petition, in which case there is oral argument and the Court issues a written opinion. California law provides that judicial
review can only result in a prospective effect on rates and charges, including Bond Charges.

The California Public Utilities Code provides that orders of the CPUC that have become final and unappealable are
conclusive in all collateral actions or proceedings. The California Public Utilities Code prohibits California courts from
seeking to review or change a final and unappealable CPUC order. The CPUC orders authorizing the Rate Agreement and
the Operating Arrangements and the CPUC orders adopted on March 15, 2007 related to the currently effective Servicing
Arrangements are final and unappealable.

Recent Revenue Requirements
General

DWR determines, and as appropriate revises, its revenue requirements for each calendar year (each a “revenue
requirement period”) consistent with the requirements of Section 80110 and 80134 of the California Water Code, the Rate
Agreement and Revenue Requirement Regulations and provides information consistent with the requirements of Section
80134 of the California Water Code, the Rate Agreement and such regulations at least annually, and more frequently as
deemed reasonably necessary or appropriate by DWR or the CPUC.

DWR may revise its determination of revenue requirements for a revenue requirement period prior to or during such
period due to significant or material changes in the California energy market including, but not limited to, changes in
forecasted fuel cost, DWR’s associated obligations and operations, and other events that materially affect the sufficiency of
amounts held, or projected to be held, in the Power Charge Accounts or the Bond Charge Accounts.

Each new revenue requirement determination builds, to the extent necessary or appropriate, on the various preceding
determinations. In all cases, the CPUC has imposed Bond Charges and Power Charges, as appropriate and necessary, no
later than 120 days following the filing with the CPUC of DWR’s request that the CPUC take such action.

A comparison of the aggregate revenue requirement projections and actual operations for calendar years 2004
through 2009 is shown in the following table. Revenues received by Power Charge Accounts exceeded projections by 10
percent primarily due to increased Power Charge Revenues from retail customers, by increased surplus sales related to
increased utilization of the contracts, settlement receipts and CAISO revenues associated with system reliability. Power costs
were 4 percent higher than projected primarily due to the effects of actual gas costs being higher than those forecasted in the
revenue requirements.
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Revenues to Bond Charge Accounts exceeded projections by five percent primarily due to higher than projected
interest earnings and bond charge receipts from direct access customers. Bond costs were two percent lower than projected
primarily due to the effect actual interest rates that were lower than those projected for the unhedged variable rate portion of
DWR’s bond portfolio.

Category Unit Projected Actual Variance Percentage
Power Revenues $millions $24,945 $27,552 $2,606 10%
Power Costs $millions $26,404 $27,344 $941 4%
Contract Dispatch GWh 312,618 318,154 5,535 2%
Bond Revenues $millions $5,420 $5,693 $272 5%
Bond Costs $millions $5,344 $5,229 ($115) 2%

2009 Revenue Requirements

In April 2008, DWR began the process for determining its 2009 revenue requirements consistent with the
requirements of Sections 80110 and 80134 of the California Water Code and the Revenue Requirement Regulations, and
provided information consistent with the requirements of the Rate Agreement.

Using information obtained from the I0Us coupled with DWR’s analytical and forecasting efforts on August 6,
2008 DWR issued its Determination of Revenue Requirements for the period of January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009
and notified the CPUC of DWR’s Revenue Requirements consistent with the Rate Agreement. The August 6, 2008
Determination was found by DWR to be just and reasonable based on an assessment of all comments, the administrative
record, the Act, the Revenue Requirement Regulations, Indenture requirements and the Rate Agreement.

Following its August 2008 Determination, DWR reviewed certain matters relating to that Determination, including,
but not limited to, operating results of the Fund through September 30, 2008 and an updated natural gas price forecast.

These revisions resulted in a total decrease in the Revised 2009 Determination of $480 million relative to the
August 2008 Determination. This decrease was comprised of two components: a $509 million decrease in DWR’s Power
Charge Revenue Requirement; and a $29 million increase in DWR’s Bond Charge Revenue Requirement.

The $509 million Power Charge Revenue Requirement decrease primarily resulted from the net effects of a decrease
in contract costs due to a decrease in the gas price forecast for 2009. The $29 million Bond Charge Revenue Requirement
increase primarily resulted from the net effects of an increase in the projections of interest rates for the unhedged variable rate
portion of DWR’s bond portfolio.

The Revised 2009 Determination was found by DWR to be just and reasonable based on an assessment of all
comments, the administrative record, the Act, the Revenue Requirement Regulations, Indenture requirements and the Rate
Agreement. On December 4, 2008, the CPUC approved Decision 08-12-006, its order allocating to the customers in the
service areas of the three IOUs the revised 2009 Revenue Requirement determination of DWR.

2010 Revenue Requirements

In April 2009, DWR began the process for determining its 2010 revenue requirements consistent with the
requirements of Sections 80110 and 80134 of the California Water Code and the Revenue Requirement Regulations, and
provided information consistent with the requirements of the Rate Agreement.

Using information obtained from the I0Us coupled with DWR’s analytical and forecasting efforts on August 6,
2009 DWR issued its Determination of Revenue Requirements for the period of January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2010
and notified the CPUC of DWR’s Revenue Requirements consistent with the Rate Agreement. The August 6, 2009
Determination was found by DWR to be just and reasonable based on an assessment of all comments, the administrative
record, the Act, the Revenue Requirement Regulations, Indenture requirements and the Rate Agreement.
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Following its August 2009 Determination, DWR reviewed certain matters relating to that Determination, including,
but not limited to, operating results of the Fund through September 30, 2009 and an updated natural gas price forecast.

These revisions resulted in a total decrease in the Revised 2010 Determination of $162 million relative to the
August 6, 2009 Determination. This decrease is comprised of two components: a $122 million decrease in DWR’s Power
Charge Revenue Requirement; and a $40 million decrease in DWR’s Bond Charge Revenue Requirement.

The $122 million Power Charge Revenue Requirement decrease primarily results from the net effects of a decrease
in contract costs due to a decrease in the gas price forecast for the remainder of 2009 and 2010. The $40 million Bond
Charge Revenue Requirement decrease primarily results from the net effects of a decrease in the projections of interest rates
for the unhedged variable rate portion of DWR’s bond portfolio and the result of higher than previously projected beginning
balances in the Bond Charge Accounts.

The Revised 2010 Determination was found by DWR to be just and reasonable based on an assessment of all
comments, the administrative record, the Act, the Revenue Requirement Regulations, Indenture requirements and the Rate
Agreement. On December 3, 2009, the CPUC approved Decision 09-12-005, its order allocating to the customers in the
service areas of the three IOUs the revised 2010 Revenue Requirement determination of DWR.

LITIGATION AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS

No litigation is pending or threatened against DWR, nor is DWR a party in any administrative proceeding pending
before any administrative body, nor is any administrative proceeding pending before DWR, which (i) seeks to restrain or
enjoin the sale or delivery of the Series 2010L Bonds or the performance by DWR of the purchase contract for the Series
2010L Bonds, (ii) challenges the constitutionality, validity or enforceability of the Indenture, the pledge of the Trust Estate,
the Rate Agreement or any other document or approval necessary to the issuance of the Series 2010L Bonds, (iii) challenges
the existence, organization or powers of DWR to adopt, execute and deliver the Indenture or the Rate Agreement or perform
DWR’s obligations under the Indenture or under the Rate Agreement, or (iv) challenges the constitutionality or validity of the
Act or the powers of DWR thereunder.

Certain pending legal and administrative proceedings involving DWR or affecting DWR’s Power Supply Program
are summarized below. See also “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase Contracts — Dispute with
Power Supplier” and “— Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax Assessment,” “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND
CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES” and “RISK FACTORS - Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges;
Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs.”

California Refund Proceedings

During 2001 and 2002, DWR purchased power in bilateral transactions (both short term and long term), sold power
to the CAISO, paid for power purchased by the CAISO and purchased power from the CAISO for sale to customers of the
IOUs. In July 2001, FERC initiated an administrative proceeding to calculate refunds for inflated prices in the CAISO and
California Power Exchange (“PX”) markets during 2000 and 2001. FERC ruled that DWR would not be entitled in that
proceeding to approximately $3.5 billion in refunds associated with DWR’s approximately $5 billion of short term purchases
because DWR made those purchases bilaterally, not in the PX or CAISO markets. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals
affirmed FERC, but left open the possibility of refunds on DWR’s bilateral purchases in other FERC proceedings. In
contrast, FERC ruled that DWR is entitled to refunds on purchases made by the CAISO where DWR actually paid the bill.

Of DWR’s $5 billion in short term bilateral purchases, $2.9 billion was imbalance energy which DWR sold to the
CAISO at DWR’s cost in order to meet the CAISO’s emergency needs during 2001. DWR is treated in the FERC refund
proceeding as a seller of that energy to CAISO, and in May 2004, FERC issued an order requiring DWR to pay refunds on
the sales to the CAISO. However, because DWR would likely be the primary recipient of any refunds on energy it sold to
the CAISO, DWR’s potential net liability associated with its sales to the CAISO would be substantially reduced. Settlements
executed to date with various sellers have reduced that potential liability even further.

Under FERC’s orders, therefore, DWR both owes refunds (on the energy it sold to the CAISO) and is entitled to

refunds (on the energy that the CAISO purchased but DWR paid for); the effect of offsetting the two is likely to be that DWR
would receive refunds.
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As to refunds owed, FERC has ruled that to the extent DWR could demonstrate that payment of refunds would
result in DWR’s costs exceeding its revenues remaining after payment of refunds, DWR could request FERC to reduce the
refunds. DWR made a cost recovery filing that DWR believes demonstrates that its costs related to sales to the CAISO
exceeded its revenues, a demonstration that, if approved by FERC, would eliminate any refund amount DWR might
otherwise be required to pay. In January 2006, FERC deferred action on DWR’s cost filing on the basis that DWR, as
described above, likely will be a net refund recipient, and net refund recipients, according to FERC, cannot make cost filings.
Certain California parties have sought rehearing of that order.

In addition, in September 2005, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals ruled that FERC could not require governmental
entities such as DWR to pay refunds.

Accordingly, DWR likely will be a net refund recipient in the FERC proceedings. Pending litigation could increase
or decrease the level of the refunds DWR would be entitled to receive. DWR does not expect that FERC will order it to pay
more in refunds than it receives on a marketwide basis.

RISK FACTORS

This section of the Official Statement describes certain risk factors that may affect the payment of and security for
the Bonds. Potential investors should consider, among other matters, these risk factors in connection with any purchase of
the Series 2010L Bonds. The following discussion is not meant to present an exhaustive list of the risks associated with the
purchase of any Series 2010L Bonds (and other considerations that may be relevant to particular investors) and does not
necessarily reflect the relative importance of the various risks. Potential investors are advised to consider the following
factors, along with all other information contained or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement, in evaluating
whether to purchase the Series 2010L Bonds.

Certain Risks Associated With DWR’s Power Supply Program

DWR’s purchases and sales of electricity will likely end under the Power Supply Program before the Bonds are
retired. See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Power Purchase Contracts.” Bond Charges are to be the primary
source of money to pay debt service on the Bonds, and must be imposed by the CPUC whether or not DWR continues to
purchase or sell electricity under the Power Supply Program. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Rate Covenants.”
Certain risks associated with the Power Supply Program are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Failure of Assumptions in Calculating Revenue Requirements

As explained above under “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER
CHARGES - Substantive Considerations in Establishing Revenue Requirements” DWR makes a number of assumptions in
determining its revenue requirements from time to time. A failure of any such assumptions could result in the insufficiency
of Bond Charges to pay Bond Related Costs when due or the insufficiency of Power Charges to pay Department Costs,
including Priority Contract Costs, when due. In particular, the failure of assumptions regarding natural gas costs (and a
resulting failure of assumptions regarding power purchase costs, which are in part dependent on natural gas costs), coupled
with a failure to adjust Power Charges quickly enough, could lead to such a cash flow insufficiency. In the event of such an
insufficiency and the depletion of the Operating Account and the Operating Reserve Account, the payment of debt service on
the Bonds when due may be dependent on the ability of DWR to obtain increases in Bond Charges or Power Charges, the
adequacy of minimum balances in the Bond Charge Collection Account, the Bond Charge Payment Account and the Debt
Service Reserve Account, or both. For a discussion of minimum balances in funds and accounts, see “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS.” For a discussion of the process to obtain revised Bond Charges and Power Charges, see “CALCULATION AND
IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES.”

Priority Long-Term Power Contracts

As explained below under “Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the
Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs,” the use of amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account
(including Bond Charge Revenues) for the payment of debt service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs when due is
subject to the possible prior use of such amounts to pay amounts due under DWR’s Priority Long-Term Power Contracts
(including any termination payments which may be payable by DWR). So long as DWR continues to bear financial
responsibility for the Priority Long-Term Contracts, the Power Supply Program remains subject to this risk. If amounts in

59



the Bond Charge Collection Account are used to pay Priority Contract Costs, the payment of debt service on the Bonds when
due may be dependent on the ability of DWR to obtain increases in Bond Charges or Power Charges, the adequacy of
minimum balances in the Bond Charge Collection Account, Bond Charge Payment Account and the Debt Service Reserve
Account, or both. To date, no amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account have been needed or used to pay
Priority Contract Costs. For a discussion of minimum balances in funds and accounts, see “SECURITY FOR THE
BONDS.” For a discussion of the process to obtain revised Bond Charges and Power Charges, see “CALCULATION AND
IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES.”

Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts
in the Bond Charge Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs

Legal Challenges to Revenue Requirement Determinations

DWR’s Bond Related Costs (including debt service on the Bonds) are payable primarily from Bond Charges, while
DWR’s Power Supply Program operating expenses (including Priority Contract Costs) are payable primarily from Power
Charges. Bond Charges and Power Charges are established through an administrative process and, as part of that process, are
subject to administrative and legal challenges by third parties. DWR believes that the possibility is remote that DWR would
be prevented, as a result of any such challenges and the other circumstances described below, from paying debt service on the
Bonds and other Bond Related Costs when due. There can be no guarantee, however, that such circumstances would not
materially and adversely affect the ability of DWR to pay debt service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs when due.

In prior DWR revenue requirement proceedings, certain of the IOUs and other parties have asserted, among other
things, that DWR’s administrative revenue requirement process did not comply with the requirements of the Revenue
Requirement Regulations, that DWR did not provide adequate support and justification for its determinations that its revenue
requirements are “just and reasonable,” and that certain of DWR’s costs included in its revenue requirements are not “just
and reasonable.” In the future, the IOUs or other parties could again challenge DWR’s revenue requirements and its “just
and reasonable” determinations.

DWR’s Priority Long-Term Power Contracts require that payments by DWR under those contracts (including any
termination payments that may be payable by DWR) are payable prior to payment of debt service on the Bonds. See
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Priority Long-Term Power Contracts.” Accordingly, in the Indenture, DWR’s pledge and
assignment of its revenues from Bond Charges (and other funds available in the Bond Charge Collection Account) are subject
to possible prior use for payment of Priority Contract Costs, as explained under “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.” The use
of amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account to pay Priority Contract Costs could occur, particularly if
judicial review of DWR’s determination of its revenue requirements were to result in DWR being prevented from including
in its Retail Revenue Requirement all of its actual power costs or other Operating Expenses because any such costs or
expenses were held not to be “just and reasonable.” See “CALCULATION AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES
AND POWER CHARGES — DWR Actions to Establish Revenue Requirements.”

In the event that Power Charges imposed by the CPUC based on DWR’s Retail Revenue Requirements and other
amounts on deposit in the Operating Account are not sufficient to recover all of DWR’s Priority Contract Costs, the Indenture
requires that amounts be transferred from the Operating Reserve Account to pay Priority Contract Costs. See “SECURITY
FOR THE BONDS — Operating Account” and “— Operating Reserve Account.”

If a court were to determine that any of DWR’s Priority Contract Costs were not “just and reasonable,” DWR were
prevented from including such Priority Contract Costs in its Retail Revenue Requirements and DWR were nevertheless
obligated to pay such Priority Contract Costs, amounts in the Operating Account and Operating Reserve Account may be
insufficient to pay such Priority Contract Costs and, as a result, the Indenture would require amounts to be transferred from
the Bond Charge Collection Account to pay such Priority Contract Costs. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts
and Flow of Funds under the Indenture.”

Application and Enforcement of CPUC’s Bond Charge Rate Covenant
Under the Rate Agreement, the CPUC has covenanted to calculate, revise and impose from time to time, Bond
Charges sufficient to provide moneys so that amounts available for deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account under the

Indenture from time to time, together with amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account, are at all times
sufficient to pay or provide for the payment of debt service on the Bonds and all other Bond Related Costs when due in
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accordance with the Indenture and other financing documents (the “CPUC’s Bond Charge Rate Covenant”). The Rate
Agreement provides that this covenant shall have the force and effect of a “financing order” under the California Public
Utilities Code and shall be irrevocable and enforceable in accordance with its terms, including, without limitation, in
circumstances in which DWR has breached its obligations under the Rate Agreement or in respect of the Financing
Documents. The CPUC decision approving the Rate Agreement is final and unappealable under California law. Under the
California Public Utilities Code, a “financing order” is binding upon the CPUC as it may be constituted from time to time,
and the CPUC shall have no authority to rescind, alter or amend its obligations thereunder. Under the Act, the rights, powers
and duties of the CPUC may not be diminished or impaired in a manner that would adversely affect the interests or rights of
Bondholders. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Bond Related Costs” and “Rate Covenants” and “CALCULATION
AND IMPOSITION OF BOND CHARGES AND POWER CHARGES — Rate Agreement.”

Under the Indenture, DWR is obligated to “take such actions as shall be necessary and available to enforce all of the
obligations required to be performed under [the] Rate Agreement by the [CPUC].” The Indenture further provides that DWR
“shall commence such proceedings and take such other actions as may be necessary to assure compliance by the [CPUC]
with the [CPUC’s Bond Charge Rate Covenant] in the event that Bond Charge Revenues are applied to the payment of
Priority Contract Costs for any reason.” See APPENDIX C- “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE
INDENTURE — Protection of Security.”

However, any case involving interpretation or enforcement of the Rate Agreement would be the first case
considering certain of the relevant legal questions under California law. Despite the terms of the Rate Agreement, it is
possible that a court might, if asked to order the CPUC to comply with the CPUC’s Bond Charge Rate Covenant, decline to
give effect to the Rate Agreement in accordance with its literal terms if the effect of so doing would permit the recovery by
DWR of power or bond costs that had been determined previously (in a legal challenge against DWR) not to be “just and
reasonable.” Any such court action could adversely affect the amount of revenues, including Bond Charge Revenues,
available for the payment of the Bonds.

Transfer of amounts from the Bond Charge Collection Account to pay Priority Contract Costs could, in the absence
of a sufficient increase in Bond Charges, result in a shortage of funds available in the Bond Charge Collection Account for
transfer to the Bond Charge Payment Account for payment of debt service on the Bonds. Pursuant to the Indenture, if such a
shortage occurred, any amounts available in the Debt Service Reserve Account would be used to pay debt service on the
Bonds. There can be no assurance that the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Account would be sufficient in all such
events to pay debt service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Debt Service
Reserve Account.”

DWR’s Assessment of these Risks

DWR believes, in light of (i) its determination that the costs included in its various revenue requirements are “just
and reasonable,” (ii) the provisions of the Act to the effect that DWR is entitled to recover, as a revenue requirement,
amounts and at the times necessary to enable it to pay the costs listed in the Act, including debt service on bonds, power
purchase costs, reserves determined by DWR to be appropriate and DWR administrative costs, (iii) the provisions of the
Revenue Requirement Regulations incorporating those provisions of the Act into the factors to be considered in determining
whether DWR’s revenue requirements are just and reasonable, (iv) the operating reserves established under the Indenture, (v)
the CPUC’s Bond Charge Rate Covenant, and (vi) the debt service reserves established under the Indenture, that the
possibility is remote that DWR would be prevented, as a result of the circumstances described above, from paying debt
service on the Bonds and other Bond Related Costs when due. There can be no guarantee, however, that a court action as
described above would not materially and adversely affect the ability of DWR to pay debt service on the Bonds and other
Bond Related Costs when due.

Collection of Bond Charges and Power Charges

DWR does not have the personnel, equipment or customer information necessary to bill and collect Bond Charges
and Power Charges from customers or to transmit and distribute power to customers as described under “THE DWR POWER
SUPPLY PROGRAM - Collection of Revenues — Summary of Servicing Arrangements” and is dependent upon the IOUs to
provide such services pursuant to the Servicing Arrangements. DWR believes there are no alternate servicers currently
available, that alternate servicers may not be available in the future, and that it may not be feasible for any such servicers to
perform effectively the services provided by the IOUs pursuant to the Servicing Arrangements. Moreover, even if an
acceptable alternate servicer were identified, the transfer of responsibilities under a Servicing Arrangement also would
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require regulatory approval from the CPUC, which might not be granted or which could result in additional delay.
Accordingly, if one or more IOUs fails to perform or is excused by a court from performing under the Servicing
Arrangements, DWR could experience a substantial delay in obtaining, or be unable to obtain, replacement services from an
alternate source. A bankruptcy of an IOU could also lead to termination of its Servicing Agreement (see “Bankruptcy Risks
— Potential Rejection of Servicing Agreements or Other Disruption of Servicing Arrangements” below). Any such problems
could adversely affect the cash flow for the Power Supply Program and, ultimately, the ability of DWR to pay debt service on
the Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS — Accounts and Flow of Funds under the Indenture” for information
concerning reserve accounts established and required to be maintained under the Indenture to mitigate the impact of any cash
flow shortfalls.

Bankruptcy Risks
Effect of IOU Bankruptcy on Remittance to DWR of Revenues From Bond Charges and Power Charges

DWR believes that all revenues from Bond Charges and Power Charges are the property of DWR and held in trust
for DWR by the IOUs for purposes of California law and federal bankruptcy law. The Rate Agreement and the Act provide
that Bond Charges and Power Charges are the property of DWR for all purposes under California law. The CPUC order
authorizing the Rate Agreement is final and unappealable under California law.

It is possible that a bankrupt IOU could claim that the revenues collected by it for Bond Charges and Power Charges
are property of its bankruptcy estate and are not held in trust for the benefit of DWR and could refuse to remit such revenues
to DWR. PG&E, which emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in 2003, did not make such a claim in its
bankruptcy proceeding. Nonetheless, an IOU could assert an equitable and legal interest in the Power Charges and the Bond
Charges and DWR can give no assurance as to whether or how long DWR or its creditors would be prevented from
exercising their rights under relevant documents until the validity of such assertions are finally determined. DWR could be
subject to a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction or other interim relief affording delay pending a
determination of the merits of an IOU’s assertion. DWR revenues that are in possession of the IOU at the time of
commencement of a bankruptcy case that have been commingled with property of the IOU could be treated as part of the
10U’s bankruptcy estate. Finally, if revenues from Bond Charges and Power Charges were ultimately to be determined by a
bankruptcy court to be property of an IOU’s bankruptcy estate and not held in trust on behalf of DWR, DWR’s efforts to
collect such revenues might result in costly and time-consuming litigation.

Potential Rejection of or Other Disruption of Servicing Arrangements

As explained above under “Collection of Bond Charges and Power Charges,” DWR’s ability to collect Bond
Charges and Power Charges is dependent on the IOUs acting in their capacities as servicers under the Servicing
Arrangements. In the event of bankruptcy proceedings with respect to an IOU, the bankrupt IOU could move to reject its
Servicing Agreement pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code. This rejection would require the approval of the bankruptcy court,
and DWR and the CPUC could raise objections to such rejection. A successful rejection of the IOU’s Servicing Agreement
could result in DWR and the CPUC being unable to require the IOU to continue to collect and remit Bond Charges and
Power Charges to DWR (or to provide any other services) under the Servicing Agreement after the date of rejection.
However, the CPUC is required under the Act to order the IOU to provide such services upon request of DWR in the event
the IOU’s Servicing Agreement is rejected by an IOU in bankruptcy, thus replacing the Servicing Agreement with a servicing
order similar to the servicing order in effect for PG&E. Although a bankrupt IOU subjected to a servicing order in this
manner could challenge that order, either in its bankruptcy proceedings or under State law, DWR believes that the possibility
is remote that such challenge would be successful or that the billing, collection and remittance of Bond Charges and Power
Charges would be materially disrupted by such challenge.

A bankrupt IOU subject to a servicing order could seek relief from the servicing order in the bankruptcy court at any
time and the bankruptcy court could grant such relief. The bankruptcy court could temporarily or permanently enjoin the
CPUC from enforcing the order if the court determined that the order violated the automatic stay or other provisions of the
Bankruptcy Code or could void the order altogether if it determined that the order was preempted by or otherwise violated the
Bankruptcy Code or other provisions of federal law.
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Uncertainties Relating to Electric Industry and Markets

The electric industry and markets in the western states region, including the governing laws and regulations,
continue to face various uncertainties that create risk for the market in general and, in some cases, for DWR. Some of the
general market uncertainties that exist include compliance with rapidly changing environmental, safety, licensing, regulatory
and legislative requirements, volatility in fuel prices and electric energy prices, electric transmission and natural gas
transmission constraints, and revisions in the CAISO market. Future changes in the electric industry and markets could have
an adverse effect on DWR, its Power Supply Program or its ability to pay debt service on the Bonds.

The CAISO implemented the MRTU on April 1, 2009. To address the impact of potential uncertainties that the
Locational Market Price (“LMP”) provisions of MRTU could have on DWR revenues, DWR and the IOUs submitted the
MOU to the CPUC eliminating the sharing of surplus sales and simplifying the remittance of Power Charges to DWR. For a
discussion of the revision of the treatment of surplus sales, see “Calculation and Imposition of Bond Charges and Power
Charges — Substantive Considerations in Establishing Revenue Requirements - Surplus Energy Sales Projections.” For a
discussion of the MRTU, see “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM - Collection of Revenues — Market Redesign and
Technology Upgrade.”

Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation

Unlike direct access, the growth of customer generation departing load and municipal departing load is not expressly
limited by CPUC decision. However, to mitigate the shifting of costs to bundled customers, the CPUC has imposed a Cost
Responsibility Surcharge on certain classes of municipal departing load and customer generation departing load customers,
similar to the Cost Responsibility Surcharge imposed on certain direct access customers. DWR is allocated a portion of that
Cost Responsibility Surcharge. The CPUC has granted a limited exemption from the Cost Responsibility Surcharge to clean
distributed generation. The exemption is available to clean distributed generation not exceeding one megawatt and was
extended to include the first megawatt of clean distributed generation from facilities with up to five megawatts of capacity.
See “THE DWR POWER SUPPLY PROGRAM -Direct Access, Departing Load and Community Choice Aggregation—
Departing Load.” The CPUC has implemented tariffs authorizing the billing and collection of the Cost Responsibility
Surcharge from municipal departing load customers. However, there is a risk that the IOUs will not be able to collect the
Cost Responsibility Surcharge from all municipal departing load customers who are billed, particularly those customers who
have no prior contractual relationship with the IOU.

In 2011 and beyond, the amount of Community Choice Aggregation load could increase significantly. The CPUC
has issued orders in accordance with the California Public Utilities Code requiring that the Cost Responsibility Surcharge be
paid by future Community Choice Aggregation customers.

Risk of Losing Load to Municipalization

Departing load (other than exempt departing load) and load related to Community Choice Aggregation are both
required to pay their share of Bond Charges and Power Charges, such that even if these loads were not to receive energy from
the IOUs, they would not adversely impact the per unit Power Charge and Bond Charge paid by the remaining IOU
customers. This may not be the case if a portion of an IOU’s service area were municipalized. There is a risk that the current
mechanisms in place to collect the Cost Responsibility Surcharge from municipal departing load may be challenged by a
municipal entity that takes over a portion of an IOU delivery system and the corresponding load through eminent domain.
The risk of this occurring, however, is believed to be small. While a few small portions of existing IOU service areas have
been municipalized in the last 20 years, the last large successful municipalization occurred over 60 years ago when the
Sacramento Municipal Utility District municipalized a portion of what was then PG&E service area. Even this
municipalization took over 20 years to effectuate after voters approved the action. Recently, local support for
municipalization of another portion of PG&E service area in Yolo County was defeated via referendum. It is likely that any
attempt to municipalize any significant portion of an IOU’s service area would be met with significant resistance from such
IOU. Even if such efforts were undertaken and were successful, it is believed that it is unlikely that a municipal acquisition
would be completed in less than 10 years from the time such efforts were initiated. However, no assurance can be given that
such a municipal acquisition would not reduce the customer base from which Cost Responsibility Surcharges can be
collected.

63



Uncertainties Relating to Government Action
Possible State Legislation or Action

The Act states that while any obligations of DWR incurred under the Act remain outstanding and are not fully
performed or discharged, the rights, powers, duties, and existence of DWR and the CPUC shall not be diminished or
impaired in any manner that will affect adversely the interests and rights of the holders of or parties to such obligations. This
provision of the Act affords limited but not complete protection for the owners of Bonds against amendment of the Act and
the Rate Agreement by legislation, action by the Governor under the Emergency Services Act, or voter initiative. Under
California law, the electorate has the right, through its initiative powers, to propose statutes as well as amendments to the
California Constitution. Generally, any matter that is a proper subject of legislation can become the subject of an initiative
and be submitted to voters at the next general election.

Owners of the Bonds are entitled to the benefit of the prohibitions in Article I, section 10, of the Constitution of the
United States (the “Contract Clause™) against a state’s impairment of the obligation of contracts. The prohibition, although
not absolute, is particularly strong when applied to the State’s attempt to evade its own obligations. Similar protections are
afforded by Article I, Section 9, of the California Constitution.

Based on the U.S. Supreme Court’s standard of review for Contract Clause challenges in Energy Reserves Group,
Inc. v. Kansas Power & Light Co., the State must justify the exercise of its inherent police power to safeguard the vital
interests of its people before the State may alter the Act, the Indenture or the Rate Agreement in a manner that would
substantially impair the rights of the Owners of the Bonds. However, to justify the enactment by the State of legislation that
substantially impairs the contractual rights of the Bondholders, the State must demonstrate a significant and legitimate public
purpose, such as the remedying of a broad and general social or economic problem. In the event that the State demonstrates a
significant and legitimate public purpose for such legislation, the State must also show that the impairment of the
Bondholders’ rights is reasonable and appropriate to the public purpose justifying the legislation’s adoption.

There have been cases in which legislative concerns with the burden of taxation or governmental charges have led to
adoption of legislation reducing, eliminating or imposing a moratorium on taxes or charges that supported bonds or other
contractual obligations entered into by public instrumentalities. Such concerns have not been considered by the courts to
provide sufficient justification for a substantial impairment of the security for such bonds and other contractual obligations
and, in several cases, have held such legislation as an unconstitutional impairment of contract.

Nonetheless, a repeal, amendment or suspension of, or moratorium on, certain provisions of the Act, the Indenture
or the Rate Agreement could be sought or adopted, even if such repeal, amendment, suspension or moratorium might
constitute a violation of the Indenture or the Rate Agreement. Additionally, the State might take, or refuse to take, or cause
DWR or the CPUC to take, or refuse to take, action required of DWR under the Indenture or of DWR or the CPUC under the
Rate Agreement, even if such action or inaction might constitute a violation of the Indenture or the Rate Agreement. Costly
and time-consuming litigation might ensue which might adversely affect the price and liquidity of the Bonds and the timely
payment thereof. Moreover, the outcome of such litigation might be adverse to the interests of owners of the Bonds, and
accordingly, owners of the Bonds could experience a decline in value of their investment as a result of any such event.

Possible Federal Legislation or Action

Congress could enact new legislation or FERC could adopt new regulations with respect to the electric industry and
markets in the western states region that could adversely affect the payment of debt service on the Bonds. For example,
FERC could approve new rules that increase or shift a greater portion of the costs of transmitting the power sold by DWR to
retail customers. Such a change could adversely impact the cash flow for the Power Supply Program and possibly requiring
the temporary use of Bond Charge Revenues to pay amounts due under DWR’s Priority Long-Term Power Contracts (as
described above under “Determination of Power Charges and Bond Charges; Possible Use of Amounts in the Bond Charge
Collection Account to Pay Priority Contract Costs”) instead of debt service on the Bonds.

The provisions of the United States Constitution discussed under “Possible State Legislation or Action” above,
affording protection against contract impairments by State action to the owners of the Bonds, do not apply to the federal
government. While the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution protects against certain contract impairments
by the federal government, the Due Process Clause may not adequately protect owners of the Bonds against adverse effects
of federal legislation or action.
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Uncertainty of Projections and Assumptions
General

This Official Statement includes projections that are dependent upon projections and assumptions about, among
other things, system transmission operations and capacity, weather trends, generation capacity, fuel costs, spot market prices
for energy and energy consumption. In addition, the determination of DWR’s revenue requirements involves the making of
similar projections and assumptions. These projections and assumptions are subject to risks and uncertainties, including risks
and uncertainties outside the control of DWR. The accuracy of such projections and assumptions is subject to known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially
different from such projections and assumptions. Differences in actual results from projections may be difficult to recognize
in a timely manner for purposes such as the adjustment of DWR’s revenue requirements. Material differences could result in
a variety of unpredictable consequences which could adversely affect the Power Supply Program and the ability of DWR to
pay debt service on the Bonds.

This Official Statement also assumes future approvals and other actions by a number of governmental entities that
regulate the energy industry, including the CPUC, FERC and the California Energy Commission. If such approvals or other
actions do not occur or do not occur on a timely basis, the ability of DWR to make timely payment of debt service on the
Bonds could be materially and adversely affected. In addition, DWR must act in a timely manner to revise its revenue
requirements in order to conform to the assumptions made in this Official Statement.

CPUC Disclaimer

The CPUC makes no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement, including any
forward-looking statements or projections contained in this Official Statement and any description in this Official Statement
of litigation involving or affecting the CPUC. Any statements regarding such litigation do not necessarily represent the
CPUC’s view of such litigation or any position in such litigation. In addition, while CPUC staff may have assisted in the
preparation of certain sections of this Official Statement, the CPUC can only take positions through formal action and has not
taken any such action or approved this Official Statement. The CPUC is an independent five member body that must act by
an affirmative vote of a majority of its members and, as a result, the CPUC can only indicate its views in formal decisions or
other formal actions. In addition, the CPUC is an independent body not subject to the control of DWR and may take
positions in the future different from DWR in litigation, or other matters described in this Official Statement. As a result,
statements in this Official Statement regarding electricity markets and regulation, and DWR’s views of the CPUC’s role or
DWR’s role in such markets and regulation, do not necessarily represent the views, opinions or beliefs of the CPUC and
should not be construed as such by any recipient of this Official Statement.

Limited Obligations

The Bonds shall not be or be deemed to constitute a debt or liability of the State or of any political subdivision
thereof or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State or of any such political subdivision, other than DWR to the extent
provided in the Indenture. The Bonds shall be payable solely from the funds pledged therefor pursuant to the Indenture. The
Bonds shall not directly or indirectly or contingently obligate the State or any political subdivision thereof to levy or to
pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment.

Uncertainties of Financial Markets
Uncertainties, disruptions or volatility in the financial markets, including but not limited to, credit or liquidity
provider credit rating downgrades, availability of credit and/or liquidity facilities at an appropriate price, swap provider credit
rating downgrades, defaults under swap agreements, substantial fund flows into or out of the market for variable rate bonds,
and other factors might affect market rates for variable rate bonds and the rates on DWR's variable rate bonds.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements of the Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund at June 30,2009 and

June 30, 2008 appearing in Appendix A to this Official Statement have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
independent auditors, as set forth in their report appearing in Appendix A.
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RATINGS

Fitch, Inc. (“Fitch”), doing business as FitchRatings, Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) and Standard &
Poor’s Ratings Group, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“Standard & Poor’s”) have assigned ratings of AA-,
Aa3, AA- and, respectively, to the Series 2010L Bonds. An explanation of the significance of these ratings may be obtained
from Fitch Ratings at One State Street Plaza, New York, New York 10004, Moody’s at 250 Greenwich Street, 23rd Floor,
New York, New York 10007 and from Standard & Poor’s at 55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041. Such ratings
reflect only the views of the rating agencies.

Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such information and materials and on investigations, studies and
assumptions made by the rating agencies themselves. There is no assurance that the ratings mentioned above will remain in
effect for any given period of time or that the ratings might not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies, if in
their judgment circumstances so warrant. DWR and the Underwriters have undertaken no responsibility to oppose any such
proposed revision or withdrawal. DWR has agreed to notify the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board of any change in
the ratings of the Series 2010L Bonds. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein. Any such downward change in or
withdrawal of the ratings might have an adverse effect on the market price or marketability of the Series 2010L Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Series 2010L Bonds will be purchased by an underwriting group represented by Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated, E. J. De La Rosa & Co., Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., (collectively called the “Underwriters”) from the
State Treasurer, who is authorized pursuant to the laws of the State to sell the Series 2010L Bonds on behalf of DWR. The
Underwriters have agreed to purchase the Series 2010L Bonds for the principal amount thereof less an underwriting discount
of $14,800,171.08, plus $307,598,268.75 of net original issue premium. The purchase contract pursuant to which the Series
2010L Bonds are being sold provides that the Underwriters will purchase all of the Series 2010L Bonds if any are purchased.
The obligation to make such purchase will be subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in such purchase contract, the
approval of certain legal matters by counsel and certain other conditions.

Several of the Underwriters have provided letters to the State Treasurer relating to their retail distribution practices
for inclusion in this Official Statement, which letters are set forth herein as Appendix I. DWR does not guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of the information contained in such letters and the information therein is not to be construed as a
representation of DWR or any Underwriter other than the Underwriter providing such representation.

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement.
Wells Fargo Securities is the trade name for certain capital markets and investment banking services of Wells Fargo &
Company and its subsidiaries, including Wells Fargo Bank National Association.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Montague DeRose and Associates, LLC served as financial advisor to DWR in connection with the issuance of the
Series 2010L Bonds.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL MATTERS

The issuance of the Series 2010L Bonds is subject to the approving opinions of the Honorable Edmund G. Brown
Jr., Attorney General of the State, and Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to DWR. The proposed forms of
such opinions are set forth in Appendix E and Appendix F to this Official Statement. Certain legal matters will be passed
upon by: Cathy Crothers, Acting Chief Counsel to DWR; Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, disclosure and special counsel
to DWR; Frank R. Lindh, General Counsel to the CPUC; Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP, Special Counsel to
the CPUC and Nixon Peabody LLP, counsel to the Underwriters.

RELATIONSHIPS
The Power Supply Program and related activities, including the sale of Bonds, has been made possible, in part, by
hiring underwriters, financial advisors, consultants and lawyers to assist and advise DWR. Many of the firms and individuals

involved in this effort have prior or ongoing relationships with the IOUs, other investor-owned utilities, public power utilities
and other businesses that contract or compete with DWR or contract with the State and other State agencies or that may do so
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in the future. DWR has required disclosure of, and has taken into account, these relationships and has determined it to be in
the best interests of DWR to continue to work with these firms and individuals.

In addition, in the ordinary course of sales, trading, brokerage and financing activities, certain of the Underwriters
may at any time hold long or short positions, and may trade or otherwise effect transactions, for their own accounts or the
accounts of customers, in debt or equity securities or senior loans, as applicable, of DWR, the State of California, other State
agencies, the IOUs, power suppliers, municipal utilities and other participants in the electric power industry. In connection
with these activities and the provision of other services, certain of the Underwriters may be or become creditors of such
entities. In addition, many of the Underwriters, or their affiliates, currently serve as remarketing agents or providers of credit
enhancement or liquidity facilities for variable rate obligations issued by, or as interest rate swap providers to, DWR, the
State of California and other State agencies.

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, Bond Counsel to DWR with respect to this financing, under
existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax covenants described herein,
(i) interest on the Series 2010L Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and (ii) interest on the Series 2010L Bonds is not treated as
a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such
interest, however, is included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the
alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel has relied on certain
representations, certifications of fact, and statements of reasonable expectations made by DWR in connection with the Series
2010L Bonds, and Bond Counsel has assumed compliance by DWR with certain ongoing covenants to comply with
applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the Series 2010L Bonds from gross income under
Section 103 of the Code. The provisions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 relating to the treatment
of interest on certain tax-exempt bonds do not apply to the Bonds.

In addition, in the opinion of Bond Counsel to DWR with respect to this financing, under existing statutes, interest
on the Series 2010L Bonds is exempt from State of California personal income taxes.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other federal or state tax consequences with respect to the Series
2010L Bonds. Bond Counsel renders its opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date, and assumes
no obligation to update its opinion after the issue date to reflect any future action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or
interpretation, or otherwise. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of any action hereafter taken or not taken in
reliance upon an opinion of other counsel on the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on
the Series 2010L Bonds, or under state and local tax law.

Certain Ongoing Federal Tax Requirements and Covenants

The Code establishes certain ongoing requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2010L
Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2010L Bonds be and remain excluded from gross income under Section 103 of the
Code. These requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to use and expenditure of gross proceeds of
the Series 2010L Bonds, yield and other restrictions on investments of gross proceeds, and the arbitrage rebate requirement
that certain excess earnings on gross proceeds be rebated to the federal government. Noncompliance with such requirements
may cause interest on the Series 2010L Bonds to become included in gross income for federal income tax purposes
retroactive to their issue date, irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is discovered. DWR has
covenanted to comply with certain applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the Series
2010L Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences
The following is a brief discussion of certain collateral federal income tax matters with respect to the Series 2010L
Bonds. It does not purport to address all aspects of federal taxation that may be relevant to a particular owner of a Bond.

Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to special rules, are advised to consult their own tax advisors
regarding the federal tax consequences of owning and disposing of the Series 2010L Bonds.
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Prospective owners of the Series 2010L Bonds should be aware that the ownership of such obligations may result in
collateral federal income tax consequences to various categories of persons, such as corporations (including S corporations
and foreign corporations), financial institutions, property and casualty and life insurance companies, individual recipients of
Social Security and railroad retirement benefits, individuals otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers
deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry obligations the interest on which is not included in
gross income for federal income tax purposes. Interest on the Series 2010L Bonds may be taken into account in determining
the tax liability of foreign corporations subject to the branch profits tax imposed by Section 884 of the Code.

Original Issue Discount

“Original issue discount” (“OID”) is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable at the stated maturity of a Bond
(excluding certain “qualified stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates) over the
issue price of that maturity. In general, the “issue price” of a maturity means the first price at which a substantial amount of
the Series 2010L Bonds of that maturity or portion thereof bearing a particular interest rate was sold (excluding sales to bond
houses, brokers, or similar persons acting in the capacity as underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers). In general, the
issue price for the Series 2010L Bonds or portion thereof bearing a particular interest rate is expected to be the initial public
offering price set forth on the inside cover page of the Official Statement. Bond Counsel further is of the opinion that, for
any Series 2010L Bonds having OID (a “Discount Bond”), OID that has accrued and is properly allocable to the owners of
the Discount Bonds under Section 1288 of the Code is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the
same extent as other interest on the Series 2010L Bonds.

In general, under Section 1288 of the Code, OID on a Discount Bond accrues under a constant yield method, based
on periodic compounding of interest over prescribed accrual periods using a compounding rate determined by reference to the
yield on that Discount Bond. An owner’s adjusted basis in a Discount Bond is increased by accrued OID for purposes of
determining gain or loss on sale, exchange, or other disposition of such Bond. Accrued OID may be taken into account as an
increase in the amount of tax-exempt income received or deemed to have been received for purposes of determining various
other tax consequences of owning a Discount Bond even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.

Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the treatment of original issue
discount for federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and the state and local tax
consequences of acquiring, holding, and disposing of Discount Bonds.

Bond Premium

In general, if an owner acquires a Bond for a purchase price (excluding accrued interest) or otherwise at a tax basis
that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable with respect to the Bond after the acquisition date (excluding
certain “qualified stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates), that premium
constitutes “bond premium” on that Bond (a “Premium Bond”). In general, under Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a
Premium Bond must amortize the bond premium over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, based on the owner’s yield
over the remaining term of the Premium Bond determined based on constant yield principles (in certain cases involving a
Premium Bond callable prior to its stated maturity date, the amortization period and yield may be required to be determined
on the basis of an earlier call date that results in the lowest yield on such bond). An owner of a Premium Bond must amortize
the bond premium by offsetting the qualified stated interest allocable to each interest accrual period under the owner’s regular
method of accounting against the bond premium allocable to that period. In the case of a tax-exempt Premium Bond, if the
bond premium allocable to an accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest allocable to that accrual period, the excess
is a nondeductible loss. Under certain circumstances, the owner of a Premium Bond may realize a taxable gain upon
disposition of the Premium Bond even though it is sold or redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the owner’s original
acquisition cost. Owners of any Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the treatment of bond
premium for federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and state and local tax
consequences, in connection with the acquisition, ownership, amortization of bond premium on, sale, exchange, or other
disposition of Premium Bonds.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
Information reporting requirements apply to interest paid on tax-exempt obligations, including the Series 2010L

Bonds. In general, such requirements are satisfied if the interest recipient completes, and provides the payor with, a Form
W-9, “Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification,” or unless the recipient is one of a limited class of
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exempt recipients, including corporations. A recipient not otherwise exempt from information reporting who fails to satisfy
the information reporting requirements will be subject to “backup withholding,” which means that the payor is required to
deduct and withhold a tax from the interest payment, calculated in the manner set forth in the Code. For the foregoing
purpose, a “payor” generally refers to the person or entity from whom a recipient receives its payments of interest or who
collects such payments on behalf of the recipient.

If an owner purchasing a Bond through a brokerage account has executed a Form W-9 in connection with the
establishment of such account, as generally can be expected, no backup withholding should occur. In any event, backup
withholding does not affect the excludability of the interest on the Series 2010L Bonds from gross income for federal income
tax purposes. Any amounts withheld pursuant to backup withholding would be allowed as a refund or a credit against the
owner’s federal income tax once the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

Miscellaneous

Tax legislation, administrative actions taken by tax authorities, or court decisions, whether at the federal or state
level, may adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2010L Bonds under federal or state law and could
affect the market price or marketability of the Series 2010L Bonds.

Prospective purchasers of the Series 2010L Bonds should consult their own tax advisers regarding the foregoing
matters.

VERIFICATION

Causey Demgen & Moore Inc. has verified the accuracy of the mathematical computation of (a) the adequacy of the
amounts deposited with the Treasurer in the Escrow Fund established for the Fixed Rate Refunded Bonds to provide for the
optional redemption of the Fixed Rate Refunded Bonds and (b) the yield of the Bonds and the yield of the investments in the
Escrow Fund . See “PLAN OF REFUNDING.”

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

DWR will covenant for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Series 2010L Bonds to provide
certain financial information and operating data relating to DWR (the “Annual Report”) by not later than 270 days following
the end of DWR’s fiscal year (which ends June 30) and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events, if
material. The Annual Report and notices of Material Event will be filed by DWR with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Board as set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. The specific nature of the information to be contained in the
Annual Report or the notices of material events is described in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate. The Continuing
Disclosure Certificate is subject to amendment as described therein. The proposed form of the Continuing Disclosure
Certificate is attached hereto as APPENDIX H - “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE.”

Under the Indenture, DWR has agreed to post on its website, so long as it maintains a website, or to send to any
person requesting the same in writing if it no longer maintains a website, (i) within 45 days of the end of each fiscal year
quarter (except the fourth quarter), unaudited financial statements of the Electric Power Fund for such quarter, (ii) within 120
days after the end of each fiscal year, audited financial statements of the Electric Power Fund for such fiscal year and (iii)
promptly, each revenue requirement submitted to the CPUC. See APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE — Continuing Disclosure.”

Pursuant to the Indenture, failure of DWR to comply with its continuing disclosure obligations under the Continuing
Disclosure Certificate or under the Indenture will not be considered an event of default under the Indenture. However, the
Trustees, or any Bondholder or Beneficial Owner (as defined in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate) may seek specific
performance by court order, to cause DWR to comply with its continuing disclosure obligations under the Continuing
Disclosure Certificate or under the Indenture, as the sole remedy. DWR has complied in all material respects with all
previous similar undertakings under continuing disclosure certificates.
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AUTHORIZATION

The delivery of this Official Statement, including the Appendices and other information herein, has been duly
authorized by DWR.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES

By: /s/ Mark W. Cowin
Director of Water Resources
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APPENDIX A

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE ELECTRIC POWER FUND FOR THE YEARS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2009 AND 2008 AND REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Director of the State of California
Department of Water Resources

In our opinion, the accompanying statements of net assets and the related statements of revenues,
expenses and changes in net assets and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund (the Fund), a component
unit of the State of California, at June 30, 2009 and 2008, and its changes in financial position and its
cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, and the changes in financial position and cash flows, of only that portion of the business-type
activities and major funds of the State of California that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund.
They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the State of California at
June 30, 2009 and 2008, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows, where applicable,
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis presented on pages 2 through 10 is not a required part of
the basic financial statements, but is supplementary information required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally
of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the
supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

/\:Z{wmbﬁusa&ows e

October 28, 2009



Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

USING THIS REPORT

This discussion and analysis is designed to assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues
and activities and to identify any significant changes in financial position of the Department of Water
Resources Electric Power Fund (the Fund), which is administered by the California Department of Water
Resources (DWR). Readers are encouraged to consider the information presented in conjunction with
the financial statements as a whole, which follows Management’s Discussion and Analysis. This
discussion and analysis and the financial statements do not relate to DWR’s other governmental and
proprietary funds.

The basic financial statements include three required statements, which provide different views of the
Fund. They are: the statement of net assets, the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net
assets, and the statement of cash flows. These statements provide current and long-term information
about the Fund and its activities. These financial statements report information using accounting methods
similar (although not identical) to those used by private sector companies. The statement of net assets
includes all assets and liabilities as of the year-end date. The statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net assets presents all of the current year’s revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets.
The statement of cash flows reports cash receipts, disbursements and the net change in cash resulting
from three principal types of activities: operating, financing and investing. In order for the basic financial
statements to be complete, they must be accompanied by a complete set of footnotes. The notes to the
financial statements provide disclosures which are required to conform with generally accepted
accounting principles. The Fund is required to follow accounting standards promulgated by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

PURPOSE OF FUND

The Fund was established in January 2001 through legislation to assist mitigation of the effects of a
statewide energy supply emergency.

DWR has the authority to secure and retain title to power for resale to end use customers of the State’s
investor owned utilities (IOUs) under power supply contracts entered into prior to January 1, 2003. The
scheduling, dispatch, and certain other administrative functions for the long-term contracts are performed
by the IOUs as agents for DWR. However, DWR retains the legal and financial responsibility for each
contract for the life of the contract or until such time as there is complete assignment of the contract to an
IOU and release of DWR. Most of the volume of power under contract expires by December 31, 2011
and the last of the contracts expires in 2015.

DWR is entitled to recover revenue requirements for authorized activities, including but not limited to debt
service, the costs of power purchases, administrative expenses and reserves. Revenue requirements are
determined at least annually and submitted to the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) for
implementation. Under the terms of the rate agreement between the CPUC and DWR, the CPUC is
required to set rates for the customers of the I0Us and “direct access” Electric Service Providers (ESPs)
such that the Fund will always have monies to meet its revenue requirements.



Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS

The Fund’s assets, liabilities and net assets as of June 30, are summarized as follows (in millions):

2009 2008 2007
Long-term restricted cash, equivalents
and investments $ 1,493 $ 1,465 $ 1,542
Recoverable costs, net of current portion 5,691 5,934 6,503
Restricted cash and equivalents:
Operating and priority contract accounts 964 1,227 1,167
Bond charge collection and bond charge
payment accounts 629 619 549
Recoverable costs, current portion 468 511 610
Interest receivable 13 27 41
Other assets 72 261 91
Total assets $ 9,330 $ 10,044 % 10,503
Net assets $ - % -3 -
Long-term debt, including current portion 9,001 9,509 9,995
Other current liabilities 329 535 508
Total capital and liabilities $ 9,330 $ 10,044  $ 10,503

Long-Term Restricted Cash, Equivalents and Investments

The $28 million increase in long-term restricted cash, equivalents and investments during fiscal 2009 is a
combination of a $5 million decrease in the Operating Reserve Account and a $33 million increase in the
Debt Service Reserve Account.

The Operating Reserve Account decreased by $5 million to $543 million as forecasted power costs in
DWR’s 2009 revenue requirement were similar to the prior year and no contracts expired or were
renegotiated during the year. DWR was able to slightly reduce required reserves and maintain the
balance at a level determined in accordance with the bond indenture, equal to the maximum one month
priority contract cost amount under stress conditions. The Debt Service Reserve Account increased to
$950 million due to increased debt service cost assumptions resulting from bond refunding transactions in
2008 and 2009, highlighted below in the Long-Term Debt section.

The $77 million decrease in long-term restricted cash and investments during fiscal 2008 is a combination
of a $64 million decrease in the Operating Reserve Account and a $13 million decrease in the Debt
Service Reserve Account. The Operating Reserve Account was decreased to $548 million and allowed
DWR to maintain the balance at a level determined in accordance with the bond indenture, equal to the
maximum one month priority contract cost amount under stress conditions. The Debt Service Reserve
Account was decreased to $917 million due to lower interest rate assumptions as a result of refunding
transactions in 2008.
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Recoverable Costs, Net of Current Portion

Long-term recoverable costs consist of costs that are recoverable through future billings. The

$243 million decrease during fiscal 2009 is due to 1) operating expenses exceeding operating revenues
by $332 million, as a result of the planned under recovery of costs while maintaining minimum bond
indenture requirements for cash balances, offset by 2) bond charges plus interest income exceeding
interest expense by $575 million. The surplus of bond charge collections over interest costs is primarily a
result of the Fund's rate design which includes funding for annual debt service, including principal
payments.

The $570 million decrease during fiscal 2008 is due to 1) operating expenses exceeding operating
revenues by $35 million, and 2) bond charges plus interest income exceeding interest expense by $605
million.

Restricted Cash, Equivalents and Investments

The Operating and Priority Contract Accounts decreased by $263 million in 2009 as DWR purposefully
lowered cash balances though a planned under recovery of costs while maintaining minimum balances as
required in the bond indenture. The $964 million balance in the Operating and Priority Contract Accounts
at June 30, 2009 is $95 million higher than forecast in DWR’s calendar 2009 revenue requirement
determination. The balance as of June 30, 2009 was higher than planned primarily due to lower than
expected costs in the last six months of the fiscal year as actual natural gas prices were lower than
forecast in the 2009 revenue requirement, and DWR received $30 million in unplanned energy
settlements.

The Operating and Priority Contract Accounts increased by $60 million in 2008 due to lower than
expected costs in the first six months of the fiscal year, $32 million in unplanned energy settlements and
collection of $20 million in collateral funds collected from a counterparty to collateralize DWR’s natural
gas hedge investments. The $1,227 million balance in the Operating and Priority Contract Accounts at
June 30, 2008 is $71 million higher than forecast in DWR’s calendar 2008 revenue requirement
determination.

The Bond Charge Collection and Bond Charge Payment Accounts increased by $10 million in 2009 due
to lower than forecast variable rate debt service costs with the declining interest rate markets during the
fiscal year, partially offset by the effects of refunding $523 million variable rate debt and remarketing $521
million of higher cost fixed rate debt which has semi-annual interest payments rather than monthly
interest payments.

The Bond Charge Collection and Bond Charge Payment Accounts increased by $70 million in 2008 due

to lower than forecast variable rate debt service costs with the declining interest rate markets during the

fiscal year, and the refunding of approximately $1.3 billion of variable rate debt with fixed rate debt which
has semi-annual interest payments rather than monthly interest payments.

From the dates of issuance of the revenue bonds through June 30, 2009, the balances in each of the
restricted cash and investments accounts met or exceeded balances required by the bond indenture.

Recoverable Costs, Current Portion

The current portion of recoverable costs reflects power and bond charges to IOU customers that have not
yet been collected and amounts due from surplus sales of energy and gas. The current portion of
recoverable costs at June 30, 2009 is $468 million, which is $43 million lower than at June 30, 2008. The
decrease reflects slightly lower power sales volumes, as compared to fiscal year 2008, as a result of the
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economic downturn, combined with the effects of no longer receiving an allocation of surplus power sales
from each 10U service territory beginning April 1, 2009, as a result of a CPUC ruling in connection with
implementing operational changes to adapt to the California Independent System Operator’s (the CAISO)
Market Redesign Technology Upgrade (MRTU) launched on March 31, 2009. The lower expected
surplus power sales is offset by slightly higher remittance rates per unit sold to customers after
implementation of the 2009 revenue requirement, which forecast the operational change when filed.

The current portion of recoverable costs at June 30, 2008 is $99 million lower than at June 30, 2007. The
decrease reflects lower power sales volumes after a large fixed volume contract was renegotiated to
dispatchable capacity and the expiration of another fixed volume contract, both taking effect on

January 1, 2008. The lower expected power sales is partially offset by higher remittance rates per unit
sold after implementation of the 2008 revenue requirement, an increase in natural gas hedging settlement
revenues and higher surplus gas sales revenues as a result of higher natural gas prices.

Other Assets

DWR purchases natural gas as fuel for the production of power under the terms of certain power
purchase contracts and maintains a brokerage account with a national brokerage firm in order to hedge
natural gas costs. DWR also hedges natural gas costs by transacting directly with counterparties. Assets
in the brokerage account and certain bilateral hedge instruments are classified as other assets on the
statements of net assets.

During 2009, other assets decreased by $189 million. The sharp decrease in market prices for natural
gas resulted in declining values of outstanding hedges. DWR funded the hedge account with $290 million
of cash throughout 2009 to absorb losses on hedge settlements, provide collateral for mark to market
losses and enable future hedging transactions. At June 30, 2009, other assets consist of money market
investments, US Treasury bills and government bonds valued at $47 million and financial options valued
at $25 million.

During 2008, other assets increased by $170 million. DWR funded the account with $40 million of cash to
enable future hedging transactions. The remainder of the increase is due to higher asset values resulting
from the natural gas market prices rising with higher commaodity prices throughout 2008. At June 30,
2008, other assets consist of money market investments, US Treasury bills and government bonds
valued at $62 million and financial options valued at $199 million.

Long-Term Debt

Revenue bond principal payments were $493 million and $470 million in fiscal 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Net amortization of bond premium and deferred loss on defeasance were $17 million and
$18 million in fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectively.

During fiscal 2009, letters of credit enhancing $575 million of variable rate bonds expired December 1,
2008. Prior to the December 1, 2008 expiration date, DWR renewed a letter of credit enhancing $150
million of those bonds. On December 1, 2008 DWR successfully converted another $75 million of those
variable rate bonds to fixed rate as part of a $173 million Series G conversion transaction. DWR
converted $98 million Series G-4 bonds and the $75 million G-11 bonds to fixed rate with coupons
ranging from 4.35% to 5.00%, while the maturity dates remained 2016 and 2018, respectively. The
bonds were sold with a premium of $4 million and DWR incurred costs of issuance of $2 million, both of
which will be amortized over the life of the bonds.

DWR was unsuccessful in renewing the credit facilities or converting to fixed rate bonds for the remaining
$350 million of Series F bonds with expiring facilities. On December 1, 2008, those bonds became bank
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bonds and began incurring interest at prime plus 2% and were subject to an accelerated amortization
schedule. In January 2009, DWR successfully converted the remaining $350 million bonds by
remarketing $348 million of Series F fixed rate bonds. The bonds were sold with a premium of $4 million
and DWR incurred costs of issuance of $2 million that will be amortized over the life of the bonds. Total
revenue bonds outstanding decreased by $2 million as a result of the transaction. At June 30, 2009,
there were no outstanding bank bonds.

The payment of principal and interest for all Series B bonds, $1.73 billion of Series C bonds, $409 million
of Series F bonds, $46 million of Series G and all Series | and J bonds are paid from draws made under
letters of credit, which expire in fiscal year 2011. The remaining Series C bonds of $496 million and $600
million of Series G bonds are credit enhanced by bond insurance for the timely payment of principal and
interest. The liquidity facilities backing the $496 million of Series C bonds expire in fiscal year 2013. Four
liquidity facilities backing $500 million Series G bonds expire in fiscal year 2011 and the final liquidity
facility underlying $100 million expires in fiscal year 2013.

DWR is considering other options available to remedy any lack of credit capacity to renew all expiring
agreements. DWR may convert the bonds to a fixed mode or plan a fixed refunding for all bonds where
credit enhancement is not renewed, with identical maturities to the currently enhanced bonds.

During 2008, DWR issued an aggregate of $1.766 billion in refunding revenue bonds (Series H, |, J, and
K) to refund $1.825 billion of outstanding 2002 Series C and D and 2005 Series G variable rate bonds.
The proceeds of the refunding bonds, along with funds released from the Bond Charge Payment Account
($4 million) and Debt Service Reserve Account ($20 million), were used to purchase securities that were
deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to refund bonds and pay for underwriting fees and
other issuance costs. The refunded bonds were all redeemed by May 2008.

Because the refunded bonds were variable rate bonds, the refunding did not result in an accounting loss.

Other Current Liabilities

Accounts payable at June 30, 2009 are $209 million lower than at June 30, 2008. The difference results
from sharply lower costs for natural gas as result of the substantial decline in natural gas prices since the
beginning of the fiscal year.

Accounts payable at June 30, 2008 are $22 million higher than at June 30, 2007. The difference results
from higher costs for natural gas as result of the substantially higher natural gas prices and a $6 million
liability for postretirement health and dental liabilities due to the implementation of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for
Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (GASB 45). These are offset by reduced power
purchases after the renegotiation of the large fixed price contract and expiration of another contract.

Accrued interest payable at June 30, 2009 is $3 million higher than at June 30, 2008, and was $5 million
higher at June 30, 2008 than at June 30, 2007 as the Fund has a higher percentage of fixed rate debt in
the bond portfolio after reoffering / refunding transactions in both 2009 and 2008 increased fixed rate debt
outstanding from the prior year. The higher fixed rate debt service costs in both years are offset by
declining interest costs on the remaining variable debt as interest rate markets have declined.
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

The Fund’s activities for the years ended June 30, are summarized as follows (in millions):

2009 2008 2007

Revenues:
Power charges $ 3310 §$ 3,794 4,433
Surplus sales 294 529 410
Bond charges 873 868 855
Interest income 83 171 167
Total revenues 4,560 5,362 5,865

Expenses:
Power purchases 3,930 4,356 4,732
Energy settlements (30) (32) (47)
Interest expense 381 434 424
Other expenses 36 34 30
Recovery of recoverable costs 243 570 726
Total expenses 4,560 5,362 5,865
Net increase in net assets - - -
Net assets, beginning of year - - -
Net assets, end of year $ - $ - -

Power Charges

The cost of providing energy is recoverable primarily through power charges to IOU customers and
certain customers of ESPs. Charges are determined by applying a CPUC adopted rate for each IOU
service area to the megawatt hours of power delivered by DWR to each IOU’s customers.

Power Charges are $484 million lower in fiscal 2009 than in the prior year. The difference reflects the
lower volume of power sales to end use customers as a result of lower contract usage from dispatchable
power plants combined with the renegotiation of a large fixed volume contract to dispatchable capacity
and the expiration of another fixed volume contract, both taking effect on January 1, 2008. The lower
volumes were partially offset by slightly higher per unit remittance rates implemented in January 2009 as
part of the 2009 revenue requirement.

Power Charges were $639 million lower in fiscal 2008 than in the prior year. The difference reflects the
lower volume of power sales to end use customers as a result of the renegotiation of a large fixed volume
contract to dispatchable capacity, and the expiration of another fixed volume contract, both taking effect
on January 1, 2008. The lower volumes were partially offset by higher per unit remittance rates
implemented in January 2008 as part of the 2008 revenue requirement.

Surplus Sales
The Fund receives revenue from the sale of excess energy, based on DWR’s pro-rata allocation of its

share of energy provided to each IOU’s service area to the total amount of energy provided by IOU
generation in each respective IOU service area, and from the sale of surplus gas.
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Surplus sales revenues were $235 million lower in 2009 than in 2008. Beginning April 1, 2009, the Fund
no longer receives an allocation of surplus power sales from each 10U service territory as indicated in a
CPUC ruling in connection with implementing operational changes to adapt to the CAISO MRTU
launched on March 31, 2009. DWR forecasted this change in its 2009 revenue requirement and
implemented remittance rates that will maintain required minimum balances in excess of bond indenture
requirements.

Lower gas sales volumes and lower prices received per unit of power and gas sold also contributed to the
lower amounts during the 2009 period as commodity market prices declined sharply.

Surplus sales revenues were $119 million higher in 2008 than in 2007. The increase is attributable to
higher per unit prices received on sales of excess power and natural gas as commodity markets were
volatile during the year. The higher prices for surplus energy sold were partially offset by 9% lower
volumes sold.

Bond Charges

Bond charges provide revenue for the payment of debt service on the revenue bonds and are determined
by applying a CPUC adopted rate to the total megawatt hours of power delivered to all IOU customers
and certain ESP customers. Bond charges for the years ended June 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were
$873 million, $868 million and $855 million, respectively, and were adequate to meet all debt service
requirements and maintain bond indenture required account balances in the Bond Charge Collection,
Bond Charge Payment, and Debt Service Reserve Accounts.

Interest Income

Interest income for 2009 was $88 million lower than in 2008, due to a combination of lower cash balances
and investments, and the sharp decline in interest rates decreasing the interest earned on investments in
the State of California Investment Pooled Money Investment Account-Surplus Investment Fund (SMIF).
The average effective yield earned on SMIF balances was 2.19% and 4.38% for the years ended

June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Interest income for 2008 was $4 million higher than in 2007. The increase was attributable to increased
interest earned on investments in the SMIF from slightly higher cash and investment balances.

Power Purchases

Power costs are $426 million lower in 2009 than in 2008. The lower costs are attributable to sharply
lower natural gas prices and lower volumes purchased after the renegotiation of a large fixed price
contract to dispatchable capacity and the expiration of another fixed price contract, both taking effect
January 1, 2008.

Power costs were $376 million lower in 2008 than in 2007. The difference is primarily a result of lower
volumes purchased after the renegotiation of a large fixed price contract to dispatchable capacity and the
expiration of another fixed price contract, both taking effect January 1, 2008. The decreased amount of
power purchased is partially offset by higher costs for natural gas as a result of the substantially higher
prices in 2008.
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Energy Settlements

Energy settlements received, including those related to complex regulatory proceedings before the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission arising from events in California energy markets in 2001, are
recorded as a decrease in operating expenses.

Energy settlements in 2009 total $30 million. The Fund received $12 million from a Kern River Gas
Transmission company settlement as part of a FERC decision resetting its tariff rates for the past four
years. The Fund received $4 million from the 2006 Enron Corp. settlement through bankruptcy court
distributions. Other amounts owed from the Enron Corp. settlement are subject to future bankruptcy court
distributions and will be recognized as an energy settlement if and when there is a distribution of monies.
The Fund received an additional $14 million in other settlements, including $8 million from the California
Power Exchange for receivable amounts that had been held in escrow until the bankruptcy court
approved the release of funds.

Energy settlements in 2008 total $32 million. The Fund received $24 million from the 2006 Enron Corp.
settlement through bankruptcy court distributions. The Fund received an additional $8 million in other
settlements.

Future revenues under the Mirant Corporation, Reliant Energy, Dynegy Inc., and Duke Energy
Corporation settlements are subject to contingencies outlined in the underlying settlement and allocation
agreements and will not be recognized until if and when the contingencies are resolved.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $53 million lower in 2009 when compared to 2008. The decrease is attributable to
declining interest rates on variable rate debt during 2009 and lower debt outstanding. The decrease was
partially offset by greater amounts of fixed rate debt outstanding in the portfolio as a result of the
reoffering and refunding transactions in 2008 and 2009 described in the Long-Term Debt section of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Interest expense was $10 million higher in 2008 when compared to 2007. The increase is attributable to
greater amounts of fixed rate debt outstanding in the portfolio as a result of the refunding transactions in
2008. The increase was partially offset by declining interest rates on variable rate debt during 2008 and
lower debt outstanding.

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased by $2 million in 2009 as a result of increased legal expenditures for contract
renegotiations and ongoing litigation services regarding the 2000-2001 California energy crisis and an
increase in charges for services provided to the Power Supply program by other state agencies, offset by
an decrease in amounts for postretirement health and dental liabilities incurred by the Fund.

Other Expenses increased by $4 million in 2008 primarily as a result of the implementation of GASB 45.
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Recovery (Deferral) of Recoverable Costs

The individual components of the recovery (deferral) of recoverable costs are as follows (in millions):

2009 2008 2007
Operations $ (332) % (35) $ 128
Debt service and
related costs 575 605 598
$ 243 $ 570 $ 726
Operations

The $332 million deferral in the year ended June 30, 2009 reflected the planned under recovery of
calendar 2008 operating costs while maintaining compliance with bond indenture requirements, offset by
the unplanned receipt of $30 million in energy settlements and lower than forecast power costs due to the
declining price of natural gas.

Debt Service and Related Costs
The recovery of debt service and related costs in all three years is a result of bond charges and interest
income providing funds to pay interest expense and retire debt.

LIQUIDITY

On September 15, 2008, Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. ("Lehman") filed for protection under Chapter 11
of the federal Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court in the Southern District of New
York. DWR has business relationships with subsidiaries of Lehman. DWR is a counterparty with Lehman
Brothers Commodity Services Inc. ("LBCS") and Eagle Energy Partners 1, LP ("Eagle Energy"),
subsidiaries of Lehman, in wholesale energy marketing transactions. Lehman Brothers Inc. (“LBI”),
another Lehman subsidiary, was as a remarketing agent for $1.066 billion of outstanding DWR variable
rate bonds.

The obligations of LBCS were guaranteed by Lehman, and the Lehman bankruptcy filing gave DWR the
right to terminate the transactions with LBCS. DWR exercised its right to terminate the transactions with
LBCS on September 18, 2008. As of the effective termination date DWR had net credit losses of under
$1 million, and issued a demand notice for amounts owed. There has been no progress to date in settling
these credit losses.

The obligations of Eagle Energy were not guaranteed by Lehman on the date of bankruptcy filing. At that
time DWR had no credit exposure to Eagle Energy, as DWR was a net buyer of natural gas from Eagle
for August and the first half of September 2008. Subsequently, Eagle Energy was purchased by
Electricité de France. DWR continues to transact with Eagle Energy after the acquisition.

After the bankruptcy filing, Barclays Bank Plc purchased the broker-dealer operations of LBl and
continues to remarket the bonds.
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2009 2008 2007

Assets
Long-term assets:
Restricted cash, equivalents and investments:

Operating Reserve Account $ 543 § 548 $ 612
Debt Service Reserve Account 950 917 930
Recoverable costs, net of current portion 5,691 5,934 6,503
Total long-term assets 7,184 7,399 8,045

Current assets:
Restricted cash and equivalents:

Operating and Priority Contract Accounts 964 1,227 1,167
Bond Charge Collection and
Bond Charge Payment Accounts 629 619 549
Recoverable costs, current portion 468 511 610
Interest receivable 13 27 41
Other assets 72 261 91
Total current assets 2,146 2,645 2,458
Total assets $ 9,330 $ 10,044 $ 10,503

Capitalization and Liabilities
Capitalization:

Net assets $ - 8 - $ -
Long-term debt 8,471 8,999 9,508
Total capitalization 8,471 8,999 9,508
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt 530 510 487
Accounts payable 266 475 453
Accrued interest payable 63 60 55
Total current liabilities 859 1,045 995
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 7)
Total capitalization and liabilities $ 9,330 $ 10,044 $ 10,503

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

For the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 (in millions)
2009 2008

Operating revenues:

Power charges $ 3,310 § 3,794

Surplus sales 294 529

Total operating revenues 3,604 4,323

Operating expenses:

Power purchases 3,930 4,356

Energy settlements (30) (32)

Administrative expenses 36 34

(Deferral) recovery of recoverable operating costs (332) (35)

Total operating expenses 3,604 4,323

Income from operations - -
Bond charges 873 868
Interest income 83 171
Interest expense (381) (434)
Recovery of recoverable debt service and related costs (575) (605)
Net increase in net assets - -
Net assets, beginning of year - -
Net assets, end of year $ - $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 (in millions)
2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts:
Power charges $ 3,277 $ 3,942
Surplus sales 368 481
Energy settlements 30 32
Payments for power purchases and other expenses (3,986) (4,539)
Net cash used in operating activities (311) (84)
Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Receipt of bond charges 875 867
Bond payments (493) (470)
Interest payments (399) (447)
Proceeds from issuance of revenue bonds 529 1,827
Defeasance of revenue bonds (523) (1,825)
Net cash used in non-capital financing activities (11) (48)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received on investments 97 185
Proceeds from termination of
guaranteed investment contract 150 150
Net cash provided by investing activities 247 335
Net (decrease) increase in cash and equivalents (75) 203
Restricted cash and equivalents, beginning of year 2,861 2,658
Restricted cash and equivalents, end of year $ 278 $ 2,861
Restricted cash and equivalents included in:
Operating Reserve Account $ 543 $ 548
Debt Service Reserve Account (a component of the total of
$950 and $917 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively) 650 467
Operating and Priority Contract Accounts 964 1,227
Bond Charge Collection and
Bond Charge Payment Accounts 629 619
Restricted cash and equivalents, end of year $ 2,786 $ 2,861
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
used in operating activities:
Income from operations $ - $ -
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
used in operating activities:
Deferral of recoverable operating costs (332) (35)
Other changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Recoverable costs 41 (28)
Other assets 189 -
Accounts payable (209) (21)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (311) $ (84)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
For the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008

1. Reporting Entity

In January 2001, the Governor of California issued an emergency proclamation directing the
Department of Water Resources (DWR) to enter into contracts and arrangements for the purchase
and sale of electric power to assist in mitigating the effect of a statewide energy supply emergency.

The Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund (a component unit of the State of
California) (the Fund), administered by DWR, was established in January 2001 through legislation
adding Division 27 to the California Water Code (the Code).

DWR purchases power from wholesale suppliers under contracts entered into prior to January 1,
2003 for resale to ten million customers of Pacific Gas & Electric Company, Southern California
Edison Company, and San Diego Gas & Electric Company (collectively referred to as the investor
owned utilities or IOUs). The Code prohibits DWR from entering into new power purchase
agreements, but allows DWR to enter into gas purchase contracts to provide fuel for power
generation.

DWR power is delivered to the customers through the transmission and distribution systems of the
IOUs and payments from the customers are collected for DWR by the IOUs pursuant to servicing
arrangements approved and/or ordered by the California Public Utilities Commission (the CPUC).

Under the terms of a rate agreement between DWR and the CPUC, the CPUC implements DWR’s
determination of its revenue requirements by establishing customer rates that meet DWR'’s revenue
needs to assure the payment of debt service, power purchases, administrative expenses and
changes in reserves.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Fund is accounted for as an enterprise fund and is financed and operated in a manner similar to
that of a private business enterprise. The Fund uses the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. As allowed by governmental accounting
standards, the Fund has elected not to apply statements and related interpretations issued by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board after November 30, 1989. The Fund is accounted for with a
set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, net assets, revenues and expenses.

The financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial position, and the changes
in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, of only that portion of the business-type
activities and major funds of the State of California that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund.
They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the State of California as of
June 30, 2009 and 2008, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows, where
applicable, for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
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Restricted Cash, Equivalents and Investments
Under the terms of the Bond Indenture, separate restricted cash and investment accounts were
established. The accounts and their purpose follow:

Power Charge Accounts:

Operating Account: Power charges (see Revenues and Recoverable Costs) and
miscellaneous revenue are deposited into the Operating Account. Monthly, funds are
transferred to the Priority Contract Account as needed to make payments on priority
contracts. Remaining monies are available for payment of all operating costs of the Fund
other than priority contracts, debt service, and debt-related costs.

Priority Contract Account: Priority contracts are those power purchase contracts that
require monthly payment prior to any debt service payments. Monies in the Priority
Contract Account are used to make scheduled payments on priority contracts. After the
monthly transfer from the Operating Account on the fifth of the month, the Priority
Contract Account is projected to have monies sufficient to make scheduled payments on
priority contracts through the fifth of the following month.

Operating Reserve Account: The Operating Reserve account must maintain a balance
equal to the greater of (i) seven months of projected negative operating cash flows under
a stress scenario, as defined, or (ii) twelve percent of projected annual operating
expenses of the Fund, as defined.

Bond Charge Accounts:

Bond Charge Collection Account: Bond charges (see Revenues and Recoverable Costs)
are deposited into the Bond Charge Collection Account. Monthly, funds needed for debt
service payments are transferred to the Bond Charge Payment Account.

Bond Charge Payment Account: Monies in the Bond Charge Payment Account are used
to pay debt service, swap payments and related fees for the revenue bonds. After receipt
of the monthly transfer from the Bond Charge Collection Account, the balance in the
Bond Charge Payment Account must at least equal debt service, swap payments and
fees estimated to accrue or be payable for the next succeeding three months.

Debt Service Reserve Account: The Debt Service Reserve account is to be funded at all
times with the amount of maximum aggregate annual debt service on all outstanding
debt, including net scheduled swap payments.

Restricted cash and equivalents, for purposes of the statements of cash flows, include cash on hand
and deposits in the State of California Investment Pooled Money Investment Account-Surplus Money
Investment Fund (SMIF).

SMIF has an equity interest in the State of California Pooled Money Investment Account (the PMIA).
Generally, the investments in the PMIA are available for withdrawal on demand. The PMIA cash and
investments are recorded at amortized cost, which approximates market. The PMIA funds are on
deposit with the State’s Centralized Treasury System and are managed in compliance with the
California Government Code, described in Note 3 below.
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Long-term investments are held solely in the Debt Service Reserve Account by the bond co-trustee
and consist of guaranteed investment contracts (GICs) and a U.S. government backed agency
security in accordance with a forward purchase agreement (the FPA). The GICs are carried at cost
and the U.S. government backed agency security is carried at amortized cost.

Other Assets

The Fund enters into futures and option contracts for the purpose of hedging of natural gas fuel costs.
The substantial majority of the next year’s gas requirements are hedged through these instruments.
The Fund does not enter into natural gas futures and option agreements for trading purposes, but
rather to take advantage of favorable pricing and to reduce fuel price volatility. The Fund does not
take delivery on these contracts; rather the contracts are financially settled, usually at the
approximate maturity dates of the instruments.

Option agreements are reported at fair value and are included in other assets on the statement of net
assets. At June 30, 2009 and 2008 those amounts were $25 million and $199 million, respectively.
Fair value is determined based on market quotes for those or similar instruments on active
exchanges. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on such contracts are reflected as changes to
fuel operating costs which are included in power purchases in the statement of revenues, expenses
and changes in net assets.

The Fund is exposed to additional fuel price risk if the counterparties default. Further, volatility of the
market prices could reduce the value of the contracts.

Future gas purchase contracts are recorded at amortized cost, if any. As described in Note 7, such
contracts are considered derivatives for financial reporting purposes.

The brokerage firm that facilitates certain of the Fund's hedging contracts requires that the Fund
maintain a security deposit, which is invested in compliance with the California Government Code.
These funds are invested in money market mutual funds and government bonds and are carried at
fair value. The investment in money market mutual funds amounted to $47 million and $46 million at
June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. There were no investments in treasury bills and government
bonds at June 30, 2009 while there was $16 million invested in treasury bills and government bonds
at June 30, 2008 which are included in other assets on the statement of net assets.

Revenues and Recoverable Costs

DWR is required to at least annually establish a revenue requirement determination to recover all
Fund costs, including debt service. The revenue requirement determination is submitted to the CPUC
which then sets customer remittance rates. The Fund's financial statements are prepared in
accordance with Topic 980 of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification, “Regulated
Operations”, which requires that the effects of the revenue requirement process be recorded in the
financial statements. Accordingly, all expenses and credits, normally reflected in the change in net
assets as incurred, are recognized when recovered from 10U customers. Costs that are recoverable
through future billings are recorded as long-term assets.

Amounts that have been earned but not collected by the Fund are recorded as the current portion of
recoverable costs.

Customer charges are separated into two primary components, power charges and bond charges.
Power charge revenues recover the cost of power purchases, other expenses and operating reserves
and are recognized when energy provided by DWR is delivered to the IOU customers. Certain
customers of “direct access” Electric Service Providers (ESPs) are assessed a “cost responsibility
surcharge” that is used by DWR for the same purposes as power charge revenues. Bond charge
revenues recover debt service, debt service reserves and other bond related costs and are
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recognized when energy provided by either DWR, the 10U, or an ESP, is delivered to IOU or ESP
customers. Costs are recovered over the life of the bonds (2022) as determined by DWR’s revenue
requirement process.

Surplus sales represent DWR’s 1) allocated portion of the I0Us total surplus energy sales, and 2) the
sale of gas not needed for the generation of power. Through March 2009, the revenue from the sale
of excess energy by the IOUs was shared on a pro-rata basis between DWR and the IOUs, based on
the amount of energy provided by DWR relative to the total amount of energy provided from IOU
generation in the individual IOU’s service territory. Beginning April 1, 2009, the Fund no longer
receives an allocation of surplus power sales from each 10U service territory as indicated in a CPUC
ruling in connection with implementing operational changes to adapt to the California Independent
System Operator’s (the CAISO) Market Redesign Technology Upgrade (MRTU) launched on

March 31, 2009. Revenues for sales of surplus gas are still received.

New Accounting Pronouncement
GASB 53 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments

For the year ended June 30, 2010, the Fund will be required to implement Governmental Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments
(GASB 53). GASB 53 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for the recognition,
measurement, and disclosure of information regarding derivative instruments entered into by state
and local governments. The Fund is party to derivative financial instruments, consisting of interest
rate swap agreements, gas price swap agreements, option agreements, and gas and electricity
purchase agreements. Under the provisions of GASB 53, derivatives that are not considered to be
normal purchases or normal sales are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet. GASB 53 defines
normal purchases and normal sales as contracts that are for the purchase or sale of a commodity,
such as natural gas or electricity, to be used in the normal course of operations, provided that it is
probable DWR will take delivery of the commodity specified in the derivative instrument. Changes in
the fair value of derivatives that do not meet the requirements of an effective hedge transaction will be
included in investment income as required under GASB 53. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
which are effective hedges, will be deferred on the balance sheet and included in prepaid expenses
and other current assets. The fair value of a derivative instrument is either the value of its future cash
flows in today's dollars or the price it would bring if it could be sold on an open market. DWR is
currently evaluating the impact of GASB 53 on the Fund's financial statements.

3. Restricted Cash and Investments
The State of California has a deposit policy to address custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2009 and

2008, $6 million and $16 million, respectively, of the Fund’s cash balances were uninsured and
uncollateralized.
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As of June 30, 2009 and 2008, the Fund had the following cash, cash equivalents and investments (in
millions):

Investment Maturity 2009 2008

State of California Pooled Money
Investment Account - State Money

Investment Fund 7.8 months average $ 2,752 $ 2,831
Cash 34 30
Total cash and equivalents 2,786 2,861
Guaranteed investment contracts May 1, 2022 200 350
Forward purchase agreement November 1, 2009 100 100
$ 3,086 $ 3,311

Reconciliation to Statement of Net Assets:
Operating Reserve Account $ 543 $ 548
Debt Service Reserve Account 950 917
Operating and Priority Contract Accounts 964 1,227

Bond Charge Collection and

Bond Charge Payment Accounts 629 619

$ 3,086 $ 3,311

Interest Rate Risk: In accordance with its investment policy, the State of California manages its
exposure to declines in fair values by limiting investments to the maximum maturities, as follows: U.S.
Treasury securities, 5 years; federal agency securities, 5 years; bankers acceptances — domestic and
foreign, 180 days; certificates of deposits, 5 years; commercial paper, 180 days; corporate bonds and
notes, 5 years; repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, 1 year.

Credit Risk: The PMIA funds are on deposit with the State’s Centralized Treasury System and are
managed in compliance with the California Government Code, according to a statement of investment
policy which sets forth permitted investment vehicles, liquidity parameters and maximum maturity of
investments. These investments consist of U.S. government securities, securities of federally-
sponsored agencies, U.S. corporate bonds, interest bearing time deposits in California banks, prime-
rated commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances, negotiable certificates of deposit, repurchase and
reverse repurchase agreements. The PMIA policy limits the use of reverse repurchase agreements
to limits of no more than 10% of the PMIA and commercial paper to limits not to exceed 30% of the

PMIA. The PMIA does not invest in leveraged products or inverse floating rate securities. The PMIA
is not rated.

The Fund’s investments in the GICs and the FPA are rated as follows, by Standard & Poor’s (S&P)
and Moody’s, respectively, at June 30, 2009 (in millions):

Amount S&P Moody's
GIC Providers
FSA $ 100 AAA Aa3
Royal Bank of Canada 100 AA- Aaa
$ 200
FPA Provider
Merrill Lynch: FHLMC
Discounted Notes $ 100 AAA Aaa
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Concentration of Credit Risk: The PMIA’s concentration of credit risk is limited by spreading the
investment mix over different investment types and issuers to minimize the impact any one industry,
investment class, or institution can have on the PMIA portfolio.

Interest on deposits in the PMIA varies with the rate of return of the underlying portfolio and
approximated 1.4% and 2.9% at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. For the years ended

June 30, 2009 and 2008, interest earned on the deposit in the PMIA was $61 million and $128 million,
respectively. Additionally during the year ended June 30, 2008, the Fund earned $15 million on bond
issuance proceeds while in escrow, which was paid to the Fund upon the close of escrow.

Interest on the GICs is paid semi-annually at interest rates ranging from 5.3% to 5.5%. Interest
earned on the GICs was $17 million and $23 million for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. In both 2009 and 2008, a GIC valued at $150 million was redeemed and the proceeds
were invested in SMIF.

The FPA allows DWR to continuously reinvest funds in U.S. government or U.S. government agency
securities through May 2022 to earn a minimum rate of return of 4.7%, as specified in the Reserve
Fund Forward Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated May 1, 2004. The reinvested securities are to
mature every six months. Interest earned on the FPA was $5 million for the years ended June 30,
2009 and 2008.

4. Long-Term Debt

The following activity occurred in the long-term debt accounts during the years ended June 30, 2009
and 2008 (in millions):

Deferred
Revenue Unamortized Loss on
Bonds Premium Defeasance Total
Balance, June 30, 2007 $ 10,054 $ 137  $ (196) $ 9,995
Refunding
Issuance of debt 1,766 61 - 1,827
Defeasance of debt (1,825) - - (1,825)
Payments (470) - - (470)
Amortization - (32) 14 (18)
Balance, June 30, 2008 9,525 166 (182) 9,509
Reoffering
Issuance of debt 521 8 - 529
Defeasance of debt (523) - (4) (527)
Payments (493) - - (493)
Amortization - (32) 15 (17)
Balance, June 30, 2009 9,030 142 (171) 9,001
Less current portion 518 28 (16) 530
$ 8,512 $ 114 $ (155) § 8,471
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Long-term debt consists of the following at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively (in millions):

Fiscal Year of Fiscal Year of Amount Outstanding
Series Rates Final maturity First Call Date 2009 2008

A Fixed (3.1-6.0%) 2018 2012 $ 2,458 $ 2,826

B Variable 2020 Callable 1,000 1,000

C Variable 2021 Callable 2,229 2,333

F Variable 2022 Callable 409 759

F Fixed (4.375-5.0%) 2022 Callable 348 -

G Variable 2018 Callable 646 841

G Fixed (4.35-5.0%) 2016/18 Callable 173 -

H Fixed (3.75-5.0%) 2022 2018 1,007 1,007

I Variable 2022 Callable 150 150

J Variable 2018 Callable 330 330

K Fixed (4.9-5.0%) 2018 Non-callable 279 279

$ 9,030 $ 9,625

Plus unamortized bond premium 142 166
Less deferred loss on defeasance 171) (182)
Less current maturities (530) (510)
$ 8471  $ 8,999

Debt transactions

During the year-ended June 30, 2009 DWR executed debt-related transactions in order to reduce
dependencies on credit support facilities that were expiring or negatively impacted by economic
uncertainties in the credit markets, and to reduce prospective interest rate risk. In December, 2008
DWR converted $173 million of Series G variable-rate bonds fixed rate bonds.

In January 2009, DWR converted $348 million of Series F variable-rate bonds to fixed rate bonds. In
total these conversion and remarketing transactions generated premiums of $8 million and debt
issuance costs of $4 million which are being amortized over the remaining lives of the bonds.

During the year ended June 30, 2008, DWR issued an aggregate $1.766 billion in refunding revenue
bonds (Series H, I, J, and K) to refund $1.825 billion of outstanding 2002 Series C and D and 2005
Series G variable rate bonds. The proceeds of the refunding bonds, along with funds released from
the Bond Charge Payment Account ($4 million) and Debt Service Reserve Account ($20 million),
were used to purchase securities that were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to
refund bonds and pay for underwriting fees and other issuance costs. The refunded bonds were all
redeemed by May 2008.

Because the refunded bonds were variable rate bonds, the refunding did not result in an accounting
loss.

Key terms

Principal and interest payments are payable from bond charges. The Fund is subject to certain bond
covenants, including establishing funding and expenditure requirements for several restricted cash
and investment accounts. The bonds are limited special obligations of the Fund. Neither the
principal nor any interest thereon constitutes a debt of the State of California.
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The Series A bonds are callable May 1, 2012 through October 31, 2012 at a redemption rate of
101%, from November 1, 2012 through April 30, 2013 at a redemption rate of 100.5% and thereafter,
at 100%. The Series H bonds are callable in 2018 at a redemption rate of 100%. All other callable
bonds are redeemable at 100%.

DWR's variable rate bonds have either daily or weekly rate reset modes. The variable rate bonds
have a final stated maturity of 2022, but are scheduled to be retired in sinking fund installments from
2008 to 2022. The interest rates for the variable debt for the year ended June 30, 2009 and 2008,
ranged from 0.05% to 10.00% and from 0.30% to 10.94%, respectively.

The payment of principal and interest for all Series B bonds, $1.73 billion of Series C bonds, $409
million of Series F bonds, $46 million of Series G and all Series | and J bonds are paid from draws
made under letters of credit. Draws made under the letters of credit are to be reimbursed on the
same day by the Fund. Bonds purchased under the letters of credit are required to be redeemed in
equal installments over a three year period beginning six months after the termination date of the
letter of credit. There are no outstanding amounts on the letters of credit at June 30, 2009. The Fund
pays fees of 0.45% per annum on the stated amount of the letters of credit for the Series B and C
bonds, in a range from 0.35% to 0.38% per annum on the stated amount for the Series F and G
bonds, and 0.53% per annum on the stated amount for the Series | and J bonds. All Series B, C, F,
G, | and J letters of credit expire in fiscal year 2011.

Remarketing, credit support and related uncertainties

DWR bonds are remarketed by fourteen different broker-dealer remarketing agents, with credit
enhancement provided by twenty one banks to spread its risk exposure among many firms.
Remarketing agents can experience problems finding investors for certain bonds, including those with
credit enhancement from banks and insurers that have perceived credit risk, as well as risk specific to
their own company that carries negative perception with investors. Failed remarketings can result in
the credit enhancing bank’s required purchase of the bonds, and they become “bank bonds”. If this
occurs, DWR is required to pay a stated fixed interest rate quarterly until the bonds are successfully
remarketed. If the agreements expire or are terminated, DWR is required to begin paying principal in
quarterly installments nine months after termination. Early repayment requirements vary with each
type of credit facility. Letters of credit require DWR to repay the bonds in eleven equal quarterly
installments, while liquidity facilities require repayment in nineteen or twenty seven equal quarterly
installments depending on the provider.

During the year ended June 30, 2009, negative credit market impacts increased borrowing costs on
variable rate bonds that experienced interest rate resets at higher rates and on occasion caused the
remarketing failure of bonds resulting in those bonds becoming bank bonds. The level of bank bonds
can fluctuate daily as the bonds are successfully remarketed. At June 30, 2009, there were no
outstanding bank bonds.

At June 30, 2009, $496 million of Series C bonds and $600 million of Series G bonds are credit
enhanced by bond insurance for the timely payment of principal and interest. All insured bonds are
enhanced by FSA bond insurance which was rated AAA/Aa3 by S&P and Moody’s at June 30, 2009.
Liquidity support for these variable rate bonds is provided by bank liquidity facilities. Any funds paid
under the bond insurance facilities are immediately due and payable by the Fund. Bonds purchased
under the initial liquidity facilities are required to be redeemed in equal installments over a five or
seven year period beginning six months after the termination date of the liquidity facilities. There are
no outstanding amounts due under liquidity facilities at June 30, 2009. The liquidity facilities backing
the $496 million of Series C bonds expire in fiscal year 2013. The Fund pays fees of 0.22% to 0.28%
per annum under the Series C liquidity facilities. Four liquidity facilities backing $500 million of Series
G bonds expire in fiscal year 2011 and the final liquidity facility underlying $100 million expires in
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fiscal year 2013. The Fund pays fees of between 0.15% to 0.19% per annum under the Series G
liquidity facilities.

DWR is considering other options available to remedy any lack of credit capacity to renew all expiring
agreements. DWR may convert the bonds to a fixed mode or plan a fixed refunding for all bonds
where credit enhancement is not renewed, with identical maturities to the currently enhanced bonds.

Maturities
Future payment requirements on the revenue bonds are as follows at June 30, 2009 (in millions):

Fiscal Year Principal Interest ' Total
2010 $ 518 $ 229 $ 747
2011 545 209 754
2012 573 191 764
2013 602 170 772
2014 635 142 777

2015-2019 3,601 452 4,053

2020-2022 2,556 125 2,681

T 9,030 T 1518 $10,548

" Variable portion of interest cost calculated using the June 30, 2009
Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association Swap Index (SIFMA).

5. Interest Rate Swaps

DWR, on behalf of the Fund, entered into interest rate swap agreements with various counterparties
to reduce variable interest rate risk. The swaps create a synthetic fixed rate for DWR. DWR has
agreed to make fixed rate payments and receive floating rate payments on notional amounts equal to
a portion of the principal amount of DWR’s variable rate debt.
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The terms, fair values, and credit ratings of counterparties for the various swap agreements at
June 30, 2009 are summarized in the following table (in millions):

Outstanding Fixed Rate Variable Rate ' Fair Swap Counterparty
Notional Paid by Received by Value Termination Credit Rating
Amount Fund Fund gain (loss) Date S&P Moody's Fitch

$ 94 2.914% 67% of LIBOR $ 4) May 1, 2011 AAA Aaa AAA
234 3.024% 67% of LIBOR (12) May 1, 2012 AAA Aaa AAA
127 3.405% SIFMA (5) May 1, 2013 AA- Aai AA-
63 3.405% SIFMA (3) May 1, 2013 A A2 A
19 3.405% SIFMA (1) May 1, 2013 A A2 A+
194 3.204% 67% of LIBOR (12) May 1, 2014 A+ Aa3 A+
265 3.184% 66.5% of LIBOR (15) May 1, 2015 BBB A3 A-
174 3.280% 67% of LIBOR (12) May 1, 2015 AAA Aaa AAA
202 3.342% 67% of LIBOR (14) May 1, 2016 AA Aa1l AA
485 3.228% 66.5% of LIBOR (32) May 1, 2016 AA Aa1l AA
202 3.389% 67% of LIBOR (15) May 1, 2017 A A2 A
480 3.282% 66.5% of LIBOR (30) May 1, 2017 AA Aa2 AA
514 3.331% 66.5% of LIBOR (31) May 1, 2018 A+ Aa1 AA-
306 3.256% 64% of LIBOR 17) May 1, 2020 A+ Aa1l AA-
453 3.325% 64% of LIBOR (23) May 1, 2022 AA- Aaa AA
$ 3,812 $_ (226)

' One month U.S. Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate or Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association
Swap Index (SIFMA) (formerly BMA)

The notional amounts of the swaps match the principal amounts of the associated debt. The swap
agreements contain scheduled reductions in notional amounts that follow scheduled amortization of
the associated debt.

As of June 30, 2009, the variable rates on DWR'’s hedged bonds ranged from 0.10% to 3.00%, while
the variable rates received on the LIBOR-based swaps were 0.20% to 0.21% and the variable rate
received on the SIFMA-based swap was 0.35%.

Fair Value: The reported fair values from the table above were determined based on quoted market
prices for similar financial instruments.

Basis Risk: The Fund is exposed to basis risk on the swaps that have payments calculated on the
basis of a percentage of LIBOR (a taxable rate index). The basis risk results from the fact that
DWR’s floating interest payments payable on the underlying debt are determined in the tax-exempt
market, while DWR’s floating receipts on the swaps are based on LIBOR, which is determined in the
taxable market. When the relationship between LIBOR and the tax-exempt market change and move
to convergence, or DWR’s bonds trade at levels higher in rate in relation to the tax-exempt market,
DWR'’s all-in costs would increase.
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DWR has entered into basis swaps to mitigate this risk and optimize debt service by changing the
variable rate received by the Fund to a five year Constant Maturity Swap Index (CMS). The terms,
fair values, and credit ratings of counterparties for the various basis swap agreements at

June 30, 2009 are summarized in the following table (in millions):

Outstanding Variable Rate ' Variable Rate 2 Fair Swap Counterparty
Notional Paid by Received by Value Termination Credit Rating
Amount Fund Fund gain (loss) Date S&P Moody's Fitch

$ 234 67% of LIBOR 62.83% of CMS  $ 8 May 1, 2012 AA Aa1 AA

194 67% of LIBOR 62.70% of CMS 8 May 1, 2014 A+ Aa1 AA-
174 67% of LIBOR 62.60% of CMS 7 May 1, 2015 AA- Aa1 AA-
202 67% of LIBOR 62.80% of CMS 9 May 1, 2016 AA Aa1 AA
202 67% of LIBOR 62.66% of CMS 9 May 1, 2017 AA- Aa1 AA-

$ 1,006 $ 41

1 One month U.S. Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate
2 Five year Constant Maturity Swap

As of June 30, 2009, 67% of LIBOR paid on the basis swaps was equal to 0.21% while the variable
rates received based on the five year CMS Index was 1.85%.

Net amounts paid under all swaps amounted to $75 million and $18 million for the years ended
June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Credit Risk: The Fund has a total of twenty swap agreements with ten different counterparties at
June 30, 2009. DWR’s policies limit the amount of notional exposure to a single counterparty at no
more than 25 percent. Approximately 23 percent of the swaps' total notional value is with a single
counterparty with a credit rating of AA/Aa1/AA, while 21 percent of the total notional value is held with
another counterparty with credit ratings of A+/Aa1/AA-. The remaining swaps are with separate
counterparties, all having BBB/A3/A- ratings or better.

Termination Risk: The Fund's swap agreements do not contain any out-of-the-ordinary termination

provisions that would expose it to significant termination risk. In keeping with market standards, DWR

or the counterparty may terminate a swap agreement if the other party fails to perform under the
terms of the contract. In addition, the swap documents allow either party to terminate in the event of
a significant loss of creditworthiness by the other party. If a termination were to occur, at the time of
the termination, the Fund would be liable for payment equal to the swap’s fair value, if it had a

negative fair value at that time. The counterparty would be liable for any payment equal to the swap’s

fair value, if it had positive fair value at that time. As of June 30, 2009, the ratings published by a
ratings agency for one Fund swap counterparty, has fallen below the A- level that would allow DWR
to terminate the swap. At this time DWR is not planning to terminate based on the swap having a
valuation that would create a liability for the Fund and therefore, does not create any credit risk. In
addition, a termination would mean that the Fund's underlying floating rate bonds would no longer be
hedged and the Fund would be exposed to floating rate risk, unless it entered into a new hedge
following termination.

Rollover Risk: Since the swap agreements have termination dates and notional amounts that are tied

to equivalent maturity dates and principal amounts of amortizing debt, there is no rollover risk
associated with the swap agreements, other than in the event of a termination.
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Swap Payments and Associated Debt. As rates vary, variable-rate bond interest payments and net
swap interest payments will vary. As of June 30, 2009, debt service requirements of the variable-rate
debt and net swap payments, assuming current interest rates remain the same, for their term were as
follows (in millions):

Variable Rate Bonds Interest Rate

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Swaps, Net Total
2010 $ 80 $ 13  $ 99 § 192
2011 241 13 96 350
2012 258 12 90 360
2013 54 11 86 151
2014 221 11 84 316
2015-2019 2,365 32 266 2,663
2020-2022 593 4 39 636
$ 3812  $ 96 $ 760 § 4,668

6. Retirement Plan and Postretirement Benefits

Retirement Plan Description

The State of California is a member of the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS),
an agent multiple-employer pension system that provides a contributory defined-benefit pension for
substantially all State employees. DWR is included in the State Miscellaneous Category (Tier 1 and
Tier 2) within PERS, thereby limiting the availability of certain DWR pension data. PERS functions as
an investment and administrative agent for participating public agencies within the State of California.
Departments and agencies within the State of California, including DWR, are in a cost-sharing
arrangement in which all risks and costs are shared proportionately by participating State agencies.
Copies of PERS’ comprehensive annual financial report may be obtained from their executive office
at 400 P Street, Sacramento, California 95814. The pension plan provides retirement benefits,
survivor benefits, and death and disability benefits based upon an employee’s years of credited
service, age and final compensation. Vesting occurs after five years of credited service except for
second tier benefits, which require ten years of credited service. Employees who retire at or after age
50 with five or more years of service are entitled to a retirement benefit, payable monthly for the
remainder of their lives. Several survivor benefit options which reduce a retiree’s unmodified benefit
are available. Benefit provisions and all other requirements are established by state statute.

Annual Pension Cost

For the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, DWR’s annual pension cost payable from the Fund
and actual contribution allocated to the Fund based on the Fund’s payroll costs approximated

$1 million per year.
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Postretirement Benefits

In addition to the pension benefits, the State of California provides post-retirement health care
benefits, in accordance with Section 22754(g) of the State Government Code, to all employees who
retire on or after attaining certain age and length of service requirements. The State of California is
funding postretirement benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. The annual required contribution for the
Fund amounted to $1.3 million and $8.6 million for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. During fiscal year 2009, DWR modified its allocation method of post-retirement health
care costs between DWR funds. The allocation method is now based on labor costs. As a result, the
Fund's net OPEB obligation of $6 million at June 30, 2008 was reduced to $2 million at June 30,
2009. The Fund's annual required contribution represents 0.03% of the State's total annual required
contribution for the year ended June 30, 2009. The State's unfunded actuarial accrued liability at
July 1, 2009 attributable all State employees is projected to be $51 billion.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings
Certain pending legal and administrative proceedings involving DWR or affecting DWR’s power
supply program are summarized below.

California Refund Proceedings: During 2001 and 2002, DWR purchased power in bilateral
transactions (both short term and long term), sold power to the CAISO, paid for power purchased by
the CAISO and purchased power from the CAISO for sale to customers of the IOUs. In July 2001,
the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) initiated an administrative proceeding to
calculate refunds for inflated prices in the CAISO and California Power Exchange (PX) markets
during 2000 and 2001. FERC ruled that DWR would not be entitled in that proceeding to
approximately $3.5 billion in refunds associated with DWR’s approximately $5 billion of short term
purchases because DWR made those purchases bilaterally, not in the PX or CAISO markets. The
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed FERC, but left open the possibility of refunds on DWR’s
bilateral purchases in other FERC proceedings. In contrast, FERC ruled that DWR is entitled to
refunds on purchases made by the CAISO where DWR actually paid the bill.

Of DWR’s $5 billion in short term bilateral purchases, $2.9 billion was imbalance energy which DWR
sold to the CAISO at DWR’s cost in order to meet the CAISO’s emergency needs during 2001. DWR
is treated in the FERC refund proceeding as a seller of that energy to CAISO, and in May 2004,
FERC issued an order requiring DWR to pay refunds on the sales to the CAISO. However, because
DWR would likely be the primary recipient of any refunds on energy it sold to the CAISO, DWR’s
potential net liability associated with its sales to the CAISO would be substantially reduced.
Settlements executed to date with various sellers have reduced that potential liability even further.

Under FERC'’s orders, therefore, DWR both owes refunds (on the energy it sold to the CAISO) and is
entitled to refunds (on the energy that the CAISO purchased but DWR paid for).

As to refunds owed, FERC has ruled that to the extent DWR could demonstrate that payment of
refunds would result in DWR’s costs exceeding its revenues remaining after payment of refunds,
DWR could request FERC to reduce the refunds. DWR made a cost recovery filing that DWR
believes demonstrates that its costs related to sales to the CAISO exceeded its revenues, a
demonstration that, if approved by FERC, would eliminate any refund amount DWR might otherwise
be required to pay. In January 2006, FERC deferred action on DWR’s cost filing on the basis that
DWR, as described above, likely will be a net refund recipient, and net refund recipients, according to
FERC, cannot make cost filings. Certain California parties have sought rehearing of that order.
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In addition, in September 2005, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals ruled that FERC could not require
governmental entities such as DWR to pay refunds.

DWR does not expect that FERC will order it to pay more in refunds than it receives on a market-wide
basis.

Direct Access Proceeding: On February 28, 2008, the CPUC approved a decision concluding that the
suspension of direct access cannot be lifted at the present time because DWR s still supplying power
under the Act. However, the decision continued the proceeding to consider possible approaches to
expediting DWR’s exit from its role of supplying power under the Act. On November 21, 2008, the
CPUC adopted a plan with the goal of the early exit of DWR from its role as supplier of power to retail
electric customers. Under this plan, DWR’s power purchase contracts would be replaced by
agreements between the IOUs and DWR's power supplier counterparties that are not detrimental to
ratepayers, through novation and/or negotiation. The decision sets a goal for the execution of
replacement agreements for all of the Power Purchase Contracts by January 1, 2010. Although the
CPUC decision sets a goal of January 1, 2010 for the removal of DWR from all of its power purchase
contracts, that is not the target date for reopening direct access to bundled customers.

Provisions in 22 out of the 26 remaining DWR power purchase contracts would, if certain conditions
are satisfied (including a minimum credit rating requirement for the IOU in some contracts), allow for
DWR to novate the contract to a qualifying IOU. DWR's interest in and obligations under such a
contract would be terminated upon such a novation. Four contracts currently lack such a provision,
thus requiring negotiations with those counterparties before DWR's interest in and obligations under
those contracts could be terminated prior to their scheduled termination. No assurance can be given
that agreement could be reached with any of the counterparties to those four contracts or as to the
timing of any such agreement

While the CPUC has set a goal of novating contracts as early as January 1, 2010, numerous
conditions would need to be satisfied in order to complete the process. As such, timing and extent of
future novation is uncertain. In the event of contract novation, management will reassess the impact
on existing and future revenue requirements and consider modifying power charges accordingly.
Management does not believe there will be a significant impact to the Fund's financial position in the
event of novations of contracts.

Other Contingencies

The Fund is self-insured for most risks, including general liability and workers' compensation.
Management believes the Fund’s exposure to loss is immaterial and that any costs associated with
such potential losses are recoverable from customers as part of DWR’s revenue requirement.

Commitments

DWR has power purchase contracts that have remaining lives of up to seven years. Payments under
these and gas purchase contracts approximated $3.9 billion and $4.3 billion for fiscal 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
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The remaining amounts of fixed obligations under the contracts as of June 30, 2009, are as follows

(in millions):
Fixed

Fiscal Year Obligation
2010 $ 1,923

2011 1,463

2012 631

2013 61

2014 15

2015 4

$ 4,097

In addition to the fixed costs there are variable costs under several of the contracts. Management
projected as of June 30, 2009 that the amount of future fixed and variable obligations associated with
long-term power purchase contracts would approximate $6 billion. The difference between the fixed
costs and the expected total costs of the contracts are primarily due to the variable factors associated
with dispatchable contracts and the cost of natural gas. The Fund enters into forward gas futures
contracts to hedge the cost of natural gas.

All of the power purchase contracts and gas purchase contracts are considered derivatives under the
provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Technical Bulletin 2003-1, Disclosure
Requirements for Derivatives Not Reported at Fair Value on the Statement of Net Assets

(GASB TB 03-1). Most of the power purchase contracts qualify as normal purchases under

GASB TB 03-1 and as a result, market valuation and certain risk information are not required to be
disclosed.

Five power purchase contracts do not qualify as normal purchases and normal sales under the
provisions of GASB TB 03-1 because either the pricing terms contain variables which are not clearly
and closely related to the base energy price or the seller is not a generator of electricity. The fair
value of these five contracts at June 30, 2009 and 2008 are approximately a $(496) million loss and a
$459 million gain, respectively, based on quoted prices and price curves for derivatives. These
contracts, with a total capacity of 2,135 MWh at June 30, 2009, expire at various times, from
December 2010 through December 2011.

DWR also has entered into transactions to hedge the price of natural gas through bilateral
arrangements. These contracts are considered derivatives and are not considered normal purchases
or normal sales under GASB TB 03-1. The fair value of the various transactions at June 30, 2009
and 2008 approximated $(18) million and $292 million, respectively, using forward market prices.
The transaction volumes vary in size from 323 to 20,000 mmBtu per day, and they expire at various
times from August 2009 through December 2012.

Credit Risk: Since DWR is a net buyer under all power purchase contracts and the majority of DWR’s
power purchase contracts are valued in the counterparties' favor, DWR management does not
believe there is substantial credit risk. There are no contacts that were valued in DWR’s favor at
June 30, 2009 given the sharp decline in energy and natural gas prices.

DWR has open natural gas hedge positions with twelve different counterparties at June 30, 2009. All

counterparties have credit ratings of at least A-/A2. At June 30, 2009, DWR has credit risk exposure
to two counterparties, both rated A/A1 since the value is in DWR'’s favor for $3.3 million and $3.7

28



Department of Water Resources Electric Power Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
For the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008

million. DWR management believes there is no substantial credit exposure to the remaining ten
counterparties, as the sharp decrease of natural gas prices has resulted in valuations in the
counterparties' favor.

Termination Risk: None of the power purchase contracts have termination provisions that would
require DWR to make payment in the event of a counterparty default. DWR is only required to make
a termination payment upon a DWR default and the contract values in favor of the counterparty.

With regards to gas hedge agreements, DWR or the counterparty may terminate an agreement if the
other party fails to perform under the terms of the contract. In addition, the agreements allow either
party to terminate in the event of a significant loss of creditworthiness by the other party. If a
termination were to occur, DWR or the counterparty would owe the other a payment equal to the
open positions fair value in their favor.

8. Energy Settlements

DWR and other parties have entered into settlement agreements with various energy suppliers which
resolve potential and alleged causes of action against suppliers for their part in alleged manipulation
of natural gas and electricity commodity and transportation markets during the 2000 - 2001 California
energy crisis, and also received settlements from other FERC actions.

Energy settlements in 2009 total $30 million. The Fund received $12 million from a Kern River Gas
Transmission company settlement as part of a FERC decision resetting its tariff rates for the past four
years. The Fund received $4 million from the 2006 Enron Corp. settlement through bankruptcy court
distributions. Other amounts owed from the Enron Corp. settlement are subject to future bankruptcy
court distributions and will be recognized as an energy settlement if and when there is a distribution of
monies. The Fund received an additional $14 million in other settlements from various companies,
including $8 million from the California Power Exchange for collateral and receivable amounts that
had been held in escrow until the bankruptcy court approved the release of funds.

Energy settlements in 2008 total $32 million. The Fund received $24 million from the 2006 Enron
Corp. settlement through bankruptcy court distributions. Other amounts owed from the Enron Corp.
settlement are subject to future bankruptcy court distributions and will be recognized as an energy
settlement if and when there is a distribution of monies. The Fund received an additional $8 million in
other settlements.

Future revenues under the Mirant Corporation, Reliant Energy, Dynegy Inc, and Duke Energy
Corporation settlements are subject to contingencies outlined in the underlying settlement and
allocation agreements and will not be recognized until if and when the contingencies are resolved.

9. Related Party Transactions

The California State Teachers’ Retirement System (STRS) and PERS, which are part of the California
state government, participate in the Fund's letters of credit with three financial institutions. The total
commitment for two letters of credit underlying the STRS’ participation approximates $175 million and
expires on November 30, 2010. The total commitment for the two letters of credit underlying the
PERS’ participation approximates $80 million and expires on April 15, 2011. There are no
outstanding amounts on the letters of credit at June 30, 2009 or 2008.

29



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



APPENDIX B
BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM

The information in this Appendix concerning The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”) and
DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that DWR, the Underwriters and the Trustees believe to be
reliable, but DWR, the Underwriters and the Trustees take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2010L Bonds. The Series 2010L Bonds will be issued as fully-
registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Series 2010L Bond certificate will be issued for each
interest rate borne by Series 2010L Bonds of a particular maturity, each in the aggregate principal amount of Series 2010L
Bonds applicable to such interest rate, and will be deposited with DTC. If, however, the aggregate principal amount of any
such certificate exceeds $500 million, one certificate will be issued with respect to each $500 million of principal amount,
and an additional certificate will be issued with respect to any remaining principal amount of such maturity.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization”
within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within
the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of
Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of
U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that
DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry
transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies,
clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust &
Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and
Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its
regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities
brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating:
AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Series 2010L Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Series 2010L Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series
2010L Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to
receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the
Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership
interests in the Series 2010L Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants
acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests
in the Series 2010L Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2010L Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2010L Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered
in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Series 2010L Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or
such other nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial
Owners of the Series 2010L Bonds. DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such
Series 2010L Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. DWR will not have
any responsibility or obligation to such Direct Participants and Indirect Participants or the persons for whom they act as
nominees with respect to the Series 2010L Bonds. Beneficial Owners of Series 2010L Bonds may wish to take certain steps
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to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Series 2010L Bonds, such as
redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Series 2010L Bond documents. For example, Beneficial
Owners of Series 2010L Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Series 2010L Bonds for their benefit has
agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their
names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Series 2010L Bonds within an issue are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be
redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Series 2010L Bonds
unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails
an Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting
or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Series 2010L Bonds are credited on the record date (identified
in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the Series 2010L Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon
DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the State Treasurer or other Paying Agent, on payable
dates in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners
will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor
its nominee, Agent, or the State Treasurer or other Paying Agent, subject to any statutory, or regulatory requirements as may
be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the State Treasurer or other Paying Agent, disbursement of
such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial
Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2010L Bonds at any time by
giving reasonable notice to DWR or the Trustees. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not
obtained, Series 2010L Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

DWR and the Trustees may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, Series 2010L Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.

THE TRUSTEES, AS LONG AS A BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM IS USED FOR THE SERIES 2010L
BONDS, WILL SEND ANY NOTICE OF REDEMPTION OR OTHER NOTICES TO OWNERS ONLY TO DTC. ANY
FAILURE OF DTC TO ADVISE ANY PARTICIPANT, OR OF ANY PARTICIPANT TO NOTIFY ANY BENEFICIAL
OWNER, OF ANY NOTICE AND ITS CONTENT OR EFFECT WILL NOT AFFECT THE VALIDITY OR
SUFFICIENCY OF THE PROCEEDINGS RELATING TO THE REDEMPTION OF THE SERIES 2010L BONDS
CALLED FOR REDEMPTION OR OF ANY OTHER ACTION PREMISED ON SUCH NOTICE.

DWR and the Trustees cannot and do not give any assurances that DTC will distribute to Participants, or that
Participants or others will distribute to the Beneficial Owners, payments of principal of and interest and premium, if any, on
the Bonds paid or any redemption or other notices or that they will do so on a timely basis or will serve and act in the manner
described in this Official Statement. Neither DWR nor the Trustees are responsible or liable for the failure of DTC or any
Direct Participant or Indirect Participant to make any payments or give any notice to a Beneficial Owner with respect to the
Series 2010L Bonds or any error or delay relating thereto.

The foregoing description of the procedures and record keeping with respect to beneficial ownership interests in the
Series 2010L Bonds, payment of principal of and interest and other payments with respect to the Series 200C Bonds to Direct
Participants, Indirect Participants or Beneficial Owners, confirmation and transfer of beneficial ownership interest in such
Bonds and other related transactions by and between DTC, the Direct Participants, the Indirect Participants and the Beneficial
Owners is based solely on information provided by DTC. Accordingly, no representations can be made concerning these
matters and neither the Direct Participants, the Indirect Participants nor the Beneficial Owners should rely on the foregoing
information with respect to such matters but should instead confirm the same with DTC or the Participants, as the case may
be.
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SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 2010L BONDS, AS NOMINEE
OF DTC, REFERENCES HEREIN TO THE HOLDERS SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO., AS AFORESAID, AND SHALL
NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2010L BONDS.
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Indenture. The summary does not purport to be complete or
definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Indenture, copies of which are on file with the Trustee and Co-
Trustee.

Definitions

For purposes of this Summary, capitalized terms shall have the meanings assigned to them below, or in other cases
as contained elsewhere in this Official Statement as indicated in Appendix G.

“Accreted Value” means, with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds, (i) as of any Valuation Date, the amount
set forth for such date in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds and (ii) as of any date
other than a Valuation Date, the sum of (a) the Accreted Value on the preceding Valuation Date and (b) the product of (1) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days having elapsed from the preceding Valuation Date and the
denominator of which is the number of days from such preceding Valuation Date to the next succeeding Valuation Date, and
(2) the difference between the Accreted Values for such Valuation Dates. Accreted Value shall be computed on a 30/360—
day basis.

“Act” means Division 27 (commencing with Section 80000) of the State Water Code, as amended from time to
time.

“Additional Emergency Measures” or “Emergency Measures” means Executive Order No. D-56-02 dated May
23, 2002, or any Proclamation or Order of the Governor of the State hereafter issued pursuant to the California Emergency
Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2 of the California Government Code, as amended) (including, but not limited to,
any regulations issued pursuant thereto) adopted in response to or in anticipation of the need to assure the availability of
power to retail end-use customers in the State due to the inability or failure of an Electrical Corporation to purchase such
power following the end of the Department’s authority to enter into new Power Supply Contracts under Assembly Bill 1X.

“Administrative Cost Account” means the Account by that name established under the Indenture.

“Aggregate Debt Service” means, for any period and as of any date of calculation, the sum of the amounts of Debt
Service for such period with respect to all Series of Bonds.

“Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit” means any irrevocable surety bond, insurance policy, letter of
credit or any other similar obligation provided to the Trustee as a substitute for the deposit of cash and/or Authorized
Investments, or another Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit, in the Debt Service Reserve Account.

“Assembly Bill 1X” means Chapter 4 of the Statutes of 2001 (AB 1 of the First Extraordinary Session) of the State,
as amended from time to time, including, but not limited to, Chapter 9 of the Statutes of 2001 (SB 31 of the First
Extraordinary Session).

“Authorized Investments” means and includes any of the following securities, if and to the extent the same are at
the time legal for investment of the Department’s funds pursuant to any law, and to the extent permitted under any applicable

regulation, guideline and policy of the Department, as each is in effect from time to time:

(1) bonds or interest-bearing notes or obligations of the United States, or those for which the faith and
credit of the United States are pledged for the payment of principal and interest;

(i1) bonds or interest-bearing notes or obligations that are guaranteed as to principal and interest by a
federal agency of the United States;

(ii1) bonds of the State or bonds for which the faith and credit of the State are pledged for the payment
of principal and interest;
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(iv) bonds or warrants, including, but not limited to, revenue warrants, of any county, city,
metropolitan water district, California water district, California water storage district, irrigation district in the State, municipal
utility district or school district of the State;

(v) bonds, consolidated bonds, collateral trust debentures, consolidated debentures or other
obligations issued by general land banks or federal intermediate credit banks established under the Federal Farm Loan Act, as
amended, debentures and consolidated debentures issued by the Central Bank for Cooperatives and banks for cooperatives
established under the Farm Credit Act of 1933, as amended, bonds or debentures of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board
established under the Federal Home Loan Bank Act, stocks, bonds, debentures and other obligations of the Federal National
Mortgage Association established under the National Housing Act, as amended, and the bonds of any federal home loan bank
established under said act, obligations of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, and bonds, notes and other
obligations issued by the Tennessee Valley Authority under the Tennessee Valley Authority Act, as amended;

(vi) commercial paper rated within the top Rating Category by a Rating Agency and issued by
corporations (1) organized and operating within the United States, (2) having total assets in excess of $500,000,000 and (3)
approved by the Pooled Money Investment Board of the State, provided, however that eligible commercial paper may not
exceed one hundred eighty (180) days’ maturity, represent more than 10% of the outstanding paper of an issuing corporation
nor exceed 30% of the resources of an investment program, and that at the request of the Department, such investment shall
be secured by the issuer by depositing with the Trustee securities authorized by Section 53651 of the California Government
Code of a market value of at least 10% in excess of the amount of the Department’s investment;

(vii) bills of exchange or time drafts drawn on and accepted by a commercial bank the general
obligations of which are rated within the top two Rating Categories by a Rating Agency, otherwise known as banker’s
acceptances, which are eligible for purchase by the Federal Reserve System;

(viii)  negotiable certificates of deposit issued by a nationally or state-chartered bank or savings and loan
association or by a state-licensed branch of a foreign bank which, to the extent they are not insured by federal deposit
insurance, are issued by an institution the general obligations of which are rated in one of the top two Rating Categories by a
Rating Agency;

(ix) bonds, debentures and notes issued by corporations organized and operating within the United
States which securities are rated in one of the top two Rating Categories by a Rating Agency;

(x) interest-bearing accounts in state or national banks or in state or federal savings and loan
associations having principal offices in the State, the deposits of which shall be secured at all times and in the same manner
as state moneys are by law required to be secured;

(xi) deposits in the Surplus Money Investment Fund as referred to in the California Government Code;

(xii) repurchase agreements or reverse repurchase agreements, as such terms are defined in and
pursuant to the terms of Section 16480.4 of the California Government Code;

(xiii)  collateralized or uncollateralized investment agreements or other contractual arrangements with
corporations, financial institutions or national associations within the United States, provided that the senior long-term debt
of such corporations, institutions or associations is rated within the top two Rating Categories by a Rating Agency;

(xiv)  money market funds that invest solely in obligations described in clause (i) of this definition; or

(xv) such other investments as may be authorized by a Supplemental Indenture, provided that each
Rating Agency has confirmed in writing to the Trustee that the use of such additional investments will not, by itself, result in
the withdrawal, suspension or downgrade of any rating issued by such Rating Agency with respect to any Outstanding Bonds.

“Authorized Officer” means the Director, any Deputy Director, the Chief, Division of Fiscal Services, the Deputy
Controller and the Chief Counsel of the Department, and any other individual authorized by the Director to perform the act or
sign the document in question.



“Bank” means any (i) bank or trust company organized under the laws of any state of the United States of America,
(i) national banking association, (iii) savings bank or savings and loan association chartered or organized under the laws of
any state of the United States of America, or (iv) federal branch or agency pursuant to the International Banking Act of 1978
or any successor provisions of law, or domestic branch or agency of a foreign bank which branch or agency is duly licensed
or authorized to do business under the laws of any state or territory of the United States of America.

“Bond Charge” has the same meaning as that term is defined in the 2002 Rate Agreement, including, without
limitation, any Bond Charges imposed on power furnished by an Electric Service Provider (as defined in the 2002 Rate
Agreement).

“Bond Charge Collection Account” means the account by that name established under the Indenture.
“Bond Charge Payment Account” means the account by that name established under the Indenture.
“Bond Charge Revenues” means Revenues received by the Department arising from Bond Charges.

“Bond Related Costs” has the same meaning as that term is defined in the 2002 Rate Agreement, and shall include
the items of cost specified in section D.3 under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” below.

“Bonds” means any obligations, issued in any form of debt, authorized by the Indenture and secured by a pledge of
and lien on the Trust Estate on a parity with each other and with Parity Obligations, including, but not limited to, bonds,
notes, bond anticipation notes, and commercial paper, but such term shall not include any Subordinated Indebtedness or
Subordinated Obligations. “Bonds” may also include Interim Financing Notes as described under “Special Provisions
Relating to Enhancement Facilities, Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and Interim Financing Notes” below.

“Business Day” means (a) with respect to the Bonds, any day of the year other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) a
State legal holiday, (iii) any day which shall be in the city of Sacramento, California, or the city in which the Co-Trustee or
relevant office of any Paying Agent, Registrar or Securities Depository or, if any Bond is supported by an Enhancement
Facility, the provider of such Enhancement Facility is located, a legal holiday or a day on which Banks in any of such cities
are required or authorized by law or other government action to close, or (b) with respect to any Series of Bonds, as may be
provided by Supplemental Indenture.

“Capital Appreciation Bonds” means Bonds as to which interest is payable only at the maturity or prior
redemption of such Bonds; provided, however, that if any such Bonds are converted to or from Bonds as to which interest is
payable periodically, such Bonds shall be deemed to be Capital Appreciation Bonds only after or until such conversion, as
the case may be. For the purposes of (i) receiving payment of the Redemption Price if a Capital Appreciation Bond is
redeemed prior to maturity, or (ii) computing the principal amount of Bonds held by the Owner of a Capital Appreciation
Bond in giving to the Department or the Trustee any notice, consent, request, or demand pursuant to the Indenture for any
purpose whatsoever, the principal amount of a Capital Appreciation Bond on any date shall be deemed to be its Accreted
Value as of such date.

“Commercial Paper” means Bonds issued as part of a program of short-term Bonds having the characteristics of
commercial paper in that (i) such Bonds have a stated maturity not later than 270 days from their date of issue and (ii)
maturing Bonds of such program may be paid with the proceeds of Bonds having the characteristics of Commercial Paper.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Commercial Paper may be paid with the proceeds of other Bonds.

“Commission” means the Public Utilities Commission of the State, or any successor to the rights, duties and
obligations of the Commission under the Act.

“Consultant” means an accountant or firm of accountants (which may be the accountant or firm of accountants then
serving as the auditor of the Department), or a management consultant or firm of management consultants, or an engineer or
firm of engineers, which, in any case, shall be of recognized standing in the field of electric utility rate consulting, selected by
the Department, and may be regularly retained to provide services to the Department but shall not be an officer or employee
of the State.

“Costs” means costs, expenses and purposes for which Bonds may be issued under the Act, including, but not
limited to, the following: (i) costs of Power and transmission, scheduling, and other related expenses incurred by the
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Department, including, but not limited to, all amounts payable by the Department, of whatever kind and nature, under and
pursuant to Power Supply Contracts and costs of avoiding purchasing Power for retail end-use customers paid or incurred
pursuant to an Additional Emergency Measure; (ii) reimbursement of expenditures made from the Electric Power Fund for
such purposes; (iii) repayment to the General Fund of the State of appropriations made to the Electric Power Fund pursuant to
Assembly Bill 1X or Senate Bill 7X, repayment to the General Fund of appropriations made to the Electric Power Fund after
the effectiveness of Assembly Bill 1X for purposes of Division 27 of the State Water Code, and repayment of General Fund
moneys expended by the Department pursuant to the 2001 Emergency Measures; (iv) costs of establishing or maintaining
reserves required or permitted by the Indenture, including, but not limited to, debt service and operating reserves; (v) costs of
issuing Bonds and Interim Financing Notes or costs incidental to their payment or security, including, but not limited to, fees,
expenses, and costs payable, and reimbursements, under Enhancement Facilities and the Credit and Security Agreement; (vi)
capitalized interest on Bonds; and (vii) payment of principal, interest, and redemption, tender or purchase price of any (a)
Bonds issued by the Department for the payment of any Costs, (b) Bonds issued to refund other Bonds, or (¢) any other
bonds, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued by the Department for purposes of the Act, including the Interim
Financing Notes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Costs shall not include (1) depreciation or obsolescence charges or reserves
therefor, (2) amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature; or (3) any costs of the Department
relating to a Separately Financed Program.

“Co-Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association, and its successor or successors and any other Person which
may at any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Indenture.

“Counsel’s Opinion” means an opinion signed by an attorney or firm of attorneys of nationally recognized standing
in the field of law relating to municipal bonds selected by the Department.

“Credit and Security Agreement” means the Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2001, among the
State acting through the Department, various lenders and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York as agent for such
lenders, pursuant to which the Interim Financing Notes were issued and are secured, as supplemented and amended from time
to time.

“Credit Facility Reimbursement Obligation” has the meaning as defined under “Special Provisions Relating to
Enhancement Facilities, Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and Interim Financing Notes” below.

“Debt Service” means, for purposes of determining deposits to and balances required to be on deposit in the Bond
Charge Payment Account, the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, and the additional Bonds test as provided in the Indenture,
for any period and as of any date of calculation, with respect to any Outstanding Bonds, an amount equal to the sum of (i)
interest accruing during such period on such Bonds, except to the extent that such interest is to be paid from deposits in the
Bond Charge Payment Account made from the proceeds of Bonds or Subordinated Indebtedness, and (ii) that portion of each
Principal Installment for such Bonds which would accrue during such period if such Principal Installment were deemed to
accrue daily in equal amounts from the next preceding Principal Installment due date for such Bonds (or, if there shall be no
such preceding Principal Installment due date or such preceding Principal Installment due date is more than one (1) year prior
to the due date of such Principal Installment, then from a date one (1) year preceding the due date of such Principal
Installment or from the date of issuance of such Bonds, whichever date is later). For purposes of such calculations, the
following assumptions are to be used:

(1) such interest and Principal Installments shall be calculated on the assumptions that (a) no Bonds
(except for Option Bonds actually tendered for payment and not purchased in lieu of redemption prior to the redemption date
thereof) Outstanding at the date of calculation will cease to be Outstanding except by reason of the payment of each Principal
Installment on the due date thereof and (b) the principal amount of Option Bonds tendered for payment shall be deemed to be
payable on the date required to be paid pursuant to such tender;

(i1) if 20% or more of the principal of such Bonds is not due until the final stated maturity of such
Bonds, principal and interest on such Bonds may, at the option of the Department, written notice of which shall be signed by
an Authorized Officer and filed with the Trustee, be treated as if such principal and interest were due based upon an
amortization of principal resulting in approximately level debt service (principal and interest) over the respective terms of
such Bonds;

(i) interest accruing on Variable Rate Bonds during any future period shall be assumed to accrue at a
rate equal to the greater of (a) 130% of the highest average interest rate on such Variable Rate Bonds in any calendar month
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during the twelve (12) calendar months ending with the month preceding the date of calculation, or such shorter period that
such Variable Rate Bonds shall have been Outstanding, or (b) 4.0%,

(iv) the principal of Bonds issued as Commercial Paper will be treated as if such principal were due
based upon level amortization of principal from the date of calculation to the latest maturity date of any Bonds, and the
interest on such Commercial Paper shall be calculated as if such Commercial Paper were Variable Rate Bonds;

(v) the principal and interest portions of the Accreted Value of Capital Appreciation Bonds becoming
due at maturity or by virtue of a Sinking Fund Installment shall be included in the calculations of accrued and unpaid and
accruing interest or Principal Installments in such manner and during such period of time as is specified in the Supplemental
Resolution authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds;

(vi) notwithstanding paragraphs (iii) or (iv) above, if the Department, in connection with any Variable
Rate Bonds or Commercial Paper, has entered into a Qualified Swap that provides that the Department is to pay to the
counterparty an amount determined based upon a fixed rate of interest on such Outstanding principal amount of such
Variable Rate Bonds or Commercial Paper, and that the counterparty is to pay to the Department an amount determined
based upon a variable rate of interest on such Outstanding principal amount of such Variable Rate Bonds or Commercial
Paper (a “variable rate payment”) or the amount by which the rate at which such Variable Rate Bonds or Commercial Paper
bear interest exceeds a stated rate of interest or, if the Department has entered into a Qualified Swap that provides that the
Department is to pay to the counterparty one variable rate payment and that the counterparty is to pay to the Department a
different variable rate payment, for so long as and to the extent that such Qualified Swap remains in full force and effect it
shall be assumed that such Variable Rate Bonds and Commercial Paper bear interest at a rate equal to the sum of (A) the
fixed rate of interest to be paid by the Department or the rate in excess of which the counterparty is to make payment to the
Department in accordance with such Qualified Swap, and (B) the greater of (if positive) (1) the average difference between
the actual interest rate paid by the Department on such Variable Rate Bonds or Commercial Paper and the variable interest
rate the relevant counterparty paid to the Department, taking into account all variable rate payments, during the twelve (12)
calendar months ending with the calendar month preceding the date of calculation, or such shorter period that such Variable
Rate Bonds or Commercial Paper shall have been Outstanding, and (2) the difference between the actual interest rate paid by
the Department on such Variable Rate Bonds or Commercial Paper and the variable interest rate received from the relevant
counterparty, taking into account all variable rate payments, as calculated at the end of the calendar month preceding the date
of calculation;

(vii) if the Department, in connection with any fixed rate Bonds, has entered into a Qualified Swap that
provides that the Department is to pay to the counterparty an amount determined based upon a variable rate of interest on the
Outstanding principal amount of such Bonds, it shall be assumed that such Bonds bear interest at the variable rate of interest
to be paid by the Department, with interest on such Bonds calculated as if they were Variable Rate Bonds as described in
paragraph (iii) above; provided, however, if the counterparty is to pay to the Department a fixed rate of interest on the amount
of such Bonds that is less than the fixed rate payable thercon by the Department, it shall be assumed that such Bonds bear
additional interest at the rate which is the difference between the fixed rates payable by and to the Department; and

(viii)  principal and interest payments on Bonds shall be excluded to the extent such payments are to be
paid from amounts then currently on deposit with the Trustee or other Fiduciary in escrow specifically therefor and restricted
to Defeasance Securities.

“Debt Service Reserve Account” means the account by that name established under the Indenture.

“Debt Service Reserve Requirement” means, as of any date of calculation, an amount equal to Maximum
Aggregate Annual Debt Service. In furtherance of the covenant described below under “Covenant Relating to Retirement of
Bonds,” for the purpose of calculating the Debt Service Reserve Requirement at the time of, and deposit to be made into the
Debt Service Reserve Account in connection with, the issuance of the initial Series of Bonds (or more than one Series of
Bonds delivered on the same date as the initial Series of Bonds) (collectively, the “initial Bonds”), Debt Service on the initial
Bonds shall be calculated by assuming that the initial Bonds will mature in such amounts and at such times (with the initial
Bonds assumed to bear interest as provided in the definition of Debt Service) as will result in substantially level debt service
(to the extent contemplated by such covenant of the Department) on the initial Bonds, without regard to any additional Series
of Bonds.



“Defeasance Security” means:
(1) cash;

(i1) an Authorized Investment specified in clause (i), (ii), (iii) or (v) of the definition thereof, which is
not callable or redeemable at the option of the issuer thereof;

(iii) an Authorized Investment specified in clause (iv) of the definition thereof (a “Municipal Bond”),
which Municipal Bond is fully secured as to principal and interest by an irrevocable pledge of moneys or direct and general
obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America, which moneys or obligations are segregated in
trust and pledged for the benefit of the holder of the Municipal Bond, and which Municipal Bond is rated in the highest
Rating Category by at least two Rating Agencies and provided, however, that such Municipal Bond is accompanied by a
Counsel’s Opinion to the effect that such Municipal Bond is not subject to redemption prior to the date the proceeds of such
Municipal Bond will be required for the purposes of the investment being made therein; or

(iv) any other investment designated in a Supplemental Indenture as a Defeasance Security for
purposes of defeasing the Bonds authorized by such Supplemental Indenture, provided that each Rating Agency has
confirmed in writing to the Trustee that the use of such other investment will not, by itself, result in the withdrawal,
suspension or downgrade of any rating issued by such Rating Agency with respect to any such Bonds to be defeased.

“Department” means the State of California Department of Water Resources, existing pursuant to Article 1
(commencing with Section 120) of Chapter 2 of Division 1 of the California Water Code, or any successor to the rights,
duties and obligations of the Department under the Act and the Indenture.

“Direct Access Power Charge” means any charge imposed by the Commission (by an order that is final and non-
appealable) on, and received by the Department from, any Person receiving power from an Electric Service Provider intended
to recover the Department’s Revenue Requirements other than Bond Related Costs, and shall in no event include Bond
Charges; provided, however, that Bond Charges may be separately imposed on such Persons.

“Direct Access Power Charge Revenues” means Revenues received by the Department arising from Direct Access
Power Charges.

“Direct-Pay Credit Facility” means a Credit Facility issued in the form of a letter of credit and designated by the
issuer thereof as a “Direct Pay Letter of Credit.”

“Director” means the Director of Water Resources of the State, or any successor to the rights, duties and obligations
of the Director under the Act and the Indenture.

“Electrical Corporation” has the same meaning as that term is defined in Section 218 of the Public Utilities Code.
“Electric Power Fund” means the fund by that name established under the Indenture.
“Electric Service Provider” has the meaning given in the 2002 Rate Agreement.

“Electronic Means” means telecopy, facsimile transmission, e-mail transmission or other similar electronic means
of communication.

“Enabling Measures” means, collectively, the Act and the Additional Emergency Measures, or any of them, as
appropriate.

“Enhancement Facility” means any letter of credit, standby purchase agreement, line of credit, policy of bond
insurance, surety bond, guarantee or similar instrument, or any other agreement, securing, providing liquidity for, supporting
or enhancing Outstanding Bonds, or any combination of the foregoing, or any agreement relating to the reimbursement
thereof whether or not such instrument or agreement has been drawn upon, obtained by the Department.

“Events of Default” means the events defined as such under caption “Events of Default and Remedies” below.



“Excess Amounts” has the meaning specified in section F under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds”
below.

“Fiduciary” or “Fiduciaries” means the Trustee, the Co-Trustee, any Registrar, any Paying Agent, or any or all of
them, as may be appropriate.

“Financing Documents” means any resolution, indenture (including the Indenture), trust agreement, loan
agreement, revolving credit agreement, reimbursement agreement, standby purchase agreement or other agreement or
instrument adopted or entered into by the Department authorizing, securing or enhancing any evidence of indebtedness issued
pursuant to the Act, including the Bonds, Parity Obligations and Subordinated Indebtedness, as from time to time amended or
supplemented in accordance therewith.

“Fiscal Year” means the twelve-month period commencing on July 1 of each year; provided, however, that the
Department may at any time adopt a different twelve-month period as the Fiscal Year, in which case July 1, when used herein
with reference to Fiscal Year, shall be construed to mean the first day of the first calendar month of such different Fiscal
Year.

“Indenture” means the Trust Indenture among the Department, the Trustee and the Co-Trustee, as from time to time
amended or supplemented by Supplemental Indentures.

“Interim Financing Notes” means, collectively, the Department’s “Tax-Exempt Bonds” and “Taxable Bonds”
issued and outstanding under the Credit and Security Agreement.

“Maximum Aggregate Annual Debt Service” means, as of any date of calculation, an amount equal to the
maximum Aggregate Debt Service coming due on Bonds then Outstanding in any calendar year thereafter, commencing with
the then current calendar year, excluding interest to be paid from the proceeds of Bonds or Subordinated Indebtedness and on
deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account.

“Minimum Operating Expense Available Balance” means, at the time Revenue Requirements are submitted to the
Commission pursuant to the Indenture, (i) for so long as the Department is procuring all or a portion of the Residual Net
Short, $1 billion, and (ii) thereafter, the maximum amount projected by the Department by which Operating Expenses exceed
Power Charge Revenues during any one calendar month during that Revenue Requirement Period. Such projections shall be
based on such assumptions as the Department deems to be appropriate after consultation with the Commission and may take
into account a range of possible future outcomes.

“Ninth Supplemental Indenture” means the Ninth Supplemental Trust Indenture among the Department, the
Trustee, and the Co-Trustee, relating to the Series 2010L Bonds.

“Operating Account” means the account by that name established under the Indenture.

“Operating Expenses” means the following costs and expenses of the Department in connection with its activities
as permitted under the Enabling Measures: (i) payments for the purchase of Power and the delivery of such Power including,
but not limited to, amounts paid under short-term Power Supply Contracts, Priority Long Term Power Contracts and other
long-term Power Supply Contracts, termination and liquidation damage payments thereunder, payments thereunder relating
to emission costs and emission opportunity costs, amounts payable in respect of balance of month-ahead Power, hour-ahead
Power and real time balancing Power, including in-market and out-of-market purchases, costs of transmission, distribution,
scheduling, dispatch and other expenses of the Department in connection with the delivery of its Power, and costs of avoiding
purchasing Power for retail end-use incurred pursuant to an Additional Emergency Measure; (ii) payments for or in
connection with fuel to be used in the production of Power purchased by the Department, whether paid as a charge under a
Power Supply Contract or a separate agreement for the purchase, transportation or storage of fuel for use in the generation of
Power, including, but not limited to, termination and liquidated damage payments under fuel purchase agreements, payments
under options or other fuel or electricity instruments, and payments under financial instruments relating to fuel costs or costs
related to fuel costs; (iii) payments under any security agreements executed in connection with Power Supply Contracts or in
connection with agreements for the purchase, transportation and storage of fuel, or any other agreement, relating to the
purchase of Power; (iv) reasonable administrative, general and overhead expenses and payments for employee benefits,
including, but not limited to, payments to savings, pension, retirement, health and hospitalization funds; (v) insurance
premiums including, but not limited to, bond and Qualified Swap insurance premiums; (vi) legal and engineering expenses;



(vii) expenses for consulting and technical services; (viii) charges paid by the Department pursuant to any licenses, orders or
mandates from any agency or regulatory body having lawful jurisdiction; (ix) any taxes, governmental charges, and any other
similar costs and expenses required to be paid by the Department, and costs required by the California Independent System
Operator to be paid by the Department or imposed on the Department by regulatory or other governmental requirements; (X)
costs of complying with any arbitrage restrictions or rebate requirements relating to the Bonds under Section 148 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended, or a successor statute, and applicable regulations thereunder; (xi) such other
costs and expenses as may be provided for in a Rate Agreement as being recoverable as part of Revenue Requirements; and
(xii) such other costs and expenses with respect to the sale of Power to local publicly owned electric utilities, as defined in
Assembly Bill 1X, or in connection with the exchange of Power or the sale, transfer or other disposition of Power not
required for use within the State as permitted by the Act, which would constitute current operating expenses under generally
accepted accounting principles or statutory accounting principles as in effect from time to time and applicable to
governmental units such as the Department. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Operating Expenses shall not include (a) any
repayments to the General Fund of the State of advances made to the Department from amounts appropriated to the Electric
Power Fund or interest thereon payable at the Pooled Money Investment Rate; (b) principal, Redemption Price and Purchase
Price of and interest on Bonds; (c) debt service on or payments under Parity Obligations, Subordinated Indebtedness or
Subordinated Obligations; (d) principal of and interest on the Interim Financing Notes and other payments required to be
made by the Department under the Credit and Security Agreement; (e) depreciation or obsolescence charges or reserves
therefor; (f) amortization of intangibles or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature; (g) any amounts paid from Bond
Charge Revenues pursuant to section D.1 under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” below; or (h) any costs and
expenses attributable to a Separately Financed Program.

“Operating Reserve Account” means the account by that name established under the Indenture.

“Operating Reserve Account Requirement” or “Minimum Operating Reserve Account Requirement” means,
during each Revenue Requirement Period, the greater of (i) the largest aggregate amount projected by the Department by
which Operating Expenses exceed Power Charge Revenues during any consecutive seven (7) calendar months commencing
in such Revenue Requirement Period, and (ii) either (A) 18% of the Department’s projected annual Operating Expenses for
any Revenue Requirement Period in which the Department is procuring all or a portion of the Residual Net Short and which
commences prior to 2006, or (B) 12% of the Department’s projected annual Operating Expenses for any Revenue
Requirement Period in which the Department is not procuring all or a portion of the Residual Net Short or which commences
after 2005; provided, however, that solely for purposes of (A) and (B) above for Revenue Requirement Periods commencing
after 2003, the projected amount shall not be less than the applicable percentage of the Department’s Operating Expenses for
the most recent twelve (12) calendar month period for which the Department determines that reasonably full and complete
Operating Expense information is available, adjusted as described in the next sentence. If the Department was financially
responsible and liable under a Power Supply Contract during all or a portion of the applicable twelve (12) calendar month
period, but financial responsibility has been assumed by another Person and the Department has been entirely relieved of
financial liability and all other liabilities under the contract, or the contract has terminated or will terminate by its terms prior
to the end of the Revenue Requirement Period for which the Operating Reserve Account Requirement is being calculated,
then the relevant costs associated with that contract shall be excluded from the calculation of the historical Operating
Expenses. If amended Revenue Requirements are filed with the Commission during any Revenue Requirement Period, the
Operating Reserve Account Requirement shall be recalculated for the remainder of such Revenue Requirement Period as
provided above. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in connection with the determination of whether additional Bonds may be
issued upon compliance with the Indenture, the relevant calculation under clause (i) above shall be made in respect of a
consecutive seven (7) calendar month period in the test period specified by the applicable provision of the Indenture. All
projections referenced in this paragraph shall be based on such assumptions as the Department deems to be appropriate after
consultation with the Commission and, in the case of clause (i) above, may take into account a range of possible future
outcomes. The Operating Reserve Account Requirement shall include, but shall not be limited to, the Priority Contract
Contingency Reserve Amount.

“Option Bonds” means Bonds which by their terms may be tendered by and at the option of the Owner thereof to
the Department or to the issuer of an Enhancement Facility providing liquidity with respect to such Bonds, for purchase prior

to the stated maturity thereof, or the maturities of which may be extended by and at the option of the Owner thereof.

“Qutstanding,” when used with reference to Bonds or Bonds of a Series, means, as of any date, Bonds or Bonds of
such Series theretofore or thereupon being delivered under the Indenture except:

(1) Any Bonds canceled at or prior to such date;
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(i1) Bonds the principal and Redemption Price, if any, of and interest on which have been paid in
accordance with the terms thereof;

(iii) Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been delivered pursuant to the
Indenture;

(iv) Bonds deemed to have been paid as provided in the Indenture;

(v) Option Bonds tendered or deemed tendered in accordance with the provisions of the Supplemental

Indenture authorizing such Bonds on the applicable tender date, if the purchase price thereof and interest thereon shall have
been paid or amounts are available and set aside for such payment as provided in such Supplemental Indenture, except to the
extent such tendered Option Bonds are held by the Department or an issuer of an Enhancement Facility and/or thereafter may
be resold pursuant to the terms thereof and of such Supplemental Indenture; and

(vi) as may be provided with respect to such Bonds by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such
Bonds;

and, for purposes of certain provisions of the Indenture (see “Special Provisions Relating to Enhancement Facilities,
Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and Interim Financing Notes”), means any outstanding Interim Financing
Notes.

“Owner” or any similar term means the registered owner of any Bond as shown on the books for the registration
and transfer of Bonds maintained in accordance with the Indenture and, for the purposes of certain provisions of the
Indenture (see “Special Provisions Relating to Enhancement Facilities, Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and
Interim Financing Notes”), means the holder of any Interim Financing Note.

“Parity Obligations” means Reimbursement Obligations and amounts payable under Qualified Swaps. For
purposes of certain provisions of the Indenture, any Parity Obligations entered into or issued subsequent to the date of
delivery of this Indenture shall specify, to the extent applicable, the interest and principal components of, or the scheduled
payments corresponding to interest under, such Parity Obligations. Parity Obligations shall comply with the second
paragraph under “Events of Default and Remedies” below.

“Paying Agent” means any paying agent for the Bonds of any Series and its successor or successors and any other
Person which may at any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Indenture.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust,
unincorporated association, limited liability company or partnership, or other legal entity or group of entities, including, but
not limited to, a governmental entity or any agency or subdivision thereof.

“Pooled Money Investment Rate”” means, for any amounts deposited in the Electric Power Fund from the General
Fund and for any period, the rate of interest to be paid on such amounts to the State’s Pooled Money Investment Account as
determined from time to time for such period.

“Power” means electric power and energy, including, but not limited to, capacity and output, or any of them.

“Power Charge Revenues” means Revenues received by the Department arising from Power Charges.

“Power Charges” has the same meaning as that term is defined in the 2002 Rate Agreement.

“Power Supply Contract” means any contract or agreement entered into by the Department pursuant to the
Enabling Measures and under which the Department purchases Power, or purchases fuel for conversion to or in exchange for
Power, or any option with respect thereto.

“Principal Installment” means, as of any date of calculation and with respect to any Series so long as any Bonds
thereof are Outstanding, (i) the principal amount of Bonds (including the principal amount of any Option Bonds tendered for

payment and not purchased) of such Series due (or so tendered for payment and not purchased) on any date for which no
Sinking Fund Installments have been established, or (ii) the unsatisfied balance (determined as provided in section D.4 under
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the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” below) of any Sinking Fund Installments due on any date for Bonds of such
Series, plus the amount of the sinking fund redemption premiums, if any, which would be applicable upon redemption of
such Bonds on such date in a principal amount equal to said unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installments, or (iii) if
both clause (i) and clause (ii) apply on the same date with respect to different Bonds of such Series, the sum of such principal
amount of Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of Sinking Fund Installments due on such date plus such applicable
redemption premiums, if any.

“Principal Payment Date” means any date upon which the principal amount of Bonds of a Series is due hereunder
at maturity or on any Redemption Date.

“Priority Contract Contingency Reserve Amount” means, during each Revenue Requirement Period or, for the
purpose of the additional Bonds test, during the test period specified in the Indenture, the maximum amount projected by the
Department to be payable by the Department under and pursuant to Priority Long Term Power Contracts in any calendar
month during such Revenue Requirement Period. Each such projection shall be made at the beginning of the relevant
Revenue Requirement Period. Such projections shall be based on such assumptions as the Department deems to be
appropriate after consultation with the Commission and may take into account a range of possible future outcomes.

“Priority Contract Account” means the account by that name established under the Indenture.

“Priority Contract Costs” means all costs and expenses payable by the Department under or pursuant to Priority
Long Term Power Contracts.

“Priority Long Term Power Contract” has the same meaning as that term is defined in the 2002 Rate Agreement.

“Purchase Date” means each date on which the Bonds of a Series shall be tendered or deemed tendered for
purchase pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture.

Purchase Price” means, with respect to any Bond, 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, plus, in the case of a Bond subject to mandatory tender for purchase on a date when such Bond is also subject
to optional redemption at a premium, an amount equal to the premium that would be payable on such Bond if redeemed on
such date.

“Qualified Swap” means, to the extent from time to time permitted by law, with respect to Bonds, (a) any financial
arrangement (i) which is entered into by the Department with an entity that is a Qualified Swap Provider at the time the
arrangement is entered into, (ii) which is a cap, floor or collar, forward rate, future rate, swap (such swap may be based on an
amount equal either to the principal amount of such Bonds of the Department as may be designated or a notional principal
amount relating to all or a portion of the principal amount of such Bonds), asset, index, price or market-linked transaction or
agreement, other exchange or rate protection transaction agreement, other similar transaction (however designated), or any
combination thereof, or any option with respect to any of the foregoing, executed by the Department, and (iii) which has been
designated as a Qualified Swap with respect to such Bonds in a written determination signed by an Authorized Officer and
filed with the Trustee and Co-Trustee, and (b) any letter of credit, line of credit, policy of insurance, surety bond, guarantee
or similar instrument securing the obligations of the Department under any financial arrangement described in clause
(a) above.

“Qualified Swap Provider” means an entity whose senior long term obligations, other senior unsecured long term
obligations, financial program rating, counterparty rating, or claims paying ability, or whose payment obligations under an
interest rate exchange agreement are guaranteed by an entity whose senior long term debt obligations, other senior unsecured
long term obligations, financial program rating, counterparty rating, or claims paying ability, are rated at the time of the
execution of such Qualified Swap either (i) at least as high as the third highest Rating Category of each Rating Agency then
maintaining a rating for the Qualified Swap Provider, but in no event lower than any Rating Category designated by any such
Rating Agency for the Bonds subject to such Qualified Swap, or (ii) any such lower Rating Categories which each such
Rating Agency indicates in writing to the Department and the Trustee will not, by itself, result in a reduction or withdrawal of
its rating on the Outstanding Bonds subject to such Qualified Swap that is in effect prior to entering into such Qualified
Swap.



“Rate Agreement” means any agreement between the Department and the Commission pursuant to the Act and
other applicable provisions of law with respect to Revenue Requirements or charges in connection with Power sold by the
Department and/or Electrical Corporations, as supplemented and amended from time to time.

“Rating Agency” means each nationally recognized securities rating agency then maintaining a rating on the Bonds
at the request of the Department.

“Rating Category” means one of the generic rating categories of any Rating Agency without regard to any
refinement or gradation of such rating by a numerical modifier or otherwise.

“Redemption Date” means the date fixed for redemption of Bonds of a Series subject to redemption in any notice
of redemption given in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

“Redemption Price” means, with respect to any Bond or a portion thereof, the principal amount thereof to be
redeemed in whole or in part, plus the applicable premium, if any, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to such Bond or
the Indenture.

“Registrar” means any registrar for the Bonds of any Series and its successor or successors and any other Person
which may at any time be substituted in its place pursuant to the Indenture.

“Reimbursement Obligation” has the meaning provided under the caption “Special Provisions Relating to
Enhancement Facilities, Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and Interim Financing Notes” below.

“Residual Net Short” means the total electric requirements of the retail electric end-users served by and within the
service areas of Electrical Corporations whose customers receive Power from the Department, minus electric generation
available from both Utility Retained Generation and Department contract purchases. “Utility Retained Generation” means
generating resources retained by Electrical Corporations, bilateral contracts held by Electrical Corporations and Qualifying
Facility contracts. “Qualifying Facility” means a renewable power production or co-generation facility not primarily engaged
in the generation or sale of electric power and that qualifies under Section 201 of the federal Public Utilities Regulatory
Policy Act of 1978, the output from which facility is sold to an Electrical Corporation.

“Responsible Officer” means (i) with respect to the Trustee, any officer or employee of the State having direct
responsibility for the administration of the Indenture, and in each case also, with respect to a particular matter, any other
officer or employee to whom such matter is referred because of such officer’s or employee’s knowledge of and familiarity
with the particular subject, and (ii) with respect to the Co-Trustee, any officer assigned to the corporate trust office of the Co-
Trustee, including, but not limited to, any managing director, principal, vice president, assistant vice president, assistant
treasurer, assistant secretary or any other officer of the Co-Trustee customarily performing functions similar to those
performed by any of the above designated officers.

“Revenue Requirement Period” means any period for which the Department determines, and submits to the
Commission, the Department’s Revenue Requirements.

“Revenue Requirements” means the amounts needed from time to time by the Department to satisfy its obligations
under the Enabling Measures.

“Revenues” means all revenues, receipts, charges, income, profits, proceeds or other moneys actually received by
the Department, from whatever source, arising from or in connection with the conduct of the Department’s program for the
purchase and sale of Power and related activities pursuant to the Enabling Measures and Senate Bill 7X, including, but not
limited to, (i) all money paid directly or indirectly to or for the account of the Department with respect to any sale, exchange,
transfer or disposition of Power acquired by the Department pursuant to the Enabling Measures and Senate Bill 7X, (ii) all
moneys actually received by the Department which have been recovered as compensation or damages from providers of
Power or other commodities or services acquired by the Department pursuant to the Enabling Measures, provided that
nothing in the Indenture shall obligate the Department to recover and actually receive moneys as such compensation or
damages from such providers, (iii) net payments to the Department under Qualified Swaps and (iv) Direct Access Power
Charges. Revenues shall include, but shall not be limited to, Bond Charge Revenues, Power Charge Revenues, and Direct
Access Power Charge Revenues, as and when received by the Department. Revenues shall not include (a) any revenues,
receipts, charges, income, profits, proceeds or other money or monetary benefits attributable directly or indirectly to the



ownership or operation of any Separately Financed Program, (b) any federal or state grant moneys to the extent receipt is
conditioned upon their expenditure for a particular purpose or in a particular manner other than as provided in the Indenture
for Revenues, (c) money actually received as compensation or damages recovered from providers of Power or other
commodities or services acquired by the Department pursuant to the Enabling Measures, if and to the extent the
Department’s entitlement thereto is not final and is subject to appeal, other review or refund, (d) the proceeds of any Bonds
or Subordinated Indebtedness, (¢) any amounts received as a result of a deposit of moneys or Defeasance Securities for the
defeasance of Bonds pursuant to the Indenture, except to the extent not required for such purpose as provided in the
Indenture, and (f) the proceeds of any draw on or payment under any Enhancement Facility which is intended for the
payment of particular Bonds.

“Securities Depository” means, with respect to Bonds of a Series, the securities depository, if any, appointed for
such Bonds in a Supplemental Indenture providing with respect to the issuance and payment of such Bonds.

“Senate Bill 7X” means Chapter 3 of the Statutes of 2001 (Senate Bill 7 of the First Extraordinary Session) of the
State.

“Separately Financed Program” means, collectively, (i) any program, project or purpose described as such under
the caption “Separately Financed Programs” below and (ii) the State Water Resources Development System, being the
system and activities authorized by the provisions of Part 3 (commencing with Section 11000) of Division 6 of the State
Water Code.

“Series” means, subject to certain provisions of the Indenture (see “Special Provisions Relating to Enhancement
Facilities, Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and Interim Financing Notes”), all of the Bonds delivered on
original issuance pursuant to a single Supplemental Indenture and denominated therein a single series, and any Bonds
thereafter delivered in lieu of or in substitution therefor pursuant to certain provisions of the Indenture, regardless of
variations in maturity, interest rate, or other provisions.

“Series 2010L. Bonds” means the Department’s Power Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2010L, authorized by the
Indenture, including by the Ninth Supplemental Indenture.

“Servicing Agreement” means any agreement, as supplemented and amended, between the Department and one or
more Electrical Corporations, or, if approved by the Commission, other Persons if a Consultant advises the Trustee or Co-
Trustee in writing that such other Person is reasonably expected to be capable of carrying out the provisions thereof, to
provide the functions or services specified in the Indenture as agent of the Department.

“Servicing Arrangements” means, collectively, the Servicing Agreements and Servicing Orders, or any of them, as
appropriate.

“Servicing Order” means each order of the Commission described below under the caption “Servicing
Arrangements; Collection of Revenues.”

“Sinking Fund Installment” means an amount so designated for the retirement prior to maturity of Bonds of a
Series of like maturity and interest rate.

“State” means the State of California.

“Subordinated Indebtedness” means any bond, note or other indebtedness authorized by a resolution or indenture
of the Department and permitted under the Act and designated as constituting “Subordinated Indebtedness” in a certificate of
an Authorized Officer delivered to the Trustee, which shall be payable from the Trust Estate subject and subordinate to the
prior payments to be made therefrom as provided for in the Indenture. Subordinated Indebtedness may be secured by a lien
on and pledge of the Trust Estate junior and inferior to the lien on and pledge of the Trust Estate created in the Indenture for
the payment of the Bonds and Parity Obligations to the extent permitted by the Indenture, and may also be payable from such
other sources and additionally secured as provided by the Indenture.

“Subordinated Obligation” means any payment obligation (other than a payment obligation constituting a Parity
Obligation or Subordinated Indebtedness) of the Department incurred pursuant to the Act arising under any contract,
agreement or other obligation incurred pursuant to the Act not constituting Bonds, Parity Obligations, Operating Expenses,



Interim Financing Notes or the Credit and Security Agreement, provided that if such contract, agreement or other obligation
is not incurred in connection with the Bonds, it shall have been approved by the Commission. Each Subordinated Obligation
shall be payable from the Trust Estate subject and subordinate to the prior payments to be made therefrom as provided for in
the Indenture. Subordinated Obligations may be secured by a lien on and pledge of the Trust Estate junior and inferior to the
lien on and pledge of the Trust Estate created in the Indenture for the payment of the Bonds and Parity Obligations to the
extent permitted by the Indenture, and may also be payable from such other sources and additionally secured as provided by
the Indenture.

“Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture supplemental to or amendatory of the Indenture, adopted by, or
adopted pursuant to authorization granted by, the Department in accordance with the Indenture.

“Termination” (and other forms of “terminate”) means, when used with respect to any Credit Facility or Liquidity
Facility, the replacement, removal, surrender or other termination of such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility in accordance
with its terms, other than an Expiration or an extension or renewal thereof.

“Treasurer” means the Treasurer of the State, or any successor to the rights, duties and obligations of the Treasurer
under the Indenture.

“Trustee” means the Treasurer.
“Trust Estate” means, collectively:
(1) all Revenues;

(i1) all right, title and interest of the Department in and to Revenues, and all rights to receive the same;
including but not limited to the assignment of amounts payable under the Servicing Arrangements as provided by the
Indenture (see “Servicing Arrangements; Collection of Revenues”);

(iii) the Operating Account, the Operating Reserve Account, the Bond Charge Collection Account, the
Bond Charge Payment Account and the Debt Service Reserve Account, subject to the application thereof as provided in the
Indenture; and

(iv) all funds, moneys and securities and any and all other rights and interests in property, whether
tangible or intangible, from time to time hereafter by delivery or by writing of any kind conveyed, mortgaged, pledged,
assigned or transferred as and for additional security under the Indenture for the Bonds and Parity Obligations by the
Department, or by anyone on its behalf, or with its written consent, to the Trustee, which is authorized by the Indenture to
receive any and all such property at any and all times, and to hold and apply the same subject to the terms of the Indenture;
provided, however, that no such additional security shall be received, held or applied by the Trustee unless accompanied by a
Counsel’s Opinion to the effect that such additional security may be pledged under the Act and that it would not cause the
Bonds or Parity Obligations to constitute a debt or liability of the State within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory
provision or restriction, unless such constitutional or statutory provision or restriction shall have been complied with;

provided, however, that the Trust Estate shall not include, as to any Bond, any moneys or securities set aside under the
Indenture specifically for the payment of other Bonds pursuant to the Indenture and, as to any Option Bond, any moneys or
securities set aside for the purchase thereof as may be provided in the Indenture.

“2001 Emergency Measures” means all Proclamations and Orders of the Governor of the State issued in calendar
year 2001 pursuant to the California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2 of the California Government
Code, as amended) as amended, including, but not limited to, any regulations issued pursuant thereto, issued in response to or
in anticipation of the need to assure the availability of power to retail end-use customers in the State due to the inability or
failure of an Electrical Corporation to purchase such power.

“2002 Rate Agreement” means the Rate Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2002, between the Department and the
Commission, as supplemented and amended from time to time.



“Valuation Date” means, with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds, the date or dates set forth in the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds on which specific Accreted Values are assigned to the Capital Appreciation
Bonds.

“Variable Rate Bonds” means, as of any date of determination, any Bonds on which the interest rate borne thereby
may vary thereafter.

Security for the Bonds

The Bonds are special obligations of the Department, payable solely from the Trust Estate. Under the Indenture, the
Trust Estate is assigned and pledged to the Trustee and Co-Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds, the holders of
the Interim Financing Notes and the holders, issuers or other parties to Parity Obligations, as security for the payment of the
principal and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds, payment of the Interim Financing Notes and payments due
under Parity Obligations, in each case in accordance with their terms and the provisions of the Indenture, subject to the use of
the Trust Estate for the purposes and on the terms and conditions provided in the Indenture. The Bonds, Interim Financing
Notes and Parity Obligations are not payable from any income, receipts, or revenues of the Department other than those
included in the Trust Estate, except as permitted by the last sentence of this paragraph, nor do the Bonds, Interim Financing
Notes or Parity Obligations constitute a legal or equitable pledge, charge, lien, or encumbrance upon any of the property or
upon any of the income, receipts, or revenues of the Department, except the Trust Estate. The Bonds, Interim Financing
Notes, Parity Obligations, Subordinated Obligations and Subordinated Indebtedness (i) shall not be or be deemed to
constitute a debt or liability of the State or of any political subdivision thereof, other than, to the extent provided in the
Indenture, the Department, or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State or of any such political subdivision, other than the
Department to the extent provided in the Indenture, but are payable solely from the funds pledged therefor pursuant to the
Indenture, and (ii) do not directly or indirectly or contingently obligate the State or any political subdivision thereof to levy or
to pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment. Subordinated Obligations
and Subordinated Indebtedness may be secured by the Trust Estate, pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture, to the extent not
contrary or inconsistent with the Indenture as theretofore in effect. Nothing contained in the Indenture shall prevent an
Enhancement Facility from being provided with respect to any particular Bonds, Interim Financing Notes or Parity
Obligations and not others, or different reserves being provided pursuant to the Indenture with respect to Bonds than are
provided for Parity Obligations, or with respect to particular Parity Obligations than are provided for other Parity
Obligations.

In the Indenture the Department represents that, pursuant to California Government Code Section 5451 and
California Water Code Section 80132(g), the Indenture creates a valid and binding pledge of the Trust Estate for the benefit
of the Owners of the Bonds, the holders of the Interim Financing Notes and the holders, issuers or other parties to Parity
Obligations, as security for the payment of the Bonds, Interim Financing Notes and Parity Obligations, respectively, to the
extent set forth in the Indenture, enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof. The pledge created by the Indenture shall
be valid and binding from and after the date the Indenture is executed and delivered, and the Trust Estate shall immediately
be subject to the lien of the pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of the pledge shall be
valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the Department
irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.

Protection of Security

The Department shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge created by
the Indenture and all interests of the Owners of Bonds, the holders of the Interim Financing Notes and the holders, issuers or
other parties to Parity Obligations under the Indenture against all claims and demands of all Persons whomsoever.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if any regulatory or judicial investigation of or challenge to any
action taken by the Department in the performance of its obligations under the Act, the Indenture or the Rate Agreement is
initiated, the Department shall take all legally available action which, in the judgment of the Department, may be necessary
or desirable to assure that such challenge will not result in the inability of the Department to pay amounts payable under the
Bonds, the Interim Financing Notes and Parity Obligations when due.
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General Provisions for the Issuance of Bonds

Bonds may be issued pursuant to the Indenture in such principal amount or amounts for each Series of the Bonds as
may be specified in the applicable Supplemental Indenture. The aggregate principal amount of the Bonds that may be
executed and delivered under the Indenture is not limited except as provided in the Indenture or as may be limited by law.
Bonds may be issued for any purpose of the Department authorized by the Act, including, but not limited to, the payment of
Costs.

Bonds may be sold in one or more Series (each of which shall contain a designation distinguishing it from other
Series), and shall be delivered by the Department under the Indenture but only upon receipt by the Trustee of, among other
documents, a Supplemental Indenture authorizing the Bonds, a Counsel’s Opinion with respect to validity of the Bonds, a
copy of the Rate Agreement applicable to such Bonds, certificates of an authorized representative of the Commission and an
Authorized Officer as to the maximum aggregate principal amount of Bonds and Subordinated Indebtedness approved by or
pursuant to Rate Agreements, and a certificate of an Authorized Officer stating that, upon the delivery of such Bonds, no
Event of Default as defined in the Indenture, or event which, with the giving of notice or passage of time, or both, would
constitute an Event of Default, shall have occurred and be continuing.

Prior to the issuance of Bonds, the Trustee shall also receive a certificate or report of a Consultant setting forth (i)
the estimated Revenues for the twenty-four (24) calendar month period commencing on the first day of the calendar month
next succeeding the date of delivery of such Bonds (the “test period”), (ii) the estimated Debt Service, and estimated
amounts payable under all Parity Obligations, during the test period, (iii) the projected Debt Service on Bonds, and projected
amounts payable under Parity Obligations, projected to be issued or entered into for any purpose during the test period, (iv)
the sum of the estimated and projected amounts required to be paid for Operating Expenses, Subordinated Indebtedness and
Subordinated Obligations during the test period, (v) the sum of the amounts estimated and projected to be available in the
Operating Account, Bond Charge Collection Account and Bond Charge Payment Account for the payment of the items of
cost referred to in clauses (ii) through (iv) above at the commencement of the test period, and (vi) the balances on deposit in
the Debt Service Reserve Account and Operating Reserve Account at the commencement of, and projected to be on deposit
therein throughout, the test period, and showing that (1) for the test period, the sum of the amounts set forth in clauses (i) and
(v) above is at least equal to 100% of the sum of the amounts set forth in clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, (2) the Debt Service
Reserve Account is maintained throughout the test period at an amount at least equal to the Debt Service Reserve
Requirement and (3) the Operating Reserve Account is maintained throughout the test period at an amount at least equal to
the Operating Reserve Account Requirement. Such certificate or report shall reflect, among other things, the issuance of such
Bonds and the Debt Service estimated to be payable thereon. The Consultant may base its estimates and projections upon
such factors as it shall consider reasonable, including, but not limited to, future increases in Revenue Requirements, a
statement to which effect shall be included in such certificate or report. For purposes of this requirement, any Debt Service,
Parity Obligations, Subordinated Indebtedness and payments shall not include any amounts thereof expected by the
Department to be paid from any funds, other than Revenues, reasonably expected by the Department to be available therefor
(including, without limitation, the anticipated receipt of proceeds of sale of Bonds or Subordinated Indebtedness, or moneys
not a part of the Trust Estate), which expectations, if included in a written determination signed by an Authorized Officer and
filed with the Trustee, shall be conclusive. This paragraph shall not apply to (w) the initial Series of Bonds, (x) any Bonds
assumed to be issued as part of the plan of finance of the Department’s program for the purchase and sale of Power, as
described in the public offering statement issued by the Department in connection with the initial Series of Bonds, (y) any
Bonds issued to refund any other Bonds, and (z) any Bonds issued to refund bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness
issued in anticipation of the issuance of such Bonds, if the requirements of this paragraph shall have been satisfied upon
issuance of such bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, assuming for such purpose that they are Bonds with
principal due based upon level amortization of principal and interest over a period commencing on the date of issue and
ending on the latest maturity date of any Bonds, and bearing interest as described for Bonds in the definition of Debt Service.

Separately Financed Programs

Nothing in the Indenture shall prevent the Department from authorizing and issuing bonds, notes, or other
obligations or evidences of indebtedness, other than Bonds, Parity Obligations, Subordinated Indebtedness or Subordinated
Obligations, for any program, project or purpose authorized by the Enabling Measures or by other then applicable State
statutory provisions, or from financing any such program, project or purpose from other available funds (a “Separately
Financed Program”), if the debt service on such bonds, notes, or other obligations or evidences of indebtedness, if any, and
the Department’s share of any operating expenses related to such program, are not payable from the Trust Estate.



Special Provisions Relating to Enhancement Facilities, Qualified Swaps, Other Similar Arrangements and Interim
Financing Notes

Any Supplemental Indenture may provide that:

(a) So long as an Enhancement Facility relating to any Series of Bonds is in full force and effect, and the issuer
of the Enhancement Facility is not in default thereunder, then, in all such events, the Supplemental Indenture for such Series
of Bonds may specify that either (i) the issuer of such Enhancement Facility shall be deemed to be the sole Owner of the
Outstanding Bonds the payment of which such Enhancement Facility secures or secured when the approval, consent or action
of the Owners of such Bonds is required or may be exercised under the Indenture, or (ii) the approval, consent or action of
the issuer of such Enhancement Facility shall be required in addition to the approval, consent or action of the applicable
percentage of the Owners of the Outstanding Bonds the payment of which such Enhancement Facility secures or secured
when the approval, consent or action of the Owners of such Bonds is required or may be exercised under the Indenture.

(b) In the event that the principal, Sinking Fund Installments, if any, Purchase Price and Redemption Price, if
applicable, or interest due on any Outstanding Bonds shall be paid under the provisions of an Enhancement Facility, all
covenants, agreements and other obligations of the Department to the Owners of such Bonds shall continue to exist, and the
issuer of the Enhancement Facility shall be subrogated to the rights of such Owners in accordance with the terms of such
Enhancement Facility.

In addition, such Supplemental Indenture may establish such provisions as are necessary (i) to comply with the
provisions of any Enhancement Facility that are not inconsistent with the Indenture, (ii) to provide relevant information and
notices to the issuer of the Enhancement Facility, and (iii) to provide a mechanism for paying principal of and Sinking Fund
Installments of and interest on Bonds secured by, or purchased pursuant to, the Enhancement Facility.

The Department may enter into agreements with the issuer of any Enhancement Facility providing for, among other
things: (i) the payment of fees, costs, expenses and, to the extent permitted by law, indemnities to such issuer, its parent and
its assignees and participants in connection with such Enhancement Facility, (ii) the terms and conditions of such
Enhancement Facility and the Bonds to which the Enhancement Facility relates, and (iii) the security, if any, to be provided
for the issuance of such Enhancement Facility. Any such agreement may provide for the purchase of Bonds to which the
Enhancement Facility relates by the issuer of such Enhancement Facility, with such adjustments to the rate of interest,
method of determining interest, maturity (which shall not be inconsistent with the requirements of the next paragraph), or
redemption provisions, as shall be specified by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds.

The Department may, in an agreement with the issuer of any Enhancement Facility, agree to directly reimburse such
issuer (or its assignees and participants, or any agent for the issuer or its assignees) for amounts paid by the issuer of the
Enhancement Facility for the payment of the principal of, interest on, and Redemption Price or Purchase Price of Bonds
under the terms of such Enhancement Facility (together with interest thereon, if any, and the amounts and obligations
described in the next following two paragraphs, a “Reimbursement Obligation”), whether evidenced by an obligation to
reimburse such issuer that is separate from the Department’s obligations on Bonds (a “Credit Facility Reimbursement
Obligation”) or by modified debt service obligations on Bonds acquired by such issuer (a “Liquidity Facility
Reimbursement Obligation”); provided, however, that no such obligation to reimburse or modified debt service obligation
shall require payments, other than from remarketing proceeds, to be made faster than on a level debt service (principal and
interest) basis (calculated in three (3) month intervals) over a period ending no sooner than three (3) years following the date
on which such reimbursement obligation is incurred (or, if less, extending to the final maturity date of the related Bonds) with
the first installment commencing no earlier than six (6) months after the date from which the Liquidity Facility
Reimbursement Obligation is incurred; and provided further, however, that the immediately preceding proviso shall not apply
to any amounts payable to any issuer of any policy of bond insurance that is a subrogee of an Owner of Bonds with respect to
amounts payable by the Department under such Bonds, or to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this paragraph, no Reimbursement Obligation shall be created, for
purposes of the Indenture, until amounts are paid under the related Enhancement Facility.

Any Credit Facility Reimbursement Obligation may include interest calculated at a rate higher than the interest rate
on the related Bond. The following obligations also shall constitute Credit Facility Reimbursement Obligations: (i) payments
of any fees, costs, expenses, indemnification, or other obligations to any such provider, its parent and its assignees and
participants or any agent thereof, and (ii) payments pursuant to any advance, term-loan or other principal amortization
requirements in reimbursement of any such advance or term-loan, provided that the total amount to be paid (including



interest thereon) either (a) shall not be required to be paid faster than on a level debt service (principal and interest) basis
(calculated in three (3) month intervals) over a period ending no sooner than three (3) years following the date on which such
reimbursement obligation is incurred, with the first installment commencing no earlier than six (6) months after the date from
which the Reimbursement Obligation is incurred, or (b) shall be paid from remarketing proceeds.

Any Liquidity Facility Reimbursement Obligation evidenced by Bonds of a Series may include interest calculated at
a rate higher than the interest rate on other Bonds of such Series. The following obligations also shall constitute Liquidity
Facility Reimbursement Obligations: (i) payments of any fees, costs, expenses, indemnification, or other obligations to any
such provider, its parent and its assignees and participants, or any agent thereof, and (ii) payments of differential and/or
excess interest amounts.

In connection with the issuance of any Bonds or at any time thereafter so long as Bonds remain Outstanding, the
Department may, to the extent from time to time permitted pursuant to law, enter into Qualified Swaps. The total amount of
the termination payment under a Qualified Swap, shall not be required to be paid by the Department faster than on a level
amortization basis (calculated in three (3) month intervals) over a period ending no sooner than three (3) years following the
date of termination, with the first installment commencing no earlier than six (6) months after the date of termination (in
which case the termination payment also may include interest thereon); provided, however, that if the Department elects to
terminate any Qualified Swap at its option, any termination payments shall be made as provided in such Qualified Swap.

For purposes of the Articles of the Indenture relating to the Trustee, Co-Trustee, Paying Agents and Registrar,
Supplemental Indentures (except for provisions relating to the issuance of Bonds and certain specified amendments to the
Indenture without the consent of Owners), amendments to the Indenture with the consent of Owners, Events of Defaults
(except those described in (1), (2) and (6) under “Events of Default and Remedies” below) and remedies, defeasance and
other miscellaneous provisions, and otherwise unless the context otherwise requires, references to “Bond” shall also include
each Interim Financing Note, references to “Series” or “Series of Bonds” shall also include as a Series all outstanding Interim
Financing.

Notes, and references to “Owner” shall also include the holder of any Interim Financing Note.
Establishment of Funds

The Indenture establishes in the Electric Power Fund seven separate accounts, to be known as the “Operating
Account,” the “Priority Contract Account,” the “Bond Charge Collection Account,” the “Bond Charge Payment Account,”
the “Debt Service Reserve Account,” the “Operating Reserve Account” and the “Administrative Cost Account.” The
Department may establish under the Indenture one or more additional funds, accounts or subaccounts, if not inconsistent with
any Rate Agreement, by delivering to the Trustee a direction to that effect signed by an Authorized Officer, except to the
extent the establishment thereof is required by other provisions of the Indenture.

The Operating Account, the Priority Contract Account, the Operating Reserve Account, the Bond Charge Collection
Account and the Administrative Cost Account shall be under the control of the Department, except if an Event of Default
shall happen and shall not have been remedied, in which case the Operating Account, the Priority Contract Account, the
Operating Reserve Account, the Bond Charge Collection Account and the Administrative Cost Account shall be under the
control of the Treasurer as Trustee. The Bond Charge Payment Account and the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be
under the control of the Treasurer as Trustee at all times; provided, however, that moneys in the Bond Charge Payment
Account may be held by any Paying Agent to the extent determined by the Trustee to be necessary or desirable as an
administrative convenience.

All moneys and securities deposited under the Indenture in any fund, account or subaccount shall be held in trust for
the benefit of the Department, the Owners of the Bonds, the holders of the Interim Financing Notes, and the parties to or
holders of Parity Obligations, in each case to the extent provided in the Indenture, and applied only in accordance with the
provisions of the Indenture, and each of such funds, accounts and subaccounts shall be a trust fund for purposes set forth in
the Indenture.

Application and Flow of Funds

In this caption any references to sections or subsections refer to sections and subsections in this “Application and
Flow of Funds” caption.



A. Operating Account. 1. The Department shall pay or cause to be paid into the Operating Account, (i) upon
the delivery of the initial Series of Bonds, all moneys and securities on deposit in the Electric Power Fund, except as may be
provided by Supplemental Indenture, (i) as and when received, all net proceeds of Bonds, except as may be provided by
Supplemental Indenture, and (iii) all Power Charge Revenues and other Revenues, other than Bond Charge Revenues and
payments to the Department under Qualified Swaps relating to Bonds. Net proceeds of Bonds shall be paid out or transferred
pursuant to section A.2 below. Other amounts in the Operating Account shall be paid out, transferred, retained, accumulated
or withdrawn from time to time for the following purposes and, as of any time, in the following order of priority:

(a) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be transferred to the Priority Contract Account on or before the
fifth Business Day of each month in such amount as is necessary to make the amount in the Priority Contract Account
sufficient to pay Priority Contract Costs estimated to be due during the balance of such month and for the first five Business
Days of the next succeeding month. Additional amounts in the Operating Account also shall be transferred to the Priority
Contract Account, at any time, to the extent amounts on deposit in the Priority Contract Account are insufficient to pay
Priority Contract Costs then payable. Amounts on deposit in the Priority Contract Account shall be used solely to pay
Priority Contract Costs then payable.

(b) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be applied to the payment of Operating Expenses then due and
owing, other than Priority Contract Costs and any other costs specified in another paragraph of this section A.1, provided,
however, that Operating Expenses that constitute administrative costs described in section G below shall be paid through the
Administrative Cost Account pursuant to section G below subject to the priority afforded Priority Contract Costs pursuant to
section A.1(a).

(©) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be applied to the payment of the Interim Financing Notes and
other amounts payable by the Department under the Credit and Security Agreement, as and when due and payable.

(d) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be withdrawn and deposited in the Bond Charge Collection
Account to reimburse the Bond Charge Collection Account for any amounts previously transferred therefrom (i) pursuant to
section C.1 below, to the Priority Contract Account for the payment of Priority Contract Costs, and (ii) pursuant to section
C.1(b) below, to the Operating Account for the payment of the Interim Financing Notes and other amounts payable by the
Department under the Credit and Security Agreement.

(e) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be applied as provided by section D.7 below but only to the extent
not paid from the Bond Charge Payment Account. In addition, prior to the time Bond Charge Revenues are received in the
amounts sufficient to make the transfers required by section D.1 below, amounts in the Operating Account shall be
transferred to the Bond Charge Payment Account in the amounts, at the times and otherwise as required by said section D.1.

® Amounts in the Operating Account shall be withdrawn to deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account
amounts as provided by section E below, but only to the extent such deposit is required as a result of (i) the use of Bond
Charge Revenues for the payment of Priority Contract Costs, or for the payment of the Interim Financing Notes or other
amounts payable by the Department under the Credit and Security Agreement, pursuant to section C.1(a) or C.1(b) below, or
(i1) a change in value of Authorized Investments on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account.

(2) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be withdrawn to repay to the General Fund of the State advances
made to the Department from amounts appropriated to the Electric Power Fund after November 15, 2001, including interest
thereon payable at the Pooled Money Investment Rate, to the extent not theretofore repaid. The Department shall file with
the Trustee, on or prior to the delivery of the initial Series of Bonds, a statement of the outstanding amount required to be
repaid to the General Fund and promptly shall revise the same, and file such revised statement with the Trustee, upon each
repayment until no amount remains to be repaid.

(h) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be withdrawn to repay to the General Fund of the State advances
made to the Department from amounts appropriated to the Electric Power Fund, and General Fund moneys expended by the
Department pursuant to the 2001 Emergency Measures, on or prior to November 15, 2001, including interest payable thereon
at the Pooled Money Investment Rate, to the extent not theretofore repaid, in accordance with the schedule described in the
immediately succeeding sentence. At such time as a schedule is established by the Commission for repayments to the
General Fund described in this section A.1(h), the Department shall file such schedule with the Trustee, and shall promptly
file with the Trustee each revised schedule that is similarly established until no amount remains to be repaid.
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(1) Amounts in the Operating Account shall be withdrawn to deposit in the Operating Reserve Account
amounts as provided by section F below.

)] Amounts in the Operating Account shall be withdrawn for the following purposes, on a parity basis:

(1) to pay the principal of and interest on any Subordinated Indebtedness, and the redemption price or
purchase price of Subordinated Indebtedness payable from mandatory sinking fund installments therefor,

(i1) to the extent not paid from the proceeds of Subordinated Indebtedness, to pay costs of issuing
Subordinated Indebtedness or costs incidental to their payment and security,

(iii) to pay amounts due under any Subordinated Obligation, but only to the extent not paid from the
Bond Charge Payment Account, and

>iv) to establish and maintain reserves for the payment of Subordinated Indebtedness or Subordinated
Obligations to the extent required by a Financing Document; provided, however, that such a reserve may also be accumulated
in the Operating Account. Any such reserve for Subordinated Indebtedness or Subordinated Obligations accumulated in the
Operating Account shall be maintained in a separate subaccount which shall be established therein for such respective
purpose pursuant to the Indenture.

(k) Amounts remaining in the Operating Account may be withdrawn for any purpose relating to the
Department’s program for the purchase and sale of Power and related activities only as permitted under the Enabling
Measures, to the extent not specified in sections A.1(a) through A.1.(j) above, as determined by the Department, including,
without limitation, to pay or provide for the purchase or redemption of Bonds or Subordinated Indebtedness, and the payment
of expenses in connection therewith to the extent not constituting Operating Expenses. Purchases of Bonds or Subordinated
Indebtedness from amounts in the Operating Account pursuant to this section A.1(k) shall be made at the written direction of
an Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee, with or without advertisement and with or without notice to other Owners of
Bonds or Subordinated Indebtedness. Such purchases shall be made at such price or prices as determined by the Department,
subject to limitations, if any, of the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds; provided,
however, that such purchases shall be made at prices exceeding the next applicable Redemption Price (or, if none, the
principal amount) of such Bonds, plus accrued interest, if any, only after consultation with the Commission and if the
Department determines that to do so will not result in any insufficiency in the Operating Account or the Bond Charge
Payment Account for any other purpose.

It shall be a condition to any withdrawal pursuant to sections A.1(j) and A.1(k) above that (1) there shall be no
deficiency in either the Debt Service Reserve Account or the Operating Reserve Account without regard to the operation of
the provisions of sections E.3, E.6 and F.4 permitting the replenishment thereof over time, and (2) the Department shall have
determined, taking into account, among other considerations, anticipated future receipts of Revenues and other moneys
constituting part of the Trust Estate, that the funds to be so withdrawn are not, and are not expected to be, needed for any of
the purposes set forth in any prior lettered paragraph of this section A.1.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section A.1, if at any time the Department determines that Power
Charge Revenues are available for any of the purposes set forth in sections A.1(j) or A.1(k) above, (i) such Power Charge
Revenues shall instead be used to satisfy any remaining outstanding amounts due under the Interim Financing Notes and the
Credit and Security Agreements and to the General Fund of the State (without regard to any schedule for repayment referred
to in section A.1(h) above), and to replenish any deficiency in the Debt Service Reserve Account and the Operating Reserve
Account (without regard to the provisions of the Indenture sections E.3, E.6 and F.4 below permitting the replenishment
thereof over time), in the order of priority established by the Indenture as described in section A.1 above, until the Interim
Financing Notes, the Credit and Security Agreement and the General Fund, and all interest as described in sections A.1(g)
and A.1(h) above shall be paid in full, and there shall be no deficiency in the Debt Service Reserve Account or the Operating
Reserve Account, and (ii) after all outstanding amounts due under the Interim Financing Notes and Credit and Security
Agreement, and to the General Fund of the State, and all interest payable as described by sections A.1(g) and A.1(h) above,
shall be paid in full, and any deficiency in the Debt Service Reserve Account and the Operating Reserve Account shall be
replenished, any use of such Power Charge Revenues for any of the purposes set forth in such sections A.1(j) and A.1(k)
above shall require the consent of the Commission.
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2. Amounts in the Operating Account representing proceeds of each Series of Bonds shall be paid out or
transferred from time to time by the Department to pay Costs of the Department, subject to limitations, if any, of the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds.

3. That amount, if any, set aside by the Department as reserves in subaccounts in the Operating Account for
the purposes specified in clause (iv) of section A.1(j) above shall be used by the Department solely for the respective
purposes specified in said clauses, shall not be available for the payment of any other purpose for which amounts in the
Operating Account may be applied, and shall not constitute part of the Trust Estate.

4. The Department shall separately notify the Commission in writing whenever the Minimum Operating
Expense Available Balance has been reduced as a result of the Department no longer purchasing the Residual Net Short.
Whenever such reduction in the Minimum Operating Expense Available Balance occurs, any resulting excess in the
Operating Account shall be utilized in the same manner as Excess Amounts are required to be utilized pursuant to section F.5
below.

5. While the Department is purchasing the Residual Net Short, if on any date the Operating Account balance
falls below $750 million, unless the Operating Account balance has been restored to at least the Minimum Operating Expense
Available Balance on the thirty-first (31st) day thereafter, then on or prior to the forty-fifth (45th) day following the date on
which the Operating Account balance fell below $750 million, the Department will submit a new Revenue Requirement to
the Commission providing for Revenues sufficient to restore the Operating Account to the Minimum Operating Expense
Available Balance within a period ending no later than two hundred forty (240) days following the date of the submission of
such new Revenue Requirement to the Commission. While the Department is purchasing the Residual Net Short, if on any
date the Operating Account balance falls below $500 million and the Department has not yet submitted a Revenue
Requirement pursuant to the preceding sentence, then on or prior to the earlier of (a) the tenth (10th) Business Day following
the date on which the Operating Account balance falls below $500 million or (b) the date on which a Revenue Requirement
is required to be submitted to the Commission in accordance with the preceding sentence, the Department will submit a new
Revenue Requirement to the Commission providing for Revenues sufficient to restore the Operating Account to the
Minimum Operating Expense Available Balance within a period ending no later than two hundred forty (240) days following
the date of the submission of such new Revenue Requirement to the Commission.

6. If and when the Department no longer is responsible for the payment of costs under any Power Supply
Contract, all amounts in the Operating Account shall be utilized in the same manner as Excess Amounts are required to be
utilized pursuant to section F.5 below, provided, however, that amounts required to satisfy a particular contingency shall be
retained in the Operating Account only until the contingency has been satisfied or discharged; and provided further, however,
that there may be retained in the Operating Account the amount, if any, determined by the Department to be required to pay
Bond Related Costs that otherwise would have to be paid from the Bond Charge Payment Account pursuant to section D.1(d)
below; and provided further, however, that any amounts not required for the purposes described in the preceding provisos
shall be utilized in the same manner as Excess Amounts are required to be utilized pursuant to section F.5 below.

B. Priority Contract Account. 1. Amounts transferred to the Priority Contract Account from the Operating
Account pursuant to A.1(a) above, from the Operating Reserve Account pursuant to F.3 below or from the Bond Charge
Collection Account pursuant to C.1(a) below shall be applied solely to the payment of Priority Contract Costs.

2. If and when the Department no longer is responsible for the payment of costs under any Priority Long
Term Power Contract, the balance if any, on deposit in the Priority Contract Account shall be utilized in the same manner as
Excess Amounts are required to be utilized pursuant to section F.5 below.

C. Bond Charge Collection Account. 1. The Department shall pay or cause to be paid into the Bond Charge
Collection Account, as and when received, (i) all Bond Charge Revenues, and (ii) all payments to the Department under
Qualified Swaps relating to Bonds. Bond Charge Revenues shall be paid out, transferred, retained, accumulated or
withdrawn from time to time for the following purposes and, as of any time, in the following order of priority:

(a) Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account shall be withdrawn and deposited in the Priority Contract
Account, upon the written direction of an Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee, for the purpose of paying Priority
Contract Costs then due and payable, but only to the extent moneys are not available for such purpose in the Operating
Account, the Priority Contract Account or the Operating Reserve Account; provided, however, that no such withdrawal shall
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be made if and when the Department no longer responsible and liable for the payment of costs under any Priority Long Term
Power Contract.

(b) Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account shall be withdrawn and deposited in the Operating
Account, upon the written direction of an Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee, for the purpose of paying the principal of
and interest on the Interim Financing Notes and other amounts payable by the Department under the Credit and Security
Agreement, as and when due and payable, but only to the extent moneys are not available for such purpose in the Operating
Account or in the Operating Reserve Account.

(©) Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account shall be transferred to the Bond Charge Payment Account
and applied for the purposes of, in the amounts and at the times required by, and otherwise as provided in section D below.

(d) Amounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account shall be withdrawn for the following purposes, on a
parity basis:

(1) to deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account amounts as provided by section E below, but only
to the extent amounts are not available therefor pursuant to section A.1(f) above, and

(i1) upon the written direction of an Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee, to establish and
maintain reserves for the payment of Parity Obligations to the extent required by a Financing Document. Any such reserve
for Parity Obligations accumulated in the Bond Charge Collection Account shall be maintained in a separate subaccount
which shall be established by a supplemental indenture for such purpose pursuant to the Indenture.

2. That amount, if any, set aside as reserves in subaccounts in the Bond Charge Collection Account pursuant
to clause (ii) of section C.1(d) above shall be used by the Department solely for the respective purposes specified in said
clause, shall not be available for the payment of any other purpose for which amounts in the Bond Charge Payment Account
may be applied, and shall not constitute part of the Trust Estate.

D. Bond Charge Payment Account. 1. There shall be transferred from the Bond Charge Collection Account to
the Bond Charge Payment Account pursuant to section C.1(c) above, no later than the last Business Day of each calendar
month, the amount, if any, required so that the balance in the Bond Charge Payment Account and available for Bond Related
Costs as specified below shall at least equal the respective amounts as follows, on a parity basis:

(a) the Debt Service accrued and unpaid as of such Business Day and to accrue thereafter through the end of
the third next succeeding calendar month;

(b) the amount accrued and unpaid as of such Business Day and estimated to be payable in the next succeeding
three calendar months (i) under Reimbursement Obligations, (ii) under agreements, constituting Parity Obligations, relating
to other financial instruments entered into in connection with the Bonds, including, but not limited to, investment agreements,
hedges, interest rate swaps, caps, options and forward purchase agreements, (iii) under agreements, relating to the
remarketing of Bonds, including, but not limited to, remarketing agreements, dealer agreements and auction agent
agreements, (iv) for any Subordinated Obligations constituting Bond Related Costs, and (v) otherwise as may be permitted by
a Rate Agreement to be paid from Bond Charge Revenues or the Bond Charge Payment Account;

(©) the amount accrued and unpaid as of such Business Day and estimated to be payable in the next succeeding
three (3) calendar months for the cost to the Department of Fiduciaries associated with the issuance and administration of the
Bonds; and

(d) if and when the Department no longer is responsible for the payment of costs under any Power Supply
Contract and Bonds remain Outstanding, the amount accrued and unpaid as of such Business Day and estimated to be
payable in the next succeeding three (3) calendar months for the Department’s Bond Charge servicing costs, costs of
preparing and providing the information and reports required under the Financing Documents, the 2002 Rate Agreement and
the Act, related audit, legal and consulting costs, related administrative costs, and costs of complying with arbitrage
restrictions and rebate requirements, and otherwise as may be permitted by a Rate Agreement to be paid from Bond Charge
Revenues or the Bond Charge Collection Account to the extent moneys are not available therefor in the Operating Account;
provided, however, that administrative costs described in section G below shall be paid through the Administrative Cost
Account pursuant to section G below.
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For the purpose of computing the amount to be deposited in the Bond Charge Payment Account pursuant to the
foregoing provisions of this section D, there shall be excluded from the balance in the Bond Charge Payment Account (i) the
amount, if any, set aside in the Bond Charge Payment Account from the proceeds of Bonds for the payment of interest on
Bonds which, pursuant to section D.6 below, is to be applied on an interest payment date or dates occurring after the period
specified above in this paragraph, and (ii) amounts scheduled to be paid by the Department under Qualified Swaps within the
relevant period. The estimates required by the foregoing provisions of this section D shall be made by the Department, based
on such assumptions and projections as the Department deems to be appropriate after consultation with the Commission, and
shall be included in a written direction of an Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee.

In addition to the foregoing provisions of this section D, there shall be transferred from the Bond Charge Collection
Account to the Bond Charge Payment Account, no later than the time required to make the payments required by section D.3
below, the amount, if any, required, in good funds, so that the balance in the Bond Charge Payment Account and available for
the purpose shall at least equal the amount required to be paid pursuant to such section D.3 below at such time.

2. The Redemption Price of any Bonds called for redemption, other than to satisfy Sinking Fund Installment
requirements, may be deposited in the Bond Charge Payment Account from the Bond Charge Collection Account or,
pursuant to section A.1(k) above, from the Operating Account, in the amounts and at the times required therefor, in each case
subject to any limitation set forth in any conditional notice of redemption as permitted by the Indenture. The Redemption
Price of any Bonds called for redemption to satisfy Sinking Fund Installment requirements shall be deposited in the Bond
Charge Payment Account pursuant to section D.1(a) above.

3. The Trustee shall pay Bond Related Costs out of the Bond Charge Payment Account as follows:

(a) The Trustee shall pay to the respective Paying Agents (i) on or before each interest payment date for any of
the Bonds, whether scheduled or upon earlier redemption, the amount required for the interest payable on such date; (ii) on or
before each Principal Installment due date, the amount required for the Principal Installment payable on such date; and (iii)
on or before any redemption date for the Bonds, to the extent of moneys deposited in the Bond Charge Payment Account
therefor, the amount required for the payment of the Redemption Price of the Bonds then to be redeemed. Such amounts
shall be applied by the Paying Agents to such purposes on or before the due dates thereof.

(b) The Trustee shall pay to the holder or issuer of each Parity Obligation specified in section D.1(b) above and
their participants to which an amount is due and payable thereunder, or other Person to whom an amount specified in such
section D.1(b) above is due and payable, such amounts and at such times, as shall be specified in a written direction of an
Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee.

() The Trustee shall pay to each Person to whom an amount specified in section D.1(c) above is due and
payable, in such amounts and at such times as shall be specified in a written direction of an Authorized Officer filed with the
Trustee.

(d) The Trustee shall pay to each Person to whom an amount specified in section D.1(d) above is due and
payable, in such amounts and at such times as shall be specified in a written direction of an Authorized Officer filed with the
Trustee.

4. Amounts accumulated in the Bond Charge Payment Account with respect to any Sinking Fund Installment
(together with amounts accumulated therein with respect to interest on the Bonds for which such Sinking Fund Installment
was established) may and, if so directed in writing by an Authorized Officer, shall be applied by the Trustee, on or prior to
the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding the due date of such Sinking Fund Installment, to (i) the purchase of Bonds of the Series,
maturity and interest rate within each maturity for which such Sinking Fund Installment was established, subject to section
D.10 below, or (ii) the redemption at the applicable sinking fund Redemption Price of such Bonds, if then redeemable by
their terms. The applicable sinking fund Redemption Price (or principal amount of maturing Bonds) of any Bonds so
purchased or redeemed shall be deemed to constitute part of the Bond Charge Payment Account until such Sinking Fund
Installment date, for the purpose of calculating the amount of such Account. After the forty-fifth (45th) day preceding the
due date of any such Sinking Fund Installment, the Trustee shall proceed to call for redemption, by giving notice as provided
in the Indenture, on such due date, Bonds of the Series, maturity and interest rate within each maturity for which such
Sinking Fund Installment was established (except in the case of Bonds maturing on a Sinking Fund Installment date) in such
amount as shall be necessary to complete the retirement of the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment after
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making allowances for any Bonds purchased or redeemed which the Department has directed the Trustee to apply as a credit
against such Sinking Fund Installment as provided in section D.5 below.

5. If at any time Bonds of any Series or maturity for which Sinking Fund Installments shall have been
established are purchased or redeemed other than pursuant to section D.4 above, or are deemed to have been paid pursuant to
the Indenture, and, with respect to such Bonds which are deemed paid, irrevocable instructions have been given to the
Trustee to redeem or purchase the same on or prior to the due date of the Sinking Fund Installment to be credited under this
section D, an Authorized Officer may from time to time and at any time by written notice to the Trustee specify the portion,
if any, of such Bonds so purchased, redeemed or deemed to have been paid and not previously applied as a credit against any
Sinking Fund Installment which are to be credited against future Sinking Fund Installments for such Bonds, but in all cases
subject to section D.10 below. Such notice shall specify the amounts of such Bonds to be applied as a credit against such
Sinking Fund Installment or Installments and the particular Sinking Fund Installment or Installments against which such
Bonds are to be applied as a credit; provided, however, that none of such Bonds may be applied as a credit against a Sinking
Fund Installment to become due less than forty-five (45) days after such notice is delivered to the Trustee. All such Bonds
which have been purchased or redeemed and are to be applied as a credit shall be surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation
on or prior to the due date of the Sinking Fund Installment against which they are being applied as a credit. The portion of
any such Sinking Fund Installment remaining after the deduction of any such amounts credited toward the same (or the
original amount of any such Sinking Fund Installment if no such amounts shall have been credited toward the same) shall
constitute the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purpose of calculation of Sinking Fund
Installments due on a future date.

6. The amount, if any, deposited in the Bond Charge Payment Account from the proceeds of any Series of
Bonds shall be applied to the payment of interest on the Bonds, or paid to the issuers of Enhancement Facilities to satisfy
Reimbursement Obligations relating to such interest, if any, paid under such Enhancement Facilities, in accordance with
written directions signed by an Authorized Officer and filed with the Trustee or, in the event that the Department shall
modify or amend any such direction by a subsequent direction signed by an Authorized Officer of the Department and filed
with the Trustee, then in accordance with the most recent such direction or amended direction.

7. If at any time the amount in the Bond Charge Payment Account shall be less than the amount required to be
on deposit pursuant to paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of section D.1 above at the times required thereby, or to pay the items of
cost specified in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of section D.3 above when due and payable, the Department shall apply all
available amounts, if any, in the Operating Account to such deposits or payments, as the case may be, on parity basis. If at
any time, after the application of moneys pursuant to the preceding sentence, the amount in the Bond Charge Payment
Account shall be less than the amount required to pay the items of cost specified in paragraphs (a), (b) and (d) of said section
D.3, all available amounts, if any, in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be applied to such purposes on a parity basis.
Any such application of moneys from the Operating Account or the Debt Service Reserve Account may be made directly or
through the Bond Charge Payment Account.

8. In the event of the refunding of any Bonds, the Trustee shall, upon the written direction of an Authorized
Officer, withdraw from the Bond Charge Payment Account all or any portion of amounts accumulated therein with respect to
the principal of and redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds being refunded and apply such amounts in
accordance with such direction; provided, however, that such withdrawal shall not be made unless (i) immediately thereafter
the Bonds being refunded shall be deemed to have been paid pursuant to the Indenture, and (ii) subject to section D.9 below,
the amount remaining in the Bond Charge Payment Account with respect to Debt Service on Bonds, after such withdrawal,
shall be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of section D.1 above.

9. Whenever there shall be held in the Bond Charge Payment Account, and in the Debt Service Reserve
Account, without giving effect to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit, an aggregate amount sufficient to
pay in full all Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms (including the maximum amount of principal or applicable
sinking fund Redemption Price and interest which could become payable thereon), no transfers shall be required to be made
to the Bond Charge Payment Account.

10. Any purchases of Bonds pursuant to sections D.4 and D.5 above shall be made at the direction of an
Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee, with or without advertisement and with or without notice to other Owners of
Bonds. Such purchases shall be made at such price or prices as is determined by an Authorized Officer; provided, however,
that such purchases may be made at prices exceeding the next applicable Redemption Price (or, if none, the principal amount)
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of such Bonds, plus accrued interest, if any, only after consultation with the Commission and if the Department determines
that to do so will not result in any insufficiency in the Bond Charge Payment Account for any other purpose.

E. Debt Service Reserve Account. 1. At the time any Series of Bonds is delivered pursuant to the Indenture,
the Department shall pay into the Debt Service Reserve Account from the proceeds of such Bonds or other available funds,
the amount, if any, necessary for the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account to equal the Debt Service
Reserve Requirement, after giving effect to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit, calculated immediately
after the delivery of such Series of Bonds.

2. Amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be applied as provided in this section E and
section D.7 above. Fiduciary charges and expenses (including, but not limited to, legal fees and expenses) shall not be paid
from the Debt Service Reserve Account.

3. If a deficiency exists in the Debt Service Reserve Account, no later than the last Business Day of each
calendar month the Department shall transfer (i) to the extent such transfer is required as a result of the use of Bond Charge
Revenues for the payment of Priority Contract Costs, or the payment of the principal of and interest on the Interim Financing
Notes and other amounts payable by the Department under the Credit and Security Agreement, pursuant to section C.1(a) or
C.1(b) above, or a change in value of investments, first, from the Operating Account to the extent that there are sufficient
moneys available therein, pursuant to section A.1(f) above, and second, to the extent necessary, from the Bond Charge
Collection Account, to the extent that there are sufficient moneys available therein, pursuant to clause (i) of section C.1(d)
above, and (ii) to the extent such transfer is required otherwise than as described in clause (i), or in the event transfers
pursuant to clause (i) are not sufficient, from the Bond Charge Collection Account to the extent that there are sufficient
moneys available therein, and deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account the amount, if any, required for the amount on
deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account to equal the Debt Service Reserve Requirement as of the last day of such
calendar month, after giving effect to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit; provided, however, that any
deficiency in the Debt Service Reserve Account, after giving effect to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit,
may be cured by depositing into the Debt Service Reserve Account each month during the period commencing no later than
the seventh month following such determination of the deficiency, approximately equal or greater amounts such that the
deficiency shall be cured by no later than the twelfth month following such determination of the deficiency.

4. Any amount in the Debt Service Reserve Account in excess of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, after
giving effect to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit, may be retained therein or, upon the written direction
of an Authorized Officer filed with the Trustee, may be transferred to the Bond Charge Collection Account; provided,
however, that any such excess as of the last Business Day of each calendar year shall be so transferred.

5. Whenever the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Account, without giving effect to any Alternate Debt
Service Reserve Account Deposit, together with the amount in the Bond Charge Payment Account with respect to Debt
Service on Bonds, is sufficient to pay in full all Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms (including the maximum
amount of principal or applicable sinking fund Redemption Price and interest which could become payable thereon), the
funds on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be transferred to the Bond Charge Payment Account, and
thereupon no further deposits shall be required to be made into the Debt Service Reserve Account. Prior to said transfer, all
investments held in the Debt Service Reserve Account shall be liquidated to the extent necessary in order to provide for the
timely payment of principal and interest (or Redemption Price) on Bonds.

6. Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposits may be made for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds
as provided in this section E.6. In lieu of any required transfers of moneys to the Debt Service Reserve Account, the
Department may cause to be deposited into the Debt Service Reserve Account for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds an
Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit in an aggregate amount equal to the difference between the Debt Service
Reserve Requirement and the sums of moneys or value of Authorized Investments then on deposit in the Debt Service
Reserve Account, if any. In lieu of retaining all or any portion of the moneys theretofore on deposit in the Debt Service
Reserve Account, the Department may cause to be deposited into the Debt Service Reserve Account an Alternate Debt
Service Reserve Account Deposit in an aggregate amount equal to such moneys, subject to section E.4 above. Each Alternate
Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit shall be payable (upon the giving of notice as required thereunder) on any date on
which moneys may be required to be withdrawn from the Debt Service Reserve Account and applied to the payment of a
Principal Installment of or interest on any Bonds, or to reimburse any issuer of an Enhancement Facility constituting a Parity
Obligation for any such payment made by such issuer, and such withdrawal cannot be met by amounts on deposit in the Debt
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Service Reserve Account. Any insurer providing an Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit surety bond or
insurance policy shall be an insurer whose municipal bond insurance policies insuring the payment, when due, of the
principal of and interest on municipal bond issues results in such issues being rated in the highest Rating Category by at least
two (2) Rating Agencies. Any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit letter of credit issuer shall be a bank or trust
company which on the date of issuance of the letter of credit has an outstanding unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed debt
issue which is rated in the highest Rating Category by at least two (2) Rating Agencies. Any provider of any other Alternate
Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit obligation shall have the qualifications set forth in a Supplemental Indenture;
provided, however, that prior to the deposit of such other Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit obligation in the
Debt Service Reserve Account, the Trustee shall have received written confirmation from each Rating Agency to the effect
that the deposit of such Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit will not, by itself, result in the withdrawal,
suspension or downgrade of any rating issued by such Rating Agency with respect to any Outstanding Bonds. If a
disbursement is made pursuant to an Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit, the Department shall either (i)
reinstate the maximum limits of such Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit or (ii) deposit into the Debt Service
Reserve Account funds in the amount of the disbursement made under such Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit,
or a combination of such alternatives, at the times and in the amounts required by section E.3 above. In the event that the
rating attributable to any provider of any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit shall fall below that required as
provided above, such Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit shall no longer be deemed to be an Alternate Debt
Service Reserve Account Deposit and the Department shall either (i) replace such Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account
Deposit with an Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit which shall meet the requirements provided above or (ii)
deposit into the Debt Service Reserve Account sufficient funds, or a combination of such alternatives, at the times and in the
amounts required by section E.3 above.

7. In the event of the refunding of any Bonds, the Trustee shall, upon the written direction of an Authorized
Officer, withdraw from the Debt Service Reserve Account all or any portion of amounts accumulated therein with respect to
the Bonds being refunded and apply such amounts in accordance with such direction; provided, however, that such
withdrawal shall not be made unless (i) immediately thereafter the Bonds being refunded shall be deemed to have been paid
pursuant to the Indenture, and (ii) subject to section E.5 above, the amount remaining in the Debt Service Reserve Account,
after giving effect to any Alternate Debt Service Reserve Account Deposit, after such withdrawal shall not be less than the
Debt Service Reserve Requirement.

F. Operating Reserve Account. 1. At the time any Series of Bonds is delivered pursuant to the Indenture, the
Department shall pay into the Operating Reserve Account from the proceeds of such Bonds or other available funds, the
amount, if any, necessary for the amount on deposit in the Operating Reserve Account to equal the Operating Reserve
Account Requirement.

2. Amounts on deposit in the Operating Reserve Account shall be applied as provided in this Section F.

3. If at any time the amounts in the Operating Account shall be less than the then current requirements thereof
for any payment, retention, accumulation, transfer or withdrawal required by sections A.1(a) through A.1(f) above, the
Department shall withdraw from the Operating Reserve Account and deposit in the Operating Account the amounts necessary
(or all the moneys in the Operating Reserve Account, if less than the amounts necessary), applying available amounts in the
order of priority and otherwise as specified in sections A.1(a) through A.1(f) above to make up such deficiency; provided,
however, that if and for so long as the balance on deposit in the Operating Reserve Account is equal to or less than the
Priority Contract Contingency Reserve Amount, amounts in the Operating Reserve Account may only be withdrawn for
deposit in the Priority Contract Account for the payment of Priority Contract Costs.

4. If at any time the amount on deposit in the Operating Reserve Account is less than the Operating Reserve
Account Requirement, no later than the last Business Day of each calendar month the Department shall transfer from the
Operating Account to the Operating Reserve Account pursuant to section A.1(i) above the amount, if any, required for the
Operating Reserve Account to equal the Operating Reserve Account Requirement as of the last day of such calendar month;
provided, however, that any deficiency in the Operating Reserve Account may be cured by depositing into the Operating
Reserve Account each month during the period commencing no later than the seventh month following such determination of
the deficiency, approximately equal or greater amounts such that the deficiency shall be cured by no later than the twelfth
month following such determination of the deficiency.

5. The Department shall separately notify the Commission in writing each time the Operating Reserve
Account Requirement is reduced pursuant to the Indenture. Whenever such reduction in the Operating Reserve Account
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Requirement occurs, any excess amounts in the Operating Reserve Account (“Excess Amounts”) will be used at such time to
satisfy any deficiencies existing at such time in the transfers, applications and withdrawals required by sections A.1(a)
through A.1(h) above, including repayment in full of the General Fund of the State for all advances made to the Department
from amounts appropriated to the Electric Power Fund, whether before or after November 15, 2001, including interest
payable thereon at the Pooled Money Investment Rate. Unless otherwise agreed by both the Department and the
Commission, each acting in their own discretion, any Excess Amounts remaining after application to the uses described in the
preceding sentence shall be used, at the direction of the Commission after consultation with the Department, to (i) adjust
Department charges or (ii) with the agreement of the Department, reduce debt outstanding under the Indenture, in all
instances upon consideration of, the interests of the retail customers of the Electrical Corporations and the Department, and,
if applicable, Electric Service Provider retail customers.

6. If and when the Department no longer is responsible for the payment of costs under any Power Supply
Contract, the entire balance, if any, on deposit in the Operating Reserve Account shall be applied as provided by section F.5
above.

G. Administrative Cost Account. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Indenture, including but not
limited to the provisions described in sections A, C and D above, all administrative costs of the Department incurred in
administering Division 27 (commencing with Section 80000) of the Water Code, if and to the extent the payment thereof is
subject to appropriation by the State Legislature pursuant to Section 80200(c) of the Water Code or other provision of law,
shall be paid and accounted for through the Administrative Cost Account. Transfers shall be made from the Operating
Account or, after the Department no longer is responsible for the payment of costs under any Power Supply Contract, the
Operating Account or the Bond Charge Payment Account to the extent necessary to permit compliance with this section G.

Investment of Amounts in Accounts

Unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, all amounts held in any fund, account or subaccount under
the Indenture shall be invested by the Trustee in Authorized Investments. Unless otherwise determined by any Supplemental
Indenture, earnings on moneys and investments in (i) the Operating Reserve Account shall be credited to and deposited in the
Operating Account, and (ii) any other fund, account or subaccount under the Indenture shall be credited to and deposited in
such fund, account or subaccount. Authorized Investments purchased as an investment of moneys in any such fund, account
or subaccount shall be deemed at all times to be a part of such fund, account or subaccount, any profit realized from the
liquidation of such investment shall be credited thereto and any loss resulting from the liquidation of such investment shall be
charged thereto.

Revenue Requirements

The Department shall cause to be established, fixed and revised from time to time charges sufficient, together with
any other available moneys and securities on deposit in the Electric Power Fund, to satisfy all of the Department’s Revenue
Requirements at the times and in the amounts needed. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such charges shall be
sufficient, after taking into account any moneys and securities on deposit in the Operating Account, to produce Revenues
sufficient in each calendar year: to pay all Operating Expenses in such calendar year as the same become due and payable; to
pay the Interim Financing Notes and other amounts payable by the Department under the Credit and Security Agreement as
the same become due and payable; to make all deposits to the Bond Charge Payment Account in the amounts and at the times
required by section D under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above in such calendar year; to pay all Parity
Obligations as and when the same become due and payable in such calendar year; to repay to the General Fund of the State
advances made to the Department from amounts appropriated to the Electric Power Fund, and to repay General Fund moneys
expended by the Department pursuant to the 2001 Emergency Measures, including interest thereon payable at the Pooled
Money Investment Rate, at the times and in the amounts provided in the Indenture; to pay the debt service on all
Subordinated Indebtedness then outstanding, and all Subordinated Obligations, as and when the same respectively become
due and payable in such calendar year; to replenish the Debt Service Reserve Account as and to the extent required by
section E under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above in the event of any deficiency therein; to replenish the
Operating Reserve Account as and to the extent required by Section F under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds”
above in the event of any deficiency therein; to retain on deposit in or make any deposit to any fund, account or subaccount
pursuant to and to the extent necessary under the Act or required by any Financing Document, including, but not limited to,
such retentions or deposits as shall be required to maintain the Minimum Operating Expense Available Balance as may be
required by section A.5 under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above or to maintain reserves as may be required
by clause (iv) of section A.1(j) under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above, and by clause (ii) of section C.1(d)
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under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above; and to pay such other obligations of the Department, payable by
the Department, in such calendar year as shall be incurred in accordance with both the Enabling Measures and the Indenture.

The Department will include in its Revenue Requirements amounts estimated to be sufficient:

(a) to cause the amount on deposit in the Operating Account (except any amounts set aside as reserves in
subaccounts in the Operating Account for the purposes specified in clause (iv) of section A.1(j) under the caption
“Application and Flow of Funds” above, at all times during any calendar month to equal the Minimum Operating Expense
Available Balance;

(b) to cause the amount on deposit in the Bond Charge Collection Account, on the first Business Day of each
calendar month, to equal the amounts projected to be required to be paid out of the Bond Charge Payment Account pursuant
to section D.3 under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above in such calendar month, which projections shall be
based on such assumptions, and which may take into account a range of possible outcomes, as the Department deems to be
appropriate after consultation with the Commission, and

(c) for the payment of interest on Variable Rate Bonds during the relevant Revenue Requirement Period,
assuming that interest accrues on such Variable Rate Bonds at a rate equal to the greater of (i) of 130% of the highest average
interest rate in any calendar month during the twelve (12) calendar months, or such shorter period that such Variable Rate
Bonds shall be Outstanding, ending with the month preceding the date such Revenue Requirements are filed with the Trustee
or the Commission, as the case may be, or (ii) 4.0%.

For purposes of the covenant set forth in this paragraph, the Department may take into account the issuance of
Bonds or other obligations anticipated to occur prior to the applicable Revenue Requirement Period.

No later than 90 days prior to the commencement of each calendar year beginning on and after January 1, 2003, the
Department shall file with the Trustee an estimate of the Department’s Revenue Requirements for such calendar year. The
estimate for each calendar year shall demonstrate compliance with the requirements of this caption, and shall specify, on a
monthly basis and in the aggregate for such calendar year, receipts of Revenues and deposits to, retentions in and transfers
and withdrawals from the funds, accounts or subaccounts under the Indenture pursuant to sections A.l and C under the
caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above, including, but not limited to, withdrawals (i) for the payment of Priority
Contract Costs and other Operating Expenses, principal and Redemption Price of and interest on Bonds, principal of and
interest on the Interim Financing Notes and other amounts payable by the Department under the Credit and Security
Agreement, Parity Obligations, Subordinated Obligations and Subordinated Indebtedness, taking into account any proceeds
of Bonds or other amounts on deposit in the Operating Account, in the Priority Contract Account, in the Bond Charge
Collection Account and in the Bond Charge Payment Account, (ii) to maintain the Debt Service Reserve Account and
Operating Reserve Account in the amounts required by sections E and F under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds,”
respectively, and (iii) to repay to the General Fund of the State advances made to the Department from amounts appropriated
to the Electric Power Fund, including interest thereon payable at the Pooled Money Investment Rate in accordance with the
Act at the times and in the amounts provided in the Indenture.

Such estimates may be revised from time to time for any calendar year or for the balance of any then-current
calendar year to reflect actual results and revised estimates; provided, however, that such estimates (i) shall be confirmed or
revised in each calendar month during which the Department is permitted by the Act to enter into new contracts for the
purchase of Power, and (ii) shall be revised as soon as practicable after the amount on deposit in any fund, account or
subaccount under the Indenture shall be less than the amount required by the Indenture. Each confirmation or revision
required by clause (i) of the foregoing proviso shall be filed with the Trustee as soon as practicable but no later than thirty
(30) days (whether or not a Business Day) after the end of each calendar month to which it relates. Each confirmation or
revision pursuant to this paragraph shall contain the same information required for the annual estimates by the foregoing
paragraph.

Each such estimate and confirmation or revision thereof shall be accompanied by a written statement from a
Consultant to the effect that the estimate or revision, as the case may be, reasonably can be expected to result in Revenues

sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Indenture or, if not, specifying the reasons therefor in reasonable detail.

The Department shall submit to the Commission such Revenue Requirements as shall be the subject of Rate
Agreements, at such times and in such manner as the Department reasonably determines will enable the Commission to take
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action with respect thereto pursuant to the Rate Agreements to enable the Department to receive moneys in such amounts and
at such times as shall permit the Department to fully comply with the provisions of the first two paragraphs under this
caption. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Department shall make projections, submit requests for changes
in Revenue Requirements, Bond Charges and Power Charges, and take all other actions as are required of it under or pursuant
to Section 4.1(b) and other provisions of the 2002 Rate Agreement, and by the provisions of any other Rate Agreement, to
enable the Department to comply with the preceding sentence.

Rate Agreements

The Department shall enter into and maintain in effect at all times one or more Rate Agreements. Nothing contained
in the Indenture shall (i) require the Department to continue to purchase or sell Power or (ii) prevent the Department from
assigning, terminating or suspending any Power Supply Contract if (a) a Rate Agreement is in full force and effect, and (b)
the Bond Charges established under the Rate Agreement are in full force and effect. The Department shall not voluntarily
consent to or permit any amendment, termination or suspension, or waive any provision, of any Rate Agreement unless the
Department shall determine, in a written determination signed by an Authorized Officer and delivered to the Trustee, that the
same will not have a material adverse affect on the ability of the Department to comply with the provisions of the Indenture.
The Department shall perform all of the obligations and conditions required to be performed and observed by it under each
Rate Agreement, and shall take such actions from time to time as shall be necessary and available to enforce all of the
obligations and conditions required to be performed and observed under each Rate Agreement by the Commission, in each
case to the extent material to the payment of or security for the Bonds or Parity Obligations. An Authorized Officer shall
promptly notify the Trustee and Co-Trustee in writing of any dispute or default, in each case if determined by the Department
to be material to the payment of or security for the Bonds or Parity Obligations, and of each event of default, arising under
any Rate Agreement as soon as practicable after the Department has actual knowledge thereof. If the Department shall have
defaulted under its obligations contained in any Financing Document, such default is continuing and the Department has
failed to enforce such Rate Agreement to the extent it is permitted to do so thereunder, the Co-Trustee shall have the right to
enforce such Rate Agreements, as permitted by and subject to such Rate Agreements. All right, title and interest of the
Department in, to and under each Rate Agreement is collaterally assigned to the Co-Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of
Bonds and the holders or issuers of or other parties to Parity Obligations, to the extent necessary for purposes of such
enforcement, subject to the terms of such Rate Agreements. The Co-Trustee agrees to comply with all provisions of any Rate
Agreement necessary to enable it to exercise the rights granted by the Indenture and described in this paragraph.

Cooperation with Commission

Wherever the Indenture requires the Department to consult with the Commission with respect to assumptions made
by the Department, the Department shall involve the Commission in the development of these assumptions by conferring
regularly in a manner consistent with the Department’s obligations under the 2002 Rate Agreement.

Servicing Arrangements; Collection of Revenues

The Department shall enter into and maintain in effect at all times one or more Servicing Agreements which, in
aggregate, shall provide for all of the following functions and services: transmit or provide for the transmission of, and
distribute, all Power; billing, collection and remittance of all moneys constituting Bond Charges, Power Charges, Direct
Access Power Charges or other charges; and all other services related to the foregoing; provided, however, that separate
Servicing Agreements may be entered into and maintained for separate functions and services; and provided further,
however, that no Servicing Agreement shall be required for any functions or services to the extent such functions or services
are performed directly by the Department, subject to the following sentence, or pursuant to an order (“Servicing Order”) of
the Commission. The Department shall not attempt to assert any authority to perform any such function or service except as
permitted under an applicable Servicing Agreement or Servicing Order. The Department shall request such Servicing Orders
of the Commission as the Department determines to be necessary or appropriate in connection with the performance of such
functions or services and the implementation or enforcement of any Servicing Agreement.

The Department shall not voluntarily consent to or permit any amendment, termination or suspension, or waive any
provision, of any Servicing Arrangement unless the Department determines, in a written determination signed by an
Authorized Officer and delivered to the Trustee, that the same will not have a material adverse affect on the ability of the
Department to comply with the provisions of the Indenture. The Department shall perform and observe all of the obligations
and conditions required to be performed and observed by it under each Servicing Arrangement, and shall take such actions
from time to time as shall be necessary and available to enforce all of the obligations and conditions required to be performed
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and observed under each Servicing Agreement by the other party thereto, and to enforce each Servicing Order in accordance
with its terms, in each case to the extent material to the payment of and security for the Bonds or Parity Obligations.

If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Co-Trustee shall have the right to enforce the
Servicing Arrangements to the extent the Department fails to do so, as permitted by and subject to such Servicing
Arrangements. All right, title and interest of the Department in, to and under the Servicing Arrangements is hereby
collaterally assigned to the Co-Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of Bonds, the holders of Interim Financing Notes and the
holders or issuers of or other parties to Parity Obligations, to the extent necessary for purposes of such enforcement, subject
to the terms of such Servicing Arrangements. If the Department shall have defaulted under its obligations contained in any
Financing Document and such default is continuing, the Co-Trustee shall have the right to request Servicing Orders with
respect to the Servicing Agreements or the functions and services described above, and to request the Commission to enforce
the same, to the extent the Department fails to do so. All right, title and interest of the Department in, to and under the
Servicing Arrangements, insofar as it relates to such requests and enforcement, is hereby collaterally assigned to the Co
Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of Bonds, the holders of Interim Financing Notes and the holders or issuers of or other
parties to Parity Obligations, to the extent necessary for purposes of such requests and enforcement, subject to the terms of
such Servicing Arrangements. The Co-Trustee agrees to comply with all provisions of any Servicing Arrangements
necessary to enable it to exercise the rights described above, and in doing so shall be subject to the provisions of the
Indenture.

The Department shall use its best efforts to collect or cause to be collected all moneys due and payable to the
Department, which, upon receipt by the Department, would constitute Revenues, as soon as practicable after the same are due
and payable; provided, however, that nothing contained in the Indenture shall prohibit the effectuation of the program
provided by Executive Order No. D-56-02 dated May 23, 2002, including the financing thereof, as provided thereby.

All right, title and interest of the Department in, to and under the Servicing Arrangements to amounts payable, and
payments, to the Department pursuant to and under the Servicing Arrangements are hereby collaterally assigned to the
Trustee and Co-Trustee for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds, the holders of Interim Financing Notes and the holders or
issuers of or other parties to Parity Obligations, subject to the terms of such Servicing Arrangements.

Non-Impairment Covenant of State; Extension of Sunset Date

Under the Indenture, the State pledges and undertakes that while any obligations of the Department incurred under
Division 27 of the State Water Code, including without limitation the Indenture, the Bonds and Parity Obligations, remain
outstanding and not fully performed or discharged, the rights, powers, duties, and existence of the Department and the
Commission shall not be diminished or impaired in any manner that will affect adversely the interests and rights of the
holders of or parties to such obligations. This pledge and undertaking is included in the Indenture pursuant to the authority to
do so contained in Section 80200(e) of the State Water Code.

Any extension of the January 1, 2003, termination date for the authority of the Department to contract for the
purchase of Power, contained in Section 80260 of the State Water Code, shall not constitute a violation of the foregoing
pledge and undertaking of the State, nor shall any such extension constitute a violation of or default under the Indenture.

Covenant Relating to Retirement of Bonds

The Department shall schedule the maturity of, redeem or otherwise retire Bonds in accordance with the Indenture at
such times and in such amounts as are necessary to assure that the Department complies with Paragraph II of the Summary of
Material Terms referred to in Section 7.10 of the Rate Agreement, as such Summary of Material Terms was amended by
Paragraph 18 of the Amended and Restated Addendum to Summary of Material Terms of Financing Documents dated as of
August 8, 2002. Such provisions require, in part, that the plan of finance of the Bonds provide for substantially level debt
service.

Continuing Disclosure
The Department has covenanted in the Indenture to post on its website, so long as it maintains a website, (i) within
forty-five (45) days of the end of each fiscal year quarter except the fourth quarter, unaudited financial statements of the

Department relating to its Electric Power Fund for such quarter, (ii) within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of
each fiscal year, audited financial statements of the Department relating to its Electric Power Fund for such fiscal year, and
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(iii) promptly, each Revenue Requirement filing made by the Department with the Commission. The Department shall send
notice of each such posting, by first class mail, to any Person filing with the Chief, Division of Fiscal Services, or the Chief,
Financial Management Office, Power Supply Program of the Department a written request therefor, to the address specified
by such Person. If the Department no longer maintains a website, the Department will send such documents by first class
mail to any Person filing with the Chief, Division of Fiscal Services, or Chief, Financial Management Office, Power Supply
Program, a written request therefor, to the address specified by such Person.

In the event of a failure of the Department to comply with any provision of this covenant, the Trustee may (and, at
the request of the Owners of at least 50% in aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, shall), or any Owner or
Beneficial Owner of the Bonds may (unless the Department has so complied within 20 days after written notice from the
Trustee, such Owner or Owners, or such Beneficial Owner or Beneficial Owners, as the case may be, of the Department’s
failure to comply) seek specific performance by court order, to cause the Department to comply with its obligations under
this covenant, as the sole remedy, and default under this covenant shall not be deemed a default or an Event of Default under
the Indenture, notwithstanding anything in the Indenture to the contrary. For this purpose, “Beneficial Owner means any
person which has or shares the power, directly or indirectly, to make investment decisions concerning ownership of any
Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories and other intermediaries).

Supplemental Indentures and Amendments

The Department, the Trustee and the Co-Trustee may adopt (without the consent of or notice to any Owner)
Supplemental Indentures to, among other purposes, prohibit, or provide limitations and restrictions in addition to the
limitations and restrictions contained in the Indenture on, the delivery on original issuance of Bonds or the issuance of other
evidences of indebtedness; add to the covenants and agreements of the Department in the Indenture other covenants and
agreements to be observed by the Department which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Indenture as theretofore in
effect; add to the limitations and restrictions in the Indenture other limitations and restrictions to be observed by the
Department which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Indenture as theretofore in effect; surrender any right, power or
privilege reserved to or conferred upon the Department by the Indenture; authorize Bonds of a Series or to amend, modify or
rescind any such authorization, specification or determination at any time prior to the first delivery of such Bonds; authorize
Subordinated Indebtedness and provide with respect thereto to the extent provided by, and otherwise not inconsistent with,
the Indenture theretofore in effect; subject Subordinated Obligations and Subordinated Indebtedness to the lien on and pledge
of the Trust Estate pursuant to the Indenture on a subordinate basis; confirm, as further assurance, any pledge under, and the
subjection to any lien or pledge created or to be created by, the Indenture, of any additional security other than that previously
granted or pledged under the Indenture; modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as to permit the
qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar Federal statute hereafter in
effect or to permit the qualification of the Bonds for sale under the securities laws of any of the states of the United States of
America, and, if the Department so determines, to add to the Indenture such other terms, conditions and provisions as may be
permitted by said Trust Indenture Act of 1939 or similar Federal statute; comply with regulations and procedures as are from
time to time in effect relating to any book-entry-only system, whether within or without the United States, for the registration
of beneficial ownership interests in Bonds; to evidence the assignment and transfer of rights, and the delegation of duties and
obligations, of the Department by operation of law to another department, agency or instrumentality of the State that has
indicated in writing its willingness to accept the rights of the Department and to assume and discharge the duties and
obligations of the Department; modify any of the provisions of the Indenture in any other respect whatever with respect to
any Bonds, provided that (i) (a) such modification relates only, and is to be effective prior to the issuance of, such Bonds, or
(b) such modification relates only, and is to be effective only upon the remarketing of, such Bonds in connection with an
optional or mandatory tender thereof for purchase by or on behalf of the Department, and (ii) such modification is disclosed
in an offering or reoffering document applicable to such issuance or remarketing; or modify any of the provisions of the
Indenture in any other respect whatever, provided that such modification shall be, and shall be expressed to be, effective only
after all Bonds Outstanding, outstanding Interim Financing Notes and outstanding or unpaid Parity Obligations at the date of
the execution and delivery of such Supplemental Indenture shall cease to be Outstanding or owing, as the case may be.

For any one or more of the following purposes and at any time or from time to time, a Supplemental Indenture may
be executed by the Department, the Trustee and the Co-Trustee without the consent of or notice to any Owner, which, upon
delivery to the other parties thereto and the satisfaction of the requirements of the Indenture, shall be effective in accordance
with its terms: (1) to cure any ambiguity, supply any omission, or cure or correct any defect or inconsistent provision in the
Indenture; or (2) to insert such provisions, or to make such other amendments to the Indenture, as are necessary or desirable
which are not materially adverse to the rights under the Indenture of the Owners of Bonds, the holders of Interim Financing
Notes and the holders or issuers of or other parties to Parity Obligations.
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Any modification or amendment of the Indenture and of the rights and obligations of the Department and of the
Owners, in any particular, may be made by a Supplemental Indenture, with the written consent given as provided in the
Indenture (i) of the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding at the time such consent is given, and
(i1) in case less than all of the Bonds then Outstanding are affected by the modification or amendment, of the Owners of a
majority in principal amount of the Bonds so affected and Outstanding at the time such consent is given; provided, however,
that if such modification or amendment will, by its terms, not take effect so long as particular Bonds remain Outstanding, the
consent of the Owners of such Bonds shall not be required and such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the
purpose of any calculation of Outstanding Bonds under this caption. No such modification or amendment shall (a) permit a
change in the terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of any Outstanding Bond or of any installment of interest
thereon or a reduction in the principal amount or the Redemption Price thereof or in the rate of interest thereon without the
consent of the Owner of such Bond, (b) reduce the percentages or otherwise affect the classes of Bonds the consent of the
Owners of which is required to waive an Event of Default or otherwise effect any such modification or amendment, (c) create
a preference or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds, without the consent of the Owners of all such
Bonds, (d) create a lien prior to or on parity with the lien of the Indenture, without the consent of the Owners of all of the
Bonds then Outstanding, except to the extent permitted by the Indenture, or (e) change or modify any of the rights or
obligations of any Fiduciary without its written assent thereto. For the purposes of this paragraph, a Bond shall be deemed to
be affected by a modification or amendment of the Indenture if the same materially and adversely affects the rights of the
Owner of such Bond. The Trustee may in its discretion determine whether or not in accordance with the foregoing powers of
amendment particular Bonds would be affected by any modification or amendment of the Indenture and any such
determination shall be binding and conclusive on the Department and all Owners of Bonds.

The terms and provisions of the Indenture and the rights and obligations of the Department and of the Owners of
Bonds may be modified or amended in any respect upon the execution by the Department, the Trustee and the Co-Trustee of
a Supplemental Indenture, the filing of a fully executed copy with the Trustee and the Co-Trustee, and the consent of the
Owners of all of the Bonds then Outstanding, such consent to be given as provided in the Indenture; provided, however, that
no such modification or amendment shall change or modify any of the rights or obligations of any Fiduciary without the
filing with the Trustee of the written assent thereto of such Fiduciary in addition to the consent of the Owners of Bonds.

Events of Default and Remedies

Pursuant to the Indenture, any one or more of the following events shall constitute “Events of Default”: (1) if default
shall be made in the due and punctual payment of the principal or Redemption Price of any Bond, or in the due and punctual
payment of the principal or redemption price, if any, of any Parity Obligation when and as the same shall become due and
payable, whether at maturity or by call for redemption, or otherwise; (2) if default shall be made in the due and punctual
payment of any installment of interest on any Bond or of interest, if any, on any Parity Obligation when and as such interest
installment shall become due and payable, and such default shall continue for a period of 5 days; (3) if the Department
defaults in the performance or observance on its part of any of the covenants or agreements contained in the Indenture
relating to the submission by the Department of Revenue Requirements to the Commission, relating to the Rate Agreements
or relating to the Servicing Arrangements, and such default shall continue for a period of 10 days after written notice thereof
to the Department by the Trustee or the Co-Trustee, or to the Department, the Trustee and the Co-Trustee by the Owners of a
majority in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding; provided, however, that no such default relating to submission by the
Department of Revenue Requirements to the Commission shall constitute an Event of Default if and for so long as the
Commission is taking action to cure the Department’s default pursuant to Section 4.1(a) of the 2002 Rate Agreement or
otherwise; (4) if an “event of default,” as defined in any Rate Agreement, on the part of the Commission shall have occurred
and be continuing; (5) if any “event of default,” as defined in the Credit and Security Agreement or any Parity Obligation, on
the part of the Department shall have occurred and be continuing; (6) if the Department defaults in the performance or
observance on its part of any other of the covenants or agreements contained in the Indenture or in the Bonds to be
performed, other than as specified in clauses (1) through (3) above, and such default shall continue for a period of 60 days
after written notice thereof to the Department by the Trustee or Co-Trustee, or to the Department, the Trustee and the Co-
Trustee by the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding; provided, however, that if such default
shall be such that it cannot be remedied by the Department within such 60 day period, it shall not constitute an Event of
Default if corrective action is instituted by the Department within such period and diligently pursued by the Department until
the default is remedied; or (7) with respect to a Series of Bonds, any additional events as may be specified in the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series.

Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, neither the Trustee nor the Co-Trustee nor the Owners

nor the issuer of any Enhancement Facility nor a party to any Swap Obligation shall have the right to accelerate the maturity
of any Bond or Parity Obligation. The preceding sentence shall not be construed to prohibit any redemption of Bonds or
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Parity Obligations at the option of the Owner, holder or issuer thereof or other party thereto, or if required pursuant to any
Enhancement Facility, or any optional or mandatory tender of Bonds or Parity Obligations pursuant to the terms thereof, or
any early termination of a Qualified Swap (subject to the Indenture).

During the continuance of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall take control of the Operating Account, the Priority
Contract Account, the Operating Reserve Account and the Administrative Cost Account and apply all amounts on deposit
therein, Revenues and the income therefrom to payments as follows and in the following order:

(1) The reasonable and proper charges and expenses of the Trustee and the Co-Trustee (including, but
not limited to, reasonable legal fees and expenses and charges and expenses of any management consultant or consulting
engineer, or firm of either thereof, selected by the Trustee or Co-Trustee pursuant to paragraph (ii) below. Such charges and
expenses shall only be paid from Power Charge Revenues or Bond Charge Revenues.

(ii) The amounts required for reasonable and necessary Operating Expenses, including, but not limited
to, reasonable and necessary reserves and working capital. The Trustee or the Co-Trustee may retain a management
consultant or consulting engineer, or firm of either thereof, of recognized standing (who may be an engineer or management
consultant, or firm of either thereof, retained by the Department for other purposes) for the purpose of rendering advice with
respect to such matters. For this purpose the books of record and account of the Department shall at all times be subject to the
inspection of such consultant, engineer or firm of consultants or engineers during the continuance of such Event of Default.

(iii) The interest and principal or Redemption Price then due on the Bonds, and the interest and
principal components of Parity Obligations (which, in the case of Swap Obligations shall consist of scheduled payments and
termination payments, respectively) as follows:

First: To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest then due on the
Bonds and the interest component of Parity Obligations, in the order of the maturity of such
installments, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any installment or
installments maturing on the same date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the
amounts due thereon, to the Persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and

Second: To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal or Redemption
Price of any Bonds and the unpaid principal component of Parity Obligations, which shall have
become due, whether at maturity or by call for redemption, in the order of their due dates, and, if
the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds and the principal
component of Parity Obligations, due on any date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according
to the amounts of principal or Redemption Price due on such date, to the Persons entitled thereto,
without any discrimination or preference.

If and whenever all overdue installments of interest on all Bonds and Parity Obligations, together with the
reasonable and proper charges and expenses of the Trustee and the Co-Trustee, and all other sums payable by the Department
under the Indenture, including, but not limited to, the principal and Redemption Price of and accrued unpaid interest on all
Bonds and Parity Obligations which shall then be payable, shall either be paid by or for the account of the Department, or
provision satisfactory to the Trustee and the Co-Trustee shall be made for such payment, and all defaults under the Indenture
or the Bonds, the Credit and Security Agreement and all agreements, instruments or notes evidencing Parity Obligations shall
be made good or secured to the satisfaction of the Trustee and the Co-Trustee or provision deemed by the Trustee and the Co-
Trustee to be adequate shall be made therefor, all Revenues shall thereafter be applied as provided under the caption
“Application and Flow of Funds” above, and the Trustee shall return control of the Operating Account, the Priority Contract
Account, the Operating Reserve Account, the Bond Charge Collection Account and the Administrative Cost Account to the
Department. No such resumption of the application of Revenues as provided under the caption “Application and Flow of
Funds” above shall extend to or affect any subsequent default under the Indenture, the Credit and Security Agreement and all
agreements, instruments or notes evidencing Parity Obligations, or impair any right consequent thereon.

If (i) an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, and (ii) whether or not an Event of Default
has happened or shall have been remedied, in the event of any failure of the Department to pay into the Operating Account,
as and when received, Power Charge Revenues as described under Section A under the caption “Application and Flow of
Funds” above or to pay into the Bond Charge Collection Account, as and when received, Bond Charge Revenues, as
described under section C under the caption “Application and Flow of Funds” above, or to collect or cause to be collected
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Revenues as required by the Indenture, or in the event of a violation of the pledge and agreement of the State in the Indenture,
then and in every such case, the Co-Trustee, by its agents and attorneys, if the Co-Trustee shall deem it advisable, may
proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Owners of Bonds and the holders or issuers of or other parties to
Parity Obligations under the Indenture forthwith by a suit or suits in equity or at law, whether for the specific performance of
any covenant contained in the Indenture, or in aid of the execution of any power granted in the Indenture, or for an
accounting against the Department as if the Department were the trustee of an express trust, or in the enforcement of any
other legal or equitable right as the Co-Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effectual to enforce any of its
rights or to perform any of its duties under the Indenture. Notwithstanding the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Co-
Trustee shall have only such rights to enforce the Rate Agreements as are set forth in such Rate Agreements.

No Owner shall have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity for the enforcement of
any provision of the Indenture or the execution of any trust under the Indenture or for any remedy under the Indenture, unless
such Owner shall have previously given to the Trustee and the Co-Trustee written notice of the happening of an Event of
Default, and the Owners of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have
filed a written request with the Trustee and the Co-Trustee, and shall have offered the Co-Trustee reasonable opportunity,
either to exercise the powers granted as described under this caption or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own
name, and unless such Owners shall have offered to the Co-Trustee adequate security and indemnity against the costs,
expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Co-Trustee shall have refused to comply with such request
within a reasonable time; it being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bonds shall have any right in any
manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the pledge created by the Indenture, or to enforce any
right under the Indenture, except in the manner therein provided; and that all proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any
provision of the Indenture shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner provided in the Indenture and for the equal
benefit of all Owners of the Outstanding Bonds.

Resignation and Removal of Co-Trustee

The Co-Trustee may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations created by the Indenture by
giving not less than 90 days’ written notice to the Department and the Trustee, and the Trustee thereupon shall mail notice
thereof to the Owners of the Bonds, specifying the date when such resignation shall take effect, at least 30 days prior to the
effective date, provided that such resignation shall take effect upon the later of (i) the day specified in such notice and (ii) the
day a successor shall have been appointed by the Department or the Owners of Bonds as provided in the Indenture.

The Co-Trustee may be removed at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing, filed with the
Trustee and the Co-Trustee, and signed by the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or
their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized, excluding any Bonds held by or for the account of the Department; provided,
however, that the Co-Trustee may be removed only for cause unless and until an Event of Default shall have occurred and be
continuing under the Indenture. In addition, so long as no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the
Indenture and the Co-Trustee is not pursuing any right or remedy available to it pursuant to the Indenture, the Co-Trustee
may be removed by the Department at any time for failure to provide reasonably acceptable services, failure to charge
reasonably acceptable fees or any other reasonable cause, all as determined by a written determination signed by an
Authorized Officer and filed with the Trustee and the Co-Trustee, which determination shall be conclusive. Any such
removal shall not be effective until a successor shall have been appointed by the Department or the Owners of Bonds as
provided in the Indenture.

Defeasance

If the Department shall pay or cause to be paid to the Owners of all Bonds then Outstanding the principal or
Redemption Price, if any, and interest to become due thereon, to the other parties to the Credit and Security Agreement all
amounts payable thereunder, and to the holders or issuers of or other parties to all Parity Obligations all amounts payable
thereunder and upon the termination thereof, at the times and in the manner stipulated therein and in the Indenture, then the
covenants, agreements and other obligations of the Department to the Owners of Bonds, the other parties to the Credit and
Security Agreement, and the holders or issuers of or other parties to all Parity Obligations shall be discharged and satisfied.
In such event, the Trustee shall, upon the request of the Department, execute and deliver to the Department all such
instruments as may be desirable to evidence such discharge and satisfaction and the Fiduciaries shall pay over or deliver to
the Department all money, securities and funds held by them pursuant to the Indenture which are not required for the
payment or redemption of Bonds not theretofore surrendered for such payment or redemption, or required to make payments
under the Credit and Security Agreement and Parity Obligations.
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Outstanding Bonds or any portion thereof shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have
been paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in the Indenture either (A) as provided in the Supplemental
Indenture authorizing their issuance or (B) if (a) in case any of said Bonds are to be redeemed on any date prior to their
maturity, the Department shall have given to the Trustee, in form satisfactory to it irrevocable instructions to mail, as
provided in the Indenture notice of redemption on said date of such Bonds, (b) there shall have been irrevocably deposited
with the Trustee or other Paying Agent either moneys in an amount which shall be sufficient, or Defeasance Securities the
principal of and the interest on which when due will provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with
the Trustee or such Paying Agent at the same time, shall be sufficient, without further investment or reinvestment of either
the principal amount thereof or the interest earnings thereon, to pay when due, the principal or Redemption Price, if
applicable, and interest due and to become due on such Bonds on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as
the case may be, (c) in the event such Bonds are not by their terms maturing or are not to be redeemed within the next
succeeding 60 days, the Department shall have given the Trustee in form satisfactory to it irrevocable instructions to mail, as
soon as practicable, a notice to the Owners of such Bonds that the deposit required by clause (b) above has been made with
the Trustee and that said Bonds are deemed to have been paid as described under this caption and stating such maturity or
redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable,
on such Bonds, and (d) in the case of Bonds subject to optional or mandatory tender for purchase prior to the maturity or
earlier redemption date specified for its payment pursuant to this paragraph, the Trustee or such Paying Agent shall have
received written confirmation from each Rating Agency to the effect that the deposit and provisions for defeasance made
pursuant to this paragraph will not, by themselves, result in the withdrawal, suspension or downgrade of any rating issued by
such Rating Agency with respect to such Bonds. Neither Defeasance Securities nor moneys deposited with the Trustee or
other Paying Agent as described under this caption nor principal or interest payments on any such Defeasance Securities shall
be withdrawn or used for any purpose other than, and shall be held in trust for, the payment of the principal or Redemption
Price, if applicable, and interest on said Bonds; provided, however, that any moneys on deposit with the Trustee or such
Paying Agent, (i) to the extent such moneys will not be required at any time for such purpose, shall be deposited in the Bond
Charge Collection Account or, if the first paragraph of this caption applies, paid over to the Department as received by the
Trustee or such Paying Agent, free and clear of any trust, lien or pledge securing said Bonds or otherwise existing under the
Indenture, and (ii) to the extent such moneys will be required for such purpose on another date, shall, to the extent
practicable, be reinvested in Defeasance Securities maturing at times and in amounts sufficient, together with any moneys
available to the Trustee or Paying Agent for such purpose, to pay when due the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable,
and interest to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, as the case may be.
Notwithstanding ay other provision of the Indenture, the Department may, at the time any Bonds are deemed to have been
paid within the meaning and with the effect as set forth above, elect to retain the right to redeem or require the tender of any
such Bonds; provided, however, that such Bonds shall at all times comply with the requirements described above for such
Bonds to be deemed to have been paid as aforesaid.

Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, all instructions by the Department, accepted by the
Trustee or any Paying Agent, given pursuant to the Indenture to mail notice of redemption of the Bonds of a Series (other
than Bonds of such Series which have been purchased by the Trustee at the direction of the Department as therein provided
prior to the mailing of such notice of redemption) shall be irrevocable and shall foreclose the exercise by the Department of
any other optional redemption right with respect to such Bonds, except that any such instructions may be. revoked prior to
any deposit pursuant to the Indenture.

Unclaimed Moneys

The amounts held by any Fiduciary for the payment of the interest, principal or Redemption Price due on any date
with respect to particular Bonds or any amount payable under the Credit and Security Agreement or Parity Obligations shall,
on and after such date and pending such payment, be set aside on its books and held in trust by it for the Owners of Bonds,
the other parties to the Credit and Security Agreement or the holders or issuers of or other parties to Parity Obligations
entitled thereto. Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, any moneys so held by the Fiduciary, which
remain unclaimed for two (2) years after the date when such principal, Redemption Price, interest or amounts, respectively,
became due and payable, either at their stated maturity or due dates or by call for earlier redemption, if such moneys were
held by the Fiduciary at such date, or for two (2) years after the date of deposit of such moneys if deposited with the
Fiduciary after the date when such principal, Redemption Price, interest or amounts, respectively, became due and payable,
shall, at the written request of the Department, be repaid by the Fiduciary to the Department or such officer, board or body as
then may be entitled by law to receive the same, as its absolute property and free from trust, and the Fiduciary shall thereupon
be released and discharged with respect thereto and the Owners of Bonds, the other parties to the Credit and Security
Agreement and the holders or issuers of or other parties to Parity Obligations, as applicable, shall look only to the
Department or such officer, board or body for the payment of such principal, Redemption Price, interest or amounts,
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respectively. Before being required to make any such payment to the Department, the Fiduciary shall, at the expense of the
Department, cause to be mailed to the Owners, holders, issuers or parties entitled to receive such moneys, at their last
addresses, if any, appearing upon the registry books or other notice addresses on file with the Fiduciary or the Department, a
notice that said moneys remain unclaimed and that, after a date named in said notice, which date shall be not less than 30
days after the date of the mailing, the balance of such moneys then unclaimed will be returned to the Department or such
officer, board or body. The failure of any Owner of Bonds, holders, issuers or parties to receive such notice shall not affect
the application of moneys as described under this caption.

Successors and Assigns

Whenever in the Indenture, the Bonds, the Credit and Security Agreement, any agreement, instrument or note
evidencing a Parity Obligation, Subordinated Indebtedness, Subordinated Obligation, or any other obligation of the
Department under or pursuant to the Indenture, the Department is named or referred to, it shall be deemed to include its
successors and assigns and all the covenants and agreements in the Indenture or in the Bonds or such other obligations
contained by or on behalf of the Department shall bind and inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns whether so
expressed or not; provided, however, that such successor or assign is permitted by law to assume the Department’s
obligations thereunder and shall agree to be bound by the terms thereof.

Governing Law and Venue

The Indenture shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with internal laws of the State without regard to
conflicts of law principles. All legal actions and proceedings arising from the Indenture or the Bonds shall be brought in the
courts of the State located in the County of Sacramento, except as otherwise may be expressly agreed to by the Department.
The parties to the Indenture, and the Owners by their acceptance of Bonds, consent to and accept for themselves and in
respect of their property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts, and to the extent permitted by
law, irrevocably waive any objection, including, without limitation, any objection to the laying of venue or based on the
grounds of forum non conveniens, which they may now or hereafter have to the bringing of any such action or proceeding in
such respective jurisdictions, except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by the Department, the Trustee and the Co-
Trustee.
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APPENDIX D

RATE AGREEMENT

By and Between

STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES

and

STATE OF CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
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RATE AGREEMENT, dated as of March 8, 2002, by and between
STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES and
STATE OF CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION.

The parties mutually agree as follows:

ARTICLE X
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Definitions. The terms set forth in this Section shall have
the meanings ascribed to them herein for all purposss of this Agreement unless the
context clearly requires otherwise. Words in the singular shall include the plaral and
words in the plural shall include the singular where the context so requives.

“Act” shall mean Chapter 4 of the Statutes of 2001 (AB 1 of the First
2001-02 Extraordinary Session) of the State, as amended from time to time.

“dgreement” shall mean this Rate Agreement, as from tune to tume
hereafter amended or supplemented in accordance with the provisions hereof.

“Beneficiaries” shall mean, at any given time, the persons to whom the
Department is then obligated to pay Bond Related Costs described in clauses (i) through
(iv) of the definition of such term, in cach case solely to the extent of such obligations.

“Bond Charge” shall mean a charge imposed by the Comumission, by
order promulgated as a result of this Agreement, upon customers in cach of the Service
Aveas of Pacific Gas & Bleciric, Southern California Edison Company and San Diego
Gas & Electric Company or any of their respective successors based on the aggregate
amount of electric power sold to that customer by an Electrical Corporation and the
Department, and to the extent determined under Section 4.3 hereof, by an Electric Service
Provider, such charge to be revised from time to time by the Commission in such a
manner that amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account as a result of the
charge are always sufficient to pay or provide for the payment of the Bond Related Costs;
provided, that Bond Charges shall be imposed upon such customers in each Service Area
at all times required by this Agreement whether or not the Departinent is at the time
selling, or deemed to be selling, Power to such customers until such time as the
Department has recovered the portion of the Department’s revenue reqmrements under
Section 80134 of the Act constituting Bond Related Costs.

“Bond Charge Collection Account” shall have the meaning sct forth in

the Financing Docwments. Revenues that the Department receives from Bond Charges
shall be deposited in the Bond Charge Collection Account.
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“Bond Charge Payment Account” shall have the meaning set forth in the
Financing Documents, The primary purpose of the Bond Charge Payment Account 1s to
hold amounts that the Financing Documents require to be periodically transferred from
the Bond Charge Collection Account to provide for the payment of Bond Related Costs.

“Bond Related Costs™ shall mean payments of, or deposits or other
provision to be made by the Department under Financing Documents or the Act for the

following components of the Department’s revenue requirements under Section 80134 of
the Act:

(1) principal of, premiuu, if any, and interest on Bonds and
any additional amount required under the Financing Documents to be deposited into the
Bond Charge Collection Account to provide debt service coverage of the Bonds;

(iiy  payments required to be made (A) under agreements with
issuers of credit and liquidity facilities and their participants, including but not limited to,
letters of credit, bond insurance, guarantees, debt service reserve fund surety bonds, lines
of credit, reimbursement agreements, and standby bond purchase agreements, (B) under
agreements relating to other financial instruments entered info in connection with the
Bonds, including but not limited to investment agreements, hedges, interest rate swaps,
caps, options and forward purchase agreements and (C) under agreements relating to the
remarketing of Bonds, including but not limited to remarketing agreements, dealer
agreements and auction agent agreements;

(1))  deposits to the Debt Service Reserve Account established
under the Financing Documents to the extent necessary to provide therein an amount
equal to the requirement for such account under the Financing Documents if not
otherwise replenished from Power Charges;

(tv)  the cost of Fiduciaries associated with the issuance and
administration of the Bonds; and

(+v)  when and if the Department no longer sells Power under the
Act and Bonds remain outstanding, the Department’s Bond Charge servicing costs, costs
of preparing and providing the information and reports required under the Financing
Documents, this Agreement and the Act, related audit, legal and consulting costs, related
administrative costs, 2ud costs of complying with arbitrage restrictions and rebate
requirements.

“Bonds” shall mean State of California Department of Water Resources
evidences of indebtedness issued for the purposes specified in the Act pursuant to Section
80130 of the Act and the Executive Order of the Governor of the State of California,
dated June 18, 2001, in an aggregate principal amount up to $ 13,423,000,000; provided,
however, that (i) notes issued in anticipation of the issuance of Bonds and retired from the
proceeds of those Bonds shall not be counted against said dollar limitation, and (ii) Bonds
shall include indebiedness issued to refund prior Bonds, but such refunding indebtedness

D-2



shall not be counted against said dollar limitation; and, provided, further that, for all
purposes of this definition, the Bonds shall exclude the Interim Loan.

“Commission” shall mean the State of California Public Utilities
Cotmission and any board, commussion, department, corporation, authority or officer
succeeding to the functions thereof, or to whom the powers conferred on the Commission
by the Act shall be given by law,

“Debt Service Reserve Account” shall have the meaning set forth in the
Financing Documents. The purpose of the Debt Service Reserve Account is to provide
for the payment of Bond Related Costs in the event that amounts i the Bond Charge
Payment Account, after deposits from the Bond Charge Collection Account or other
funds under the Indentute, are insufficient. The Debt Service Reserve Account is
expected to be initially funded with Bond proceeds.

“Department” shall mean the State of California Department of Water
Resowces.

“Department Costs” shall mean, at any given time, all amounts which the
Department is then entitled under Section 80110 of the Act to recover, as a revenne
requirement, to enable it to comply with Section 80134 of the Act, (including amounts
payable under the Interim Loan), except that Department Costs, unless specifically
provided in this Agreement, exclude Bond Related Costs to the extent that such Bond
Related Costs have been recovered from Bond Charges.

“Electrical Corporation” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in
Section 218 of the Public Utilities Code, inciuding any snccessor and assign thereof.

“Electric Service Provider” shall mean an entity that provides electrical
service to one or more retail customers located within the Service Areas of Pacific Gas &
Electric, Southern Califormia Edison Company, or San Diego Gas & Electric Company or
any of their respective successors, except that Electric Service Provider excludes: the
Department, any other public agency to the extent that it offers electrical service to
customers within its jurisdiction or within the service territory of a local publicly owned
electric utility, and Electrical Corporations. Electric Service Provider includes the
unregwlated affiliates and subsidiaries of an Electrical Corporation.

“Fiduciary” shall mean any Trustee, any bond registrar and any paying
agent in connection with Bonds pursuant to the Financing Doctiments, and their
Tespective successors and assigns.

“Finarcing Documents” shall mean any resolution, indenture, frust
agreement, loan agreement, revolving credit agreement, reimbursement agreement,
standby purchase agreement or other agreement or instrument adopted or entered into by
the Department authorizing, securing or enhancing the Bonds, inciuding any bond
offering documents, as from time o time amended or supplemented in accordance
therewith. Copies of all Financing Documents shall be provided 1o the Commission.
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“Fund” shall mean the Depariment of Water Resources Electric Power
Fund established by the Act.

“Interim Loan” shall mean obligations issued under the Credit and
Security Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2001, among the Department and various
lenders identified therein and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, in its
capacity as agent for the lenders, and other documents and agreements described therein,

“Mipimuam Operating Reserve Aceount Requirement” shall have the
meaaning set forth in the Financing Documents, and shall include an amount solely limited
to make payments due under the Priority Long Term Power Contracts if funds are not
available in the Operating Account or the Priority Contract Account.

“Qperating Account”shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing
Documents. The purpose of the Operating Account is to provide for the payment of
Department Costs, including by transfer to the Priority Contract Account. Power Charges
will generally be deposited into the Operating Account.

“Operating Reserve Account”shall have the meaning set forth m the
Financing Documents. The purpose of the Operating Reserve Account is to provide for
the payment of Department Costs in the event that amounts in the Operating Account are
insufficient, or amounts in the Prority Contract Account are insufficient to make
payments due under the Priority Long Term Power Contracts.

“Power” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 80010 of the
Water Code. _

“Power Charges” shall mean charges imposed by the Comrission upon
Retail End Use Customers for electric power deemed sold to Retail End Use Customers
by the Department, except that Power Charges exclude Bond Charges.

“Priority Coniract Account” shall have the meaning set forth in the
Financing Documents. The purpose of the Priority Contract Account is to provide solely
for the payment of amounts due under Priority Long Term Power Contracts.

“Priority Long Term Power Contracts” shall mean (1) those long-term
electric power contracts identified in Appendix A, and shall not include any electric
power contracts entered into after August 14, 2001; provided, however, that such term
shall include any priority long term electric power contract entered into after August 14,
2001, as an amendment or novation of any Priority Long Term Power Contract and (11)
any contracts entered into for the purpose of sccuring fuel for use at generating facilittes
being operated pursuant to such Priority Long Term Power Contracts, if that fuel supply
contract contains a provision to the general effect that payments by the Department under
the contract are fo be paid or payable prior to bonds, notes, or other indebtedness of the
Department secured by a pledge or assignment of the revenues of the Department under
the Act and other amounts in the Fund. The Department shall consult with the
Commission prior 1o entering into any additional contract for the purpose of securing fusl
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if that contract contains such a provision, Contracts shall cease to be treated as Priority
Long Term Power Contracts under the circumstances described in Section 7.8.

“Retuil End Use Customer” shall mean each customer within the Service
Area of an Electrical Corporation that is deemed to purchase electric power from the
Depariment under the Act.

“Retail Revenue Requirements” shall mean the amounts required to pay
Department Costs that are to be generated from Power Charges imposed by the
Commussion from time to time.

“Service Area” shall mean the geographic area in which an Electrical
Corporation distributes electricity.

“State” shall mean the State of California.

“Trustee” shall mean any bank or trust conipany, or the State Treasuret,
appointed as trustee, co-trustee or collateral agent in connection with the Bonds or bond
related obligations pursuant to the Financing Documents, and its successors and assigns.

ARTICLE 11
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1  Representations and Warranties of Department. The
Department makes the following representations and warranties as the basis for the
undertakings on its part herein contained:

(a) It is a department within the Resources Agency of the State,
validly existing under the Constitution and Iaws of the State, and has full power and

authority to execute, deliver and perform and observe all of the terms and provisions of
this Agreement. :

(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement
have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the Department.

(c} This Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreement of the
Department and is enforceable against the Department in accordance with its terms,

Section2.2  Representations and Warrantieg of Commission. The
Commission makes the following representations and warranties as the basis for the
undertakings on its part herein contained:

{a) It is a comunission of the State, validly existing under the

Constimution angd laws of the State, and has full power and anthority to execute, deliver
and perform and observe all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
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(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement,
have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of the Commission.

(c) This Agrecment is a legal, valid and binding agreement of the
Commission and is enforceable against the Commission in accordance with its terms.

ARTICLE III
AGREEMENTS FOR BOND ISSUANCE

Section 3.1  Agreement for Bond Issuance. The Department and the
Commission agree that this Agreement is executed to facilitate the issuance of Bonds and
solely for the benefit of the Beneficiaries.

Section 3.2  No Indebtedness. Nothing contained in the Agrecment
shall be deemed to create or constitute a debi or Hability of the State or of any political
subdivision thereof, or a pledge of the ful} faith and credit or taxing power of the State or
of any such political subdivision.

Section 3.3  No Pecuniary Liability of Commission. Nothing i thus
Agreement shail be deemed to create any pecuniary liability of the Commission, its
Commissioners, employees or agents to any person, the sole remedy for any default,
breach or other nonperformnance by the Commission hereunder being the exercise of
remedies specifically afforded hereunder and under the Act.

ARTICLE IV
RETAIL REVENUE REQUIREMENTS; JUST AND REASONABLE COSTS

Section4.1  Retajl Revenue Requirements.

(a) Generally. The Commission agrees to cooperate with and
assist the Department in its review, determination and revision of its Retail Revenue
Requirement at the request of the Department. The Department shall promptly notify the
Commuission following any determination or revision of the Retail Revenue
Requirements, If any such annual or more frequent review indicates that the Power
Charges are, or will be, insufficient to meet the requirements of the Act, and the
Department so notifies the Commission, the Commission shall take necessary action to
cure or avoid any such deficiency, including adjustinent of existing, and the caleunlation
and imposition of additional, Power Charges. To the extent that the Department has not
provided a revised Retail Revenue Requirement to the Commission within the time
periods required by subsection (b) below for any reason and the Commission determines
based on the record before it, that Power Charges are not sufficient to pay Departiment
Costs {which for this purpose include replenishment of the Bond Charge Collection
Account, Bond Charge Payment Account or Debt Service Reserve Account), the
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Commission may modify Power Charges to cover such shortfall on an interim basis
pending receipt of a revised Retail Revenue Requirement from the Department.

(b) Communication. The Department shall, at least annually, and
more frequently as deemed reasonably necessary or appropriate by the Department or the
Commission, review, determine and revise its Retail Revenue Requirements. The
Department agrees that it shall revise and communicate to the Comumission its Retail
Revenue Requirement within 20 days of the occurrence of any of the following
circumstances, whether or not the Commission notifies the Department of such events:
(1) the Department projects that, within 120 days, there will be isufficient funds in the
Priotity Contract Account to pay costs incurred by the Department under the Priority
Long Term Power Contracts, or (ii) the Departiment projects that, within 120 days, there
will be less than the Minimum Operating Reserve Account Requirement in the Operating
Reserve Account, or (i) the Department projects that, within 120 days, shortfalls in the
Priority Contract Account, Operating Account and the Operating Reserve Account will
require the usage of moneys in the Bond Charge Collection Account to pay costs incurred
by the Department under the Priority Long Term Power Contracts, or (iv) the Department
projects that, moneys in the Debt Service Reserve Account will be used within 120 days
to pay Bond Related Costs. The Depariment further agrees that 1f a revised Retail
Revenue Requirement has not previously been submitted pursuant to the preceding
sentence of this Section 4.1 the Department shall revise and communicate to the
Commission within 3 husiness days its Retail Revenue Requirement in the event that the
Department makes any withdrawal from the Bond Charge Collection Account fo pay
specified Department Costs, or from the Operating Reserve Account or the Debt Service
Reserve Account such that, in ejther case, the amount in such account is less than that
required under the Financing Documents.

(¢) Information. In any determination of the Retail Revenue
Requirements, the Department shall include the amount required 1o be recovered in the
applicable period and shall set forth amounts projected to be required to be collected
during subsequent periods in which either Bonds will remain outstanding or the
Department will continue to sell Power, but not exceeding the five years succeeding the
applicable revenue requirement period. The Retail Revenue Requirements for any period
shall take into account any deficiency or any surplus in amounts recovered in earlier
periods, as well as any anticipated surpluses in the Priority Contract Account, Operating
Account and the Operating Reserve Account in the period. The Department’s notification
to the Commissjon of the Retail Revenue Requirements shall include a statement
containing the Department’s projections (with reasonable detail) of the following
information for each month during the period covered by the Retail Revenue
Requitements:

(i) the beginning balance of funds on deposit in the Fund,
including the amounts on deposit in each account and subaccount of the Fund;

(if)  the amounts necessary to pay or provide for the principal
of, premium, if any, and interest on all Bonds and all other Bond Related Costs under the
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Financing Documents as and when the same shal] become due and the amount of Bond
Charges to be collected for such purpose;

(iil)  the amount of its Retatl Revenue Requirement for that
month;

_ {(iv)  any other information requested by the Commission in its
proceedings implementing a Retail Revenue Requirement,

(d) Additional Information. The Department shall provide the
Commission as soon as practicable, but no later than 30 days after the end of each month,
a report of Department receipts and Department Costs for the prior month, based upon the
sums of known actual Department receipts and Department Costs and estimated accruals
for those receipts and costs which are subject to final invoicing or accounting settlement
processes. Such monthty report shail be presented in a form which enables reasonable
comparison to the monthly estimates contained in the latest Retail Revenue Requirement
for (1) long texm Department contract electric power purchases, (ii) short term Departruent
electric power purchases, (iii) other electric power purchases or reimbursement by the
Department of purchases of electric power by others for which the Department is
responsible for payment, and (iv) Department administrative costs. For items (i), (ii) and
(iii) above, the Department shall report information with a level of detail that lists each
counterparty, the volumes provided by the counterparty, and the cost of those volumes.
In addition, for those items, the costs and volumes will be separated into day ahead, hour
ahead, “out of market” purchases, and contract categories, or such comparable categories
as shall be in place at the time, The Department shall also report to the Commission on a
monthly basis the balance in each of the accounts or subaccounts the Department is
required to keep pursuant to the Financing Documents. When actual or additional
information becomes available for any of the reports identified i this Section 4.1(d), the
Department will communicate such information to the Comimission. In addition, the
Department’s monthly reports shall contain the information required by Section 4.1(c)(it).

(e) The Commission shall receive any financial reports prepared by
the Department as required by the Financing Documents at the same time as the recipients
under the Financing Documents.

Section 4.2  Just and Reasonable Costs, The Department agrees that
prior to including any cost in the Retail Revenue Requirements commmunicated to the
Commission in accordance with Section 4.1(a), the Department will conduct whatever
procedures are required by law to determine that such cost is just and reasonable within
the meaning of Section 451 of the California Public Utilities Code.

Section4.3  ESP Power. Bond Charges may be based on electric power
provided to customers by Electric Service Providers only after an order of the
Commission providing for such charges becomes final and unappealable.
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ARTICLE V
RATE COVENANT

Section 5.1  Rate Covenant.

(a) The Commission hereby covenants and agrees to calculate,
tevise and impose from time to time, Bond Charges sufficient to provide moneys so that
the amounts available for deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account from time to
time, together with amounts on deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account, are at all
times sufficient to pay or provide for the payment of all Bond Related Costs when due in
accordance with the Financing Documents.

(b) As provided by Section 80112 of the Act and as authorized by
Section 80110 of the Act, including by reference to Article 5.5 (commencing with
Section 840) of Chapter 4 of Part 1 of Division 1 of the Califorma Public Utilities Code,
the Bond Charges authorized by Commission Order and the right of the Department to
receive Bond Charges as provided in this Agreement shall be property of the Department
for 2ll purposes under California law.

() As authorized by Section 80110 of the Act by reference to
Article 5.5 (comrnencing with Section 840) of Chapter 4 of Part 1 of Division 1 of the
California Public Utilities Code, Sections 5.1(a) and 5.1{b) of this Agreement shall have
the force and effect of a “financing order” adopted thereunder and shall be irrevocable
and enforceable in accordance with the terms hereof, including, without limitation, in
circumstances in which the Department has breached its obligations under this Agreement
or in respect of the Financing Documents.

(d) If the Department has complied with Article IV hereof to
the extent applicable, but nevertheless projects that there will be insufficient monies on
deposit in the Bond Charge Payment Account to make timely payment of Bond Related
Costs, the Department shall submit to the Commission a request that the Commission
increase Bond Charges to make timely payment of Bond Related Costs and the
Commission agrees that it shall calculate and impose revised Bond Charges to pay such
Bond Related Costs no later than 120 days from the date following the delivery to the
Commission by the Department of its request for revised Bond Charges, provided, to the
extent the insufficiency in the Bond Charge Payment Account relates to an insufficiency
of Power Charges to provide for cerfain specified Department Costs, the Commission
agrees that, no later than 120 days from the date on which the Depariment submits a
revised Retail Revenue Requirement pursnant to Article IV covering the same projected
insufficiency in the Bond Charge Payment Account, it shall respond to the revised Retail
Revenue Requirement or the Bond Charge request. Whether or not the Department

makes the foregoing vequests, the Commission shall, in all instances, be bound by its
covenaunts in this Article V.
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ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS OF THE COMMISSION

Section 6.1  Power Charges.

(8) The Commission hereby covenants and agrees to calculate,
revise and impose, from time to time, Power Charges sufficient to provide moneys in the
amounts and at the times necessary to satisfy the Retail Revenue Requirements as
specified by the Department. :

(b) Power Charges and Bond Charges shall be established by the
Commission without regard to the levels or amounts of any particular rates or charges
authorized by the Commission to be charged by any Electrical Corporation for electrical
power sold by such Electrical Corporation.

{c) The Commission acknowledges that, as provided by Section
80112 of the Act, Power Charges shall be property of the Department for all purposes
under California law.

(d) The Commission agrees that it shall calculate and impose
Power Charges no later than 120 days following the delivery to the Commission by the
Department of a statement of new or revised Retail Revenue Requirements that complies
with Articie IV hereof.

Section 6.2  Compliance with Agreement.

(2) The Commission hereby covenants with the Department that
the Cormmission shall take all such actions or refrain from taking all such achions, s the
case may be, so as to comply with the terms and provisions of the Act and this
Agreement.

(b) The Conpnission hersby covenants that, so long as any Bonds
shall be oatstanding, it will not take any action, or fail to take any action, which, if taken
or not taken, as the ¢ase may be, would adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the
interest payable on Bonds or Interim Loan obligations then outstanding, the interest on
which, at the time of issuance thereof, was exempt from Federal income taxation or not
includable in gross incorme for purposes of Federal income taxation. In furtherance of the
foregoing, the Commission agrees to act with respect to those matters within its control
that could adversely affect the exclusion of interest on Bonds or Interim Loan obligations
from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation.

Section 6.3  Liens. Until the Bonds have been paid in full or provision
has been made therefor in accordance with the Financing Documents, the Commission, to
the extent it has the power to do so, shall not permit to be created any purported lien upon
or pledge of the Power Charges or the Bond Charges except any licn and pledge thereon
created by or pursuant to the Act as security for the enforcement of the Department’s
obligations {including the Interim Loan) entered into pursuant thereto.
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Section 6.4  Commission Acknowledgment. The Commission
acknowledges that the Department intends to enter into Financing Documents that permit
certain specified Department Costs to be funded out of amounts available in the Bond
Charge Collection Account if insufficient moneys are available in the Priority Contract
Account, Operating Account and the Operating Reserve Account to pay such specified
Department Costs. In the event that such Department Costs are funded out of the Bond
Charge Cellection Account, the Department shall take such actions as are required under
this Agreement so that the amounts applied from the Bond Charge Collection Account for
such purpose shall be replenished from Power Charges, provided that any faiture to do so
by the Department shall not mitigate or alter the Commission’s obligations under
Article V.

ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS OF THE DEPARTMENT

Section 7.1  Retail Reverue Reguirgment. The Department hereby
covenants and agrees 1o caiculate and revise its Retail Revenue Requirement only for the
purpose of recovering costs which it Is permitted to collect under the Act, (including
amounts payable under the Interim Loan), and not to cover any costs in connection with
its responsibilities under the Act which it cannot include in such a Retail Revenue
Requirement.

Section 7.2  Department Participation. Consistent with the Hmitations
set forth in Water Code Section 80110, upon the request of the Commission, the
Department will participate in any Commission proceedings, including providing
witnesses, attending public hearings and providing any other materials necessary to
facilitate the Commission’s completion of its proceedings, taken in connection with the
establishment of Power Charges or Bond Charges by the Comumission.

Section7.3  Compliance with Agreement.

(a) The Department hereby covenants with the Commission that
the Department shall take all such actions or refrain from taking all such actions, as the
case may be, so as to comply with the terms and provisions of the Act and this
Agreement, including but not limited to, complying with the legal requirements
referenced in Article IV and the requirement to review its Retail Revenue Requirement at
Jeast annually.

(b) The Department hereby covenants that, so long as any Bonds
shall be outstanding, it will not take any action, or fail to take any action, which, if taken
or not taken, as the case may be, would adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the
interest payable on Bonds or Interim Loan obligations then outstanding, the interest on
which, at the time of issuance thereof, was exempt from Federal income taxation or not
mcludable in gross income for purposes of Federal income taxation. In furtherance of the
foregoing, the Department agrees to act with respect to those matters within its confrol
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that could adversely affect the exclusion of interest on Bonds or Interim Loap obligations
from. gross income for purposes of federal income taxation.

Section 7.4 Charges. The Department acknowledges the Commission’s
exchusive authority to spread the Department’s revente requirement among customer
classes and service ternitories and to determine the extent or timing of rate changes that
may be required in the future, consistent with the Commission’s obligations in this Rate
Agreement. As long as this Agreement is in effect the Department agrees that it will not
attempt to fix or establish charges on retail end use customers for the purpose of paying
Department Costs or Bond Related Costs. Nothing in this Agreement shall be read to
establish that the Department does or does not have the authority to fix or establish such
charges.

Section 7.5  Department Audits. The Department shall provide to the
Commission when available a copy of any audit conducted pursuant to Section 80270 of
the Act and a copy of each of the Department’s audited annual financial statements for
the Fund.

Section 7.6  Proceeds. The Department shall sell Bonds, as soon as
practicable, in amounts sufficient to provide for the repayment to the General Fund of the
State of the advances made under the Act to the Fund, together with interest on such
advances as provided by the Act, The Department shall apply the proceeds of the Bonds
to répayment of the General Fund with the understanding that repayment of the Interim
Loan in full has priority and that the following costs may have priority: creation of

adequate reserves for the payment of Bond Related Costs and payment of costs of
issuance, :

Section 7.7  Renegotiation of Power Contracts. The Department shall
use its best efforts to renegotiate or modify its long term Power coniracts.

Section 7.8 Priority Long Termm Power Contracts. Any Priority Long
Term Power Contract that is amended, replaced or terminated so that any resulting
contract no longer contains a provision to the general effect that payments by the
Department under the contract are to be paid or payable prior to bonds, notes, or other
indcbtedness of the Department secured by a pledge or assignment of the revenues of the
Department under the Act and other amounts in the Fund shall no longer be treated as a
Priority Long Term Power Contract. The Department shall immediately notify the
Commission of any such amendment, replacement or termination.

Section 7.9  Appointment of Trustee. To the extent practicable, the
Department shall appoint as Trustee a bank, {rust company or other qualified entity or
petson that does not itself, or by or through any of its corporate affiliates, trade in
electricity or natural gas commodity markets, and does not itself, or any of its affiliates,
appear on the list of top twenty creditors for any Electneal Corporation or any entity
providing electric power to the Department that has petitioned for bankruptcy.
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Section 7.10 Financing Documents. The Department shall involve, to
the fullest extent possible, the Commission in the development and completion of ali
Financing Documents and shall consuit with the Commission on the sizing of operating
and debt service reserves, debt service coverage, the maturity and maximum amount of
Bonds to be issued and any other matters in the Financing Documents which the
Commission deems material. The Department has submitied to the Cominission a
summary (the “Summary”) of the material terms of the Financing Documents securing its
Bonds. (“Material terms™ means the maximum amount of the Bonds authorized, their
maturity, a description of the flow of funds and a description of the sizing or methodology
of sizing of reserves held or created pursuant to the Financing Documents or debt service
coverage required thereby.) If the Department makes any material change to any such
terms 1t must obtain the approval of the Commission’s designee. For purposes of the last
sentence, “material change” means (i) a change in the sizing or methodology of sizing of
debt service reserves that would increase the projected net debt sexvice on the Bonds by
more than an amount specified in the Summary; (ii) an increase in debt service coverage
required by the Financing Documents by move than an amount specified in the Suramary;
(iti) a change in the sizing or method of sizing of operating resezves by more than an
amount specified in the Summary; {(iv) any increase in the maximurm amount of the
Bonds authorized; (v) a change in the maturity of the Bonds beyond those changes
permitted in the Summary; or (vi) a change in the flow of funds beyond those changes
permitted in the Summary. At the time the Commission adopts the Rate Agreement, it
will appoint a designec for purposes of this Section 7.10. Nothing in this Section 7.10
shall imply that the Comoussion or its designee shall have the right to approve (i) the
final amortization, interest rates, or methods of determination, denominations, redemption
provisions or pricing of the Bonds or (ji) final sizing of reserves and debt service
coverage based on pricing considerations, or {iii) except to the extent set forth above in
this Section 7.10, the texms of any revolving credit agreement, reimbursement agreement,
standby purchase agreement, liquidity or credit enhancement facility, or swap agreement
or other hedging agreement entered into in connection with the Bonds, or {(iv) any
agreements or arrangements with any Fiduciary incident to the issuance of the Bonds or
(v) any offering document used in connection with the offering of the Bonds (except with
respect to sections of the offering document relating to the Commission.)

ARTICLE VIII
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 8.1  Events of Defauft. An “event of default” or a “default”
shall mean, whenever they are used in this Agreement, a failure of the Commission to
calculate and impose Bond Charges in accordance with Article V.

Section 8.2  Remedies.
{a) Whenever any event of default shall have ocenrred and be

continuing, and written notice of the default shall have been given to the Commission by
the Departnent and the default shall not have been cured within 30 days, the Department
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may take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to enforce
performance and observance of any obligation, agreeraent or covenant of the Commission
under Article V.

(b) Whenever any event shall have occurred and be continuing,
such that either the Commission or the Department is not in compliance with any
covenant or obligation of this Agreement, and written notice of the breach of such
covenant or obligation shall have been given to either the Commission or the Department
and the breach shall not have been cured within 30 days, both the Commission or the
Department may take whatever action at faw or in equity that may appear necessary or
desirable to enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement ot
covenant undey this Agreement.

Section 8.3  Consent fo Assignment.

(a) The Commission consents to the collateral assignment by the
Department to the Trustee for the benefit of the Beneficiaries, as such, of the covenants of
the Cormmission contained in Article V; provided, however, that any rights so granted to
the Trustee shall not be greater than the rights of the Department under such Sections of
this Agreement, and such right on the part of the Trustee to enforce such covenants shall
only commence after the Department has both defaulted under its obligations contained in
the Finagcing Documents and bas failed to enforee such covenants in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement. Prior to exercising any rights granted to the Trustee in
accordance with this Section 8.3, the Trustee shall be required to (i) give prior written
notice within the time period required in Section 8.3(b) below, (ii) certify to the
Commission that an event of default, other than an event of default predicated solely on
the Commission’s failure to act hereunder, has occurred under the Financing Documents
and (iii) comply or cause the Department to comply with the provisions of this Agreement
relating to the Department’s rights, duties and obligations hereunder.

() In addition to the requirements of Section 8.3(a) for exercismg
its rights hereunder, unless a default has resulted in the amount in the Debt Service
Reserve Account being insufficient to pay or provide for the timely payment of all Bond
Related Costs in accordance with the Financing Documents, the Trustee shall give the
Commission 30 days prior written notice of the exercise by the Trustee of any of the
Department’s rights under Section 5.1 hereof.

ARTICLE IX
TERMINATION

Section 9.1  Termination. The Agreement shall texminate, and the
covenants and other obligations contained in the Agreement shall be discharged and
satisfied, when payment of the Bonds and all other Bond Related Costs required to be
paid by the Department under the Financing Documents have been made or provided for
in accordance with the Financing Documents.
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ARTICLE X
AMENDMENTS

Section 10.1 Amendments to Aereement. No amendment to the
Agreement shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by each of the parties
hereto, provided, however, on or after the issuance of the Bonds, Sections 5.1(a) and (b)
may not be amended.

ARTICLE XJ
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1 No Waiver. No fatlure to exercise, and no delay in
exercising by the parties hereto, any right, power or privilege bereunder shall operate as a
waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege
hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof, or the exercise of any right,
power or privilege. The rights and remedies hetein provided are cumulative and not
exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law, including the Act.

Section 11.2 Notices. All notices, reguests and other coramunications
under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been duly given if in writing and delivered
personally or by certified mail (a) to the Department at 1416 9™ Street, 11% Floor,
Sacramento, California 95814, attention: Director; (b) to the Commission at 505 Van
Ness Avenue, San Francisco, California 94102, attention; Executive Director and
General Counsel; or such other address as the Departmeit, or the Commission, as the
case may be, shall hereafter designate by notice in writing to the other party.

Section 11.3  Severabjlity. Tn the event that any one or more of the
provisions contained in the Agreement is or are invalid, irregular or unenforceable in any
respect, the validity, regularity and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained
in this Agreement shall be in no way affected, prejudiced or disturbed thereby.

Section 11.4 Headings. The descriptive headings of the several articles
of the Agreement are inserted in the Agreement for convenience only and shall not be
deemed to affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions of the Agreement.

Section 11.5 Governing Law. The Agreement shall be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, the Constitution and laws of the State of Califoruia,
without regard 1o the provisions thereof regarding couflicts of law.

Section 11.6 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one
and the same instrument.

Section 11.7 Date of Agreement. The date of this Agreement shall be
for identification purposes only. This Agreement shall become effective immediately
upon execution and delivery by the parties hereto.
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Section 11.8  Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this agreement
express or implied shall be construed to give any person or entity, other than the parties
hereto and the Beneficiaries, any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim under or in

respect of the agreement or any covenants, agrecments, Tepresentations, or provisions
contained herein,

Section 11.9  Applicability. This Agreement does not apply to anty Retail
Revenue Requiremnent under consideration by the Commission as of the date of this
Agreement, but does apply to any Retall Revepue Requirement submitted thereafier.
Prior to the issuance of any Bonds, any provision of this Agreement referring to an
account or subaccount under the Financing Documents shall be interpreted to achieve the
intent of such provision as nearly as practicable.

Section 11.10 No Implied Waivers. Nothing in this Agreement shall be
construed to limit the rights of the Commission or the Department to assert any rights it
may have with respect to any contract enfered into by the Department with respect to its
obligations under the Act, or to contest in any proceeding the legality or effect of any
contract entered into by the Department with respect to its obligations under the Act.

Section 11.11 No Assignment. Except as set forth in Section 8.3, neither
the Department nor the Commission shall assign any of its rights or delegate any of its
duties under this Agreement without the express written consent of the other party hercto,
provided, however, if , with respect to either party, another governmental entity 1s created
or designated by law to carry out the rights, powers, duties and obligations of such party,
then such party may, if required by such law, transfer and assign its right, title and interest
in this Agreement to such successor, provided, that such successor entity is permitted by
law to assume such party's obligations under this Agreement and agrees in writing to be
bound by the terms of this Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the Department has caused this Agreement to
be executed in its name by the Director of Water Resources and the Commission by the
affirmative vote of the Commission (Decision No. 02-02-051) has caused this Agreement
to be executed in its name by those Commissioners who constituted a majority of the
Commission when it approved this agresment, all as of the date first above written.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF
WATER RESOURCE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA PUBLIC
UTILITIES COMMISSION

By:
Commiss ®
-7
By: C"‘”‘ St:‘!:b
Comupissioner
By: / g ﬂ&
Commissioner '
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APPENDIX E
PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF ATTORNEY GENERAL

Upon delivery of the Series 2010L Bonds, the Honorable Edmund G. Brown Jr., Attorney General of the State of
California, proposes to deliver an opinion in substantially the following form:

California Department of Water Resources
Sacramento, California

Department of Water Resources
Power Supply Revenue Bonds
$2,992,540,000 Series 2010L

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as Attorney General of the State of California in connection with the issuance by the State of
California Department of Water Resources (the “Department”) of $2,992,540,000 aggregate principal amount of its Power
Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2010L (the “Series 2010L Bonds™). The Series 2010L Bonds are issued under and pursuant
to the Constitution and laws of the State, including, but not limited to, Division 27 (commencing with Section 80000) of the
California Water Code, as amended (the “Act”), and a Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 2002 (the “Trust Indenture”),
among the Department, the Treasurer of the State of California, as Trustee (the “Trustee”) and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Co-Trustee (the “Co-Trustee™), as supplemented and amended by a Ninth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated
as of May 1, 2010, among the Department, the Trustee and the Co-Trustee (collectively with the Trust Indenture, the
“Indenture”).

In such connection, we have examined the Indenture, the Rate Agreement dated as of March 8, 2002 (the “Rate
Agreement”), by and between the Department and the California Public Utilities Commission (the “CPUC”), certifications of
the Department, the Trustee, the Co-Trustee, and others, opinions of special counsel to the Department and the CPUC, and
such other documents, opinions and matters to the extent we deemed necessary to render the opinions set forth herein. We
have assumed, without undertaking to verify, the genuineness of all documents, certifications and opinions and signatures
thereon presented to us (whether as originals or as copies); the accuracy of the factual matters represented, warranted or
certified in such documents, certificates and opinions; the correctness of the legal conclusions contained in such opinions; the
due and legal execution of such documents and certificates by, and validity thereof against, any parties other than the
Department; and compliance with all covenants and agreements contained in the Indenture and the Rate Agreement.

This opinion is issued as of the date hereof. The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws,
regulations, rulings and court decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. Such opinions
may be affected by actions taken or omitted or events occurring after the date hereof. We have not undertaken to determine,
or to inform any person, whether any such actions are taken or omitted or events do occur or any other matters come to our
attention after the date hereof. We assume no obligation to update, revise or supplement this opinion to reflect any action
hereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or circumstances, or any changes in law or in interpretations thereof, that may
hereafter arise or occur, or for any other reason.

In addition, we call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Bonds (as defined in the Trust
Indenture), the Indenture and their enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement,
fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of equitable
principles, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to the limitations on legal remedies against the State
of California. We express no opinion with respect to any indemnification, contribution, penalty, choice of law, choice of
forum, choice of venue, waiver or severability provisions contained in the documents described herein.

Finally, we express no opinion as to the accuracy, adequacy or sufficiency of any financial or other information
which has been or will be supplied to purchasers of the Series 2010L Bonds and undertake no responsibility for the accuracy,
completeness or fairness of the Official Statement dated , 2010, pertaining to the Series 2010L Bonds or other
offering material relating to the Bonds and express no opinion with respect thereto.



Based on and subject to the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, as of the date hereof, we are of the following
opinions:

1. The Department is a department of the State of California, duly established and validly existing
under the laws of the State of California.

2. The Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Department, and
constitutes the valid and binding agreement of the Department, enforceable against the Department in accordance with its
terms.

3. The Series 2010L Bonds constitute valid and binding limited special obligations of the
Department payable solely from the Trust Estate (as defined in the Trust Indenture), including the Revenues (as defined in
the Trust Indenture), as and to the extent provided in the Indenture. The Series 2010L Bonds do not constitute a debt or
liability of the State or of any political subdivision thereof, and do not constitute a general obligation of the Department.
Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or of any political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment
of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2010L Bonds. The Department has no taxing power.

4. The Trust Indenture permits the Department to issue additional Bonds (as defined in the Trust
Indenture), and incur Parity Obligations (as defined in the Trust Indenture) and other obligations thereunder from time to
time on the terms and conditions and for the purposes stated therein.

5. The Indenture creates a valid pledge of the Trust Estate, including the Revenues, as set forth in the
Indenture, subject only to the provisions of the Indenture permitting the payment or use of the Trust Estate for the purposes,
in the manner and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture. Pursuant to the Act, the pledge of the Trust
Estate, including the Revenues, made by the Department in the Indenture is valid, binding and perfected without any physical
delivery, recordation, filing or further act, and the lien thereof is valid, binding and perfected against all parties having claims
of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the Department irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.

6. The Rate Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Department and
constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Department, enforceable against the Department in accordance with its

terms.

Sincerely,

Deputy Attorney General

For EDMUND G. BROWN, JR.
Attorney General
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APPENDIX F

PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL

[Closing Date]
California Department of Water Resources
Sacramento, California

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel to the State of California (the “State”) Department of Water Resources (the
“Department”) in connection with the issuance by the Department of $2,992,540,000 aggregate principal amount of its Power
Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2010L (the “Offered Bonds™). The Offered Bonds are issued under and pursuant to the
Constitution and laws of the State, including, but not limited to, Division 27 (commencing with Section 80000) of the
California Water Code, as amended (the “Act”), and a Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 2002 (the “Trust Indenture”),
among the Department, the Treasurer of the State, as Trustee (the “Trustee”), and U.S. Bank National Association, as Co-
Trustee (the “Co-Trustee”), as supplemented and amended by a Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 2010,
among the Department, the Trustee and the Co-Trustee (collectively, with the Trust Indenture, the “Indenture”). Capitalized
terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to them in the Indenture.

We have examined a record of proceedings relating to the issuance of the Offered Bonds, and based thereon and on
our examination of existing law, such legal proceedings and such other documents as we deem necessary to render this
opinion, we are of the opinion that:

1. The Department is duly existing under the laws of the State. Under the laws of the State, including the
Constitution of the State, and under the Constitution of the United States, the Act is valid with respect to all provisions
thereof material to the subject matters of this opinion letter.

2. The Department is validly authorized under the laws of the State, particularly the Act, to execute and
deliver the Indenture and to perform its obligations thereunder. The Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and
delivered by the Department and constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Department, enforceable against the
Department in accordance with its terms. You have received an opinion from Dorsey & Whitney LLP, counsel to the Co-
Trustee, to the effect that, among other things, the Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Co-
Trustee and constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Co-Trustee, and with your permission we have assumed such
matters for purposes of the opinions in this paragraph 2.

3. The Offered Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with the laws of the
State, including the Constitution of the State, the Act and the Indenture, and constitute valid and binding limited special
obligations of the Department payable solely from the Trust Estate, including the Revenues, as provided in the Indenture.
The Offered Bonds do not constitute a debt or liability of the State or of any political subdivision thereof, and do not
constitute a general obligation of the Department. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or of any
political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds. The
Department has no taxing power.

The Trust Indenture permits the Department to issue additional Bonds, and incur Parity Obligations and other
obligations, thereunder from time to time on the terms and conditions and for the purposes stated therein. The Offered
Bonds, all outstanding Bonds, such additional Bonds, if issued, and such Parity Obligations, if incurred, will be equally and
ratably secured under the Trust Indenture except as otherwise provided therein.

4. The Indenture creates the valid pledge which it purports to create of the Trust Estate, including the
Revenues, subject only to the provisions of the Indenture permitting the payment or use of the Trust Estate for the purposes,
in the manner and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture. Pursuant to the Act, the pledge of the Trust
Estate, including the Revenues, made by the Department in the Indenture is valid, binding and perfected without any physical
delivery, recordation, filing or further act, and the lien thereof is valid, binding and perfected against all parties having claims
of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the Department irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.
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5. The Department has duly and validly covenanted in the Indenture to cause to be established, fixed and
revised from time to time charges with respect to Department Power sufficient, together with any other available moneys and
securities on deposit in the Electric Power Fund, to satisfy all the Department’s Revenue Requirements at the times and in the
amounts needed. In furtherance of such covenant, the Department has entered into a Rate Agreement dated as of March 8§,
2002 (the “Rate Agreement”) with the California Public Utilities Commission (the “Commission”) pursuant to the Act
providing for the imposition by the Commission of rates and charges to satisfy the Department’s Revenue Requirements. The
Rate Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Department.

6. The Rate Agreement is valid and binding on the parties thereto and is enforceable against the parties thereto
in accordance with its terms. The Commission has full power and authority to impose Bond Charges as provided in the Rate
Agreement. Under the Rate Agreement, the Department has covenanted, among other things, that prior to including any cost
in the Retail Revenue Requirements communicated to the Commission in accordance with the Rate Agreement, the
Department will conduct whatever procedures are required by law to determine that such cost is just and reasonable within
the meaning of Section 451 of the California Public Utilities Code. However, under the rate covenant in the Rate Agreement,
the Commission has the obligation to impose Bond Charges to provide moneys sufficient to pay all Bond Related Costs when
due, including debt service on the Bonds (including the Offered Bonds), and this obligation as set forth in the rate covenant is
not conditioned upon any determination that the Department’s costs are just and reasonable under Section 451 of the
California Public Utilities Code.

7. No registration with, consent of, or approval by any governmental officer, agency or commission is
necessary for the execution and delivery by the Department of the Indenture, the Offered Bonds or the Rate Agreement, other
than those that have been obtained.

8. The Department has validly included in the Indenture and the Offered Bonds the pledge and undertaking of
the State that so long as any obligations of the Department incurred under the Act, including without limitation the Indenture,
the Bonds and Parity Obligations, remain outstanding and not fully performed or discharged, the rights, powers, duties and
existence of the Department and the Commission shall not be diminished or impaired in any manner that will adversely affect
the interests and rights of the holders of or parties to such obligations.

9. Under existing statutes, interest on the Offered Bonds is exempt from State of California personal income
taxes.

10. Under existing statutes and court decisions, interest on the Offered Bonds is excluded from gross income
for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Tax Code of 1986, as amended (the “Tax
Code”). Under the Tax Code, interest on the Offered Bonds is not treated as a preference item in calculating alternative
minimum taxable income for purposes of the alternative minimum tax applicable to individuals and corporations; such
interest, however, is includable in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of computing the
alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations by the Tax Code. In rendering the opinions in this paragraph 10, we
have relied upon and assumed (i) the material accuracy of the representations, statements of intention and reasonable
expectations, and certifications of fact, contained in the Tax Certificate delivered on the date hereof by the Department with
respect to the use of proceeds of the Offered Bonds and the investment of certain funds, and other matters affecting the
exclusion of interest on the Offered Bonds from gross income for Federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Tax
Code, and (ii) compliance by the Department with procedures and covenants set forth in the Tax Certificate and with the tax
covenants set forth in the Indenture as to such matters. Under the Tax Code, failure to comply with such procedures and
covenants may cause the interest on the Offered Bonds to be included in gross income for Federal income tax purposes,
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Offered Bonds, irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is
ascertained.

Except as stated in paragraphs 9 and 10 above, we express no opinion as to any Federal, State or local tax
consequences arising with respect to the Offered Bonds or the ownership or disposition thereof. Furthermore, we express no
opinion as to the effect of any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of counsel other than ourselves
on the exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes of interest on the Offered Bonds, or under State and
local tax law.

You have received an opinion of Frank R. Lindh, General Counsel to the Commission, to the effect that, among
other things, (i) the Commission’s Decision No. 02-02-051 dated February 21, 2002, approving the Rate Agreement is final
and unappealable under the laws of the State, (ii) the Rate Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the



Commission, and (iii) the Commission has lawfully consented to, in accordance with the Rate Agreement and such Decision,
the issuance by the Department of the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, and with your permission we have assumed
such matters for purposes of the opinions expressed in this letter.

We call attention to the fact that the enforceability of rights and remedies with respect to the Offered Bonds, the
Indenture and the Rate Agreement may be limited by, and may be subject to: bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights; the application of
equitable principles; the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases; and generally applicable limitations on legal
remedies against the State. We express no opinion with respect to any indemnification, contribution, choice of law, choice of
forum or waiver provisions contained in the foregoing documents.

We express no opinion as to the accuracy, adequacy or sufficiency of any financial or other information which has
been or will be supplied to purchasers of the Offered Bonds.

This letter is issued as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update, revise or supplement this opinion
to reflect any action hereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or circumstances, or any changes in law or in interpretations

thereof, that may hereafter arise or occur, or for any other reason.

Very truly yours,
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APPENDIX G
INDEX OF PRINCIPAL DEFINITIONS

The following is an index of certain terms used in the forepart of this Official Statement, with references to the
pages on which the definitions or descriptions of such terms may be found. Other terms used but not defined or
described in the forepart of this Official Statement have the meanings given in APPENDIX C — “SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE — Definitions.”
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APPENDIX H
FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed and delivered by the State of
California Department of Water Resources (the “Department”) in connection with the issuance of its Power Supply Revenue
Bonds, Series 2010L (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Trust Indenture among the Department, the
Treasurer of the State of California, as Trustee, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Co-Trustee, dated as of October 1,
2002, as amended and supplemented (the “Indenture). The Department covenants and agrees as follows:

SECTION 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being executed and delivered
by the Department for the benefit of the Owners and Beneficial Owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating
Underwriters in complying with the Rule.

SECTION 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture, which apply to any capitalized
term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have
the following meanings:

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Department pursuant to, and as described in,
Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.

“Beneficial Owner” shall mean any person who has or shares the power, directly or indirectly, to make investment
decisions concerning ownership of any Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories and other
intermediaries).

“Consultant’s Report” shall mean the report of Navigant Consulting, Inc., appended as Appendix A to the Official
Statements for the Power Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2002.

“Dissemination Agent,” if any, shall mean the person or firm, or any successor Dissemination Agent, designated in
writing by the Department pursuant to Section 7 of this Disclosure Certificate and which has filed with the Department and
the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.

“Listed Event” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Certificate.

“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any other entity designated or authorized by the
SEC to receive reports or notices pursuant to the Rule. Until otherwise designated by the MSRB or the SEC, filings with the
MSRB are to be made through the Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) website of the MSRB, currently located at
http://emma.msrb.org.

“Official Statement” shall mean the Department’s final Official Statement relating to the Bonds.
“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds.

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

“State” shall mean the State of California.
SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports. For so long as any Bonds are Outstanding:

(a) The Department shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than nine (9) months
after the end of the Department’s Fiscal Year (presently June 30), commencing with the report due on or before March 31,
2011, provide to the MSRB, in such form as is required by the MSRB, an Annual Report consistent with the requirements of
Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate, with a copy to the Trustee. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single
document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section
4 of this Disclosure Certificate; provided that the audited financial statements of the Department may be submitted separately
from the balance of the Annual Report and later than the date required above for the filing of the Annual Report if they are
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not available by that date. If the Department’s Fiscal Year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as
for a Listed Event under Section 5(b).

(b) Not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the due date of each Annual Report as specified
in subsection (a), the Department shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent, if any. If the Department is
unable to provide, or cause to be provided, to the MSRB an Annual Report by its due date, the Department shall file, or
caused to be filed, a notice with the MSRB in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A.

(c) If a Dissemination Agent is appointed by the Department, the Dissemination Agent shall:

(1) determine, prior to the due date of each Annual Report, the name, address and method of filing of
each entity designated by the Securities Exchange Commission to receive reports or notices pursuant to the Rule; and

(ii) file a report with the Department certifying that the Annual Report has been filed pursuant to this
Disclosure Certificate, stating the date it was filed and (and if one or more entities other than the MSRB have been designated
by the Securities Exchange Commission to receive reports or notices pursuant to the Rule, specifying the name, address and
method of filing applicable to each such entity).

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports. The Department’s Annual Report shall contain or include by
reference the following:

(a) The audited financial statements of the Department relating to its Electric Power Fund for the prior Fiscal
Year, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to governmental entities, as specified
from time to time by the Government Accounting Standards Board. If such audited financial statements are not available by
the time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to Section 3(a), the Annual Report shall contain unaudited
financial statements and such audited financial statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when they
become available.

(b) Operating results and other financial data for the prior calendar year (to the extent not otherwise included in
the Annual Report pursuant to this Section 4), in the categories set forth in the table under the caption “Summary of
Operating Results” in the Official Statement, but only to the extent such information is or becomes historical and does not
constitute projections.

() Financial and operating data for the prior calendar year (to the extent not otherwise included in the Annual
Report pursuant to this Section 4), in the categories set forth in the table entitled “Estimated Average Power Charges and
Bond Charges to the Customers” in the Consultant’s Report, but only to the extent such information is or becomes historical
information and does not constitute projections.

(d) The Department’s residual net short costs and direct access surcharge revenues, if any, for the prior
calendar year (to the extent not otherwise included in the Annual Report pursuant to this Section 4).

(e) The Department’s staffing of its power supply program, specifying the number of permanent staff, number
of contract employees and consulting advisors and number of employees on loan from other departments within State
government, as of December 31 of the prior calendar year.

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference to other documents, including official
statements relating to debt issues of the Department, which have been filed with the MSRB or Securities Exchange
Commission. If the document included by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the Municipal
Securities Rulemaking Board. The Department shall clearly identify each document so included by reference.

SECTION 5. Reporting of Material Events. For so long as any Bonds are Outstanding:

(a) Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5, the Department shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the
occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, if material:

1. principal and interest payment delinquencies;

H-2



2. non-payment related defaults;

3. modifications to rights of Bondholders;

4. optional, contingent, or unscheduled bond calls;

5. defeasances;

6. rating changes;

7. adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds;

8. unscheduled draws on the debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

9. unscheduled draws on the credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.;

10. substitution of the credit or liquidity providers or their failure to perform; and

11. release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds.

(b) The Department shall promptly file or caused to be filed a notice of each occurrence of a Listed Event, if

material, with the MSRB, with a copy to the Trustee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of a Listed Event described in
subsections (a)(4) and (5) need not be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event
is given to the Owners of affected Bonds pursuant to the Indenture.

SECTION 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Department’s obligations under this Disclosure
Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. If such
termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the Department shall give notice of such termination in the same
manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(b).

SECTION 7. Dissemination Agent. The Department may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination
Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and may discharge any such Dissemination
Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent shall not be responsible in
any manner for the content of any notice or report prepared by the Department pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate.
Initially, the Department will serve as its own dissemination agent.

SECTION 8. Amendment; Waiver. The Department may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of
this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, provided that all of the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4, 5(a) or (b), or 8, it may only be
made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change
in the identity, nature or status of an obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or the type of business conducted;

(b) The undertakings contained in this Disclosure Certificate, as amended or taking into account such waiver,
would, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of
the original issuance of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any
change in circumstances; and

(©) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the Owners of the Bonds in the same manner as
provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the consent of Owners, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of the
Trustee or nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the Owners or Beneficial Owners of the
Bonds. The Department also may amend this Disclosure Certificate without approval by the Owners of the Bonds to the
extent permitted by rule, order or other official pronouncement (or consistent with any interpretive advice or no-action
positions of staff) of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the Department shall describe
such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative explanation of the reason for the
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amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or in the case of a change of accounting principles, on the presentation) of
financial information or operating data being presented by the Department. In addition, if the amendment relates to the
accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such change shall be given in the same
manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(b), and (ii) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made should
present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the financial statements as
prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.

SECTION 9. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the
Department from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure
Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the Department chooses
to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is
specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the Department shall have no obligation under this Certificate to update
such information or include it any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.

SECTION 10.  Default. In the event of a failure of the Department to comply with any provision of this
Disclosure Certificate, the Trustee may (and, at the request of the Owners of at least 50% in aggregate principal amount of
Outstanding Bonds, shall), or any Owner or Beneficial Owner of the Bonds may (unless the Department has so complied
within 20 days after written notice from the Trustee, such Owner or Owners, or such Beneficial Owner or Beneficial Owners,
as the case may be, of the Department’s failure to comply) seek specific performance by court order, to cause the Department
to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, as the sole remedy. A default under this Disclosure
Certificate shall not be deemed a default or an Event of Default under the Indenture.

SECTION 11.  Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent shall have
only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and the Department agrees to indemnify and save
the Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, reasonable expense and
liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the
reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding
liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s default or negligence or willful misconduct. The obligations of the Department
under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and termination of this Disclosure
Certificate.

SECTION 12.  Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the Owners and
Beneficial Owners from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

Date:
DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES

By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT A TO CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

Notice of Failure to File Annual Report

Name of Issuer: State of California Department of Water Resources

Name of Bond Issue: Department of Water Resources Power Supply Revenue Bonds,
Series 2010L

Date of Issuance: ,2010

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Department has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the
above-named Bonds as required by Section 3 of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate dated , 2010 of the
Department. The Department anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by

Dated:
STATE OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURCES
By:

cc: Trustee

Co-Trustee
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Morgan Stanley

April 23, 2010

Ms. Katie Carroll

Deputy Treasurer

Office of the Treasurer of the State of California
915 Capitol Mall, Room 110

Sacramento, CA 95814

RE: State of California Department of Water Resources, Series 2010L

Dear Ms. Carroll:

Morgan Stanley & Co. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. are providing the following language
for inclusion in the Offering Statement.

Morgan Stanley and Citigroup Inc., the respective parent companies of Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., each an underwriter of the Bonds, have entered
into a retail brokerage joint venture. As part of the joint venture each of Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. will distribute municipal securities to retail
investors through the financial advisor network of a new broker-dealer, Morgan Stanley Smith
Barney LLC. This distribution arrangement became effective on June 1, 2009. As part of this
arrangement, each of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. will
compensate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC. for its selling efforts in connection with their
respective allocations of Bonds.

Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated
Citigroup Global Markets Inc.



@ DE LA RosA & Co.

—l I NVESTMENT B ANIKERS

April 26, 2010

Ms. Katie Carroll

Deputy Treasurer

Office of the Treasurer of the State of California
915 Capitol Mall, Room 110

Sacramento, CA 95814

Re: State of California Department of Water Resources, Power Supply Revenue Bonds, Series
2010L (‘the Bonds™)

Dear Ms. Carroll:

E. J. De La Rosa & Co., Inc., Underwriter on the Bonds, has entered into an agreement with
UnionBank Investment Services LLC for retail distribution of certain municipal securities
offerings, at the original issue prices. Pursuant to said agreement, if applicable to the Bonds, E. J.
De La Rosa & Co., Inc. will share a portion of its underwriting compensation with respect to the
Bonds with UnionBank Investment Services LLC.

E. J. De La Rosa & Co., Inc.

10866 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1650 / Los Angeles, CA 90024 / Tel: 310-207-1975 / Fax: 310-207-1995
www.ejdelarosa.com
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JPMorgan

April 23, 2010

Mr. Blake Fowler

Director, Public Finance Division

Office of the Treasurer of the State of California
915 Capitol Mall, Room 261

Sacramento, CA 95814

RE: State of California Department of Water Resources Power Supply Revenue Bonds,
Series 2010L (the “Bonds”)

Dear Mr. Fowler:

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (“J.P. Morgan”), Underwriter on the Bonds, has entered into
an agreement (the “Distribution Agreement”) with UBS Financial Services Inc. for the
retail distribution of certain municipal securities offerings, at the original issue prices.
Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement (if applicable for this transaction), J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc. will share a portion of its underwriting compensation with respect to the
Bonds with UBS Financial Services Inc.

In addition to the Distribution Agreement, J.P. Morgan entered into a negotiated dealer
agreement (the "Dealer Agreement") with Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (*CS&Co.”) for the
retail distribution of certain securities offerings, including the Bonds, at the original issue
prices. Pursuant to the Dealer Agreement, CS&Co. will purchase Bonds from JPMSI at
the original issue price less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to
any Bonds that CS&Co. sells.

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC.
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FIDELITY

i B Fidelity

NVISTMENTS

April 20, 2010

Ms. Katie Carroll

Deputy Treasurer

Office of the State Treasurer of the State of California
915 Capital Mall, Room 110

Sacramento, CA 95814

Dear Ms. Carroll:

Fidelity Capital Markets is a division of National Financial Services LLC (“NFS”), which
provides fully-disclosed clearing and other services to correspondent broker-dealers (the
“correspondent broker-dealers”). NFS has entered into Master Reallowance Agreements
with several of the correspondent broker-dealers to allow them to redistribute municipal
securities underwritten by NFS to their retail investors at the original offering price.

Pursuant to these Master Reallowance Agreements, NFS may share a portion of the
underwriting compensation with respect to this bond offering with its correspondent
broker-dealers.

FIDELITY CAPITAL MARKETS

a division of National Financial Services LLC.

200 Seaport Boulevard, Boston, MA 02210

Fidelity Capital Markets is a division of National Financial Services LLC, Member NYSE, SIPC.
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) Finacorp Securities
Member FINRA —

April 19, 2010

Ms. Jeanne Trujillo

Public Finance Division

Office of the State Treasurer of California
915 Capital Mall, Room 110

Sacramento, CA 95814

RE: STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF WATER RESOURECES, Power Supply Revenue
Bonds, Series 2010L

Dear Ms. Trujillo:

Finacorp Securities, a Co-Manager on the above referenced offering, has entered into an
agreement with its affiliate, Alluvion Securities, for the retail distribution of certain
municipal securities offerings at the original issue prices. Pursuant to this agreement,

Finacorp Securities will share a portion of its underwriting compensation with respect to
the bonds with Alluvion Securities.

The owners of Finacorp Securities and Alluvion Securities have designated Alluvion as
the direct retail distribution arm of Finacorp.

Sincerely,

Finacorp Securities



\V,\V@TDJ WesTHOFF, CONE

28 & HOLMSTEDT

April 22, 2010

Ms. Katie Carroll

Deputy Treasurer

State of California

State Treasurer’s Office

915 Capitol Mall, Room 110
Sacramento, California 95814

RE: State of California Department of Water Resources
Power Supply Revenue Bonds, Series 2010L (the “Bonds”)

Dear Ms. Carroll:

Westhoff, Cone & Holmstedt, Co-Managing Underwriter on the Bonds, has an
agreement with Alamo Capital for retail distribution of certain municipal securities
offerings, at the original issue prices. Pursuant to said agreement, if applicable to the
Bonds, Westhoff, Cone & Holmstedt will share a portion of its underwriting
compensation with respect to the Bonds with Alamo Capital.

Sincerely,

WESTHOFF, CONE & HOLMSTEDT

500 Ygnacio Valley Road, Suite 380
Walnut Creek, California 94596
Telephone: 925 472 8740

Fax: 925 939 5099
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